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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

ITEM 1.                CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

  
(Unaudited)

   

ASSETS
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 15,669
 

$ 12,711
 

Restricted cash
 

1,832
 

3,230
 

Mortgage loans held-for-sale
 

125,604
 

118,786
 

Mortgage servicing rights
 

27,857
 

10,703
 

Securitized mortgage trust assets
 

5,467,957
 

5,810,506
 

Assets of discontinued operations
 

3,035
 

52
 

Other assets
 

27,993
 

30,600
 

Total assets
 

$ 5,669,947
 

$ 5,986,588
 

      
LIABILITIES

     

Warehouse borrowings
 

$ 114,435
 

$ 107,604
 

Notes payable
 

20
 

3,451
 

Convertible notes
 

20,000
 

—
 

Long-term debt
 

14,966
 

12,731
 

Securitized mortgage trust liabilities
 

5,455,401
 

5,794,656
 

Liabilities of discontinued operations
 

14,216
 

18,808
 

Other liabilities
 

22,596
 

19,495
 

Total liabilities
 

5,641,634
 

5,956,745
 

      
     



Commitments and contingencies
      

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
     

Series A junior participating preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized; none issued or
outstanding

 

—
 

—
 

Series B 9.375% redeemable preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation value $16,640; 2,000,000 shares
authorized, 665,592 noncumulative shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively

 

7
 

7
 

Series C 9.125% redeemable preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation value $35,127; 5,500,000 shares
authorized; 1,405,086 noncumulative shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively

 

14
 

14
 

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 8,875,790 and 8,474,017 shares issued and
outstanding as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively

 

89
 

85
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

1,082,900
 

1,079,083
 

Net accumulated deficit:
     

Cumulative dividends declared
 

(822,520) (822,520)
Retained deficit

 

(232,177) (227,709)
Net accumulated deficit

 

(1,054,697) (1,050,229)
Total Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. stockholders’ equity

 

28,313
 

28,960
 

Noncontrolling interest
 

—
 

883
 

Total stockholders’ equity
 

28,313
 

29,843
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 5,669,947
 

$ 5,986,588
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
  

For the Three Months
 

For the Nine Months
 

  
Ended September 30,

 
Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
2013

 
2012

 

Revenues:
         

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 11,103
 

$ 25,043
 

$ 47,701
 

$ 50,025
 

Servicing income, net
 

989
 

294
 

2,929
 

382
 

Real estate services fees, net
 

4,933
 

5,328
 

14,516
 

15,707
 

Other (expense) revenue
 

(191) (138) 3,945
 

(232)
Total revenues

 

16,834
 

30,527
 

69,091
 

65,882
 

Expenses:
         

Personnel expense
 

14,833
 

16,602
 

49,832
 

39,352
 

General, administrative and other
 

6,283
 

5,000
 

19,811
 

13,805
 

Total expenses
 

21,116
 

21,602
 

69,643
 

53,157
 

Other income (expense):
         

Interest income
 

74,216
 

115,091
 

240,872
 

384,792
 

Interest expense
 

(74,418) (114,794) (240,836) (382,918)
Change in fair value of long-term debt

 

75
 

190
 

(453) 872
 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO
gains (losses)

 

(271) (2,450) (2,377) (4,199)
Total other expense

 

(398) (1,963) (2,794) (1,453)
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income

taxes
 

(4,680) 6,962
 

(3,346) 11,272
 

Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations
 

(9) 8
 

(1,065) 44
 

Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations
 

(4,671) 6,954
 

(2,281) 11,228
 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
 

(277) (9,021) (2,051) (13,402)
Net loss

 

(4,948) (2,067) (4,332) (2,174)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest

 

—
 

(212) (136) (683)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

 

$ (4,948) $ (2,279) $ (4,468) $ (2,857)
          

Earnings (loss) per common share - basic and diluted:
         

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations attributable to
IMH

 

$ (0.53) $ 0.86
 

$ (0.28) $ 1.35
 

Loss from discontinued operations
 

(0.03) (1.15) (0.24) (1.71)
Net loss per share available to common stockholders

 

$ (0.56) $ (0.29) $ (0.52) $ (0.36)
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
  

For the Nine Months
 

  
Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
     

Net loss
 

$ (4,332) $ (2,174)
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights

 

(2,973) 869
 

Gain on sale of loans
 

(53,071) (39,088)
Change in fair value of mortgage loans held-for-sale

 

345
 

(7,048)
Change in fair value of derivatives lending, net

 

3,630
 

—
 

Provision for repurchases
 

1,395
 

1,179
 

Origination of mortgage loans held-for-sale
 

(1,983,315) (1,568,847)
Sale and principal reduction on mortgage loans held-for-sale

 

2,012,054
 

1,521,098
 

(Gains) losses from REO
 

(9,232) 9,761
 

Extinguishment of debt
 

—
 

423
 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
 

6,641
 

(14,032)
Change in fair value of long-term debt

 

453
 

(872)
Accretion of interest income and expense

 

165,130
 

200,194
 

Change in REO impairment reserve
 

4,537
 

(20,620)
Amortization of debt issunace costs and discount on note payable

 

18
 

89
 

Stock-based compensation
 

1,345
 

201
 

Net change in restricted cash
 

1,398
 

2,418
 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities of discontinued operations
 

(7,605) 9,502
 

Net change in other assets and liabilities
 

6,724
 

3,286
 

Net cash provided by operating activities
 

143,142
 

96,339
 

      
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

     

Net change in securitized mortgage collateral
 

583,248
 

494,552
 

Net change in mortgages held-for-investment
 

(60) 6
 

Purchase of premises and equipment
 

(540) (144)
Net principal change on investment securities available-for-sale

 

57
 

167
 

Acquisition of noncontrolling interest
 

(350) —
 

Proceeds from the sale of real estate owned
 

40,332
 

80,120
 

Net cash provided by investing activities
 

622,687
 

574,701
 

      
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

     

Repayment of warehouse borrowings
 

(1,883,070) (1,464,471)
Borrowings under warehouse agreement

 

1,889,901
 

1,537,470
 

Repayment of line of credit
 

(5,500) (14,750)
Borrowings under line of credit

 

5,500
 

14,750
 

Repayment of securitized mortgage borrowings
 

(785,638) (742,270)
Issuance of Convertible Notes

 

20,000
 

—
 

Issuance of note payable
 

—
 

7,500
 

Principal payments on notes payable
 

(3,431) (8,687)
Principal payments on capital lease

 

(547) (239)
Capitalized debt issuance costs

 

(267) —
 

Proceeds from exercise of stock options
 

151
 

66
 

Net cash used in financing activities
 

(762,901) (670,631)
      

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
 

2,928
 

409
 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
 

12,755
 

7,665
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period - continuing operations
 

15,669
 

8,031
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period - discontinued operations
 

14
 

43
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
 

$ 15,683
 

$ 8,074
 

      
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (Continuing and Discontinued Operations):

     

Transfer of securitized mortgage collateral to real estate owned
 

$ 26,562
 

$ 39,296
 

Mortgage servicing rights retained from loan sales and issuance of mortgage backed securities
 

17,169
 

10,257
 

Common stock issued upon legal settlement
 

2,135
 

—
 

Increase in ownership of AmeriHome
 

911
 

677
 

Common stock issued for acquisition of noncontrolling interest
 

1,100
 

—
 

Acquisition of equipment purchased through capital leases
 

1,050
 

199
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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 IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data or as otherwise indicated)
 

Note 1.—Summary of Business and Financial Statement Presentation
 
Business Summary
 

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the Company or IMH) is a Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995 and has the following subsidiaries:
Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation (IRES), IMH Assets Corp. (IMH Assets) and Impac Funding Corporation (IFC).

 
The Company’s continuing operations include mortgage lending and real estate services conducted by IRES and the long-term mortgage portfolio

(residual interests in securitizations reflected as net trust assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets). The discontinued operations include the
former non-conforming mortgage operations conducted by IFC and subsidiaries.

 
The information set forth in these notes is presented on a continuing operations basis, unless otherwise stated.
 

Financial Statement Presentation
 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of IMH and its subsidiaries (as defined above) have been prepared in accordance
with Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) for interim financial information and with the instructions to
Form 10-Q and Rule 8-03 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial
statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation, have been
included. Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the
year ending December 31, 2013. These interim period condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements, which are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

 
All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In addition, certain amounts in the prior periods’

consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.
 
Management has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these
consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP. The items affected by such estimates and assumptions include the valuation of trust assets and
trust liabilities, contingencies, the estimated obligation of repurchase liabilities related to sold loans, the valuation of long-term debt, mortgage servicing
rights, mortgage loans held-for-sale and interest rate lock commitments. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

 
Note 2.—Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale
 

A summary of the unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans held-for-sale by type is presented below:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

Government (1)
 

$ 61,262
 

$ 57,992
 

Conventional (2)
 

51,915
 

54,303
 

Jumbo
 

6,282
 

—
 

Fair value adjustment
 

6,145
 

6,491
 

Total mortgage loans held-for-sale
 

$ 125,604
 

$ 118,786
 

 

(1)         Includes all government-insured loans including FHA, VA and USDA.
 
(2)         Includes loans eligible for sale to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.
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Gain on loans held-for-sale (LHFS) is comprised of the following for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
 

  
For the Three Months

 
For the Nine Months

 

  
Ended September 30,

 
Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
2013

 
2012

 

Gain on sale of mortgage loans
 

$ 6,413
 

$ 33,239
 

$ 50,188
 

$ 71,862
 

Premium from servicing retained loan sales
 

5,894
 

4,621
 

17,169
 

10,257
 

Unrealized (losses) gains from derivative financial
instruments

 

(5,677) 2,716
 

(3,631) 5,068
 

Realized gains (losses) from derivative financial
instruments

 

7,109
 

(6,319) 17,747
 

(12,720)
Mark to market gain (loss) on LHFS

 

5,326
 

4,220
 

(345) 7,048
 

Direct origination expenses, net
 

(7,549) (12,838) (32,032) (30,311)
Provision for repurchases

 

(413) (596) (1,395) (1,179)
Total gain on sale of loans, net

 

$ 11,103
 

$ 25,043
 

$ 47,701
 

$ 50,025
 

 
Note 3.—Mortgage Servicing Rights
 



The Company retains mortgage servicing rights (MSRs) from its sales of certain mortgage loans.  MSRs are reported at fair value based on the
income derived from the net positive cash flows associated with the servicing contracts. The Company receives servicing fees, less subservicing costs, on the
unpaid principal balances (UPB) of the loans. The servicing fees are collected from the monthly payments made by the mortgagors or when the underlying
real estate is foreclosed upon and liquidated. The Company may receive other remuneration from rights to various mortgagor-contracted fees such as late
charges, collateral reconveyance charges, nonsufficient fund fees and the Company is generally entitled to retain the interest earned on funds held pending
remittance (or float) related to its collection of mortgagor principal, interest, tax and insurance payments.

 
At September 30, 2013, the fair value of MSRs was as follows:

 
  

September 30,
 

December 31,
 

  
2013

 
2012

 

MSRs
 

$ 27,857
 

$ 10,703
 

 
At September 30, 2013, the mortgage servicing portfolio is comprised of the following:

 
  

Outstanding Principal Balance
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

Government
 

$ 1,064,019
 

$ 655,566
 

Conventional
 

1,532,284
 

722,815
 

2010 Acquisition of AmeriHome (1)
 

92,853
 

113,687
 

Total loans serviced
 

$ 2,689,156
 

$ 1,492,068
 

 

(1)         Represents servicing portfolio acquired in the 2010 acquisition of AmeriHome and includes government and conventional loans originated by
AmeriHome prior to the Company’s acquisition.
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The table below illustrates hypothetical changes in fair value of MSRs, caused by assumed immediate changes to key assumptions that are used to
determine fair value.

 

Mortgage Servicing Rights Sensitivity Analysis
 

September 30,
 2013

 

    
Fair value of MSRs

 

$ 27,857
 

    
Prepayment Speed:

   

Decrease in fair value from 100 basis point (bp) adverse change
 

(1,022)
Decrease in fair value from 200 bp adverse change

 

(1,983)
    
Discount Rate:

   

Decrease in fair value from 100 bp adverse change
 

(943)
Decrease in fair value from 200 bp adverse change

 

(1,827)
 

Sensitivities are hypothetical changes in fair value and cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of changes in assumptions to changes in fair
value may not be linear.  Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption is calculated without changing any other assumption, whereas a change in
one factor may result in changes to another.  Accordingly, no assurance can be given that actual results would be consistent with the results of these
estimates.  As a result, actual future changes in MSR values may differ significantly from those displayed above.

 
Note 4.—Warehouse Borrowings
 

The Company, through its subsidiaries, enters into Master Repurchase Agreements with lenders providing warehouse facilities. The warehouse
facilities are used to fund, and are secured by, residential mortgage loans that are held for sale.

 
At September 30, 2013, the Company was not in compliance with a covenant for two warehouse lines; however the Company received waivers.
 
The following table presents certain information on warehouse borrowings and related accrued interest for the periods indicated:
 

  
Maximum

     

  
Borrowing

 
Balance Outstanding At

 

  
Capacity

 
September 30, 2013

 
December 31, 2012

 

Short-term borrowings:
       

Repurchase agreement 1
 

$ 75,000
 

$ 52,542
 

$ 31,600
 

Repurchase agreement 2
 

40,000
 

33,772
 

19,780
 

Repurchase agreement 3 (1)
 

50,000
 

5,285
 

16,554
 

Repurchase agreement 4 (2)
 

100,000
 

22,836
 

39,670
 

Total short-term borrowings
 

$ 265,000
 

$ 114,435
 

$ 107,604
 

 

(1)         In September 2013, at the request of the Company, the maximum borrowing capacity was reduced from $75.0 million to $50.0 million.
(2)         In September 2013, the maturity was extended to September 2014.
 

Note 5.—Notes Payable
 



Note payable—Debt Agreement
 

In February 2012, the Company entered into a $7.5 million structured debt agreement using eight of the Company’s residual interests (net trust
assets) as collateral. The Company used a portion of the proceeds to pay off the $408 thousand balance owed on the previous debt agreement. The Company
received proceeds of $7.0 million, net of the aforementioned payoff and transaction costs of approximately $50 thousand.

 
In April 2013, the Company fully satisfied the remaining scheduled payments on the note payable primarily using the $1.5 million related reserve

balance and the residuals listed as collateral have been released to the Company.
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Note 6.—Convertible Notes
 

On April 29, 2013, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement with the purchasers named therein (Noteholders), whereby the Company
issued $20.0 million in original aggregate principal amount of Convertible Promissory Notes Due 2018 (Convertible Notes). The Convertible Notes mature
on or before April 30, 2018 and accrue interest at a rate of 7.5% per annum, to be paid quarterly.

 
Noteholders may convert all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes into shares of the Company’s Common Stock

(Conversion Shares) at a rate of $10.875 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits and dividends (the Conversion Price). The Company has the right to
convert the entire outstanding principal of the Convertible Notes into Conversion Shares at the Conversion Price if the market price per share of the Common
Stock, as measured by the average volume-weighted closing stock price per share of the Common Stock on the NYSE MKT (or any other U.S. national
securities exchange then serving as the principal such exchange on which the shares of Common Stock are listed), reaches the level of $16.31, for any twenty
(20) trading days in any period of thirty (30) consecutive trading days after the Closing Date. Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes by the Company, the
entire amount of accrued and unpaid interest (and all other amounts owing) under the Convertible Notes are immediately due and payable. Furthermore, if the
conversion of the Convertible Notes by the Company occurs prior to the third anniversary of the Closing Date, then the entire amount of interest under the
Convertible Notes through the third anniversary is immediately due and payable. To the extent the Company pays any cash dividends on its shares of common
stock prior to conversion of the Convertible Notes, upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, the Noteholders will also receive such dividends on an as-
converted basis of the Convertible Notes less the amount of interest paid by the Company prior to such dividend.

 
Unless an event of default has occurred and is continuing, each purchaser of the Convertible Notes agrees, for the three years after the Closing Date,

to vote all Conversion Shares for each of the Company’s nominees for election to the Company’s board of directors and not to nominate any other candidate
for election to the board of directors at any time within such three year period.

 
In conjunction with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company incurred $0.3 million in debt issuance costs related to legal fees. The

Company accounts for direct costs related to the issuance of debt in accordance with ASC Topic 470, Debt.  The deferred debt issuance costs are amortized to
interest expense over the term of the Note Purchase Agreement using the effective interest method.

 
Note 7.—Line of Credit Agreement
 

In June 2013, the Company, through its subsidiaries, amended the $4.0 million working capital line of credit agreement with a national bank at an
interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus 3.50% extending the expiration to June 2014.  Under the terms of the agreement the Company and its subsidiaries are
required to maintain various financial and other covenants.  There was no outstanding balance on the working capital line of credit as of September 30, 2013. 
At September 30, 2013, the Company was not in compliance with a covenant and received a waiver, which will remain effective until the end of 2013.

 
Note 8.—Securitized Mortgage Trusts
 
Trust Assets
 

Trust assets are comprised of the following at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ 115
 

$ 110
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

5,454,442
 

5,787,884
 

Derivative assets
 

—
 

37
 

Real estate owned
 

13,400
 

22,475
 

Total trust assets
 

$ 5,467,957
 

$ 5,810,506
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Trust Liabilities
 

Trust liabilities are comprised of the following at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ 5,444,000
 

$ 5,777,456
 

Derivative liabilities
 

11,401
 

17,200
 

Total trust liabilities
 

$ 5,455,401
 

$ 5,794,656
 

 



Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust real estate owned (REO) gains (losses)
 

Changes in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses) are comprised of the following for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012:

 
  

For the Three Months
 

For the Nine Months
 

  
Ended September 30,

 
Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
2013

 
2012

 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
 

$ (3,947) $ (5,998) $ (11,609) $ 5,562
 

Gains (losses) from REO
 

3,676
 

3,548
 

9,232
 

(9,761)
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains

(losses)
 

$ (271) $ (2,450) $ (2,377) $ (4,199)
 

Note 9.—Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The use of fair value to measure the Company’s financial instruments is fundamental to its consolidated financial statements and is a critical
accounting estimate because a substantial portion of its assets and liabilities are recorded at estimated fair value.

 
The following table presents the estimated fair value of financial instruments included in the consolidated financial statements as of the dates

indicated:
 
 

 
September 30, 2013

 
December 31, 2012

 
 

 

Carrying
Amount

 

Estimated
Fair Value

 

Carrying
Amount

 

Estimated
Fair Value

 

Assets
         

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 15,669
 

$ 15,669
 

$ 12,711
 

$ 12,711
 

Restricted cash
 

1,832
 

1,832
 

3,230
 

3,230
 

Mortgage loans held-for-sale
 

125,604
 

125,604
 

118,786
 

118,786
 

Mortgage servicing rights
 

27,857
 

27,857
 

10,703
 

10,703
 

Derivative assets, lending
 

3,825
 

3,825
 

3,970
 

3,970
 

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

115
 

115
 

110
 

110
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

5,454,442
 

5,454,442
 

5,787,884
 

5,787,884
 

Derivative assets, securitized trusts
 

—
 

—
 

37
 

37
 

Call option
 

—
 

—
 

368
 

368
 

          
Liabilities

         

Warehouse borrowings
 

$ 114,435
 

$ 114,435
 

$ 107,569
 

$ 107,569
 

Notes payable
 

20
 

20
 

3,451
 

3,678
 

Convertible notes
 

20,000
 

20,000
 

—
 

—
 

Long-term debt
 

14,966
 

14,966
 

12,731
 

12,731
 

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

5,444,000
 

5,444,000
 

5,777,456
 

5,777,456
 

Derivative liabilities, securitized trusts
 

11,401
 

11,401
 

17,200
 

17,200
 

Derivative liabilities, lending
 

3,667
 

3,667
 

181
 

181
 

Put option
 

—
 

—
 

1
 

1
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The fair value amounts above have been estimated by management using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies.
Considerable judgment is required to interpret market data to develop the estimates of fair value in both inactive and orderly markets. Accordingly, the
estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions
and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

 
For securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings, the underlying Alt-A residential and commercial loans and mortgage-

backed securities market have experienced significant declines in market activity, along with a lack of orderly transactions. The Company’s methodology to
estimate fair value of these assets and liabilities include the use of internal pricing techniques such as the net present value of future expected cash flows (with
observable market participant assumptions, where available) discounted at a rate of return based on the Company’s estimates of market participant
requirements. The significant assumptions utilized in these internal pricing techniques, which are based on the characteristics of the underlying collateral,
include estimated credit losses, estimated prepayment speeds and appropriate discount rates.

 
Refer to Recurring Fair Value Measurements below for a description of the valuation methods used to determine the fair value of investment

securities available-for-sale, securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings, derivative assets and liabilities, long-term debt, mortgage servicing rights,
mortgage loans held-for-sale, and call and put options.

 
The carrying amount of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash approximates fair value.
 
Warehouse borrowings carrying amounts approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of the liabilities and do not present unanticipated

interest rate or credit concerns.
 
Line of credit carrying amount approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of the liability and does not present unanticipated interest rate or

credit concerns.
 
Notes payable includes notes with maturities less than one year. Notes payable is recorded at amortized cost, net of any discounts. The estimated fair

value is determined using a discounted cash flow model using estimated market rates.
 



Convertible notes are recorded at amortized cost. The estimated fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow model using estimated market
rates.

 
Fair Value Hierarchy
 

The application of fair value measurements may be on a recurring or nonrecurring basis depending on the accounting principles applicable to the
specific asset or liability or whether management has elected to carry the item at its estimated fair value.
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FASB ASC 820-10-35 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those techniques are observable or unobservable.
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. These two
types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:

 
·                  Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments or liabilities that an entity has the ability to assess at

measurement date.
 
·                  Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active;

inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for an asset or liability, including interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly
quoted intervals, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default rates; and market-corroborated inputs.

 
·                  Level 3—Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers is unobservable.
 
This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when estimating

fair value.
 
As a result of the lack of observable market data resulting from inactive markets, the Company has classified its investment securities available-for-

sale, securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings, net derivative liabilities, securitized trusts, long-term debt, mortgage servicing rights, and call and put
options as Level 3 fair value measurements. Level 3 assets and liabilities were 98% and 99% and 98% and 99%, respectively, of total assets and total
liabilities measured at estimated fair value at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

 
The Company assesses the financial instruments on a quarterly basis to determine the appropriate classification within the fair value hierarchy, as

defined by ASC Topic 810. Transfers between fair value classifications occur when there are changes in pricing observability levels. Transfers of financial
instruments among the levels occur at the beginning of the reporting period. There were no material transfers between our Level 1 and Level 2 classified
instruments during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013.

 
The following tables present the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at estimated fair value on a recurring basis, including financial

instruments for which the Company has elected the fair value option at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, based on the fair value hierarchy:
 

12

Table of Contents
 

  
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

 

  
September 30, 2013

 
December 31, 2012

 

  
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 

Assets
             

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 115
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 110
 

Mortgage loans held-for-sale
 

—
 

125,604
 

—
 

—
 

118,786
 

—
 

Derivative assets, lending (1)
 

—
 

—
 

3,825
 

—
 

—
 

3,970
 

Mortgage servicing rights
 

—
 

—
 

27,857
 

—
 

—
 

10,703
 

Call option (2)
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

368
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

—
 

—
 

5,454,442
 

—
 

—
 

5,787,884
 

Total assets at fair value
 

$ —
 

$ 125,604
 

$ 5,486,239
 

$ —
 

$ 118,786
 

$ 5,803,035
 

              
Liabilities

             

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,444,000
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,777,456
 

Derivative liabilities, net, securitized trusts (3)
 

—
 

—
 

11,401
 

—
 

—
 

17,163
 

Long-term debt
 

—
 

—
 

14,966
 

—
 

—
 

12,731
 

Derivative liabilities, lending (4)
 

—
 

3,645
 

22
 

—
 

181
 

—
 

Put option (5)
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

1
 

Total liabilities at fair value
 

$ —
 

$ 3,645
 

$ 5,470,389
 

$ —
 

$ 181
 

$ 5,807,351
 

 

(1)   Level 3 derivative assets, lending, represents interest rate lock commitments (IRLCs) associated with the Company’s mortgage lending operations,
and is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(2)   Included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
(3)   At September 30, 2013, derivative liabilities, net—securitized trusts, included $11.4 million in derivative liabilities, included within trust liabilities.

At December 31, 2012, derivative liabilities, net—securitized trusts, included $37 thousand in derivative assets and $17.2 million in derivative
liabilities, included within trust assets and trust liabilities, respectively.



(4)   Level 3 derivative liabilities, lending, represents IRLCs and Level 2 derivative liabilities, lending, represents hedging instruments associated with
the Company’s mortgage lending operations and are included in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(5)   Included in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 

The following tables present reconciliations for all assets and liabilities measured at estimated fair value on a recurring basis using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
 
  

Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
For the three months ended September 30, 2013

 

  

Investment
securities

available-for-sale
 

Securitized
mortgage
collateral

 

Securitized
mortgage

borrowings
 

Derivative
liabilities, net,

securitized
trusts

 

Mortgage
servicing

rights
 

Interest rate lock
commitments, net

 

Call
option

 

Put
option

 

Long-term
debt

 

Fair value, June 30, 2013
 

$ 110
 

$ 5,639,986
 

$ (5,631,749) $ (13,276) $ 22,056
 

$ 300
 

$ 479
 

$ —
 

$ (14,399)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings:

                   

Interest income (1)
 

8
 

5,963
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Interest expense (1)
 

—
 

—
 

(58,241) —
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(642)
Change in fair value

 
8

 
10,525

 
(14,803) 323

 
(93) 3,503

 
—

 
—

 
75

 

Total gains (losses) included in earnings
 

16
 

16,488
 

(73,044) 323
 

(93) 3,503
 

—
 

—
 

(567)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 

Purchases, issuances and settlements
                   

Purchases
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Issuances
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

5,894
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Settlements
 

(11) (202,032) 260,793
 

1,552
 

—
 

—
 

(479) —
 

—
 

Fair value, September 30, 2013
 

$ 115
 

$ 5,454,442
 

$ (5,444,000) $ (11,401) $ 27,857
 

$ 3,803
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ (14,966)

 

(1)             Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities. The net interest income, including
cash received and paid, was $1.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013. The difference between accretion of interest income and expense and the amounts of interest income and expense
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations is primarily from contractual interest on the securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.
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Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
For the three months ended September 30, 2012

 

  

Investment
securities

available-for-sale
 

Securitized
mortgage
collateral

 

Securitized
mortgage

borrowings
 

Derivative
liabilities, net,

securitized
trusts

 

Mortgage
servicing

rights
 

Interest rate lock
commitments, net

 

Call
option

 

Put
option

 

Long-term
debt

 

Fair value, June 30, 2012
 

$ 140
 

$ 5,430,443
 

$ (5,426,042) $ (20,402) $ 7,090
 

$ 4,460
 

$ 73
 

$ (9) $ (11,952)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings:

                   

Interest income (1)
 

7
 

32,452
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Interest expense (1)
 

—
 

—
 

(95,316) —
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(512)
Change in fair value

 
15

 
467,423

 
(472,583) (853) (494) 4,950

 
—

 
—

 
190

 

Total gains (losses) included in earnings
 

22
 

499,875
 

(567,899) (853) (494) 4,950
 

—
 

—
 

(322)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

   
—

 
—

 
—

 

Purchases, issuances and settlements
                   

Purchases
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
     

—
 

—
 

—
 

Issuances
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

4,621
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Settlements
 

(50) (192,168) 268,472
 

2,180
 

(1,900) —
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Fair value, September 30, 2012
 

$ 112
 

$ 5,738,150
 

$ (5,725,469) $ (19,075) $ 9,317
 

$ 9,410
 

$ 73
 

$ (9) $ (12,274)

 

(1)             Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities. The net interest income, including
cash received and paid, was $1.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2012. The difference between accretion of interest income and expense and the amounts of interest income and expense
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations is primarily from contractual interest on the securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.

 
  

Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013

 

  

Investment
securities

available-for-sale
 

Securitized
mortgage
collateral

 

Securitized
mortgage

borrowings
 

Derivative
liabilities, net,

securitized
trusts

 

Mortgage
servicing rights

 

Interest rate lock
commitments, net

 

Call
option

 

Put
option

 

Long-term
debt

 

Fair value, December 31, 2012
 

$ 110
 

$ 5,787,884
 

$ (5,777,456) $ (17,163) $ 10,703
 

$ 3,970
 

$ 368
 

$ (1) $ (12,731)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings:

                   

Interest income (1)
 

27
 

27,115
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Interest expense (1)
 

—
 

—
 

(190,490)
  

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(1,782)
Change in fair value

 
35

 
249,253

 
(261,602) 705

 
2,973

 
(167) 111

 
1

 
(453)

Total gains (losses) included in
earnings

 
62

 
276,368

 
(452,092) 705

 
2,973

 
(167) 111

 
1

 
(2,235)

Transfers in and/or out of Level 3
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
         

—
 

Purchases, issuances and settlements
                   

Purchases
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Issuances
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

17,169
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Settlements
 

(57) (609,810) 785,548
 

5,057
 

(2,988) —
 

(479) —
 

—
 

Fair value, September 30, 2013
 

$ 115
 

$ 5,454,442
 

$ (5,444,000) $ (11,401) $ 27,857
 

$ 3,803
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ (14,966)
Unrealized gains (losses) still held (2)

 

$ 73
 

$ (2,172,446) $ 4,307,985
 

$ (10,785) $ 27,857
 

$ 3,803
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 55,797
 

 

(1)             Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities. The net interest income, including
cash received and paid, was $4.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.  The difference between accretion of interest income and expense and the amounts of interest income and expense
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations is primarily from contractual interest on the securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.

(2)             Represents the amount of unrealized gains (losses) relating to assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that are still held and reflected in the fair values at September 30, 2012.
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Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
For the nine months ended September 30, 2012

 

  

Investment
securities

available-for-sale
 

Securitized
mortgage
collateral

 

Securitized
mortgage

borrowings
 

Derivative
liabilities, net,

securitized
trusts

 

Mortgage
servicing rights

 

Interest rate lock
commitments, net

 

Call
option

 

Put
option

 

Long-term
debt

 

Fair value, December 31, 2011
 

$ 688
 

$ 5,449,001
 

$ (5,454,901) $ (24,749) $ 4,141
 

$ 1,179
 

$ 253
 

$ —
 

$ (11,561)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings:

                   

Interest income (1)
 

30
 

124,292
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Interest expense (1)
 

—
 

—
 

(322,931) —
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(1,585)
    



Change in fair value (439) 698,704 (689,979) (2,724) (869) 8,231 (180) (9) 872
Total (losses) gains included in

earnings
 

(409) 822,996
 

(1,012,910) (2,724) (869) 8,231
 

(180) (9) (713)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

   
—

 
—

 
—

 

Purchases, issuances and settlements
                   

Purchases
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Issuances
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

10,257
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Settlements
 

(167) (533,847) 742,342
 

8,398
 

(4,212) —
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Fair value, September 30, 2012
 

$ 112
 

$ 5,738,150
 

$ (5,725,469) $ (19,075) $ 9,317
 

$ 9,410
 

$ 73
 

$ (9) $ (12,274)
Unrealized gains (losses) still held (2)

 

$ 40
 

$ (2,992,344) $ 5,026,505
 

$ (18,342) $ 9,317
 

$ 9,410
 

$ 73
 

$ (9) $ 58,489
 

 

(1)             Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities. The net interest income, including
cash received and paid, was $6.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012.  The difference between accretion of interest income and expense and the amounts of interest income and expense
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations is primarily from contractual interest on the securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.

(2)             Represents the amount of unrealized gains (losses) relating to assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that are still held and reflected in the fair values at September 30, 2012.
 

The following table presents quantitative information about the valuation techniques and unobservable inputs applied to Level 3 fair value
measurements for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis at September 30, 2013:

 

Financial Instrument
 

Estimated Fair
Value

 

Valuation
Technique

 

Unobservable
Input

 

Range of
Inputs

 

Assets and liabilities backed by real estate
         

Investment securities available-for-sale,
 

$ 115
 

DCF
 

Discount rates
 

3.9 - 30.0%
 

Securitized mortgage collateral, and
 

5,454,442
  

 

Prepayment rates
 

0.8 - 24.2%
 

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

(5,444,000)
 

 

Default rates
Loss severities

 

0.5 - 19.5%
11.9 - 75.2%

 

Other assets and liabilities
 

   

     

Mortgage servicing rights
 

$ 27,857

 

DCF
 

Discount rate
Prepayment rates

 

10.5 - 11.5%
7.0 - 26.6%

 

Derivative liabilities, net, securitized trusts
 

(11,401) DCF
 

1M forward LIBOR
 

0.2 - 4.6%
 

Interest rate lock commitments, net
 

3,803
 

Market pricing
 

Pull -through rate
 

36.0 - 99.0%
 

Long-term debt
 

(14,966) DCF
 

Discount rate
 

25.0%
 

Lease liability
 

(1,723) DCF
 

Discount rate
 

12.0%
 

 
DCF = Discounted Cash Flow
1M = 1 Month
 

For assets and liabilities backed by real estate, a significant increase in discount rates, default rates or loss severities would result in a significantly
lower estimated fair value.  The effect of changes in prepayment speeds would have differing effects depending on the seniority or other characteristics of the
instrument.  For other assets and liabilities, a significant increase in discount rates would result in a significantly lower estimated fair value.  A significant
increase in one-month LIBOR would result in a significantly higher estimated fair value for derivative liabilities, net, securitized trusts.  The Company
believes that the imprecision of an estimate could be significant.
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The following tables present the changes in recurring fair value measurements included in net earnings (loss) for the three and nine months ended

September 30, 2013 and 2012:
 

  
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

 

  
Change in Fair Value Included in Net Earnings

 

  
For the three months ended September 30, 2013

 

      
Change in Fair Value of

       

  

Interest
Income (1)

 

Interest
Expense (1)

 

Net Trust
Assets

 

Long-term
Debt

 

Other
Revenue

 

Gain on sale
of loans, net

 
Total

 

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ 8
 

$ —
 

$ 8
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 16
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

5,963
 

—
 

10,525
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

16,488
 

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

—
 

(58,241) (14,803) —
 

—
 

—
 

(73,044)
Mortgage servicing rights

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(93) —
 

(93)
Derivative liabilities, net

 

—
 

—
 

323(2) —
 

—
 

—
 

323
 

Long-term debt
 

—
 

(642) —
 

75
 

—
 

—
 

(567)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

5,326
 

5,326
 

Derivative assets - IRLCs
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

3,503
 

3,503
 

Derivative liabilities - Hedging
Instruments

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(9,180) (9,180)
Total

 

$ 5,971
 

$ (58,883) $ (3,947) $ 75
 

$ (93) $ (351) $ (57,228)
 

(1)         Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for
trust assets and trust liabilities.

(2)         Included in this amount is $1.8 million in change in the fair value of derivative instruments, offset by $1.5 million in cash payments from the
securitization trusts for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

 
  

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
Change in Fair Value Included in Net Loss

 

  
For the three months ended September 30, 2012

 

      
Change in Fair Value of

       

  

Interest
Income (1)

 

Interest
Expense (1)

 

Net Trust
Assets

 

Long-term
Debt

 

Other
Revenue

 

Gain on sale
of loans, net

 
Total

 

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ 7
 

$ —
 

$ 15
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 22
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

32,452
 

—
 

467,423
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

499,875
 

     



Securitized mortgage borrowings — (95,316) (472,583) — — — (567,899)
Mortgage servicing rights

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(494) —
 

(494)
Derivative liabilities, net

 

—
 

—
 

(853)(2) —
 

—
 

—
 

(853)
Long-term debt

 

—
 

(512) —
 

190
 

—
 

—
 

(322)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

4,220
 

4,220
 

Derivative assets - IRLCs
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

4,950
 

4,950
 

Derivative liabilities - Hedging
Instruments

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(2,234) (2,234)
Total

 

$ 32,459
 

$ (95,828) $ (5,998) $ 190
 

$ (494) $ 6,936
 

$ (62,735)
 

(1)         Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for
trust assets and trust liabilities.

(2)         Included in this amount is $1.3 million in change in the fair value of derivative instruments, offset by $2.2 million in cash payments from the
securitization trusts for the three months ended September 30, 2012.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
Changes in Fair Value Included in Net Earnings

 

  
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013

 

      
Change in Fair Value of

       

  

Interest
Income (1)

 

Interest
Expense (1)

 

Net Trust
Assets

 

Long-term
Debt

 

Other
Revenue

 

Gain on sale
of loans, net

 
Total

 

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$  27
 

$  —
 

$  35
 

$  —
 

$  —
 

$  —
 

$  62
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

27,115
 

—
 

249,253
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

276,368
 

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

—
 

(190,490) (261,602) —
 

—
 

—
 

(452,092)
Mortgage servicing rights

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

2,973
 

—
 

2,973
 

Call option
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

111
 

—
 

111
 

Put option
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

1
 

—
 

1
 

Derivative liabilities, net
 

—
 

—
 

705(2) —
 

—
 

—
 

705
 

Long-term debt
 

—
 

(1,782) —
 

(453) —
 

—
 

(2,235)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(345) (345)
Derivative assets - IRLCs

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(167) (167)
Derivative liabilities - Hedging

Instruments
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(3,464) (3,464)
Total

 

$ 27,142
 

$ (192,272) $ (11,609)(3) $ (453) $ 3,085
 

$ (3,976) $ (178,083)
 

(1)         Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for
trust assets and trust liabilities.

(2)         Included in this amount is $5.7 million in changes in the fair value of derivative instruments, offset by $5.0 million in cash payments from the
securitization trusts for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

(3)         For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, change in the fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO was $11.6 million.  Excluded from
the $6.6 million change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO, in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows is $5.0
million in cash payments from the securitization trusts related to the Company’s net derivative liabilities.

 
  

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
Changes in Fair Value Included in Net Earnings

 

  
For the nine months ended September 30, 2012

 

      
Change in Fair Value of

       

  

Interest
Income (1)

 

Interest
Expense (1)

 

Net Trust
Assets

 

Long-term
Debt

 

Other
Revenue

 

Gain on sale
of loans, net

 
Total

 

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ 30
 

$ —
 

$ (439) $ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ (409)
Securitized mortgage collateral

 

124,292
 

—
 

698,704
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

822,996
 

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

—
 

(322,931) (689,979) —
 

—
 

—
 

(1,012,910)
Mortgage servicing rights

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(869) —
 

(869)
Call option

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(180) —
 

(180)
Put option

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(9) —
 

(9)
Derivative liabilities, net

 

—
 

—
 

(2,724)(2) —
 

—
 

—
 

(2,724)
Long-term debt

 

—
 

(1,585) —
 

872
 

—
 

—
 

(713)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

7,048
 

7,048
 

Derivative assets - IRLCs
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

8,231
 

8,231
 

Derivative liabilities - Hedging
Instruments

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(3,163) (3,163)
Total

 

$ 124,322
 

$ (324,516) $ 5,562(3) $ 872
 

$ (1,058) $ 12,116
 

$ (182,702)
 

(1)         Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated fair values for
trust assets and trust liabilities.

(2)         Included in this amount is $5.8 million in changes in the fair value of derivative instruments, offset by $8.5 million in cash payments from the
securitization trusts for the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

(3)         For the nine months ended September 30, 2012, change in the fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO was $5.6 million.  Excluded from the
$14.1 million change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO, in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows is $8.5 million
in cash payments from the securitization trusts related to the Company’s net derivative liabilities.
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The following is a description of the measurement techniques for items recorded at estimated fair value on a recurring basis.
 
Investment securities available-for-sale—Investment securities available-for-sale are carried at fair value. The investment securities consist primarily

of non-investment grade mortgage-backed securities. The fair value of the investment securities is measured based upon the Company’s expectation of inputs
that other market participants would use. Such assumptions include judgments about the underlying collateral, prepayment speeds, future credit losses,
forward interest rates and certain other factors. Given the lack of observable market data as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 relating to these
securities, the estimated fair value of the investment securities available-for-sale was measured using significant internal expectations of market participants’
assumptions. Investment securities available-for-sale is considered a Level 3 measurement at September 30, 2013.

 
Mortgage servicing rights—The Company elected to carry its entire mortgage servicing rights arising from its mortgage loan origination operation at

estimated fair value. The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is based upon market prices for similar instruments and a discounted cash flow model. The
valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in estimating the fair value of servicing. These assumptions include estimates of
prepayment speeds, discount rate, cost to service, escrow account earnings, contractual servicing fee income, prepayment and late fees, among other
considerations. Mortgage servicing rights are considered a Level 3 measurement at September 30, 2013.

 
Mortgage loans held-for-sale—The Company elected to carry its mortgage loans held-for-sale originated or acquired at estimated fair value. Fair

value is based on quoted market prices, where available, prices for other traded mortgage loans with similar characteristics, and purchase commitments and
bid information received from market participants. Given the meaningful level of secondary market activity for mortgage loans, active pricing is available for
similar assets and accordingly, the Company classifies its mortgage loans held-for-sale as a Level 2 measurement at September 30, 2013.

 
Call option—As part of the initial acquisition of AmeriHome, the purchase agreement included a call option to purchase an additional 39% of

AmeriHome. In June 2012 and January 2013, the Company and the noncontrolling interest holder entered into agreements to transfer an additional 27.5% and
1.5% ownership, respectively, of AmeriHome to the Company in exchange for the settlement of balances owed from the noncontrolling interest holder related
to the Company for capital contributions made by the Company to AmeriHome and indemnification provisions included in the purchase agreement. In
July 2013, the Company acquired the remaining 20% ownership of AmeriHome from the noncontrolling interest holder for $350 thousand in cash and $1.1
million in IMH common stock.  As of September 30, 2013, the Company owns 100% of AmeriHome. The estimated fair value was based on a model
incorporating various assumptions including expected future book value of AmeriHome, the probability of the option being exercised, volatility, expected
term and certain other factors.

 
Put option—As part of the initial acquisition of AmeriHome, the purchase agreement included a put option which allows the noncontrolling interest

holder to sell his then remaining 49% of AmeriHome to the Company in the event the Company does not exercise the call option discussed above. In
June 2012 and January 2013, the Company and the noncontrolling interest holder entered into agreements to transfer an additional 27.5% and 1.5%
ownership, respectively, of AmeriHome to the Company in exchange for the settlement of balances owed from the noncontrolling interest holder related to
capital contributions made by the Company to AmeriHome and indemnification provisions included in the purchase agreement. In July 2013, the Company
acquired the remaining 20% ownership of AmeriHome from the noncontrolling interest holder for $350 thousand in cash and $1.1 million in IMH common
stock.  As of September 30, 2013, the Company owns 100% of AmeriHome. The estimated fair value is based on a model incorporating various assumptions
including expected future book value of AmeriHome, the probability of the option being exercised, volatility, expected term and certain other factors.
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Securitized mortgage collateral—The Company elected to carry all of its securitized mortgage collateral at fair value. These assets consist primarily
of non-conforming mortgage loans securitized between 2002 and 2007. Fair value measurements are based on the Company’s internal models used to
compute the net present value of future expected cash flows with observable market participant assumptions, where available. The Company’s assumptions
include its expectations of inputs that other market participants would use in pricing these assets. These assumptions include judgments about the underlying
collateral, prepayment speeds, estimated future credit losses, forward interest rates, investor yield requirements and certain other factors. As of September 30,
2013, securitized mortgage collateral had an unpaid principal balance of $7.6 billion, compared to an estimated fair value on the Company’s balance sheet of
$5.5 billion. The aggregate unpaid principal balance exceeds the fair value by $2.1 billion at September 30, 2013. As of September 30, 2013, the unpaid
principal balance of loans 90 days or more past due was $1.3 billion compared to an estimated fair value of $0.5 billion. The aggregate unpaid principal
balances of loans 90 days or more past due exceed the fair value by $0.8 billion at September 30, 2013. Securitized mortgage collateral is considered a Level
3 measurement at September 30, 2013.

 
Securitized mortgage borrowings—The Company elected to carry all of its securitized mortgage borrowings at fair value. These borrowings consist

of individual tranches of bonds issued by securitization trusts and are primarily backed by non-conforming mortgage loans. Fair value measurements include
the Company’s judgments about the underlying collateral and assumptions such as prepayment speeds, estimated future credit losses, forward interest rates,
investor yield requirements and certain other factors. As of September 30, 2013, securitized mortgage borrowings had an outstanding principal balance of
$7.6 billion, net of $2.2 billion in bond losses, compared to an estimated fair value of $5.4 billion. The aggregate outstanding principal balance exceeds the
fair value by $2.2 billion at September 30, 2013. Securitized mortgage borrowings are considered a Level 3 measurement at September 30, 2013.

 
Long-term debt—The Company elected to carry all of its long-term debt (consisting of trust preferred securities and junior subordinated notes) at fair

value. These securities are measured based upon an analysis prepared by management, which considered the Company’s own credit risk, including
settlements with trust preferred debt holders and discounted cash flow analysis. As of September 30, 2013, long-term debt had an unpaid principal balance of
$70.5 million compared to an estimated fair value of $15.0 million. The aggregate unpaid principal balance exceeds the fair value by $55.5 million at
September 30, 2013. The long-term debt is considered a Level 3 measurement at September 30, 2013.

 
Derivative assets and liabilities, Securitized trusts—For non-exchange traded contracts, fair value is based on the amounts that would be required to

settle the positions with the related counterparties as of the valuation date. Valuations of derivative assets and liabilities are based on observable market
inputs, if available. To the extent observable market inputs are not available, fair values measurements include the Company’s judgments about future cash



flows, forward interest rates and certain other factors, including counterparty risk. Additionally, these values also take into account the Company’s own credit
standing, to the extent applicable; thus, the valuation of the derivative instrument includes the estimated value of the net credit differential between the
counterparties to the derivative contract. As of September 30, 2013, the notional balance of derivative assets and liabilities, securitized trusts was $270.6
million. These derivatives are included in the consolidated securitization trusts, which are nonrecourse to the Company, and thus the economic risk from these
derivatives is limited to the Company’s residual interests in the securitization trusts. Derivative assets and liabilities, securitized trusts are considered a Level
3 measurement at September 30, 2013.

 
On September 15, 2008, Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (LBHI) filed a petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. As of

that date, LBHI, through affiliated companies, was an interest rate swap counterparty to several of the Company’s CMO and REMIC securitizations. During
the third quarter of 2013, the terminated LBHI swaps were settled with the bankruptcy court and the trustees for the securitization trusts.  CMB 2004-4, CMB
2004-5 and CMB 2004-10 were settled and the corresponding fair values of the net derivative liabilities were removed from the consolidated balance sheet at
September 30, 2013.  As the related securitization trusts are non-recourse to the Company, the Company is not required to replace or otherwise settle any
derivative positions affected by counterparty default within the consolidated trusts. Accordingly, the settlement of the net derivative liabilities did not result in
any gain or loss for the Company.

 
Derivative assets and liabilities, Lending—The Company’s derivative assets and liabilities are carried at fair value as required by GAAP and are

accounted for as free standing derivatives. IRLCs and hedging instruments can be either assets or liabilities depending on interest rate fluctuations subsequent
to entering into the commitments.  IRLCs are entered into with prospective residential mortgage borrowers whereby the interest rate on the loan is determined
prior to funding and the borrowers have locked in that interest rate. These commitments are determined to be derivative instruments in accordance with
GAAP. Hedging instruments (typically TBA MBS) are used to hedge the fair value changes associated with changes in interest rates relating to its mortgage
lending operations. The Company hedges the period from the interest rate lock (assuming a fall-out factor) to the date the loan is committed for sale. The
estimated fair value of IRLCs are based on underlying loan types with similar characteristics using the TBA MBS market, which is actively quoted and easily
validated
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through external sources. The data inputs used in this valuation include, but are not limited to, loan type, underlying loan amount, note rate, loan program, and
expected sale date of the loan, adjusted for current market conditions. These valuations are adjusted at the loan level to consider the servicing release
premium and loan pricing adjustments specific to each loan. For all IRLCs, the base value is then adjusted for the anticipated Pull-through Rate. The
anticipated Pull-through Rate is an unobservable input based on historical experience, which results in classification of IRLCs as a Level 3 measurement at
September 30, 2013.

 
The fair value of the hedging instruments is based on the actively quoted TBA MBS market using observable inputs related to characteristics of the

underlying MBS stratified by product, coupon and settlement date. Therefore, the hedging instruments are classified as a Level 2 measurement at
September 30, 2013.

 
The following table includes information for the derivative assets and liabilities, lending for the periods presented:

 
      

Total Gains (Losses) (1)
 

  
Notional Balance

 
For the Three Months Ended

 
For the Nine Months Ended

 

  
September 30,

 
September 30,

 
September 30,

 
September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
2013

 
2012

 
2013

 
2012

 

Derivative assets - IRLC’s
 

$ 200,484
 

$ 383,776
 

$ 3,503
 

$ 4,950
 

$ (167) $ 8,231
 

Derivative liabilities - TBA’s
 

210,192
 

310,207
 

(2,071) (8,553) 14,282
 

(15,883)
 

(1)         Amounts included in gain on sale of loans, net within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
 

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements
 

The Company is required to measure certain assets and liabilities at estimated fair value from time to time. These fair value measurements typically
result from the application of specific accounting pronouncements under GAAP. The fair value measurements are considered nonrecurring fair value
measurements under FASB ASC 820-10.

 
The following tables present financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured using nonrecurring fair value measurements at September 30,

2013 and 2012, respectively:
 

  

Nonrecurring Fair Value
Measurements

 
Total Gains (Losses) (3)

 

  
September 30, 2013

 
For the Three Months Ended

 
For the Nine Months Ended

 

  
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 
September 30, 2013

 
September 30, 2013

 

REO (1)
 

$ —
 

$ 4,398
 

$ —
 

$ 3,645
 

$ 9,175
 

Lease liability (2)
 

—
 

—
 

(1,723) (54) (130)
 

(1)         Balance represents REO at September 30, 2013 which has been impaired subsequent to foreclosure. Amounts are included in continuing
operations.  For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the $3.6 million and $9.2 million gain represents recovery of the net
realizable value (NRV) attributable to an improvement in state specific loss severities on properties held during the period which resulted in an
increase to NRV.

(2)         For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recorded $54 thousand and $130 thousand in impairment, resulting
from changes in lease liabilities as a result of changes in our expected minimum future lease payments.

(3)         Total gains (losses) reflect gains and losses from all nonrecurring measurements during the period.
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Non-recurring Fair Value
Measurements

 
Total Gains (Losses) (3)

 

  
September 30, 2012

 
For the Three Months Ended

 
For the Nine Months Ended

 

  
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 
September 30, 2012

 
September 30, 2012

 

REO (1)
 

$ —
 

$ 19,524
 

$ —
 

$ 3,544
 

$ (9,795)
Lease liability (2)

 

—
 

—
 

(1,841) 113
 

(168)
 

(1)         Balance represents REO at September 30, 2012 which have been impaired subsequent to foreclosure. Amounts are included in continuing
operations.  For the three months ended September 30, 2012, the $3.5 million gain represents recovery of the net realizable value (NRV)
attributable to an improvement in state specific loss severities on properties held during the period which resulted in an increase to NRV. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2012, the $9.8 million loss represents additional impairment write-downs attributable to higher expected loss
severities on properties held during the period which resulted in a decrease to NRV.

(2)         Amounts are included in discontinued operations.  For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, the Company recorded a gain of
$113 thousand and a loss of $168 thousand resulting from changes in lease liabilities as a result of changes in our expected minimum future
lease payments.

(3)         Total losses reflect gains and losses from all nonrecurring measurements during the period.
 
Real estate owned—REO consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans. Upon foreclosure, REO is adjusted to the estimated fair

value of the residential real estate less estimated selling and holding costs, offset by expected contractual mortgage insurance proceeds to be received, if any.
Subsequently, REO is recorded at the lower of carrying value or estimated fair value less costs to sell. REO balance representing REOs which have been
impaired subsequent to foreclosure are subject to nonrecurring fair value measurement and included in the nonrecurring fair value measurements tables. Fair
values of REO are generally based on observable market inputs, and considered Level 2 measurements at September 30, 2013.

 
Lease liability—In connection with the discontinuation of our non-conforming mortgage, retail mortgage, warehouse lending and commercial

operations, a significant amount of office space that was previously occupied is no longer being used by the Company. The Company has subleased a
significant amount of this office space. The Company has recorded a liability representing the present value of the minimum lease payments over the
remaining life of the lease, offset by the expected proceeds from sublet revenue related to this office space. This liability is based on present value techniques
that incorporate the Company’s judgments about estimated sublet revenue and discount rates. Therefore, this liability is considered a Level 3 measurement at
September 30, 2013.

 
Note 10.—Income Taxes
 

As of January 1, 2013, the Company acquired additional ownership of its AmeriHome subsidiary bringing the Company’s controlling interest to
80%.  The increase in ownership allows the Company to include AmeriHome in the IMH federal consolidated tax returns for 2013.  During the first quarter of
2013, the Company recorded a $1.2 million tax benefit resulting from the use of net operating losses (NOL) to offset AmeriHome deferred tax liabilities. 
Additionally, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company recorded a benefit of $9 thousand and expense of $131 thousand,
respectively, in state income tax expense primarily related to states where the Company does not have NOL carryforwards.
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Note 11.—Reconciliation of Earnings (Loss) Per Share
 

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders (numerator) by the weighted average number of
vested, common shares outstanding during the period (denominator). Diluted net income per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number
of shares of common stock outstanding plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the if-converted method.
Dilutive potential common shares include shares issuable upon conversion of Convertible Notes, exercise of outstanding stock options and restricted stock
units (RSUs).
 
  

For the Three Months
 

For the Nine Months
 

  
Ended September 30,

 
Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
2013

 
2012

 

Numerator for basic earnings (loss) per share:
         

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations
 

$ (4,671) $ 6,954
 

$ (2,281) $ 11,228
 

Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest
 

—
 

(212) (136) (683)
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations attributable to IMH

 

(4,671) 6,742
 

(2,417) 10,545
 

Loss from discontinued operations
 

(277) (9,021) (2,051) (13,402)
Net loss attributable to IMH common stockholders

 

$ (4,948) $ (2,279) $ (4,468) $ (2,857)
          
Numerator for diluted earnings (loss) per share:

         

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations attributable to IMH
 

$ (4,671) $ 6,742
 

$ (2,417) $ 10,545
 

Interest expense attributable to convertible notes
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations attributable to IMH plus interest
expense attributable to convertible notes

 

(4,671) 6,742
 

(2,417) 10,545
 

Loss from discontinued operations
 

(277) (9,021) (2,051) (13,402)
Net loss attributable to IMH common stockholders plus interest expense

attributable to convertible notes
 

$ (4,948) $ (2,279) $ (4,468) $ (2,857)
          
Denominator for basic earnings (loss) per share (1):

         

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding during the year
 

8,829
 

7,855
 

8,701
 

7,840
 

          
         



Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share (1):
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding during the year

 

8,829
 

7,855
 

8,701
 

7,840
 

Net effect of dilutive convertible notes
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Net effect of dilutive stock options and RSU’s
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Diluted weighted average common shares
 

8,829
 

7,855
 

8,701
 

7,840
 

          
Earnings (loss) per common share - basic and diluted:

         

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations attributable to IMH
 

$ (0.53) $ 0.86
 

$ (0.28) $ 1.35
 

Loss from discontinued operations
 

(0.03) (1.15) $ (0.24) (1.71)
Net loss per share available to common stockholders

 

$ (0.56) $ (0.29) $ (0.52) $ (0.36)
 

(1)         Number of shares presented in thousands.
 
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, stock options to purchase 816 thousand shares were outstanding, but not included in the

above weighted average share calculations, because they were anti-dilutive.
 
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, stock options to purchase 1.1 million shares were outstanding, but not included in the

above weighted average share calculations, because they were anti-dilutive.
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Note 12.—Segment Reporting
 

The Company has reporting segments consisting of the mortgage lending, real estate services, long-term mortgage portfolio and discontinued
operations. The following tables present the selected financial data and operating results by reporting segment for the periods indicated:
 
Statement of Operations Items for the

 
Mortgage

 
Real Estate

 
Long-term Mortgage

   

three months ended September 30, 2013:
 

Lending
 

Services
 

Portfolio (1)
 

Consolidated
 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 11,103
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 11,103
 

Servicing income, net
 

989
 

—
 

—
 

989
 

Real estate services fees, net
 

—
 

4,933
 

—
 

4,933
 

Other revenue
 

(117) —
 

(74) (191)
Other income (expense)

 

144
 

5
 

(547) (398)
Total expense

 

(16,186) (975) (3,955) (21,116)
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes

 

$ (4,067) $ 3,963
 

$ (4,576) (4,680)
Income tax benefit from continuing operations

       

9
 

Loss from continuing operations
       

(4,671)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

       

(277)
Net loss

       

(4,948)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest

       

—
 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders
       

$ (4,948)
 
Statement of Operations Items for the

 
Mortgage

 
Real Estate

 
Long-term Mortgage

   

three months ended September 30, 2012:
 

Lending
 

Services
 

Portfolio (1)
 

Consolidated
 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 25,043
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 25,043
 

Servicing income, net
 

294
 

—
 

—
 

294
 

Real estate services fees, net
 

—
 

5,328
 

—
 

5,328
 

Other revenue
 

(780) —
 

642
 

(138)
Other income (expense)

 

(164) 6
 

(1,805) (1,963)
Total expense

 

(15,913) (2,197) (3,492) (21,602)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

 

$ 8,480
 

$ 3,137
 

$ (4,655) 6,962
 

Income tax expense from continuing operations
       

(8)
Earnings from continuing operations

       

6,954
 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
       

(9,021)
Net loss

       

(2,067)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest

       

(212)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

       

$ (2,279)
 
Statement of Operations Items for the

 
Mortgage

 
Real Estate

 
Long-term Mortgage

   

nine months ended September 30, 2013:
 

Lending
 

Services
 

Portfolio (1)
 

Consolidated
 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 47,701
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 47,701
 

Servicing income, net
 

2,929
 

—
 

—
 

2,929
 

Real estate services fees, net
 

—
 

14,516
 

—
 

14,516
 

Other revenue
 

3,178
 

—
 

767
 

3,945
 

Other income (expense)
 

(161) 16
 

(2,649) (2,794)
Total expense

 

(53,482) (4,918) (11,243) (69,643)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

 

$ 165
 

$ 9,614
 

$ (13,125) (3,346)
Income tax benefit from continuing operations

       

1,065
 

Loss from continuing operations
       

(2,281)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

       

(2,051)
Net loss

       

(4,332)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest (136)



Net loss attributable to common stockholders
       

$ (4,468)
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Statement of Operations Items for the
 

Mortgage
 

Real Estate
 

Long-term Mortgage
   

nine months ended September 30, 2012:
 

Lending
 

Services
 

Portfolio (1)
 

Consolidated
 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 50,025
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 50,025
 

Servicing income, net
 

382
 

—
 

—
 

382
 

Real estate services fees, net
 

—
 

15,707
 

—
 

15,707
 

Other revenue
 

(1,399) —
 

1,167
 

(232)
Other income (expense)

 

(255) 22
 

(1,220) (1,453)
Total expense

 

(35,751) (6,234) (11,172) (53,157)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

 

$ 13,002
 

$ 9,495
 

$ (11,225) 11,272
 

Income tax expense from continuing operations
       

(44)
Earnings from continuing operations

       

11,228
 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
       

(13,402)
Net loss

       

(2,174)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest

       

(683)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

       

$ (2,857)
 

Balance Sheet Items as of
 

Mortgage
 

Real Estate
 

Long-term
Mortgage

 
Discontinued

   

September 30, 2013:
 

Lending
 

Services
 

Portfolio (1)
 

Operations
 

Consolidated
 

Total Assets at September 30, 2013
 

$ 170,593
 

$ 7,779
 

$ 5,488,540
 

$ 3,035
 

$ 5,669,947
 

Total Assets at December 31, 2012
 

$ 137,733
 

$ 12,833
 

$ 5,835,970
 

$ 52
 

$ 5,986,588
 

(1)   This segment includes infrastructure to support master servicing and certain unallocated costs associated with being a publicly traded company.
 

Note 13.—Commitments and Contingencies
 
Legal Proceedings
 

The Company is a defendant in or a party to a number of legal actions or proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. In some of these
actions and proceedings, claims for monetary damages are asserted against the Company. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such
legal actions and proceedings, the Company generally cannot predict what the eventual outcome of the pending matters will be, what the timing of the
ultimate resolution of these matters will be, or what the eventual loss related to each pending matter may be, if any.

 
In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for litigation when those matters present loss

contingencies that are both probable and estimable. In any case, there may be an exposure to losses in excess of any such amounts whether accrued or not.
Any estimated loss is subject to significant judgment and is based upon currently available information, a variety of assumptions, and known and unknown
uncertainties. The matters underlying the estimated loss will change from time to time, and actual results may vary significantly from the current estimate.
Therefore, an estimate of possible loss represents what the Company believes to be an estimate of possible loss only for certain matters meeting these criteria.
It does not represent the Company’s maximum loss exposure.  At September 30, 2013, the Company has a $4.6 million accrued liability recorded for such
estimated loss exposure as explained below.

 
Based on the Company’s current understanding of these pending legal actions and proceedings, management cannot ascertain whether the judgments

or settlements arising from pending or threatened legal matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial position, operating results or cash flows of the Company. However, in light of the inherent uncertainties involved in these matters, some of which are
beyond the Company’s control, and the very large or indeterminate damages sought in some of these matters, an adverse outcome in one or more of these
matters could be material to the Company’s results of operations or cash flows for any particular reporting period.

 
Updates to legal matters for the period ended September 30, 2013 are as follows:
 
On August 16, 2013, a matter was filed in the US District Court, Southern District of New York entitled Ally Bank f/k/a GMAC Bank v. Impac

Funding Corporation, et al.  The action alleges the defendants breached contractual representations and warranties in connection with thirteen loans that were
purchased by the plaintiff and seeks damages of approximately $1.4 million.
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We are a party to other litigation and claims which are normal in the course of our operations. While the results of such other litigation and claims
cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

 
The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the above claims and intends to defend these claims vigorously and as such the Company

believes the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations. Nevertheless, litigation is
uncertain and the Company may not prevail in the lawsuits and can express no opinion as to their ultimate resolution. An adverse judgment in any of these
matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

 
On May 15, 2013, Wilmington Trust Company filed a complaint, in its individual capacity, and as Owner Trustee of Impac Secured Assets CMB

Trust Series 1998-1 and Impac CMB Trust Series 1999-1, 1999-2, 2000-1, 2000-2, 2001-4, 2002-1, and 2003-5 v. Impac Secured Assets Corp., et al. alleging



the defendants owe the plaintiff indemnification for settlements and legal fees that the plaintiff allegedly incurred in connection with the Gilmor, et al. v.
Preferred Credit Corp., et al. matter (a legal matter Impac settled in September 2012). The complaint indicated the plaintiff seeks unspecified damages. 
Although the Company believes its obligation to the plaintiff to be minimal, management believes it is in the best interest of the shareholders to settle the
matter rather than be faced with the uncertainty of the trial, significant legal expenses and the time and distractions involved in a trial.  Furthermore, to the
extent the terms of a settlement were structured to minimize the impact to operational cash flows, which would not be the case if the matter was litigated at
trial, the Company has sought to settle this matter.

 
On October 16, 2012, a matter was filed entitled Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, in its individual capacity, and as Indenture Trustee of

Impac Secured Assets CMB Trust Series 1998-1, Impac CMB Trust Series 1999-2, 2000-2, 2001-4, 2002-1, and 2003-5, and Impac Real Estate Asset Trust
Series 2006-SD1 v. Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., et al. The action alleged the defendants owe the plaintiff indemnification for settlements that the plaintiff
allegedly entered into in connection with the Gilmor, et al. v. Preferred Credit Corp., et al. matter. The plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief and
unspecified damages.  Although the Company believes its obligation to the plaintiff to be minimal, management believed it was in the best interest of the
shareholders to settle the matter rather than be faced with the uncertainty of a trial, significant legal expenses and the time and distractions involved in a trial. 
Furthermore, to the extent the terms of a settlement were structured to minimize the impact to operational cash flows, which would not be the case if the
matter was litigated at trial, the Company is more willing to settle the matter.  In September 2013, the Company sought to settle the matter. 

 
The Company determined the loss from these matters were probable and reasonably estimated. In the third quarter of 2013, the Company recorded a

legal settlement charge of $2.65 million related to these matters, which was included in the accrued liability of $4.6 million at September 30, 2013.
 

Please refer to IMH’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and subsequent Form 10-Q filings for a description of litigation
and claims.

 
Legal Recovery

 
In the third quarter of 2013, the Company entered into an agreement for the settlement of an insurance claim to receive $3.0 million on previously

settled legal matters.  The balance was recorded in Assets from Discontinued Operations and Loss from Discontinued Operations, net of tax at September 30,
2013.

 
Repurchase Reserve

 
When the Company sells mortgage loans, it makes customary representations and warranties to the purchasers about various characteristics of each

loan such as the origination and underwriting guidelines, including but not limited to the validity of the lien securing the loan, property eligibility, borrower
credit, income and asset requirements, and compliance with applicable federal, state and local law. The Company’s whole loan sale agreements generally
required it to repurchase loans if the Company breached a representation or warranty given to the loan purchaser.

 
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company paid approximately $752 thousand and $3.3 million, respectively, to

settle previous repurchase claims related to the discontinued operations. The discontinued operations continue to receive repurchase requests from Fannie
Mae. At September 30, 2013, the repurchase reserve within discontinued operations was $6.2 million as compared to $8.2 million at December 31, 2012. 
Additionally, the Company had approximately $3.6 million and $2.4 million at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, in repurchase
reserves related to the loans sold since early 2011 by the continuing mortgage lending operation.
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Note 14.—Share Based Payments
 

There were 255,000 and no options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
 

The fair value of options granted, which is amortized to expense over the option vesting period, is estimated on the date of grant with the following
weighted average assumptions:

 
  

September 30,
 

  
2013

 

Risk-free interest rate
 

1.46%
Expected lives (in years)

 

5.56
 

Expected volatility (1)
 

78.58%
Expected dividend yield

 

0.00%
Fair value per share

 

$ 7.03
 

 

(1)         Expected volatilities are based on the volatility of the Company’s stock over the expected option term, adjusted for expected mean reversion.
 

The following table summarizes activity, pricing and other information for the Company’s stock options for the nine months ended September 30,
2013:

 
    

Weighted-
 

    
Average

 

  
Number of

 
Exercise

 

  
Shares

 
Price

 

Options outstanding at December 31, 2012
 

796,795
 

$ 7.89
 

Options granted
 

255,000
 

10.65
 

Options exercised
 

(108,456) 1.39
 

Options forfeited / cancelled
 

(127,080) 11.82
 

Options outstanding at end of period
 

816,259
 

$ 9.00
 

Options exercisable at end of period
 

234,596
 

$ 5.12
 



 
As of September 30, 2013, there was approximately $3.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option compensation

arrangements granted under the plan, net of estimated forfeitures. That cost is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average period of 2.15
years.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the aggregate grant-date fair value of stock options granted was approximately

$1.8 million and none, respectively.
 

In addition to the options granted, the Company has granted 30,000 restricted stock units (RSU’s), which vest over three years. The fair value of each
RSU was measured on the date of grant using the grant date price of the Company’s stock. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the
aggregate grant-date fair value of RSU’s granted was approximately $320 thousand and none, respectively.
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The following table summarizes activity, pricing and other information for the Company’s RSU’s, also referred to as deferred stock units as the
issuance of the stock is deferred until termination of service, for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

 
    

Weighted-
 

    
Average

 

  
Number of

 
Grant Date

 

  
Shares

 
Fair Value

 

RSU’s outstanding at December 31, 2012
 

42,000
 

$ 7.48
 

RSU’s granted
 

30,000
 

10.65
 

RSU’s exercised
 

—
 

—
 

RSU’s forfeited / cancelled
 

—
 

—
 

RSU’s outstanding at end of period
 

72,000
 

$ 8.80
 

 
As of September 30, 2013, there was approximately $447 thousand of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the RSU compensation

arrangements granted under the plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.26 years.
 

Note 15.—Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest
 

During the third quarter of 2013, the Company and the noncontrolling interest holder entered into an agreement to transfer the remaining 20%
ownership of AmeriHome to the Company in exchange for $350 thousand in cash and $1.1 million in IMH common stock.  Effective July 1, 2013, the
Company owns 100% of AmeriHome.

 
Note 16.—Subsequent Events

 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of this filing.
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ITEM 2:  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

(dollars in thousands, except per share data or as otherwise indicated)
 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the Company or IMH),
a Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995, and its subsidiaries, Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation (IRES), IMH Assets Corp. (IMH
Assets), and Impac Funding Corporation (IFC).

 
Forward-Looking Statements
 

This report on Form 10-Q contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements, some of which are based on various assumptions and events that are
beyond our control, may be identified by reference to a future period or periods or by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as “may,” “will,”
“believe,” “expect,” “likely,” “should,” “could,” “seem to,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “intend,” “project,” “assume,” or similar terms or variations on those terms
or the negative of those terms. The forward-looking statements are based on current management expectations. Actual results may differ materially as a result
of several factors, including, but not limited to the following: our ability to manage effectively our mortgage lending operations and continue to expand the
Company’s growing mortgage lending activities; volatility in the mortgage industry; unexpected interest rate fluctuations and margin compression; our ability
to manage personnel expense in relation to mortgage production levels; our ability to successfully re-enter the warehouse lending business; failure to
successfully launch or continue to market new loan products; increased competition in the mortgage lending industry by larger or more efficient companies;
issues and system risks related to our technology; more than expected increases in default rates or loss severities and mortgage related losses; ability to obtain
additional financing, the terms of any financing that we do obtain and our expected use of proceeds from any financing; increase in loan repurchase requests
and ability to adequately settle repurchase obligations; failure to create brand awareness; the outcome, including any settlements, of litigation or regulatory
actions pending against us or other legal contingencies; and our compliance with applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations and other general
market and economic conditions.

 
For a discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking

statements, see “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2012, and other reports we file under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. This document



speaks only as of its date and we do not undertake, and specifically disclaim any obligation, to release publicly the results of any revisions that may be made
to any forward-looking statements to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

 
The Mortgage Industry and Discussion of Relevant Fiscal Periods
 

The mortgage industry is subject to current events that occur in the financial services industry including changes to regulations and compliance
requirements that result in uncertainty surrounding the actions of states, municipalities and new government agencies, including the Consumer Financial
Protection Board (CFPB) and Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA). These events can also include changes in economic indicators, interest rates, price
competition, geographic shifts, disposable income, housing prices, market liquidity, market anticipation, and customer perception, as well as others. The
factors that affect the industry change rapidly and can be unforeseeable making it difficult to predict and manage an operation in the financial services
industry.

 
Current events can diminish the relevance of “quarter over quarter” and “year-to-date over year-to-date” comparisons of financial information. In

such instances, the Company attempts to present financial information in its Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations that is the most relevant to its financial information.

 
Market Update
 

The first nine months of 2013 included moderate economic growth, improved labor market conditions, increased  household spending and further
strengthening in many housing markets. Housing markets in the United States in general continued the rebound which began in the second half of 2012 with
overall home prices moving higher as demand increased and the supply of homes for sale declined.  However, the rise in housing prices has begun to slow. 
Rising mortgage rates are tempering demand, which is holding down prices.  According to the National Association of Realtors, pending home sales fell in
September to their lowest levels since December 2012.

 
28

Table of Contents
 

During the second quarter and continuing into the third quarter of 2013, long-term interest rates began to rise in part out of concern that the Federal
Reserve may begin to slow its quantitative easing program if the economy continues to strengthen. These concerns subsided to a certain extent in
September when the Federal Reserve announced its bond buying program would continue at current levels to support the slow growing economy. The Federal
Reserve has recently clarified its policy and announced that they do not expect to increase short-term rates until the unemployment rate falls below 6.5%.

 
With the aforementioned rise in mortgage loan interest rates starting in the second quarter, origination of mortgage loans, in particular refinance

activity, has substantially declined across the mortgage lending industry.  Financial firms are cutting tens of thousands of jobs because of a slowdown in the
mortgage business, the sluggish economy, the growth of online banking and new regulations.  Many of the recent job losses stem from the rise in interest rates
and resulting decline in mortgage refinancing activity. The Mortgage Bankers Association estimates mortgage refinancing volume will drop to $989 billion
this year and $388 billion in 2014, from $1.2 trillion in 2012.
 
Selected Financial Results for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012
 
 

 
Q3 2013

 
Q2 2013

 
Q3 2012

 
YTD 2013

 
YTD 2012

 

  

Net earnings
 (loss)

 

Diluted
EPS

 

Net earnings
 (loss)

 

Diluted
EPS

 

Net earnings
 (loss)

 

Diluted
EPS

 

Net earnings
 (loss)

 

Diluted
EPS

 

Net earnings
 (loss)

 

Diluted
EPS

 

Mortgage Lending
 

$ (4,067) $ (0.46) $ 3,426
 

$ 0.33
 

$ 8,268
 

$ 1.05
 

$ 29
 

$ 0.00
 

$ 12,319
 

$ 1.57
 

Real Estate Services
 

3,963
 

0.45
 

3,355
 

0.33
 

3,137
 

0.40
 

9,614
 

1.10
 

9,495
 

1.21
 

Long-term Mortgage Portfolio
 

(4,576) (0.52) (4,563) (0.42) (4,655) (0.59) (13,125) (1.50) (11,225) (1.43)
Continuing Operations

 
$ (4,680) $ (0.53) $ 2,218

 
$ 0.24

 
$ 6,750

 
$ 0.86

 
$ (3,482) $ (0.40) $ 10,589

 
$ 1.35

 

Income tax (expense) benefit from
continuing operations

 
9

 
0.00

 
(32) 0.00

 
(8) 0.00

 
1,065

 
0.12

 
(44) $ 0.00

 

Continuing Operations, net of tax
 

$ (4,671) $ (0.53) $ 2,186
 

$ 0.24
 

$ 6,742
 

$ 0.86
 

$ (2,417) $ (0.28) $ 10,545
 

$ 1.35
 

Discontinued Operations, net of tax
 

(277) (0.03) (968) (0.10) (9,021) (1.15) (2,051) (0.24) (13,402) (1.71)
Net (loss) earnings attributable to

IMH
 

$ (4,948) $ (0.56) $ 1,218
 

$ 0.14
 

$ (2,279) $ (0.29) $ (4,468) $ (0.52) $ (2,857) $ (0.36)

 
Continuing Operations
 
·                  Pretax net loss of $4.7 million or $0.53 per diluted share during the three months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to $6.8 million or $0.86 per

diluted share during the same period in 2012.
 
·                  Mortgage lending segment pretax loss of $4.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to earnings of $8.3 million for the same

period in 2012:
 

·                  Originated $576.2 million of loans during the three months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to $709.3 million of loans originated for
the same period in 2012.

·                  Mortgage servicing rights were $27.9 million as of September 30, 2013 as compared to $22.1 million at June 30, 2013.
·                  Servicing income, net was $1.0 million during the third quarter of 2013, as compared to $0.3 million during the same period in 2012.
 

·                  Real estate services segment pretax earnings were $4.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to earnings of $3.1 million for
the same period in 2012.

·                  Long-term mortgage portfolio segment pretax loss was $4.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a loss of $4.7 million
for the same period in 2012.

 
Discontinued Operations
 
·                  Net loss of $0.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 compared to a loss of $9.0 million for the same period in 2012.
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Selected Financial Results for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012
 
Continuing Operations
 

·                  Pretax net loss of $3.5 million or $0.40 per diluted share during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to earnings of $10.6 million
or $1.35 per diluted share during the same period in 2012.

 
·                  Mortgage lending segment pretax earnings of $29 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to earnings of $12.3 million

for the same period in 2012:
 

·                  Originated $2.0 billion of loans during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to $1.6 billion of loans originated for the
same period in 2012.

·                  Mortgage lending revenues were $53.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to $49.0 million for the same period
in 2012.

 
·                  Real estate services segment pretax earnings were $9.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to earnings of $9.5 million

for the same period in 2012.
·                  Long-term mortgage portfolio segment pretax loss was $13.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a loss of $11.2

million for the same period in 2012.
 

Discontinued Operations
 

·                  Loss, net of tax, was $2.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to a loss of $13.4 million for the same period in 2012.
 

Status of Operations
 

We primarily have three operating segments: Mortgage Lending, Real Estate Services and Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio (also collectively referred
to as our continuing operations).

 
Mortgage Lending
 

The decrease in net earnings in the mortgage lending segment in the third quarter of 2013 as compared to third quarter of 2012 was due to a decline
in loan origination volume and reduction in margins attributable to the unexpected rise in interest rates.  Originations declined 19% to $576.2 million due to
the increase in mortgage interest rates resulting in a reduction in refinance transactions while gain on sale margins continued to compress creating challenges
for the mortgage lending sector.  During the second quarter, we had maintained excess lending operating capacity for an anticipated increase in volumes, but
with the unexpected sudden decline in volume as well as increased compliance costs due to new mortgage lending requirements we had higher operational
costs.  In response to the reduced production volumes, we reduced our lending operating expenses from $19.2 million in the second quarter to $16.2 million
in the third quarter of this year. In the third quarter of 2013 and into the fourth quarter, we have taken steps to align the operating expenses with reduced
lending volumes and revenues.  Management reduced mortgage operations staff to accommodate for the reduction in lending volumes associated with the
increase in interest rates.  With the recent reductions in staffing levels across the industry, we are actively hiring additional sales professionals in all of our
origination channels.  With these steps, management believes that the mortgage lending segment net earnings will improve in the fourth quarter.

 
Despite the drop in lending volumes and margins, we have continued to increase the mortgage servicing portfolio which has increased to $2.7 billion

as of September 30, 2013 and produced net servicing fees of $1.0 million in the third quarter as compared to $0.3 million in the same period in 2012. The
estimated fair value of mortgage servicing rights of the portfolio increased to $27.9 million at September 30, 2013, as compared to $22.1 million at June 30,
2013, and $10.7 million at December 31, 2012.
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Originations by Loan Type:
 

  
For the three months ended September 30,

 

(in millions)
 

2013
 

2012
 

% Change
 

Government (1)
 

$ 188.6
 

$ 231.0
 

-18%
Conventional (2)

 

376.1
 

475.5
 

-21%
Other

 

11.5
 

2.8
 

311%
Total originations

 

$ 576.2
 

$ 709.3
 

-19%
 

  
For the nine months ended September 30,

 

(in millions)
 

2013
 

2012
 

% Change
 

Government (1)
 

$ 582.5
 

$ 484.1
 

20%
Conventional (2)

 

1,420.6
 

1,111.3
 

28%
Other

 

27.1
 

11.6
 

134%
Total originations

 

$ 2,030.2
 

$ 1,607.0
 

26%
 

(1)         Includes government-insured loans including FHA, VA and USDA
(2)         Includes loans eligible for sale to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
 

We expect to continue originating conventional and government-insured loans and have recently begun to originate nonconforming prime jumbo
loans.  The volume of our nonconforming jumbo loan program initially has been low with loans sold on a servicing-released basis, but is expected to increase



in the coming months.
 
In the third quarter of 2013, the mortgage lending channels experienced a more balanced channel volume mix.  This was a result of the continued

growth in the correspondent channel, which acquires closed loans from our correspondent sellers, along with a reduction in wholesale loan originations.  For
the third quarter of 2013, our correspondent channel contributed 37% of originations while our wholesale channel contributed 34%, with the remaining 29%
coming from our retail channel.

 
  

For the three months ended September 30,
 

(in millions)
 

2013
 

%
 

2012
 

%
 

Originations by Channel:
         

Wholesale
 

$ 197.8
 

34% $ 366.6
 

52%
Retail

 

166.4
 

29% 207.4
 

30%
Correspondent

 

212.0
 

37% 135.3
 

19%
Total originations

 

$ 576.2
 

100% $ 709.3
 

100%
          
Originations by Purpose:

         

Refinance
 

$ 260.6
 

45% $ 519.0
 

73%
Purchase

 

315.6
 

55% 190.3
 

27%
Total originations

 

$ 576.2
 

100% $ 709.3
 

100%
 

  
For the nine months ended September 30,

 

(in millions)
 

2013
 

%
 

2012
 

%
 

Originations by Channel:
         

Wholesale
 

$ 832.5
 

41% $ 873.8
 

54%
Retail

 

606.7
 

30% 491.3
 

31%
Correspondent

 

590.9
 

29% 241.9
 

15%
Total originations

 

$ 2,030.1
 

100% $ 1,607.0
 

100%
          
Originations by Purpose:

         

Refinance
 

$ 1,225.7
 

60% $ 1,105.1
 

69%
Purchase

 

804.4
 

40% 501.9
 

31%
Total originations

 

$ 2,030.1
 

100% $ 1,607.0
 

100%
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In the third quarter of 2013, the percentage of purchase money transactions, as compared to refinance transactions, increased to 55% of overall
originations, as compared to 39% during the second quarter of 2013.  As the home refinance market contracts due to higher interest rates, we continue to
focus on purchase money transactions by diversifying our loan products and adding extended rate lock options to help capture more volume, along with more
expansive marketing efforts.  Today, we offer a complete product menu including less interest rate sensitive loan programs, such as Home Renovation
203(k) products, Home Affordable Refinance Programs (HARP), Reverse Mortgages and HUD 1023.  To capture a greater percentage of these loans, our
most recent marketing efforts include the launch of a televised advertising campaign to increase our reverse mortgage production and establishing
arrangements for exclusive lead generation referrals for purchase money and 203(k) renovation loans.

 
The third quarter of 2013 was challenging for us and the mortgage lending industry as a whole as the market began to shift to a higher concentration

of home purchase originations associated with a higher interest rate environment.  Although the mortgage lending industry may continue to experience
volatility with uncertainty around the Federal Reserve’s bond buying program and the implementation of upcoming new compliance regulations in
January 2014, we believe the mortgage market will eventually return to more historical margins in both refinance and purchase transactions markets. 
Additionally, we believe that our initiatives taken this last quarter, including the reductions to our lending operations cost structure along with the
establishment of our warehouse lending operation should ultimately help position our mortgage lending segment to be successful as the overall mortgage
markets return to more historical margins.  Due to the increase in interest rates, our fourth quarter volumes are expected to be consistent with our third quarter.

 
Our mortgage servicing portfolio, represented by $27.9 million in mortgage servicing rights (MSRs) on our consolidated balance sheet at

September 30, 2013, increased to $2.7 billion as of September 30, 2013, from $1.5 billion at December 31, 2012.  Net servicing fees in the third quarter of
2013, after subservicing costs, increased by 9% and 142% to $1.0 million in the third quarter of 2013 over the second quarter of 2013 and third quarter of
2012, respectively. Our servicing portfolio is comprised of high credit quality agency loans and has a weighted average coupon of approximately 4%. 
Currently, our portfolio has a 60-day delinquency ratio in terms of unpaid principal balance of less than 1% of the portfolio.  These servicing portfolio
characteristics along with the added growth from our mortgage lending production, is expected to further increase the net servicing fee revenue in the future. 
Additionally, with the portfolio currently having a weighted average coupon below today’s mortgage rates, it is expected to have minimal prepayments,
increasing the longevity of this asset over time.

 
The following table includes information about our mortgage servicing portfolio:
 
  

At September 30,
 

% 60+ days
 

At December 31,
 

% 60+ days
 

(in millions)
 

2013
 

delinquent
 

2012
 

delinquent
 

Fannie Mae
 

$ 1,262.1
 

0.10% $ 622.4
 

0.00%
Freddie Mac

 

270.2
 

0.15% 100.4
 

0.00%
Ginnie Mae

 

1,064.0
 

0.90% 655.6
 

0.71%
Total owned servicing portfolio

 

$ 2,596.3
 

0.43% $ 1,378.4
 

0.34%
          
Acquired Portfolio (1) 

 

92.9
 

10.07% 113.7
 

10.48%
Total servicing portfolio

 

$ 2,689.2
 

0.77% $ 1,492.1
 

1.11%
 

(1)         Represents servicing portfolio acquired in 2010 acquisition of AmeriHome.



 
During the third quarter of 2013, our warehouse borrowing capacity decreased $25.0 million to $265.0 million at September 30, 2013, as compared

to $290.0 million at June 30, 2013 and increased $47.5 million from $217.5 million at December 31, 2012.  Since December 2012, we added a net $47.5
million in additional borrowing capacity.  We added $97.5 million in additional borrowing capacity with three of our existing warehouse facilities, but in an
effort to reduce potential
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non-usage fees costs due to excess capacity resulting from lower loan origination volumes, we reduced our borrowing capacity by 1) not renewing a $25.0
million repurchase agreement which was set to expire in May 2013 and 2) reducing the borrowing capacity of another facility by $25.0 million.  At
September 30, 2013, we had four warehouse lender relationships.

 
During the third quarter of 2013, we announced that our warehouse lending business was operational.  Our warehouse lending group offers funding

facilities to all approved lenders, but initially focusing on smaller mortgage bankers and credit unions, including some of our current correspondent
customers.  Offering warehouse lending provides added value for our correspondent customers, as well as increases the capture rate from our currently
approved customers, increasing volumes in our correspondent channel.  We have received many application requests from prospective warehouse lending
customers, and we are currently in the process of finalizing agreements with our first clients.

 
Real Estate Services
 

We provide portfolio loss mitigation and real estate services including real estate owned (REO) surveillance and disposition services, default
surveillance and loss recovery services, short sale and real estate brokerage services, portfolio monitoring and reporting services.  The source of revenue for
this segment is primarily the long-term mortgage portfolio, along with a small number of third party clients as well.

 
The real estate services segments continues to earn consistent profits and posted net earnings of $4.0 million in the third quarter of 2013 as compared

to $3.1 million in the third quarter of 2012.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, net earnings for the real estate services segment were
$9.6 million as compared to $9.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012.  In a continuing effort to leverage our platform beyond mortgage
lending, our real estate services segment has expanded by offering its loss mitigation services beyond our own legacy portfolio.  We have recently established
relationships with third-parties to perform mortgage insurance recovery services.  In addition, we are in the final stages of solidifying an arrangement to
provide title remediation for a third party.

 
Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio
 

Although we have seen some stabilization and improvement in defaults, the portfolio continues to suffer losses and has a significant amount of
delinquent loans.  We expect the portfolio to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future until we see a significant decline in the number of foreclosure
properties in the market and a rise in real estate values.

 
The estimated fair value of the net trust assets continues to decline in 2013 primarily as a result of residual interest cash received and the expected

ongoing decline in securitized mortgage collateral due to principal collections and liquidation of defaulted loans.  At September 30, 2013, our residual interest
in securitizations (represented by the difference between total trust assets and total trust liabilities) decreased to $12.6 million, compared to $15.9 million at
December 31, 2012. The decrease in residual fair value in 2013 was primarily due to $5.0 million in cash received and changes in assumptions associated
with defaults and severities, offset by an increase in fair value related to net interest income accretion.

 
The long-term mortgage portfolio segment includes the net trust assets (residual interests), long-term debt and Convertible Notes.  This segment also

includes (i) the infrastructure and associated expenses incurred to manage the portfolio, (ii) corporate overhead expenses, including costs associated with
being a public company, (iii) certain occupancy expenses for space to be used in future growth and (iv) debt service expense.

 
Revenue from this segment is primarily derived from the net interest income from residual interests represented by the net securitized mortgage trust

assets and securitized mortgage trust liabilities on the balance sheet.  Additionally, interest expense from the long-term debt and Convertible Notes is included
in net interest income. The net trust assets and long-term debt are recorded at estimated fair value each period.  Any change in estimated fair value is recorded
as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations.  Lastly, there are certain personnel and operating costs incurred to support and manage the long-
term mortgage portfolio.

 
Our includes the master servicing and related systems for the long-term mortgage portfolio.  This portfolio continues to provide a majority of the real

estate services segment’s net earnings.  The real estate services segment provides certain services on behalf of the master servicer, for the benefit of the
securitization trusts within the long-term mortgage portfolio.  The long-term mortgage portfolio segment is required to maintain infrastructure for the master
servicing portfolio, which provides a source of revenue and thus a benefit to the real estate services segment.

 
33

Table of Contents
 

This segment includes all corporate services groups including information technology, accounting, human resources, legal, facilities, treasury and
corporate administration.  This corporate services group supports all operating segments.  A portion of these costs are allocated to the operating segments
based on certain allocation methods.  These corporate services groups are centralized to be efficient and avoid any duplicate cost burdens.  Specific costs
associated with being a publicly traded company are not allocated and remain in this segment.

 
We also maintain space for future growth.  The cost of unused space is recorded in the long-term mortgage portfolio since it is not attributed to

mortgage lending or real estate services segments.
 
Debt service expense related to corporate debt, including long-term debt and Convertible Notes, is not allocated to the mortgage lending or real

estate services segment.  In addition, we have recently taken advantage of very low financing rates and entered into capital lease arrangements to finance the



purchase of equipment, mostly computer equipment, used in all three segments.  The interest expense associated with the capital leases is not allocated and
remains in this segment.

 
For additional information regarding the long-term mortgage portfolio refer to Financial Condition and Results of Operations below.
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

During the first nine months of 2013, we funded our operations primarily from mortgage lending revenues and real estate services fees, net, which
include gains on sale of loans, net, and other mortgage related income, portfolio loss mitigation and real estate services fees, net, primarily generated from our
long-term mortgage portfolio, and cash flows from our residual interests in securitizations.  Additionally, we funded mortgage loan production using
warehouse facilities which are repaid once the loan is sold.  Furthermore, we utilized the proceeds from the line of credit and issuance of Convertible Notes as
additional sources of liquidity.

 
In April 2013, we fully satisfied the remaining scheduled payments on the note payable-debt agreement and hence, the residuals listed as collateral

and monthly cash flows from the residuals are now remitted directly to us.
 
On April 29, 2013, we raised $20.0 million from the issuance of Convertible Notes.  The Convertible Notes accrue interest at a rate of 7.5% per

annum to be paid quarterly and mature on April 30, 2018.  Note holders may convert all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Notes to shares of IMH common stock at a rate of $10.875 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits and dividends.  We have the right to force a
conversion if the stock price of IMH common stock reaches $16.3125 for 20 trading days during any period of 30 consecutive trading days.

 
Proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Notes will be used to increase the mortgage servicing portfolio by both retaining a greater portion of

our mortgage servicing rights, purchasing mortgage servicing rights, expanding the mortgage lending platform to increase lending volumes and pursue other
opportunities in the mortgage and lending markets.

 
Our results of operations and liquidity are materially affected by conditions in the markets for mortgages and mortgage-related assets, as well as the

broader financial markets and the general economy. Concerns over economic recession, geopolitical issues, unemployment, the availability and cost of
financing, the mortgage market and real estate market conditions contribute to increased volatility and diminished expectations for the economy and markets.
Volatility and uncertainty in the marketplace may make it more difficult for us to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all. Our operations and profitability
may be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain cost-effective financing.

 
We believe that current cash balances, cash flows from our mortgage lending operations, real estate services fees generated from our long-term

mortgage portfolio, and residual interest cash flows from our long-term mortgage portfolio are adequate for our current operating needs. However, we believe
the mortgage and real estate services market is volatile, highly competitive and subject to increased regulation. Competition in mortgage lending comes
primarily from mortgage bankers, commercial banks, credit unions, mortgage REITs and other finance companies which have offices in our market area as
well as operations throughout the United States. We compete for loans principally on the basis of the interest rates and loan fees we charge, the types of loans
we originate and the quality of services we provide to borrowers. Additionally, competition for loss mitigation servicing, loan modification services and other
portfolio services has increased due to the difficult mortgage environment, credit tightening and a recovering economy. Our competitors include mega
mortgage servicers, established subprime loan servicers, and newer entrants to the specialty servicing and recovery collections business. Efforts to market our
ability to provide mortgage and real estate services for others is more difficult than many of our competitors because we have not historically provided such
services to unrelated third parties, and we are not a rated primary or special servicer of residential mortgage loans as designated by a rating agency.
Additionally, performance of the long-term mortgage portfolio is subject to the current real estate market and economic conditions. Cash flows from our
residual interests in securitizations are sensitive to delinquencies, defaults and credit losses associated with the securitized loans. Losses in excess of current
estimates will reduce the residual interest cash receipts from our long-term mortgage portfolio.
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While we continue to pay our obligations as they become due, the ability to continue to meet our current and long-term obligations is dependent
upon many factors, particularly our ability to successfully operate our mortgage lending segment, real estate services segment and realizing cash flows from
the long-term mortgage portfolio. Our future financial performance and success are dependent in large part upon the ability to expand our mortgage lending
platform and profitability.

 
Critical Accounting Policies
 

We define critical accounting policies as those that are important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations. Our critical
accounting policies require management to make difficult and complex judgments that rely on estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain due to the effect of changing market conditions and/or consumer behavior. In determining which accounting policies meet this definition, we
considered our policies with respect to the valuation of our assets and liabilities and estimates and assumptions used in determining those valuations. We
believe the most critical accounting issues that require the most complex and difficult judgments and that are particularly susceptible to significant change to
our financial condition and results of operations include those issues included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations in IMH’s
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.  Such policies have not changed during 2013.

 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

 
Financial Condition
 
As of September 30, 2013 compared to December 31, 2012
 

The following table shows the condensed consolidated balance sheets for the following periods:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Cash
 

$ 15,669
 

$ 12,711
 

$ 2,958
 

23%
   



Restricted cash 1,832 3,230 (1,398) (43)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale

 

125,604
 

118,786
 

6,818
 

6
 

Mortgage servicing rights
 

27,857
 

10,703
 

17,154
 

160
 

Securitized mortgage trust assets
 

5,467,957
 

5,810,506
 

(342,549) (6)
Other assets (2)

 

31,028
 

30,652
 

376
 

1
 

Total assets
 

$ 5,669,947
 

$ 5,986,588
 

$ (316,641) (5)%
          
Warehouse borrowings

 

$ 114,435
 

$ 107,604
 

$ 6,831
 

6%
Notes payable

 

20
 

3,451
 

(3,431) (99)
Repurchase reserve (1)

 

9,859
 

10,562
 

(703) (7)
Convertible notes

 

20,000
 

—
 

20,000
 

n/a
 

Long-term debt ($71,120 par)
 

14,966
 

12,731
 

2,235
 

18
 

Securitized mortgage trust liabilities
 

5,455,401
 

5,794,656
 

(339,255) (6)
Other liabilities (2)

 

26,953
 

27,741
 

(788) (3)
Total liabilities

 

5,641,634
 

5,956,745
 

(315,111) (5)
Total IMH stockholders’ equity

 

28,313
 

28,960
 

(647) (2)
Noncontrolling interest

 

—
 

883
 

(883) (100)
Total equity

 

28,313
 

29,843
 

(1,530) (5)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

 

$ 5,669,947
 

$ 5,986,588
 

$ (316,641) (5)%
 

(1)         $6.2 million and $8.2 million of the repurchase reserve were within discontinued operations at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.
(2)         Included within other assets and liabilities are the assets and liabilities of discontinued operations.
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At September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, net trust assets and liabilities were as follows:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Total trust assets
 

$ 5,467,957
 

$ 5,810,506
 

$ (342,549) (6)%
Total trust liabilities

 

5,455,401
 

5,794,656
 

(339,255) (6)
Residual interests in securitizations

 

$ 12,556
 

$ 15,850
 

$ (3,294) (21)%
 

At September 30, 2013, cash increased to $15.7 million from $12.7 million at December 31, 2012. The primary sources of cash between periods
were $20.0 million from the issuance of the convertible notes, $53.6 million in fees generated from the mortgage lending operations and real estate services
(net of non-cash fair value adjustments) and $5.0 million from residual interests in securitizations. Offsetting the sources of cash were continuing operating
expenses totaling $69.6 million, payments on the notes payable of $3.4 million (including $1.5 million which came from the related reserve account), $0.4
million interest payments on the convertible notes and settlements of repurchase requests associated with loans sold by the discontinued non-conforming
mortgage operations of approximately $3.3 million.

 
Since the consolidated and unconsolidated securitization trusts are nonrecourse to us, trust assets and liabilities have been netted to present our

interest in these trusts more simply, which are considered the residual interests in securitizations. For unconsolidated securitizations the residual interests
represent the fair value of investment securities available-for-sale. For consolidated securitizations, the residual interests are represented by the fair value of
securitized mortgage collateral and real estate owned, offset by the fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings and net derivative liabilities. We receive
cash flows from our residual interests in securitizations to the extent they are available after required distributions to bondholders and maintaining specified
overcollateralization levels and other specified parameters (such as maximum delinquency and cumulative default) within the trusts. The estimated fair value
of the residual interests, represented by the difference in the fair value of total trust assets and total trust liabilities, was $12.6 million at September 30, 2013,
compared to $15.9 million at December 31, 2012. During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the decrease in residual fair value in was primarily due
to $5.0 million in cash received and changes in assumptions associated with defaults and severities, offset by an increase in fair value related to net interest
income accretion.

 
Mortgage loans held-for-sale increased $6.8 million to $125.6 million at September 30, 2013 as compared to $118.8 million at December 31, 2012.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we had $2.0 billion in originations and loan sales.  As a normal course of our origination and sales cycle,
loans held-for-sale at the end of any period are generally sold within one or two subsequent months.

 
The estimated fair value of mortgage servicing rights increased by $17.2 million to $27.9 million at September 30, 2013 as compared to

$10.7 million at December 31, 2012. The increase is due to an increase in our mortgage servicing portfolio from servicing retained loan sales of $1.9 billion
during the nine months of 2013, partially offset by the sale of servicing rights of $401.9 million during the nine months of 2013.  Additionally, the increase is
also due to a fair value adjustment of $3.0 million primarily due to the increase in interest rates since the middle of the second quarter of 2013.  At
September 30, 2013, we serviced $2.7 billion in unpaid principal balance (UPB) for others as compared to $1.5 billion at December 31, 2012.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we did not record income tax expense resulting from deferred charge impairment write-downs based

on changes in estimated fair value of securitized mortgage collateral. The deferred charge arose as a result of the deferral of income tax expense on inter-
company profits that resulted from the sale of mortgages from taxable subsidiaries to IMH in prior years (when IMH was a REIT). This balance is recorded as
required by GAAP and does not have any realizable cash value. At September 30, 2013, the balance of deferred charge was $12.0 million and was included in
other assets.

 
Warehouse borrowings increased by $6.8 million to $114.4 million at September 30, 2013 as compared to $107.6 million at December 31, 2012. The

increase is due to the increase in loans held for sale as discussed above.  During the nine months of 2013, we increased our total borrowing capacity to
$265.0 million as compared to $217.5 million at December 31, 2012.

 



For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the notes payable balance decreased by $3.5 million as we paid-off the note payable related to the
structured debt agreement collateralized by the residual interests in securitizations.  The residuals have been released back to us allowing the monthly cash
flows from the residuals to be remitted directly to us.
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Repurchase reserve liability decreased to $9.9 million at September 30, 2013 as compared to $10.6 million at December 31, 2012. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2013, we paid approximately $3.3 million to settle previous repurchase claims related to our discontinued operations. Our
discontinued operations continue to receive repurchase requests from Fannie Mae. At September 30, 2013, the repurchase reserve within discontinued
operations was $6.2 million as compared to $8.2 million at December 31, 2012. Additionally, we have approximately $3.6 million in repurchase reserves
related to the loans sold by the continuing mortgage lending operations since early 2011.  We have received a minimal amount of repurchase requests for
loans sold by the continuing mortgage lending operations.

 
The changes in total assets and liabilities are primarily attributable to decreases in our trust assets and trust liabilities as summarized below.
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

$ 5,454,442
 

$ 5,787,884
 

$ (333,442) (6)%
Other trust assets

 

13,515
 

22,622
 

(9,107) (40)
Total trust assets

 

5,467,957
 

5,810,506
 

(342,549) (6)
          
Securitized mortgage borrowings

 

$ 5,444,000
 

$ 5,777,456
 

$ (333,456) (6)%
Other trust liabilities

 

11,401
 

17,200
 

(5,799) (34)
Total trust liabilities

 

5,455,401
 

5,794,656
 

(339,255) (6)
Residual interests in securitizations

 

$ 12,556
 

$ 15,850
 

$ (3,294) (21)%
 
We update our collateral assumptions quarterly based on recent delinquency, default, prepayment and loss experience. Additionally, we update the

forward interest rates and investor yield (discount rate) assumptions based on information derived from market participants. During the nine months of 2013,
we decreased the investor yield requirements for certain securitized mortgage borrowings as estimated bond prices have continued to improve and
corresponding yields have decreased. The decrease in investor yield assumptions on securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings
resulted in an increase in the value of these trust assets and liabilities.  However, offsetting the increase was principal payments and liquidations of securitized
mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings.

 
·                  The estimated fair value of securitized mortgage collateral decreased $333.4 million during the nine months of 2013, primarily due to an increase

in loss assumptions, reductions in principal from borrower payments and transfers of loans to REO for single-family and multi-family collateral,
partially offset by an increase in fair value due to a reduction in investor yield requirements. Additionally, other trust assets decreased
$9.1 million during the nine months of 2013, primarily due to decreases in REO from liquidations of $40.3 million.  Partially offsetting the
decrease was $26.6 million in REO foreclosures and a $4.7 million increase in the net realizable value (NRV) of REO.

 
·                  The estimated fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings decreased $333.5 million during the nine months of 2013, primarily caused by an

increase in loss assumptions and reductions in principal balances from principal payments during the period for single-family and multi-family
collateral, partially offset by an increase in fair value due to a reduction in investor yield requirements. The $5.8 million reduction in other trust
liabilities during the nine months of 2013 was primarily due to $5.0 million in derivative cash payments from the securitization trusts, and a
$705 thousand decrease in derivative fair value resulting from changes in forward LIBOR interest rates.

 
In previous years, we securitized mortgage loans by transferring originated and acquired residential single-family mortgage loans and multi-family

commercial loans (the “transferred assets”) into non-recourse bankruptcy remote trusts which in turn issued tranches of bonds to investors supported only by
the cash flows of the transferred assets. Because the assets and liabilities in the securitizations are nonrecourse to us, the bondholders cannot look to us for
repayment of their bonds in the event of a shortfall. These securitizations were structured to include interest rate derivatives. We retained the residual interest
in each trust, and in most cases would perform the master servicing. A trustee and servicer, unrelated to us, was named for each securitization. Cash flows
from the loans (the loan payments as well as liquidation of foreclosed real estate properties) collected by the loan sub-servicer are remitted to us, the master
servicer. The master servicer remits payments to the trustee who remits payments to the bondholders (investors). The sub-servicer collects loan payments and
performs loss mitigation activities for defaulted loans. These activities include foreclosing on properties securing defaulted loans, which results in REO.
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To estimate fair value of the assets and liabilities within the securitization trusts each reporting period, management uses an industry standard
valuation and analytical model that is updated monthly with current collateral, real estate, derivative, bond and cost (servicer, trustee, etc.) information for
each securitization trust. We employ an internal process to validate the accuracy of the model as well as the data within this model. Forecasted assumptions
sometimes referred to as “curves,” for defaults, loss severity, interest rates (LIBOR) and prepayments are inputted into the valuation model for each
securitization trust. We hire third party experts to provide forecasted curves for the aforementioned assumptions for each of the securitizations. Before
inputting this information into the model, management employs a process to qualitatively and quantitatively review the assumption curves for reasonableness
using other information gathered from the mortgage and real estate market (i.e., third party home price indices, published industry reports discussing regional
mortgage and commercial loan performance and delinquency) as well as actual default and foreclosure information for each trust from the respective trustees.

 
We use the valuation model to generate the expected cash flows to be collected from the trust assets and the expected required bondholder

distribution (trust liabilities). To the extent that the trusts are over collateralized, we may receive the excess interest as the holder of the residual interest. The
information above provides us with the future expected cash flows for the securitized mortgage collateral, real estate owned, securitized mortgage
borrowings, derivative assets/liabilities, and the residual interests.

 



To determine the discount rates to apply to these cash flows, we gather information from the bond pricing services and other market participants
regarding estimated investor required yields for each bond tranche. Based on that information and the collateral type and vintage, we determine an acceptable
range of expected yields an investor would require including an appropriate risk premium for each bond tranche. We use the blended yield of the bond
tranches together with the residual interests to determine an appropriate yield for the securitized mortgage collateral in each securitization (after taking into
consideration any derivatives in the securitization). During 2012 and the nine months of 2013, based on the trend of improving bond prices and declining
yields, we adjusted the acceptable range of expected yields for some of our earlier vintage securitizations.

 
The following table presents changes in the trust assets and trust liabilities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

 
  

TRUST ASSETS
 

TRUST LIABILITIES
   

  
Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements

 
NRV (1)

   
Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements

   

  

Investment
securities available-

for-sale
 

Securitized
mortgage
collateral

 

Derivative
assets

 

Real estate
owned

 

Total trust
assets

 

Securitized
mortgage

borrowings
 

Derivative
liabilities

 

Total trust
liabilities

 

Net trust
assets

 

Recorded book value at
December 31, 2012

 
110

 
5,787,884

 
37

 
22,475

 
5,810,506

 
(5,777,456) (17,200) (5,794,656) 15,850

 

Total gains/(losses) included in
earnings:

                   

Interest income
 

27
 

27,115
 

—
 

—
 

27,142
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

27,142
 

Interest expense
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(190,490) —
 

(190,490) (190,490)
Change in FV of net trust assets,

excluding REO
 

35
 

249,253
 

—
 

—
 

249,288(2) (261,602) 705
 

(260,897)(2) (11,609)
Gains from REO - not at FV but at

NRV
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

9,232
 

9,232(2) —
 

—
 

—
 

9,232
 

Total gains (losses) included in
earnings

 
62

 
276,368

 
—

 
9,232

 
285,662

 
(452,092) 705

 
(451,387) (165,725)

Transfers in and/or out of level 3
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Purchases, issuances and settlements
 

(57) (609,810) (37) (18,307) (628,211) 785,548
 

5,094
 

790,642
 

162,431
 

Recorded book value at
September 30, 2013

 

$ 115
 

$ 5,454,442
 

$ —
 

$ 13,400
 

$ 5,467,957
 

$ (5,444,000) $ (11,401) $ (5,455,401) $ 12,556
 

 

(1)             Accounted for at net realizable value.
(2)             Represents non-interest income-net trust assets in the consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

 
38

Table of Contents
 

Inclusive of gains from REO, total trust assets above reflect a net gain of $258.5 million as a result of an increase in fair value of securitized
mortgage collateral of $249.3 million, gains from REO of $9.2 million and increases from other trust assets of $35 thousand. Net losses on trust liabilities
were $260.9 million as a result of $261.6 million in losses from the increase in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings, partially offset by gains from
derivative liabilities of $705 thousand. As a result, non-interest income—net trust assets totaled a loss of $2.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2013.

 
The table below reflects the net trust assets as a percentage of total trust assets (residual interests in securitizations):
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

Net trust assets
 

$ 12,556
 

$ 15,850
 

Total trust assets
 

5,467,957
 

5,810,506
 

Net trust assets as a percentage of total trust assets
 

0.23% 0.27%
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the estimated fair value of the net trust assets slightly declined as a percentage of total trust assets.
The decrease was primarily due to the cash received from residual interests (net trust assets).

 
Since the consolidated and unconsolidated securitization trusts are nonrecourse to us, our economic risk is limited to our residual interests in these

securitization trusts. Therefore, in the following table we have netted trust assets and trust liabilities to present these residual interests more simply. Our
residual interests in securitizations are segregated between our single-family (SF) residential and multi-family (MF) residential portfolios and are represented
by the difference between trust assets and trust liabilities.

 
The following tables present the estimated fair value of our residual interests, including investment securities available for sale, by securitization

vintage year and other related assumptions used to derive these values at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:
 

Origination
 

Estimated Fair Value of Residual
Interests by Vintage Year at September 30, 2013

 

Estimated Fair Value of Residual
Interests by Vintage Year at December 31, 2012

 

Year
 

SF
 

MF
 

Total
 

SF
 

MF
 

Total
 

2002-2003 (1) $ 7,427
 

$ 2,160
 

$ 9,587
 

$ 11,680
 

$ 3,144
 

$ 14,824
 

2004
 

181
 

2,697
 

2,878
 

58
 

881
 

939
 

2005 (2) —
 

89
 

89
 

—
 

87
 

87
 

2006 (2) —
 

2
 

2
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

2007 (2) —
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Total
 

$ 7,608
 

$ 4,948
 

$ 12,556
 

$ 11,738
 

$ 4,112
 

$ 15,850
 

              
Weighted avg.

prepayment rate
 

2.6% 12.5% 3.6% 1.9% 8.3% 2.6%
Weighted avg.

discount rate
 

25.1% 20.2% 23.2% 25.0% 20.2% 23.8%
 

(1)         2002-2003 vintage year includes CMO 2007-A, since the majority of the mortgages collateralized in this securitization were originated during this
period.

(2)         The estimated fair values of residual interests in vintage years 2005 through 2007 is reflective of higher estimated future losses and investor yield
requirements compared to earlier vintage years.



 
We utilize a number of assumptions to value securitized mortgage collateral, securitized mortgage borrowings and residual interests. These

assumptions include estimated collateral default rates and loss severities (credit losses), collateral prepayment rates, forward interest rates and investor yields
(discount rates). We use the same collateral assumptions for securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings as the collateral assumptions
determine collateral cash flows which are used to pay interest and principal for securitized mortgage borrowings and excess spread, if any, to the residual
interests. However, we use different investor yield (discount rate) assumptions for securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings and
the discount rate used for residual interests based on underlying collateral characteristics, vintage year, assumed risk and market participant assumptions.
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The table below reflects the estimated future credit losses and investor yield requirements for trust assets by product (SF and MF) and securitization
vintage at September 30, 2013:
 

  
Estimated Future Losses (1)

 
Investor Yield Requirement (2)

 

  
SF

 
MF

 
SF

 
MF

 

2002-2003
 

9% 0%(3) 5% 9%
2004

 

18% 1% 5% 6%
2005

 

33% 2% 4% 5%
2006

 

49% 6% 5% 6%
2007

 

42% 1% 6% 5%
 

(1)         Estimated future losses derived by dividing future projected losses by unpaid principal balances at September 30, 2013.
(2)         Investor yield requirements represent our estimate of the yield third-party market participants would require to price our trust assets and liabilities

given our prepayment, credit loss and forward interest rate assumptions.
(3)         Represents less than 1%.
 

Despite the increase in housing prices from December 2012 through September 2013, housing prices are still at levels which has significantly
reduced or eliminated equity for loans originated after 2003. Future loss estimates are significantly higher for mortgage loans included in securitization
vintages after 2004 which reflect severe home price deterioration and defaults experienced with mortgages originated during these periods.

 
Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio Credit Quality
 

We use the Mortgage Bankers Association (MBA) method to define delinquency as a contractually required payment being 30 or more days past
due. We measure delinquencies from the date of the last payment due date in which a payment was received. Delinquencies for loans 60 days delinquent or
greater, foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies were $1.7 billion or 22.3% of the long-term mortgage portfolio as of September 30, 2013.

 
The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balances of loans in our mortgage portfolio, included in securitized mortgage collateral,

mortgage loans held-for-investment and mortgage loans held-for-sale for continuing and discontinued operations combined, that were 60 or more days
delinquent (utilizing the MBA method) as of the periods indicated:
 
    

Total
   

Total
 

  
September 30,

 
Collateral

 
December 31,

 
Collateral

 

  
2013

 
%

 
2012

 
%

 

Mortgage loans held-for-sale and investment
         

60 - 89 days delinquent
 

$ —
 

*
 

$ —
 

*
 

90 or more days delinquent
 

—
 

*
 

—
 

*
 

Foreclosures (1)
 

—
 

*
 

366
 

*
 

Total 60+ days delinquent mortgage loans held-for-sale and
investment (2)

 

—
 

*
 

366
 

*
 

          
Securitized mortgage collateral

         

60 - 89 days delinquent
 

$ 175,002
 

2.2% $ 180,260
 

2.1%
90 or more days delinquent

 

644,619
 

8.2% 649,800
 

7.4%
Foreclosures (1)

 

584,530
 

7.5% 790,293
 

9.0%
Delinquent bankruptcies (3)

 

339,102
 

4.3% 370,827
 

4.2%
Total 60+ days delinquent long-term mortgage portfolio

 

1,743,253
 

22.3% 1,991,180
 

22.8%
Total 60 or more days delinquent

 

$ 1,743,253
 

22.3% $ 1,991,546
 

22.8%
Total collateral

 

$ 7,827,604
 

100% $ 8,735,991
 

100%
 

*                 Less than 0.1%
(1)       Represents properties in the process of foreclosure.
(2)       Represents mortgage loans held-for-sale included in assets from discontinued operations on the consolidated balance sheets.
(3)       Represents bankruptcies that are 30 days or more delinquent.
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The following table summarizes securitized mortgage collateral, mortgage loans held-for-investment, mortgage loans held-for-sale and real estate
owned, that were non-performing for continuing and discontinued operations combined as of the dates indicated (excludes 60-89 days delinquent):



 
    

Total
   

Total
 

  
September 30,

 
Collateral

 
December 31,

 
Collateral

 

  
2013

 
%

 
2012

 
%

 

90 or more days delinquent, foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies
 

$ 1,568,251
 

20.0% $ 1,811,286
 

20.7%
Real estate owned

 

13,402
 

0.2% 22,511
 

0.3%
Total non-performing assets

 

$ 1,581,653
 

20.2% $ 1,833,797
 

21.0%
 

Non-performing assets consist of non-performing loans (mortgages that are 90 or more days delinquent, including loans in foreclosure and
delinquent bankruptcies) plus REO. It is our policy to place a mortgage on non-accrual status when it becomes 90 days delinquent and to reverse from
revenue any accrued interest, except for interest income on securitized mortgage collateral when the scheduled payment is received from the servicer. The
servicers are required to advance principal and interest on loans within the securitization trusts to the extent the advances are considered recoverable. The
servicer may recover such advances when the property is foreclosed and liquidated or if the loan is paid in full.  IFC, a subsidiary of IMH and master servicer,
may be required to advance funds, or in most cases cause the loan servicers to advance funds, to cover principal and interest payments not received from
borrowers depending on the status of their mortgages.  As of September 30, 2013, non-performing assets (unpaid principal balance of loans 90 or more days
delinquent, foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies plus REO) as a percentage of the total collateral was 20.2%.   At December 31, 2012, non-performing
assets to total collateral was 21.0%.  Non-performing assets decreased by approximately $252.1 million at September 30, 2013 as compared to December 31,
2012.   At September 30, 2013, the estimated fair value of non-performing assets (representing the fair value of loans 90 or more days delinquent,
foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies plus REO) was $529.9 million or 9.3% of total assets.  At December 31, 2012, the estimated fair value of non-
performing assets was $578.0 million or 9.7% of total assets.

 
REO, which consists of real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans, is carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value less estimated selling costs.

Adjustments to the loan carrying value required at the time of foreclosure are included in the change in the fair value of net trust assets. Changes in estimates
of net realizable value subsequent to the time of foreclosure and through the time of ultimate disposition are recorded as gains or losses from REO in the
consolidated statements of operations. REO, for continuing and discontinued operations, at September 30, 2013 decreased $9.1 million or 40.5% from
December 31, 2012, as a result of an increase in liquidations of REO, partially offset by foreclosures and an increase in the NRV of REO.

 
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, we recorded an increase of the net realizable value of the REO in the amount of $3.7

million and $9.2 million, compared to an increase of NRV of $3.5 million and a decrease of NRV (subsequent write-downs) of $9.8 million for the
comparable 2012 period. Increases and write-downs of the net realizable value reflect increases or declines in value of the REO subsequent to foreclosure
date, but prior to the date of sale.

 
The following table presents the balances of REO for continuing operations:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

REO
 

$ 17,312
 

$ 31,116
 

Impairment (1)
 

(3,910) (8,605)
Ending balance

 

$ 13,402
 

$ 22,511
 

      
REO inside trusts

 

$ 13,400
 

$ 22,475
 

REO outside trusts
 

2
 

36
 

Total
 

$ 13,402
 

$ 22,511
 

 

(1)         Impairment represents the cumulative write-downs of net realizable value subsequent to foreclosure.
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In calculating the cash flows to assess the fair value of the securitized mortgage collateral, we estimate the future losses embedded in our loan
portfolio. In evaluating the adequacy of these losses, management takes many factors into consideration. For instance, a detailed analysis of historical loan
performance data is accumulated and reviewed. This data is analyzed for loss performance and prepayment performance by product type, origination year and
securitization issuance. The data is also broken down by collection status. Our estimate of losses for these loans is developed by estimating both the rate of
default of the loans and the amount of loss severity in the event of default. The rate of default is assigned to the loans based on their attributes (e.g., original
loan-to-value, borrower credit score, documentation type, geographic location, etc.) and collection status. The rate of default is based on analysis of migration
of loans from each aging category. The loss severity is determined by estimating the net proceeds from the ultimate sale of the foreclosed property. The results
of that analysis are then applied to the current mortgage portfolio and an estimate is created. We believe that pooling of mortgages with similar characteristics
is an appropriate methodology in which to evaluate the future loan losses.

 
Management recognizes that there are qualitative factors that must be taken into consideration when evaluating and measuring losses in the loan

portfolios. These items include, but are not limited to, economic indicators that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay, changes in value of collateral,
political factors, employment and market conditions, competitor’s performance, market perception, historical losses, and industry statistics. The assessment
for losses is based on delinquency trends and prior loss experience and management’s judgment and assumptions regarding various matters, including general
economic conditions and loan portfolio composition. Management continually evaluates these assumptions and various relevant factors affecting credit
quality and inherent losses.

 
Results of Operations
 
For the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 compared to the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012
 
  

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Revenues
 

$ 16,834
 

$ 30,527
 

$ (13,693) (45)%
   



Expenses (21,116) (21,602) 486 2
Net interest (expense) income

 

(202) 297
 

(499) (168)
Change in fair value of long-term debt

 

75
 

190
 

(115) (61)
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains

(losses)
 

(271) (2,450) 2,179
 

89
 

Income tax benefit (expense) from continuing operations
 

9
 

(8) 17
 

213
 

Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations
 

(4,671) 6,954
 

(11,625) (167)
Loss from discontinued operations, net

 

(277) (9,021) 8,744
 

97
 

Net loss
 

(4,948) (2,067) (2,881) (139)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest (1)

 

—
 

(212) 212
 

100
 

Net loss attributable to IMH
 

$ (4,948) $ (2,279) $ (2,669) (117)
          

Loss per share available to common stockholders - basic and
diluted

 

$ (0.56) $ (0.29) $ (0.27) (93)%
 

(1)         For the three months ended September 30, 2012, net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest represents the portion of the earnings of
AmeriHome that we do not wholly-own. As of July 1, 2013 we own 100% of AmeriHome.
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For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Revenues
 

$ 69,091
 

$ 65,882
 

$ 3,209
 

5%
Expenses

 

(69,643) (53,157) (16,486) (31)
Net interest income

 

36
 

1,874
 

(1,838) (98)
Change in fair value of long-term debt

 

(453) 872
 

(1,325) (152)
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO

gains (losses)
 

(2,377) (4,199) 1,822
 

43
 

Income tax benefit (expense) from continuing operations
 

1,065
 

(44) 1,109
 

2,520
 

Net (loss) earnings from continuing operations
 

(2,281) 11,228
 

(13,509) (120)
Loss from discontinued operations, net

 

(2,051) (13,402) 11,351
 

85
 

Net loss
 

(4,332) (2,174) (2,158) (99)
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest (1)

 

(136) (683) 547
 

80
 

Net loss attributable to IMH
 

$ (4,468) $ (2,857) $ (1,611) (56)%
          

Loss per share available to common stockholders -
basic and diluted

 

$ (0.52) $ (0.36) $ (0.16) (44)%
 

(1)      For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest represents the portion of the earnings of
AmeriHome that we do not wholly-own.  As of July 1, 2013 we own 100% of AmeriHome.

 
Revenues
 

  
For the Three Months Ended September 30,

 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 11,103
 

$ 25,043
 

$ (13,940) (56)%
Servicing income, net

 

989
 

294
 

695
 

236
 

Real estate services fees, net
 

4,933
 

5,328
 

(395) (7)
Other revenues

 

(191) (138) (53) (38)
Total revenues

 

$ 16,834
 

$ 30,527
 

$ (13,693) (45)%
 

Gain on sale of loans, net.  For the three months ended September 30, 2013, gain on sale of loans, net were $11.1 million compared to $25.0 million
in the comparable 2012 period. The $13.9 million decrease is primarily related to a $26.8 million decrease in premiums received from the sale of mortgage
loans, partially offset by a $5.3 million reduction in net direct loan origination expenses, a $5.0 million increase in realized and unrealized gains on derivative
financial instruments, a $1.3 million increase in premiums from servicing retained loan sales and a $1.1 million increase in mark-to-market gains.  The
decrease was due to a reduction in mortgage loan origination volumes as well as tighter lending spreads and gain on sale margins associated with
$576.2 million and $626.3 million of loans originated and sold, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to
$709.8 million and $661.6 million of loans originated and sold, respectively, during the same period in 2012.

 
Servicing income, net.  For the three months ended September 30, 2013, servicing income, net was $989 thousand compared to $294 thousand in the

comparable 2012 period.  The increase in servicing income, net was the result of the servicing portfolio increasing 218% to an average quarterly balance of
$2.5 billion for the three months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to an average quarterly balance of $794.1 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2012.  During the third quarter of 2013, we retained servicing rights on $603.7 million in loans sales.

 
Real estate services fees, net.  For the three months ended September 30, 2013, real estate services fees, net were $4.9 million compared to

$5.3 million in the comparable 2012 period. The $395 thousand decrease was primarily the result of the decline in loans and the balance of the long-term
mortgage portfolio.
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For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

 
 

     
Increase

 
%

 
 

 
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 47,701
 

$ 50,025
 

$ (2,324) (5)%
Servicing income, net

 

2,929
 

382
 

2,547
 

667
 

Real estate services fees, net
 

14,516
 

15,707
 

(1,191) (8)
Other revenues

 

3,945
 

(232) 4,177
 

1800
 

Total revenues
 

$ 69,091
 

$ 65,882
 

$ 3,209
 

5%
 

Gain on sale of loans, net.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, gain on sale of loans, net were $47.7 million compared to $50.0 million
in the comparable 2012 period. The $2.3 million decrease is primarily related to a $21.7 million decrease in premiums received from the sale of mortgage
loans, a $7.4 million decrease in mark-to-market gains on loans held for sale and a $1.7 million increase in net direct loan origination expenses, partially
offset by $21.8 million increase in realized and unrealized gains on derivative financial instruments and a $6.9 million increase in premiums from servicing
retained loan sales.  The decrease in gain on sale of loans, net was due to tighter lending spreads and gain on sale margins associated with $2.0 billion and
$2.0 billion of loans originated and sold, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to $1.6 billion and $1.5 billion of loans
originated and sold, respectively, during the same period in 2012.

 
Servicing income, net.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, servicing income, net was $2.9 million compared to $382 thousand in the

comparable 2012 period.  The increase in servicing income, net was primarily the result of the servicing portfolio increasing 175% to an average balance of
$2.0 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to an average balance of $731.1 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2012.  During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we retained servicing rights on $1.9 billion in loan sales.  Additionally, servicing income, net
increased due to a reduction in loss mitigation costs.  Servicing income, net includes certain loss mitigation costs associated with the acquired servicing
portfolio from the 2010 acquisition of AmeriHome for defaulted loans, foreclosures and bankruptcies.

 
Real estate services fees, net.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, real estate services fees, net were $14.5 million compared to

$15.7 million in the comparable 2012 period. The $1.2 million decrease was primarily the result of the decline in loans and the balance of the long-term
mortgage portfolio.

 
Other revenues.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, other revenues were $3.9 million compared to an expense of $232 thousand in the

comparable 2012 period.  The increase in other revenues was the result of $3.0 million in mark-to-market gains on MSRs during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 as compared to mark-to-market losses of $869 thousand during the comparable 2012 period.  The increase in mark-to-market adjustment
on the MSRs is primarily the result of the increase in interest rates since the middle of the second quarter of 2013.

 
Expenses
 

 

 
For the Three Months Ended September 30,

 
 

     
Increase

 
%

 
 

 
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Personnel expense
 

$ 14,833
 

$ 16,602
 

$ (1,769) (11)%
General, administrative and other

 

6,283
 

5,000
 

1,283
 

26
 

Total expenses
 

$ 21,116
 

$ 21,602
 

$ (486) (2)%
 

Total expenses were $21.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to $21.6 million for the comparable period of 2012.
Personnel expense decreased $1.8 million to $14.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013.  The decrease is primarily due to a reduction in
commission expense associated with the decline in loan origination volumes and a decrease in other compensation costs and benefits, partially offset by an
increase in salaries related to an increase in employees during the comparable periods.  Average employees totaled 571for the three months ended
September 30, 2013 as compared to 479 for the same period in 2012.  Personnel expense was high in the third quarter of 2013 in relation to our loan
origination volumes due to the anticipated growth of our mortgage lending platform, as we had expected interest rates to remain low through year end. 
However, with the increase in interest rates beginning in the middle of the second quarter through the third quarter, the industry has experienced a significant
decrease in refinancing transactions.

 
44

Table of Contents
 

In response to the movement in interest rates and lower refinance volumes, we have reduced staff levels in our mortgage lending segment.  With these steps,
management believes that the mortgage lending segment net earnings will improve in the fourth quarter.  Increases in lending volumes could result in
additional personnel costs to support the lending operations in future periods.  We will continue to monitor our pipeline and staffing levels to maximize
efficiencies and maintain service levels based upon origination volumes.

 
General, administrative and other expenses increased to $6.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to $5.0 million for

the same period in 2012.  The $1.3 million increase was primarily related to occupancy, professional fees, marketing and other expenses attributable to the
growth of our mortgage lending platform.

 
 

 
For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

 
 

     
Increase

 
%

 
 

 
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Personnel expense
 

$ 49,832
 

$ 39,352
 

$ 10,480
 

27%
General, administrative and other

 

19,811
 

13,805
 

6,006
 

44
 

Total expenses
 

$ 69,643
 

$ 53,157
 

$ 16,486
 

31%
 
Total expenses were $69.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to $53.2 million for the comparable period of 2012.

Personnel expenses increased $10.5 million to $49.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 primarily attributable to an increase in



commission expense and other personnel related costs associated with the increase in loan origination volumes and growth of our mortgage lending platform
as explained above.

 
General, administrative and other expenses increased to $19.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to $13.8 million for

the same period in 2012.  The $6.0 million increase was primarily related to occupancy, professional fees, marketing and other expenses attributable to the
growth of our mortgage lending platform.  The increase in expenses also include a $700 thousand legal settlement expense within the mortgage lending
operations.

 
Net Interest (Expense) Income
 

We earn net interest income primarily from mortgage assets which include securitized mortgage collateral, loans held-for-sale and investment
securities available-for-sale, or collectively, “mortgage assets,” and, to a lesser extent, interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents. Interest expense is
primarily interest paid on borrowings secured by mortgage assets, which include securitized mortgage borrowings and warehouse borrowings and to a lesser
extent, interest expense paid on long-term debt, Convertible Notes, notes payable and line of credit. Interest income and interest expense during the period
primarily represents the effective yield, based on the fair value of the trust assets and liabilities.

 
The following tables summarize average balance, interest and weighted average yield on interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities,

included within continuing operations, for the periods indicated. Cash receipts and payments on derivative instruments hedging interest rate risk related to our
securitized mortgage borrowings are not included in the results below. These cash receipts and payments are included as a component of the change in fair
value of net trust assets.
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For the Three Months Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

  
Average

     
Average

     

  
Balance

 
Interest

 
Yield

 
Balance

 
Interest

 
Yield

 

ASSETS
             

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

5,547,214
 

73,012
 

5.26% 5,584,297
 

114,285
 

8.19%
Loans held-for-sale

 

112,728
 

1,186
 

4.21% 91,805
 

789
 

3.44%
Other

 

17,328
 

18
 

0.42% 763
 

17
 

8.91%
Total interest-earning assets

 

$ 5,677,270
 

$ 74,216
 

5.23% $ 5,676,865
 

$ 115,091
 

8.11%
              
LIABILITIES

             

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ 5,537,875
 

$ 71,945
 

5.20% $ 5,575,755
 

$ 112,564
 

8.08%
Long-term debt

 

14,683
 

1,041
 

28.36% 12,113
 

915
 

30.22%
Note payable

 

41
 

—
 

0.00% 5,686
 

387
 

27.22%
Convertible notes

 

20,000
 

386
 

7.72% —
 

—
 

0.00%
Warehouse borrowings

 

107,284
 

1,046
 

3.90% 88,512
 

928
 

4.19%
Total interest-bearing liabilities

 

$ 5,679,883
 

$ 74,418
 

5.24% $ 5,682,066
 

$ 114,794
 

8.08%
              
Net Interest Spread (1)

   

$ (202) -0.01%
  

$ 297
 

0.03%
Net Interest Margin (2)

     

-0.01%
    

0.02%
 

(1)       Net interest spread is calculated by subtracting the weighted average yield on interest-bearing liabilities from the weighted average yield on interest-
earning assets.

(2)         Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net interest spread by total average interest-earning assets.
 

Net interest income spread decreased $499 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2013 primarily attributable to a decrease in net
interest spread on the long-term mortgage portfolio due to increases in pricing and the corresponding reduction in investor yield requirements between periods
on securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings as well as a decrease in the balance of the long-term mortgage portfolio and an
increase in interest expense associated with the issuance of the Convertible Notes during the second quarter of 2013. The decrease was partially offset by a
decrease in interest expense on the note payable as well as positive interest spread between the loans held-for-sale and warehouse borrowings.  As a result, net
interest margin decreased from 0.02% for the three months ended September 30, 2012 to (0.01%) for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

 
During the three months ended September 30, 2013, the yield on interest-earning assets decreased to 5.23% from 8.11% in the comparable 2012

period. The yield on interest-bearing liabilities decreased to 5.24% for the three months ended September 30, 2013 from 8.08% for the comparable 2012
period. In connection with the fair value accounting for investment securities available-for-sale, securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings and long-term
debt, interest income and interest expense is recognized using effective yields based on estimated fair values for these instruments. The decrease in yield for
securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings is primarily related to increased prices on mortgage-backed bonds which resulted in a
decrease in yield. Bond prices received from pricing services and other market participants have increased over the past few quarters as investor’s demand for
mortgage-backed securities has increased. This has resulted in an increase in fair value for both securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage
borrowings. These increases in fair value have decreased the effective yields used for purposes of recognizing interest income and interest expense on these
instruments.
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For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

  
Average

     
Average

     
        



Balance Interest Yield Balance Interest Yield
ASSETS

             

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

5,676,606
 

237,545
 

5.58% 5,547,740
 

382,802
 

9.20%
Loans held-for-sale

 

118,400
 

3,269
 

3.68% 70,523
 

1,930
 

3.65%
Other

 

13,135
 

58
 

0.59% 955
 

60
 

8.38%
Total interest-earning assets

 

$ 5,808,141
 

$ 240,872
 

5.53% $ 5,619,218
 

$ 384,792
 

9.13%
              
LIABILITIES

             

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ 5,668,166
 

$ 233,458
 

5.49% $ 5,546,481
 

$ 376,670
 

9.05%
Long-term debt

 

13,858
 

2,980
 

28.67% 11,987
 

2,796
 

31.10%
Note payable

 

1,184
 

314
 

35.36% 5,940
 

1,309
 

29.38%
Convertible notes

 

11,355
 

648
 

7.61% —
 

—
 

0.00%
Warehouse borrowings

 

113,033
 

3,436
 

4.05% 68,324
 

2,143
 

4.18%
Total interest-bearing liabilities

 

$ 5,807,596
 

$ 240,836
 

5.53% $ 5,632,732
 

$ 382,918
 

9.06%
              
Net Interest Spread (1)

   

$ 36
 

0.00%
  

$ 1,874
 

0.07%
Net Interest Margin (2)

     

0.00%
    

0.04%
 

(1)       Net interest spread is calculated by subtracting the weighted average yield on interest-bearing liabilities from the weighted average yield on interest-
earning assets.

(2)         Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net interest spread by total average interest-earning assets.
 

Net interest income spread decreased $1.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 primarily attributable to a decrease in net interest
spread on the long-term mortgage portfolio due to increases in pricing and the corresponding reduction in investor yield requirements between periods on
securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings as well as a decrease in the balance of the long-term mortgage portfolio and an increase
in interest expense associated with the issuance of the Convertible Notes during the second quarter of 2013.  The decrease was partially offset by a decrease in
interest expense on the note payable. Additionally, the negative interest carry between the loans held-for-sale and warehouse borrowings is causing further
reductions on the net interest spread. As a result, net interest margin decreased from 0.04% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 to 0.0% for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the yield on interest-earning assets decreased to 5.53% from 9.13% in the comparable 2012

period. The yield on interest-bearing liabilities decreased to 5.53% for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 from 9.06% for the comparable 2012
period. In connection with the fair value accounting for investment securities available-for-sale, securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings and long-term
debt, interest income and interest expense is recognized using effective yields based on estimated fair values for these instruments. The decrease in yield for
securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings is primarily related to increased prices on mortgage-backed bonds which resulted in a
decrease in yield. Bond prices received from pricing services and other market participants have increased over the past few quarters as investor’s demand for
mortgage-backed securities has increased. This has resulted in an increase in fair value for both securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage
borrowings. These increases in fair value have decreased the effective yields used for purposes of recognizing interest income and interest expense on these
instruments.

 
Change in the fair value of long-term debt.
 

Change in the fair value of long-term debt was a gain of $75 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a gain of
$190 thousand for the comparable 2012 period as a result of the decrease in the estimated fair value of long-term debt. The decrease in the estimated fair
value of long-term debt was the result of a decrease in forward LIBOR interest rates. Long-term debt (consisting of trust preferred securities and junior
subordinated notes) is measured based upon an analysis prepared by the Company, which considers the Company’s own credit risk, including consideration of
settlements with trust preferred debt holders and discounted cash flow analyses.
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Change in the fair value of long-term debt was a loss of $453 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a gain of
$872 thousand for the comparable 2012 period as a result of the increase in the estimated fair value of long-term debt. The increase in the estimated fair value
of long-term debt was the result of an increase in forward LIBOR interest rates.

 
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses)

 
  

For the Three Months
 

  
Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
 

$ (3,947) $ (5,998)
Gains from REO

 

3,676
 

3,548
 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains
 

$ (271) $ (2,450)
 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses) - Since the consolidated and unconsolidated securitization trusts are
nonrecourse to us, our economic risk is limited to the residual interests in these securitization trusts. To understand the economics on the residual interests in
securitizations better, it is necessary to consider the net effect of changes in fair value of net trust assets and losses from REO. All estimated future losses are
included in the estimate of the fair value of securitized mortgage collateral, REO and securitized mortgage borrowings. Losses on REO are a nonfinancial
asset which is the only component of trust assets and liabilities that is not recorded at fair value. The net effect of changes in value related to the investment in
all trust assets and liabilities is shown as change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses).

 
The change in fair value related to our net trust assets (residual interests in securitizations) was a loss of $271 thousand for the three months ended

September 30, 2013, compared to a loss of $2.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2012.  The change in fair value of net trust assets, including



REO was due to net losses resulting from changes in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings, securitized mortgage collateral and investment securities
available-for-sale primarily associated with updating assumptions for collateral losses in the future and interest rates and a $3.7 million increase in NRV of
REO during the period attributed to lower expected loss severities on properties held in the long-term mortgage portfolio during the period.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2012, the ($2.5) million change in fair value of net trust assets, including REO was due to changes in fair

values of securitized mortgage borrowings, securitized mortgage collateral and investment securities available-for sale and $3.5 million increase in NRV of
REO during the period attributed to lower expected loss severities on properties held in the long-term mortgage portfolio during the period.

 
  

For the Nine Months
 

  
Ended September 30,

 

  
2013

 
2012

 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
 

$ (11,609) $ 5,562
 

Gains (losses) from REO
 

9,232
 

(9,761)
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses)

 

$ (2,377) $ (4,199)
 
The change in fair value related to our net trust assets (residual interests in securitizations) was a loss of $2.4 million for the nine months ended

September 30, 2013, compared to a loss of $4.2 million in the comparable 2012 period. The change in fair value of net trust assets, including REO was due to
changes in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings, securitized mortgage collateral and investment securities available-for-sale primarily associated
with updating assumptions of increased collateral losses in the future and higher interest rates and a $9.2 million increase in NRV of REO during the period
attributed to lower expected loss severities on properties held in the long-term mortgage portfolio during the period.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2012, the ($4.2) million change in fair value of net trust assets, including REO was due to changes in fair

value of securitized mortgage collateral, securitized mortgage borrowings and investment securities available-for sale primarily related to a decrease in loss
assumptions and a reduction in future interest rates and $9.8 million in additional impairment write-downs during the period attributed to higher expected loss
severities on properties held during the period.
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Income Taxes
 

We recorded income tax benefit of $9 thousand and $1.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively. We recorded
income tax expense of $8 thousand and $44 thousand for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, respectively. The $1.1 million income tax
benefit for the nine months ended September 2013, is the result of the inclusion of AmeriHome in the IMH federal consolidated tax returns as a result of
increasing our ownership in AmeriHome during the first quarter of 2013.  The tax benefit is from the use of net operating losses to offset AmeriHome’s
deferred tax liabilities.  The income tax expense for 2012 is the result of state income taxes primarily from states where the Company does not have net
operating loss (NOL) carry-forwards.

 
As of December 31, 2012, we had estimated federal and state NOL carry-forwards of approximately $488.9 million and $418.5 million, respectively,

of which approximately $283.8 million (federal) related to discontinued operations.
 

We have significant NOL carry-forwards from prior years. With an improvement in earnings from our continuing operations, we may be able to generate
sufficient taxable income in future years to utilize these loss carry-forwards, however, at September 30, 2013; we have recognized a full valuation allowance
against these NOL carry-forwards in our consolidated balance sheets.  As of September 30, 2013, we have no material uncertain tax positions.  In the third
quarter of 2013, the Board of Directors adopted a tax benefits preservation rights agreement designed to preserve the value of our significant NOLs in relation
to the potential limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.

 
Results of Operations by Business Segment

 
Our business segments include mortgage lending, real estate services and the long-term mortgage portfolio as follows:

 
Mortgage Lending

 
Condensed Statements of Operations Data

 
  

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 11,103
 

$ 25,043
 

$ (13,940) (56)%
Servicing income, net

 

989
 

294
 

695
 

236
 

Other
 

(117) (780) 663
 

85
 

Total revenues
 

11,975
 

24,557
 

(12,582) (51)
          
Other income (expense)

 

144
 

(164) 308
 

188
 

          
Personnel expense

 

(12,958) (13,637) 679
 

5
 

General, administrative and other
 

(3,228) (2,276) (952) (42)
Net (loss) earnings before income taxes

 

$ (4,067) $ 8,480
 

$ (12,547) (148)%
 

For the three months ended September 30, 2013, gain on sale of loans, net were $11.1 million compared to $25.0 million in the comparable 2012
period. The $13.9 million decrease is primarily related to a $26.8 million decrease in premiums received from the sale of mortgage loans, partially offset by a
$5.3 million reduction in net direct loan origination expenses, a $5.0 million increase in realized and unrealized gains on derivative financial instruments, a
$1.3 million increase in premiums from servicing retained loan sales and a $1.1 million increase in mark-to-market gains.  The decrease was due to a
reduction in mortgage loan origination volumes as well as tighter lending spreads and gain on sale margins associated with $576.2 million and $626.3 million



of loans originated and sold, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to $709.8 million and $661.6 million of loans
originated and sold, respectively, during the same period in 2012.
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For the three months ended September 30, 2013, servicing income, net was $989 thousand compared to $294 thousand in the comparable 2012
period.  The increase in servicing income, net was the result of the servicing portfolio increasing 218% to an average quarterly balance of $2.5 billion for the
three months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to an average quarterly balance of $794.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2012. 
During the third quarter of 2013, we retained servicing rights on $603.7 million in loan sales.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2013, other revenue was a loss of $117 thousand compared to a loss of $780 thousand in the comparable

2012 period.  The improvement in other revenues was the result of a $93 thousand mark-to-market loss on MSRs for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 as
compared to a mark-to-market loss of $494 thousand during the comparable 2012 period.  Additionally, for the three months ended September 30, 2012, other
revenues included a $200 thousand loss on the sale of MSRs.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2013, personnel expense was $13.0 million compared to $13.6 million in the comparable 2012 period. 

The $679 thousand decrease is primarily due to a reduction in commission expense associated with the decline in loan origination volumes and a decrease in
other compensation costs and benefits, partially offset by an increase in salaries related to an increase in employees during the comparable periods.  Our
personnel expenses were higher than normal relative to production levels with the expectation of interest rates remaining low until the end of 2013, and hence
higher lending volumes, we maintained greater lending capacity to accommodate higher volumes.  During the third quarter and at the beginning of October,
we reduced operational staff in the mortgage lending segment. We will continue to monitor our pipeline and staffing levels to maximize efficiencies and
maintain service levels based upon origination volumes.

 
The $952 thousand increase in general, administrative and other expense is primarily related to legal and professional fees and other costs incurred

associated with building out the retail lending channel including occupancy expense and related expenses for additional offices.  In addition, as we strive to
increase brand awareness, increase purchase transactions and maximize other mortgage lead sources, we have incurred additional marketing costs.

 
  

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Gain on sale of loans, net
 

$ 47,701
 

$ 50,025
 

$ (2,324) (5)%
Servicing income, net

 

2,929
 

382
 

2,547
 

667
 

Other
 

3,178
 

(1,399) 4,577
 

327
 

Total revenues
 

53,808
 

49,008
 

4,800
 

10
 

          
Other income (expense)

 

(161) (255) 94
 

37
 

          
Personnel expense

 

(43,065) (30,318) (12,747) (42)
General, administrative and other

 

(10,417) (5,433) (4,984) (92)
Net earnings before income taxes

 

$ 165
 

$ 13,002
 

$ (12,837) (99)%
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, gain on sale of loans, net were $47.7 million compared to $50.0 million in the comparable 2012

period. The $2.3 million decrease is primarily related to a $21.7 million decrease in premiums received from the sale of mortgage loans, a $7.4 million
decrease in mark-to-market gains on loans held for sale and a $1.7 million increase in net direct loan origination expenses, partially offset by a $21.8 million
increase in realized and unrealized gains on derivative financial instruments and a $6.9 million increase in premiums from servicing retained loan sales.  The
decrease in gain on sale of loans, net was due to a tighter lending spreads and gain on sale margins associated with $2.0 billion and $2.0 billion of loans
originated and sold, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to $1.6 billion and $1.5 billion of loans originated and sold,
respectively, during the same period in 2012.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, servicing income, net was $2.9 million compared to $382 thousand in the comparable 2012 period. 

The increase in servicing income, net was primarily the result of the servicing portfolio increasing 175% to an average balance of $2.0 billion for the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to an average balance of $731.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012.  During the nine
months ended September 30, 2013, we retained servicing rights on $1.9 billion in loan sales.  Additionally, servicing income, net increased due to a reduction
in loss mitigation costs.  Servicing income, net includes certain loss mitigation costs associated with the acquired servicing portfolio from the 2010
acquisition of AmeriHome that includes defaulted loans, foreclosures and bankruptcies.
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, other revenues were $3.2 million compared to ($1.4) million in the comparable 2012 period.  The
$4.6 million increase in other revenues was primarily the result of $3.0 million in mark-to-market gains on MSRs during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 as compared to mark-to-market losses of $869 thousand during the comparable 2012 period.  The increase in mark-to-market adjustment
on the MSRs is primarily the result of the increase in interest rates since the middle of the second quarter of 2013.  Additionally, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2013, other revenue included an $88 thousand gain on the sale of MSRs as compared to a $214 thousand loss on the sale of MSRs during the
comparable 2012 period.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 personnel expense increased to $43.1 million as compared to $30.3 million for the comparable 2012

period.  The $12.7 million increase in personnel expense was primarily due to salaries and commissions associated with the increase in loan origination
volumes and growth of our mortgage lending platform during the nine months ended September 30, 2013.  Loan originations increased to $2.0 billion during
the nine months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to $1.6 billion in the comparable 2012 period.  Additionally, the number of mortgage lending



employees grew to approximately 514 during the third quarter of 2013 as compared to approximately 390 at September 30, 2012.  As discussed above, we
have reduced personnel due to the recent rise in interest rates and decline in loan origination volume related to a reduction in refinance transactions.

 
The $5.0 million increase in general, administrative and other expense is primarily related to legal and professional fees and other costs incurred

associated with building out the retail lending channel including occupancy expense and related expenses for additional offices.  In addition, as we strive to
increase brand awareness, increase purchase transactions and maximize other mortgage lead sources, we have incurred additional marketing costs.  General,
administrative and other expense also includes a non-operational $700 thousand legal settlement expense recorded during the first quarter of 2013.

 
Real Estate Services

 
  

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Real estate services fees, net
 

$ 4,933
 

$ 5,328
 

$ (395) (7)%
          
Other income (expense)

 

5
 

6
 

(1) (17)
          
Personnel expense

 

(916) (1,902) 986
 

52
 

General, administrative and other
 

(59) (295) 236
 

80
 

Net earnings before income taxes
 

$ 3,963
 

$ 3,137
 

$ 826
 

26%
 

For the three months ended September 30, 2013, real estate services fees, net were $4.9 million compared to $5.3 million in the comparable 2012
period. The $395 thousand decrease in real estate services fees, net was the result of a $335 thousand decrease in real estate and recovery fees and a $70
thousand decrease in loss mitigation fees, partially offset by a $10 thousand increase in real estate services, primarily due to the decline in loans and the
balance of the long-term mortgage portfolio.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2013, personnel expense decreased to $916 thousand as compared to $1.9 million for the comparable

2012 period.  The $986 thousand decrease is primarily related to a reduction in personnel associated with the decline in loans and balance of the long-term
mortgage portfolio.

 
  

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Real estate services fees, net
 

$ 14,516
 

$ 15,707
 

$ (1,191) (8)%
          
Other income (expense)

 

16
 

22
 

(6) (27)
          
Personnel expense

 

(4,368) (5,344) 976
 

18
 

General, administrative and other
 

(550) (890) 340
 

38
 

Net earnings before income taxes
 

$ 9,614
 

$ 9,495
 

$ 119
 

1%
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, real estate services fees, net were $14.5 million compared to $15.7 million in the comparable 2012
period. The $1.2 million decrease in real estate services fees, net was the result of a $763 thousand decrease in real estate services and a $428 thousand
decrease in real estate and recovery fees.  Loss mitigation fees remained flat period over period.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, personnel expense decreased to $4.4 million as compared to $5.3 million for the comparable 2012

period.  The $976 thousand decrease is primarily related to a reduction in personnel associated with the decline in loans and balance of the long-term
mortgage portfolio.

 
Long-term Mortgage Portfolio

 
  

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Other revenue
 

$ (74) $ 642
 

(716) (112)%
          
Personnel expense

 

(959) (1,063) 104
 

10
 

General, administrative and other
 

(2,996) (2,429) (567) (23)
Total expenses

 

(3,955) (3,492) (463) (13)
          
Net interest (expense) income

 

(351) 455
 

(806) (177)
Change in fair value of long-term debt

 

75
 

190
 

(115) (61)
Change in fair value of net trust assets,

including trust REO gains (losses)
 

(271) (2,450) 2,179
 

89
 

Total other income (expense)
 

(547) (1,805) 1,258
 

70
 

Net loss before income taxes
 

$ (4,576) $ (4,655) $ 79
 

2%
 

For the three months ended September 30, 2013, other revenue totaled ($74) thousand as compared to $642 thousand for the comparable 2012
period.  The $716 thousand decrease is primarily due to a $185 thousand reduction in master servicing revenue earned on the long-term mortgage portfolio
and a $542 thousand decrease in investment earnings.

 



For the three months ended September 30, 2013, general, administrative and other expense increased to $3.0 million as compared to $2.4 million for
the comparable 2012 period.  The $567 thousand increase in general, administrative and other expense for the three months ended September 30, 2013 is
related to an increase in occupancy expense as well as an increase in legal and professional fees as compared to September 30, 2012.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2013, net interest expense totaled $351 thousand as compared to net interest income of $455 thousand for

the comparable 2012 period.  Net interest income decreased $806 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2013 primarily attributable to a
decrease in net interest spread on the long-term mortgage portfolio due to increases in pricing and the corresponding reduction in investor yield requirements
between periods on securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings as well as a decrease in the balance of the long-term mortgage
portfolio and an increase in interest expense associated with the issuance of the Convertible Notes during the second quarter of 2013. The increase was
partially offset by a decrease in interest expense on the note payable.

 
Change in the fair value of long-term debt was a gain of $75 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a gain of

$190 thousand for the comparable 2012 period as a result of the decrease in the estimated fair value of long-term debt. The decrease in the estimated fair
value of long-term debt was the result of an decrease in forward LIBOR interest rates.

 
The change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO (residual interests in securitizations) was a loss of $271 thousand for the three

months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a loss of $2.5 million for the comparable 2012 period.  The change in fair value of net trust assets, including
REO was due to net losses resulting from changes in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings, securitized mortgage collateral and investment securities
available-for-sale primarily associated with updating assumptions for collateral losses in the future and interest rates and a $3.7 million increase in NRV of
REO attributed to lower expected loss severities on properties held in the long-term mortgage portfolio during the period.
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For the Nine Months Ended September 30,

 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Other revenue
 

$ 767
 

$ 1,167
 

(400) (34)%
          
Personnel expense

 

(2,398) (3,690) 1,292
 

35
 

General, administrative and other
 

(8,845) (7,482) (1,363) (18)
Total expenses

 

(11,243) (11,172) (71) (1)
          
Net interest income

 

181
 

2,107
 

(1,926) (91)
Change in fair value of long-term debt

 

(453) 872
 

(1,325) (152)
Change in fair value of net trust assets,

including trust REO gains (losses)
 

(2,377) (4,199) 1,822
 

43
 

Total other income (expense)
 

(2,649) (1,220) (1,429) (117)
Net loss before income taxes

 

$ (13,125) $ (11,225) $ (1,900) (17)%
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, other revenue totaled $767 thousand as compared to $1.2 million for the comparable 2012 period. 
The $400 thousand decrease is primarily due to a $220 thousand reduction in master servicing revenue earned on the long-term mortgage portfolio and a $741
thousand decrease in investment earnings.  The decreases were partially offset by a $529 thousand reduction in loss on extinguishment of debt incurred during
the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, personnel expense was $2.4 million as compared to $3.7 million for the comparable 2012 period. 

The $1.3 million decrease in personnel expense was primarily due to a reduction in personnel and benefit related expenses.
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, general, administrative and other expense increased to $8.8 million as compared to $7.5 million for
the comparable 2012 period.  The $1.4 million increase in general, administrative and other expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 is related
to an increase in legal and professional fees as well as an increase in occupancy expense as compared to September 30, 2012.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, net interest income totaled $181 thousand as compared to $2.1 million for the comparable 2012

period.  Net interest income decreased $1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 primarily attributable to a decrease in net interest spread
on the long-term mortgage portfolio due to increases in pricing and the corresponding reduction in investor yield requirements between periods on securitized
mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings as well as a decrease in the balance of the long-term mortgage portfolio and an increase in interest
expense associated with the issuance of the Convertible Notes during the second quarter of 2013.  The decrease was partially offset by a decrease in interest
expense on the note payable.

 
Change in the fair value of long-term debt was a loss of $453 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a gain of

$872 thousand for the comparable 2012 period as a result of the increase in the estimated fair value of long-term debt. The increase in the estimated fair value
of long-term debt was the result of an increase in forward LIBOR interest rates.

 
The change in fair value related to our net trust assets, including trust REO (residual interests in securitizations) was a loss of $2.4 million for the

nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a loss of $4.2 million in the comparable 2012 period. The reduction in loss from change in fair value of
net trust assets, including REO was due to changes in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings, securitized mortgage collateral and investment securities
available-for-sale primarily associated with updating assumptions of increased collateral losses in the future and higher interest rates, partially offset by a $9.2
million increase in NRV of REO attributed to lower expected loss severities on properties held in the long-term mortgage portfolio during the period.
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Discontinued Operations
 

  
For the Three Months Ended September 30,

 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Provision for repurchases
 

$ —
 

$ (1,769) $ 1,769
 

100%
Other expense

 

(277) (7,252) 6,975
 

96
 

Net loss after income taxes
 

$ (277) $ (9,021) $ 8,744
 

97%
 

Provision for repurchases decreased $1.8 million to a provision of zero for the three months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a provision of
$1.8 million for the same period in 2012.  The decrease is the result of decreases in estimated repurchase losses during the three months ended September 30,
2013 related to repurchase claims received from Fannie Mae as compared to the same period in 2012.  During the three months ended September 30, 2013,
we paid approximately $752 thousand to settle previous repurchase claims related to our previously discontinued operations and such amount was charged
against the reserve.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2013, other expense decreased to $277 thousand as compared to $7.3 million for the comparable 2012

period.  Other expense decreased $7.0 million between periods primarily due to a decrease in legal settlement and professional expenses.  During the three
months ended September 30, 2013, we accrued approximately $2.7 million in legal settlements for various matters pertaining to the discontinued non-
conforming mortgage operations.  Offsetting the legal settlement accrual was a $3.0 million recovery from a settlement of an insurance claim associated with
previous litigation settlements.  The insurance recovery settlement was reached in the third quarter of 2013.  During the three months ended September 30,
2012, we accrued $6.1 million for the settlement of two remaining legacy lawsuits.

 
  

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2013

 
2012

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Provision for repurchases
 

$ (1,311) $ (4,569) $ 3,258
 

71%
Other expense

 

(740) (8,833) 8,093
 

92
 

Net loss after income taxes
 

$ (2,051) $ (13,402) $ 11,351
 

85%
 

Provision for repurchases decreased $3.3 million to a provision of $1.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to a
provision of $4.6 million for the same period in 2012.  The decrease is the result of decreases in estimated repurchase losses during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 related to repurchase claims received from Fannie Mae as compared to the same period in 2012.  During the nine months ended
September 30, 2013, we paid approximately $3.3 million to settle previous repurchase claims related to our previously discontinued operations and such
amount was charged against the reserve.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, other expense decreased to $740 thousand as compared to $8.8 million for the comparable 2012

period.  Other expense decreased $8.1 million between periods primarily due to a decrease in legal settlement and professional expenses, as described above.
 

ITEM 3:  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 

As a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required to provide the information required by this Item.
 

ITEM 4:  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e))
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its reports that it files or submits
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under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers,
or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

 
As required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, in connection with the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our

management, under the supervision and with the participation of our CEO and CFO, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as
such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e). Based on that evaluation, the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of
that date, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 
There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the Company’s quarter ended September 30, 2013, that

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 

ITEM 1:  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

On August 16, 2013, a matter was filed in the US District Court, Southern District of New York entitled Ally Bank f/k/a GMAC Bank v. Impac
Funding Corporation, et al.  The action alleges the defendants breached contractual representations and warranties in connection with thirteen loans that were
purchased by the plaintiff and seeks damages of approximately $1.4 million.

 



We are a party to other litigation and claims which are normal in the course of our operations. While the results of such other litigation and claims
cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

 
The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the above claims and intends to defend these claims vigorously and as such the Company

believes the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations. Nevertheless, litigation is
uncertain and the Company may not prevail in the lawsuits and can express no opinion as to their ultimate resolution. An adverse judgment in any of these
matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

 
On May 15, 2013, Wilmington Trust Company filed a complaint, in its individual capacity, and as Owner Trustee of Impac Secured Assets CMB

Trust Series 1998-1 and Impac CMB Trust Series 1999-1, 1999-2, 2000-1, 2000-2, 2001-4, 2002-1, and 2003-5 v. Impac Secured Assets Corp., et al. alleging
the defendants owe the plaintiff indemnification for settlements and legal fees that the plaintiff allegedly incurred in connection with the Gilmor, et al. v.
Preferred Credit Corp., et al. matter (a legal matter Impac settled in September 2012). The complaint indicated the plaintiff seeks unspecified damages. 
Although the Company believes its obligation to the plaintiff to be minimal, management believes it is in the best interest of the shareholders to settle the
matter rather than be faced with the uncertainty of the trial, significant legal expenses and the time and distractions involved in a trial.  Furthermore, to the
extent the terms of a settlement were structured to minimize the impact to operational cash flows, which would not be the case if the matter was litigated at
trial, the Company has sought to settle this matter.

 
On October 16, 2012, a matter was filed entitled Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, in its individual capacity, and as Indenture Trustee of

Impac Secured Assets CMB Trust Series 1998-1, Impac CMB Trust Series 1999-2, 2000-2, 2001-4, 2002-1, and 2003-5, and Impac Real Estate Asset Trust
Series 2006-SD1 v. Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., et al. The action alleged the defendants owe the plaintiff indemnification for settlements that the plaintiff
allegedly entered into in connection with the Gilmor, et al. v. Preferred Credit Corp., et al. matter. The plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief and
unspecified damages.  Although the Company believes its obligation to the plaintiff to be minimal, management believed it was in the best interest of the
shareholders to settle the matter rather than be faced with the uncertainty of a trial, significant legal expenses and the time and distractions involved in a trial. 
Furthermore, to the extent the terms of a settlement were structured to minimize the impact to operational cash flows, which would not be the case if the
matter was litigated at trial, the Company is more willing to settle the matter.  In September 2013, the Company sought to settle the matter.
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The Company determined the loss from these matters were probable and reasonably estimated.  In the third quarter of 2013, the Company recorded a
legal settlement charge of $2.65 million related to these matters, which was included in the accrued liability of $4.6 million at September 30, 2013.

 
Please refer to IMH’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and subsequent Form 10-Q filings for a description of litigation

and claims.
 

ITEM 1A:  RISK FACTORS
 

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, includes a detailed discussion of our risk factors.  Such risks have not
changed during 2013.

 
ITEM 2:  UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

 
On August 9, 2013, the Company issued 108,375 shares of common stock to the noncontrolling shareholder of AmeriHome as partial consideration

for the acquisition of the remaining 20% ownership of AmeriHome.  The securities were issued pursuant to the exemption provided by Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D thereunder for transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering.  The basis for
relying on this exemption is that the acquisition was a privately negotiated transaction with an accredited investor that did not involve a general solicitation.

 
ITEM 3:  DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

 
None.

 
ITEM 4:  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

 
None.

 
ITEM 5:  OTHER INFORMATION

 
On September 17 and 18, 2013, the Company entered into amendments to the Master Repurchase Agreement and Pricing Side Letter with Credit

Suisse extending the termination date to September 17, 2014 and including terms related to the new Repledge Facility.
 

On September 26, 2013, the warehouse facility under the Master Repurchase Agreement with Everbank was amended decreasing the borrowing
capacity from $75.0 million to $50.0 million and amending the profitability covenant.

 
On September 30, 2013, the warehouse facility under the Master Repurchase Agreement with Alliance Bank was amended revising certain

covenants.
 

On September 18, 2013, the Company, through a subsidiary and as a guarantor, entered into a Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility) and
related Pricing Side Letter with Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, which is related to its current warehouse facility (repurchase agreement)
with Credit Suisse.  The Repledge Facility allows the Company to provide up to $40 million in re-warehousing funds to lenders in connection with its
warehouse lending business.  This maximum amount under the Repledge Facility is a subset of the $100 million currently available under the existing
warehouse facility.  The Repledge Facility also includes financial covenants similar to the existing warehouse facility.

 



The information set forth above is included herewith for the purpose of providing the disclosure required under “Item 1.01- Entry into a Material
Definitive Agreement” and “Item 2.03 Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant”
of Form 8-K.
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ITEM 6:  EXHIBITS
 

(a)
 

Exhibits:
10.1

 

Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility) dated September 18, 2013 between Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. and Credit Suisse
First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC

10.1(a)
 

Pricing Side Letter to Mortgage Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility) dated September 18, 2013
10.2

 

Amendment No. 3 dated September 18, 2013 to Master Repurchase Agreement with Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC
10.3

 

Amendment No. 5 dated September 17, 2013 to Pricing Side Letter to Mortgage Repurchase Agreement with Credit Suisse First Boston
Mortgage Capital LLC

10.3(a)
 

Amendment No. 6 dated September 18, 2013 to Pricing Side Letter to Mortgage Repurchase Agreement with Credit Suisse First Boston
Mortgage Capital LLC

10.4
 

Seventh Amendment dated September 26, 2013 to Master Repurchase Agreement with Everbank
10.5

 

Amendment dated September 30, 2013 to Master Repurchase Agreement with Alliance Bank.
10.6

 

Sixth Amendment dated June 18, 2013 to Master Repurchase Agreement and Pricing Letter with Everbank.
31.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*
 

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101*

 

The following materials from Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2013, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (1) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (2) the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (3) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (4) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.

 

*

 

This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to the liabilities of
that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

 

  
/s/ TODD R. TAYLOR

 

Todd R. Taylor
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(authorized officer of registrant and principal financial officer)
 

  
November 12, 2013
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Exhibit 10.1
  

 
MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT

(REPLEDGE FACILITY)
 

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON MORTGAGE CAPITAL LLC, as buyer 
(“Buyer”), and

 
EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING, INC., as seller (“Seller”), and

 
INTEGRATED REAL ESTATE SERVICE CORP. and IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS,

INC., as guarantors (each a “Guarantor” and collectively, the “Guarantors”)
 

Dated September 18, 2013
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1.                                      Applicability



 
From time to time the parties hereto may enter into transactions in which Seller agrees to transfer to Buyer Mortgage Loans (as hereinafter

defined) on a servicing released basis against the transfer of funds by Buyer, with a simultaneous agreement by Buyer to transfer to Seller such Mortgage
Loans on a servicing released basis at a date certain or on demand, against the transfer of funds by Seller.  Each such transaction shall be referred to herein as
a “Transaction” and, unless otherwise agreed in writing, shall be governed by this Agreement, including any supplemental terms or conditions contained in
any annexes identified herein, as applicable hereunder.

 
2.                                      Definitions
 

Whenever used in this Agreement, the following words and phrases, unless the context otherwise requires, shall have the following
meanings:

 
“Acceptable State” means any state acceptable pursuant to Seller’s Underwriting Guidelines.
 
“Acceptable Underlying Repurchase Transaction” means an Underlying Repurchase Transaction with an Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty in which all right, title and interest in each underlying Mortgage Loan sold to Seller pursuant to such Underlying Repurchase Transaction is
documented by Underlying Repurchase Documents and as to which all of the representations and warranties set forth on Schedule 1, Part 2 are true and
correct in all material respects.

 
“Accepted Servicing Practices” means, with respect to any Mortgage Loan, those mortgage servicing practices of prudent mortgage lending

institutions which service mortgage loans of the same type as such Mortgage Loan in the jurisdiction where the related Mortgaged Property is located in
accordance with applicable law.

 
“Act of Insolvency” means, with respect to any Person, (a) the filing of a petition, commencing, or authorizing the commencement of any

case or proceeding, or the voluntary joining of any case or proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or similar
law relating to the protection of creditors, or suffering any such petition or proceeding to be commenced by another which is consented to, not timely
contested or results in entry of an order for relief; (b) the seeking of the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or similar official for such party or any
substantial part of its property; (c) the appointment of a receiver, conservator, or manager for such party by any governmental agency or authority having the
jurisdiction to do so; (d) the making or offering by such party of a composition with its creditors or a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (e) the
admission by such party of such party of its inability to pay its debts or discharge its obligations as they become due or mature; or (f) that any governmental
authority or agency or any person, agency or entity acting or purporting to act under governmental authority shall have taken any action to condemn, seize or
appropriate, or to assume custody or control of, all or any substantial part of the property of such party, or shall have taken any action to displace the
management of such party or to curtail its authority in the conduct of its business of such party.
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“Additional Repurchase Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.e hereof.
 
“Adjusted Tangible Net Worth” has the meaning set forth in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any “affiliate” of such Person, as such term is defined in the Bankruptcy Code.
 
“Aged Loan” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Agency” means Freddie Mac, Fannie Mae or GNMA, as applicable.
 
“Agency Approvals” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.w hereof.
 
“Agency Security” means a mortgage-backed security issued by an Agency.
 
“Aging Limit” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Agreement” means this Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility), as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified

from time to time.
 
“Agreement Repurchase Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.a hereof.
 
“Appraised Value” means the value set forth in an appraisal made in connection with the origination of the related Mortgage Loan as the

value of the Mortgaged Property.
 
“Asset Value” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.

 
“Assignment of Mortgage” means an assignment of the Mortgage, notice of transfer or equivalent instrument in recordable form, sufficient

under the laws of the jurisdiction wherein the related Mortgaged Property is located to reflect the sale of the Mortgage to Buyer.
 
“Bailee Letter” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Custodial Agreement.
 
“Bankruptcy Code” means the United States Bankruptcy Code of 1978, as amended from time to time.

 
“Business Day” means any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday; (ii) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange, the Federal Reserve

Bank of New York or the Custodian is authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed or (iii) a public or bank holiday in New York City or
California.

 
“Buydown Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.c hereof.



 
“Buyer” means Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, and any successor or assign hereunder.
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“Capital Lease Obligations” means, for any Person, all obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under a lease of (or other

agreement conveying the right to use) Property to the extent such obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease on a balance
sheet of such Person under GAAP, and, for purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof, determined in
accordance with GAAP.

 
“Cash Equivalents” means (a) securities with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully guaranteed or insured

by the United States Government or any agency thereof, (b) certificates of deposit and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of 90 days or less from the
date of acquisition and overnight bank deposits of Buyer or of any commercial bank having capital and surplus in excess of $500,000,000, (c) repurchase
obligations of Buyer or of any commercial bank satisfying the requirements of clause (b) of this definition, having a term of not more than seven days with
respect to securities issued or fully guaranteed or insured by the United States Government, (d) commercial paper of a domestic issuer rated at least A-1 or the
equivalent thereof by S&P or P-1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s and in either case maturing within 90 days after the day of acquisition, (e) securities
with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully guaranteed by any state, commonwealth or territory of the United States, by any
political subdivision or taxing authority of any such state, commonwealth or territory or by any foreign government, the securities of which state,
commonwealth, territory, political subdivision, taxing authority or foreign government (as the case may be) are rated at least A by S&P or A by Moody’s,
(f) securities with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of acquisition backed by standby letters of credit issued by Buyer or any commercial bank
satisfying the requirements of clause (b) of this definition or (g) shares of money market mutual or similar funds which invest exclusively in assets satisfying
the requirements of clauses (a) through (f) of this definition.

 
“Change in Control” means:
 

(a)                                 any transaction or event as a result of which IRES ceases to own, beneficially or of record, 100% of the stock of Seller;
 
(b)                                 any transaction or event as a result of which Impac ceases to own, beneficially or of record, 100% of the stock of IRES;
 
(c)                                  the sale, transfer, or other disposition of all or substantially all of Seller’s or any Guarantor’s assets (excluding any such action

taken in connection with any securitization transaction); or
 
(d)                                 the consummation of a merger or consolidation of Seller or any Guarantor with or into another entity or any other corporate

reorganization, if more than 50% of the combined voting power of the continuing or surviving entity’s stock outstanding immediately after such merger,
consolidation or such other reorganization is owned by Persons who were not stockholders of Seller or either Guarantor immediately prior to such merger,
consolidation or other reorganization.

 
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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“Committed Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which is the subject of a Take-out Commitment with a Take-out Investor.
 
“Conforming High LTV Loan” means a Conforming Mortgage Loan with an LTV of 105% or higher but not to exceed 150%.
 
“Conforming Mortgage Loan” means a first lien Mortgage Loan originated in accordance with the criteria of an Agency for purchase of

Mortgage Loans, including, without limitation, conventional Mortgage Loans, as determined by Buyer in its sole discretion.
 
“CSCOF” means, in the Buyer’s sole discretion, which may be confirmed by notice to the Seller (which may be electronic), for each day,

the rate of interest (calculated on a per annum basis) determined by Buyer (which such determination shall be dispositive absent manifest error), equal to the
overnight interest expense reasonably available to Buyer for borrowing funds. Such interest expense shall be calculated in substantially the same manner for
all of Buyer’s residential mortgage loan repurchase agreement customers.

 
“Custodial Agreement” means each custodial agreement among an Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller and Custodian, as each may

be amended from time to time, and each in the form and substance approved by Buyer in writing in its sole discretion exercised in good faith and the related
Custodial Repledgee Information Notice.

 
“Custodial Mortgage Loan Schedule” has the meaning assigned to such term in the applicable Custodial Agreement.
 
“Custodial Repledgee Information Notice” means the repledgee information notice delivered pursuant to the applicable Custodial

Agreement.
 
“Custodian” means Deutsche Bank National Trust Company or such other party approved in writing by Buyer, which approval shall not be

unreasonably withheld.
 
“Default” means an Event of Default or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default.
 
“Dollars” and “$” means dollars in lawful currency of the United States of America.
 
“Due Date” means the day of the month on which the Monthly Payment is due on a Mortgage Loan, exclusive of any days of grace.
 
“Effective Date” means the date upon which the conditions precedent set forth in Section 10 shall have been satisfied.



 
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.
 
“ERISA Affiliate” means any corporation or trade or business that, together with Seller or Guarantors is treated as a single employer under

Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or
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solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code is treated as single employer described in Section 414 of the Code.
 

“Escrow Instruction Letter” means the Escrow Instruction Letter from Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to the Settlement Agent, in the
form of Exhibit I hereto, as the same may be modified, supplemented and in effect from time to time.

 
“Escrow Payments” means, with respect to any Mortgage Loan, the amounts constituting ground rents, taxes, assessments, water rates,

sewer rents, municipal charges, mortgage insurance premiums, fire and hazard insurance premiums, condominium charges, and any other payments required
to be escrowed by the Mortgagor with the mortgagee pursuant to the Mortgage or any other document.

 
“ETA Repledgee Information Notice” means the repledgee information notice delivered pursuant to the applicable Underlying Electronic

Tracking Agreement.
 
“Event of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 15 hereof.
 
“Event of Termination” means with respect to Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller or Guarantors (a) with respect to any Plan, a

reportable event, as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA, as to which the PBGC has not by regulation waived the requirement of Section 4043(a) of ERISA that
it be notified with 30 days of the occurrence of such event, or (b) the withdrawal of Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, Guarantors or any ERISA
Affiliate thereof from a Plan during a plan year in which it is a substantial employer, as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA, or (c) the failure by
Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, Guarantors or any ERISA Affiliate thereof to meet the minimum funding standard of Section 412 of the Code or
Section 302 of ERISA with respect to any Plan, including, without limitation, the failure to make on or before its due date a required installment under
Section 412(m) of the Code (or Section 430(j) of the Code as amended by the Pension Protection Act) or Section 302(e) of ERISA (or Section 303(j) of
ERISA, as amended by the Pension Protection Act), or (d) the distribution under Section 4041 of ERISA of a notice of intent to terminate any Plan or any
action taken by Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, Guarantors or any ERISA Affiliate thereof to terminate any plan, or (e) the failure to meet
requirements of Section 436 of the Code resulting in the loss of qualified status under Section 401(a)(29) of the Code, or (f) the institution by the PBGC of
proceedings under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan, or (g) the receipt by Underlying
Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, Guarantors or any ERISA Affiliate thereof of a notice from a Multiemployer Plan that action of the type described in the
previous clause (f) has been taken by the PBGC with respect to such Multiemployer Plan, or (h) any event or circumstance exists which may reasonably be
expected to constitute grounds for Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, Guarantors or any ERISA Affiliate thereof to incur liability under Title IV of
ERISA or under Sections 412(b) or 430(k) of the Code with respect to any Plan.

 
“Existing Indebtedness” has the meaning specified in Section 13.a(23) hereof.
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“Fannie Mae” means the Federal National Mortgage Association or any successor thereto.
 
“FHA” means the Federal Housing Administration, an agency within the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development, or

any successor thereto, and including the Federal Housing Commissioner and the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development where appropriate under the
FHA Regulations.

 
“FHA Approved Mortgagee” means a corporation or institution approved as a mortgagee by the FHA under the National Housing Act, as

amended from time to time, and applicable FHA Regulations, and eligible to own and service mortgage loans such as the FHA Loans.
 
“FHA Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which is the subject of an FHA Mortgage Insurance Contract.
 
“FHA Mortgage Insurance” means, mortgage insurance authorized under the National Housing Act, as amended from time to time, and

provided by the FHA.
 
“FHA Mortgage Insurance Contract” means the contractual obligation of the FHA respecting the insurance of a Mortgage Loan.
 
“FHA Regulations” means the regulations promulgated by the Department of Housing and Urban Development under the National Housing

Act, as amended from time to time and codified in 24 Code of Federal Regulations, and other Department of Housing and Urban Development issuances
relating to FHA Loans, including the related handbooks, circulars, notices and mortgagee letters.

 
“FICO” means Fair Isaac & Co., or any successor thereto.
 
“Fidelity Insurance” shall mean insurance coverage with respect to employee errors, omissions, dishonesty, forgery, theft, disappearance

and destruction, robbery and safe burglary, property (other than money and securities) and computer fraud in an aggregate amount acceptable to Seller’s
regulators.

 
“Freddie Mac” means the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or any successor thereto.
 
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time in the United States of America and applied on a

consistent basis.



 
“GNMA” means the Government National Mortgage Association and any successor thereto.
 
“Governmental Authority” means any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, or any entity exercising

executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions over Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, Guarantors or Buyer, as applicable.
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“Gross Margin” means, with respect to each adjustable rate Mortgage Loan, the fixed percentage amount set forth in the related Mortgage

Note.
 
“Guarantee” means, as to any Person, any obligation of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Indebtedness of any other

Person or in any manner providing for the payment of any Indebtedness of any other Person or otherwise protecting the holder of such Indebtedness against
loss (whether by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, or to take-or-pay or
otherwise); provided that the term “Guarantee” shall not include (a) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business, or
(b) obligations to make servicing advances in respect of a Mortgage Loan or Mortgaged Property.  The amount of any Guarantee of a Person shall be deemed
to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such Guarantee is made or, if not stated or
determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined by such Person in good faith.  The terms “Guarantee” and
“Guaranteed” used as verbs shall have correlative meanings.

 
“Guarantor” means IRES and Impac each in its capacity as guarantor under the Guaranty.
 
“Guaranty” means the guaranty of the Guarantors, dated as of the date hereof, as the same may be amended from time to time, pursuant to

which each Guarantor fully and unconditionally guarantees the obligations of the Seller hereunder.
 
“High Cost Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan (a) classified as a “high cost” loan under the Home Ownership and Equity Protection

Act of 1994; (b) classified as a “high cost,” “threshold,” “covered,” or “predatory” loan under any other applicable state, federal or local law (or a similarly
classified loan using different terminology under a law, regulation or ordinance imposing heightened regulatory scrutiny or additional legal liability for
residential mortgage loans having high interest rates, points and/or fees) or (c) having a percentage listed under the Indicative Loss Severity Column (the
column that appears in the S&P Anti-Predatory Lending Law Update Table, included in the then-current S&P’s LEVELS® Glossary of Terms on
Appendix E).

 
“Impac” means Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and any successor or assign permitted under the Guaranty.
 
“Income” means, with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan at any time until repurchased by the Seller, any principal and all interest

received thereon or in respect thereof.
 
“Indebtedness” means, for any Person: at any time, and only to the extent outstanding at such time: (a) obligations created, issued or

incurred by such Person for borrowed money (whether by loan, the issuance and sale of debt securities or the sale of Property to another Person subject to an
understanding or agreement, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase such Property from such Person); (b) obligations of such Person to pay the deferred
purchase or acquisition price of Property or services, other than trade accounts payable (other than for borrowed money) arising, and accrued expenses
incurred, in the ordinary course of business, so long as such trade accounts payable are payable within 90 days after the date the respective
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goods are delivered or the respective services are rendered; (c) Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on the Property of such Person, whether or not the
respective Indebtedness so secured has been assumed by such Person; (d) obligations (contingent or otherwise) of such Person in respect of letters of credit or
similar instruments issued or accepted by banks and other financial institutions for the account of such Person; (e) Capital Lease Obligations of such Person;
(f) obligations of such Person under repurchase agreements, sale/buy-back agreements or like arrangements, including, without limitation, any Indebtedness
arising hereunder; (g) Indebtedness of others Guaranteed by such Person; (h) all obligations of such Person incurred in connection with the acquisition or
carrying of fixed assets by such Person; (i) Indebtedness of general partnerships of which such Person is a general partner and (j) with respect to clauses (a)-
(i) above both on and off balance sheet.

 
“Index” means, with respect to any adjustable rate Mortgage Loan, the index identified on the Mortgage Loan Schedule and set forth in the

related Mortgage Note for the purpose of calculating the applicable Mortgage Interest Rate.
 
“Interest Only Adjustment Date” means, with respect to each Interest Only Loan, the date, specified in the related Mortgage Note on which

the Monthly Payment will be adjusted to include principal as well as interest.
 
“Interest Only Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which only requires payments of interest for a period of time specified in the related

Mortgage Note.
 
“Interest Rate Adjustment Date” means the date on which an adjustment to the Mortgage Interest Rate with respect to each Mortgage Loan

becomes effective.
 
“IRES” means Integrated Real Estate Service Corp. and any successor or assign permitted under the Guaranty.
 
“Jumbo Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan with an original principal balance in an amount in excess of the then applicable

conventional conforming limits, including general limits and high-cost area limits, for Mortgaged Properties securing Mortgage Loans in such county or local
area and which is also intended for purchase by Buyer or Buyer’s Affiliates; provided, however, that Jumbo Mortgage Loans shall not include any Mortgage
Loan with an original principal balance in excess of $3,000,000.

 



“Lien” means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or similar encumbrance.
 
“Loan to Value Ratio” or “LTV” means with respect to any Mortgage Loan, the ratio of the original outstanding principal amount of such

Mortgage Loan to the lesser of (a) the Appraised Value of the Mortgaged Property at origination or (b) if the Mortgaged Property was purchased within 12
months of the origination of such Mortgage Loan, the purchase price of the Mortgaged Property.

 
“Margin Call” has the meaning specified in Section 6.a hereof.
 
“Margin Deadline” has the meaning specified in Section 6.b hereof.
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“Margin Deficit” has the meaning specified in Section 6.a hereof.
 
“Market Value” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Material Adverse Effect” means, as applicable, (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect upon, the operations,

business, properties, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of, as applicable, Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, any Guarantor or any
Affiliate that is a party to any Program Agreement taken as a whole; (b) a material impairment of the ability of Seller, any Guarantor or any Affiliate that is a
party to any Program Agreement to perform under any Program Agreement and to avoid any Event of Default; (c) a material impairment of the ability of
Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to perform under Underlying Repurchase Documents and to avoid any event of default thereunder; or (d) a material
adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of, as applicable, (i) any Program Agreement against Seller, any Guarantor or any
Affiliate that is a party to any Program Agreement or (ii) against Underlying Repurchase Counterparty that is a party to any Underlying Repurchase
Documents, in each case as determined by the Buyer in its sole good faith discretion.

 
“Maximum Available Purchase Price” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“MERS” means Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of

Delaware, or any successor thereto.
 
“MERS System” means the system of recording transfers of mortgages electronically maintained by MERS.
 
“Monthly Payment” means the scheduled monthly payment of principal and/or interest on a Mortgage Loan.
 
“Monthly Summary Report” means the report comprised of a “scorecard” and a “report card” in form and substance mutually agreed upon

by Buyer and Seller, together with such other documents as mutually agreed upon by Buyer and Seller, with respect to each of Seller’s customers.
 
“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or any successors thereto.
 
“Mortgage” means each mortgage, assignment of rents, security agreement and fixture filing, or deed of trust, assignment of rents, security

agreement and fixture filing, deed to secure debt, assignment of rents, security agreement and fixture filing, or similar instrument creating and evidencing a
lien on real property and other property and rights incidental thereto.

 
“Mortgage File” means, with respect to a Mortgage Loan, the documents and instruments relating to such Mortgage Loan and set forth in an

exhibit to the applicable Custodial Agreement.
 
“Mortgage Interest Rate” means the rate of interest borne on a Mortgage Loan from time to time in accordance with the terms of the related

Mortgage Note.
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“Mortgage Interest Rate Cap” means, with respect to an adjustable rate Mortgage Loan, the limit on each Mortgage Interest Rate adjustment

as set forth in the related Mortgage Note.
 
“Mortgage Loan” means any first lien closed Conforming Mortgage Loan, Conforming High LTV Loan, FHA Loan, Jumbo Mortgage Loan

or VA Loan which is a fixed or floating-rate, one-to-four-family residential mortgage or home equity loan evidenced by a promissory note and secured by a
first lien mortgage, which satisfies the requirements set forth in the Underwriting Guidelines and Section 13.b hereof; provided, however, that, except with
respect to Conforming High LTV Loans and as expressly approved in writing by Buyer, Mortgage Loans shall not include any “high-LTV” loans (i.e., a
mortgage loan having a loan-to-value ratio in excess of (a)  with respect to FHA Loans or VA Loans, 97%, (b) with respect to Conforming Mortgage Loans
(other than Conforming High LTV Loans), up to but not including 97% (provided that Conforming Mortgage Loans with an LTV of 80% or higher must be
covered by primary mortgage insurance) or (c) such lower percentage set forth in the Underwriting Guidelines) or any High Cost Mortgage Loans and;
provided, further, that the related Purchase Date is no more than thirty (30) days following the origination date.

 
“Mortgage Loan Documents” means the documents in the related Mortgage File to be delivered to the Custodian.
 
“Mortgage Loan Schedule” means, with respect to any Transaction as of any date, a mortgage loan schedule in the form of a computer tape

or other electronic medium generated by Seller, and delivered to Buyer and Custodian, which provides information required by Buyer to enter into
Transactions relating to the Purchased Mortgage Loans in a format acceptable to Buyer.

 
“Mortgage Note” means the promissory note or other evidence of the indebtedness of a Mortgagor secured by a Mortgage.
 
“Mortgaged Property” means the real property securing repayment of the debt evidenced by a Mortgage Note.



 
“Mortgagor” means the obligor or obligors on a Mortgage Note, including any person who has assumed or guaranteed the obligations of the

obligor thereunder.
 
“Multiemployer Plan” means a multiemployer plan defined as such in Section 3(37) of ERISA to which contributions have been or are

required to be made by Seller or any ERISA Affiliate and that is covered by Title IV of ERISA.
 
“Net Income” means, for any period and any Person, the net income of such Person for such period as determined in accordance with

GAAP.
 
“Net Worth” means, with respect to any Person, an amount equal to, on a consolidated basis, such Person’s stockholder equity (determined

in accordance with GAAP).
 
“1934 Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time.
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“Non-Performing Mortgage Loan” means (a) any Mortgage Loan for which any payment of principal or interest is more than twenty-nine

(29) days past the Due Date, (b) any Mortgage Loan with respect to which the related Mortgagor is in bankruptcy or (c) any Mortgage Loan with respect to
which the related Mortgaged Property is in foreclosure.

 
“Non-Utilization Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Obligations” means (a) all of Seller’s indebtedness, obligations to pay the Repurchase Price on the Repurchase Date, the Price Differential

on each Price Differential Payment Date, and other obligations and liabilities, to Buyer or Custodian arising under the Program Agreements, whether now
existing or hereafter arising; (b) any and all sums paid by Buyer or on behalf of Buyer in order to preserve any Purchased Mortgage Loan or its interest
therein; (c) in the event of any proceeding for the collection or enforcement of any of Seller’s indebtedness, obligations or liabilities referred to in clause (a),
the reasonable expenses of retaking, holding, collecting, preparing for sale, selling or otherwise disposing of or realizing on any Purchased Mortgage Loan, or
of any exercise by Buyer of its rights under the Program Agreements, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and disbursements and court costs; (d) all
of Seller’s indemnity obligations to Buyer or Custodian or both pursuant to the Program Agreements; and (e) all of Seller’s and each Guarantor’s obligations
under the Primary Repurchase Agreement and other Primary Repurchase Documents.

 
“OFAC” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.a(27) hereof.
 
“Officer’s Compliance Certificate” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any entity succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA.
 
“Pension Protection Act” means the Pension Protection Act of 2006.
 
“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation (including a business trust), limited liability company, joint stock company, trust,

unincorporated association, joint venture or other entity, or a government or any political subdivision or agency thereof.
 
“Plan” means an employee benefit or other plan established or maintained by Seller or any ERISA Affiliate and covered by Title IV of

ERISA, other than a Multiemployer Plan.
 
“Post Default Rate” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Power of Attorney” means a Power of Attorney substantially in the form of Exhibit D hereto.
 
“Price Differential” means with respect to any Transaction as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the product of (a) the Pricing

Rate for such Transaction and
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(b) the Purchase Price for such Transaction, calculated daily on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of days during the period commencing on
(and including) the Purchase Date for such Transaction and ending on (but excluding) the Repurchase Date adjusted as provided by Section 5.c hereof.

 
“Price Differential Payment Date” means, with respect to a Purchased Mortgage Loan, the 5th day of the month following the related

Purchase Date and each succeeding 5th day of the month thereafter; provided, that, with respect to such Purchased Mortgage Loan, the final Price Differential
Payment Date shall be the related Repurchase Date; and provided, further, that if any such day is not a Business Day, the Price Differential Payment Date
shall be the next succeeding Business Day.

 
“Pricing Rate” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Pricing Side Letter” means, the letter agreement dated as of the date hereof, among Buyer, Seller and the Guarantors, as the same may be

amended from time to time.
 
“Primary Repurchase Agreement” means that certain Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2012, among Buyer,

Guarantor and Seller, as amended from time to time.
 
“Primary Repurchase Documents” means “Program Agreements” as defined in the Primary Repurchase Agreement.



 
“Primary Repurchase Rights” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.e. hereof.
 
“Program Agreements” means, collectively, this Agreement, the Pricing Side Letter, the Guaranty, each Custodial Agreement for each

Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, each Underlying Electronic Tracking Agreement for each Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, the Power of Attorney,
the Servicing Agreement, if any, the Servicer Notice, the Custodial Repledgee Information Notices and the ETA Repledgee Information Notices.

 
“Prohibited Person” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.a(27) hereof.
 
“Property” means any right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or

intangible.
 
“Purchase Date” means the date on which Purchased Mortgage Loans are to be transferred by Seller to Buyer.
 
“Purchase Price” means the price at which each Purchased Mortgage Loan is transferred by Seller to Buyer, which shall equal:
 
(a)           on the Purchase Date, in the case of all Purchased Mortgage Loans, the applicable Purchase Price Percentage multiplied by the

lesser of either: (x) the Market Value of such Purchased Mortgage Loan or (y) the outstanding principal amount thereof as set forth on the related Mortgage
Loan Schedule;
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(b)           on any day after the Purchase Date, except where Buyer and the Seller agree otherwise, the amount determined under the

immediately preceding clause (a) decreased by the amount of any cash transferred by the Seller to Buyer pursuant to Section 6 hereof or applied to reduce the
Seller’s obligations under Section 4(b) hereof.

 
“Purchase Price Percentage” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Purchased Mortgage Loans” means the collective reference to Mortgage Loans together with the Repurchase Assets related to such

Mortgage Loans transferred by Seller to Buyer in a Transaction hereunder, listed on the related Mortgage Loan Schedule attached to the related Transaction
Request, which such Mortgage Loans the Custodian has been instructed to hold pursuant to the Custodial Agreement and which Mortgage Loan has not been
repurchased by Seller in accordance with the terms thereof.

 
“Qualified Insurer” means an insurance company duly authorized and licensed where required by law to transact insurance business and

approved as an insurer by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac.
 
“Qualified Originator” means an originator of Mortgage Loans which is acceptable under the Underwriting Guidelines.
 
“Records” means all instruments, agreements and other books, records, and reports and data generated by other media for the storage of

information maintained by Seller, Servicer, Guarantor, Custodian, Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or any other person or entity with respect to a
Purchased Mortgage Loan.  Records shall include the Mortgage Notes, any Mortgages, the Mortgage Files, the credit files related to the Purchased Mortgage
Loan and any other instruments necessary to document or service a Mortgage Loan.

 
“REO Property” means real property, including a Mortgaged Property acquired through foreclosure of a Mortgage Loan or by deed in lieu

of such foreclosure.
 
“Reporting Date” means the 15  day of each month or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day.
 
“Repurchase Assets” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 8 hereof.
 
“Repurchase Date” means the earlier of (a) the Termination Date, (b) the date requested pursuant to Section 4(a) or (c) the date determined

by application of Section 16 hereof.
 
“Repurchase Price” means the price at which Purchased Mortgage Loans are to be transferred from Buyer to Seller upon termination of a

Transaction, which will be determined in each case (including Transactions terminable upon demand) as the sum of the Purchase Price and the accrued but
unpaid Price Differential as of the date of such determination.

 
“Request for Certification” means a notice sent to the Custodian reflecting the sale of one or more Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer

hereunder.
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“Requirement of Law” means, with respect to any Person, any law, treaty, rule or regulation or determination of an arbitrator, a court or

other governmental authority, applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property or to which such Person or any of its property is subject.
 
“Responsible Officer” means as to any Person, the chief executive officer or, with respect to financial matters, the chief financial officer of

such Person.
 
“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, or any successor thereto.
 
“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any successor thereto.
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“Seller” means Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. or its permitted successors and assigns.
 
“Servicer” means any servicer approved by Buyer in its sole discretion, which may be LoanCare, Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or

Seller.
 
“Servicer Notice” means the notice to the Servicer, to the extent that the Servicer is a party other than an Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty or Seller, substantially in the form of Exhibit K hereto.
 
“Servicing Agreement” means any servicing agreement entered into among Seller and a third party Servicer as the same may be amended

from time to time.
 
“Servicing Rights” means rights of any Person to administer, service or subservice, the Purchased Mortgage Loans or to possess related

Records.
 
“Settlement Agent” means, with respect to any Transaction the subject of which is a Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan, the entity approved by Buyer,

in its sole good-faith discretion, which may be a title company, escrow company or attorney in accordance with local law and practice in the jurisdiction
where the related Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan is being originated.  A Settlement Agent is deemed approved unless Buyer notifies Seller otherwise at any time
electronically or in writing.

 
“SIPA” means the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970, as amended from time to time.
 
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership or other entity of which at least a majority of the securities or

other ownership interests having by the terms thereof ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar
functions of such corporation, partnership or other entity (irrespective of whether or not at the time securities or other ownership interests of any other class or
classes of such corporation, partnership or other entity shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) is at the time
directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or by such Person and one or more Subsidiaries of such
Person.
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“Take-out Commitment” means a commitment of Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to either (a) sell one or more identified Mortgage

Loans to a Take-out Investor or (b) (i) swap one or more identified Mortgage Loans with a Take-out Investor that is an Agency for an Agency Security, and
(ii) sell the related Agency Security to a Take-out Investor, and in each case, the corresponding Take-out Investor’s commitment back to Underlying
Repurchase Counterparty to effectuate any of the foregoing, as applicable. With respect to any Take-out Commitment with an Agency, the applicable agency
documents list Buyer as sole subscriber to the Agency Security and such Agency Security is delivered to an account specified by Buyer.

 
“Take-out Investor” means (a) an Agency, (b) Seller or (c) other institution which has made a Take-out Commitment and has been approved

by Buyer.
 
“Termination Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Test Period” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Transaction” has the meaning set forth in Section 1 hereof.
 
“Transaction Request” means a request via email from Seller to Buyer notifying Buyer that Seller wishes to enter into a Transaction

hereunder that indicates that it is a Transaction Request under this Agreement.
 
“Trust Receipt” means, with respect to any Transaction as of any date, a receipt in the form attached as an exhibit to the applicable

Custodial Agreement as the “Repledgee Trust Receipt”, which shall be issued and delivered to Buyer in its capacity as repledgee pursuant to the applicable
Custodial Agreement.

 
“Underlying Electronic Tracking Agreement” means, to the extent applicable, each Electronic Tracking Agreement among an Underlying

Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, MERS and MERSCORP Holdings, Inc., as the same may be amended from time to time, together with the related ETA
Repledgee Information Notice executed by Seller, MERS, MERSCORP Holdings, Inc. and Buyer.

 
“Underlying Interest Rate Protection Agreement” means, with respect to any or all of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, any short sale of a US

Treasury Security, or futures contract, or mortgage related security, or Eurodollar futures contract, or options related contract, or interest rate swap, cap or
collar agreement, or similar arrangement providing for protection against fluctuations in interest rates or the exchange of nominal interest obligations, either
generally or under specific contingencies, entered into by Underlying Repurchase Counterparty.

 
“Underlying Repurchase Counterparty” means the counterparty to an Underlying Repurchase Transaction, who has previously been

approved, and has not been subsequently disapproved, by Buyer in writing in its sole discretion exercised in good faith in accordance with the provisions of
Section 35 hereof, that has sold, or concurrently with a purchase of a Mortgage Loan by Buyer hereunder, will sell, such Mortgage Loan to Seller.
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“Underlying Repurchase Documents” means the repurchase agreement, pricing letter, the applicable Custodial Agreement, the applicable

Underlying Electronic Tracking Agreement, confirmations and all documents ancillary thereto that evidence an Underlying Repurchase Transaction in the
form and substance approved by Buyer in writing in its sole discretion exercised in good faith with any material modifications approved by Buyer in writing
in its sole discretion exercised in good faith.

 



“Underlying Repurchase Transaction” means a transaction between Seller and an Underlying Repurchase Counterparty whereby the
Underlying Repurchase Counterparty sells one or more Mortgage Loans to Seller against the transfer of funds by Seller, with the simultaneous agreement by
Seller to transfer to such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty such Mortgage Loans at a date certain against the transfer of funds by such Underlying
Repurchase Counterparty, which Mortgage Loans are concurrently or consecutively purchased by Buyer hereunder.

 
“Underwriting Guidelines” means, as applicable, the Fannie Mae Single-Family Selling and Servicing Guide, the Freddie Mac Single-

Family Seller/Servicer Guide, FHA Underwriting Guidelines or VA Underwriting Guidelines and such other guidelines as are identified and approved in
writing by Buyer.

 
“Uniform Commercial Code” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect on the date hereof in the State of New York or the Uniform

Commercial Code as in effect in the applicable jurisdiction.
 
“VA” means the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, an agency of the United States of America, or any successor thereto including the

Secretary of Veterans Affairs.
 
“VA Approved Lender” means a lender which is approved by the VA to act as a lender in connection with the origination of VA Loans.
 
“VA Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which is subject of a VA Loan Guaranty Agreement as evidenced by a loan guaranty certificate, or a

Mortgage Loan which is a vender loan sold by the VA.
 
“VA Loan Guaranty Agreement” means the obligation of the United States to pay a specific percentage of a Mortgage Loan (subject to a

maximum amount) upon default of the Mortgagor pursuant to the Servicemen’s Readjustment Act, as amended.
 
“Wet-Ink Delivery Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Pricing Side Letter.
 
“Wet-Ink Documents” means, with respect to any Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan, the (a) Transaction Request and (b) the Mortgage Loan

Schedule.
 
“Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which Seller is selling to Buyer simultaneously with the origination thereof.
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3.                                      Program; Initiation of Transactions
 

a.                                            From time to time, in the sole discretion of Buyer, Buyer may purchase from Seller certain Mortgage Loans that have been either
originated by Seller or purchased by Seller from other originators.  This Agreement is not a commitment by Buyer to enter into Transactions with
Seller but rather sets forth the procedures to be used in connection with periodic requests for Buyer to enter into Transactions with Seller. 
Seller hereby acknowledges that Buyer is under no obligation to agree to enter into, or to enter into, any Transaction pursuant to this
Agreement.  All Purchased Mortgage Loans shall exceed or meet the Underwriting Guidelines, and shall be serviced by Seller or Servicer, as
applicable.  The aggregate Purchase Price of Purchased Mortgage Loans subject to outstanding Transactions shall not exceed the Maximum Available
Purchase Price.

 
b.                                            Seller shall request that Buyer enter into a Transaction by delivering (i) to Buyer, a Transaction Request (A) one (1) Business Day

prior to the proposed Purchase Date for Mortgage Loans that are not Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans or (B) by 3:30 p.m. (New York City time) on the
proposed Purchase Date for Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans and (ii) to Buyer and Custodian a Mortgage Loan Schedule, in accordance with the Custodial
Agreement. In the event the Mortgage Loan Schedule provided by Seller contains erroneous computer data, is not formatted properly or the computer
fields are otherwise improperly aligned, Buyer shall provide written or electronic notice to Seller describing such error and Seller shall correct the
computer data, reformat or properly align the computer fields itself and resubmit the Mortgage Loan Schedule as required herein.

 
c.                                             Reserved.
 
d.                                            Reserved.
 
e.                                             Upon the satisfaction of the applicable conditions precedent set forth in Section 10 hereof, all of Seller’s interest in the Repurchase

Assets shall pass to Buyer on the Purchase Date, against the transfer of the Purchase Price to Seller.  Upon transfer of the Mortgage Loans to Buyer as
set forth in this Section and until termination of any related Transactions as set forth in Sections 4 or 16 of this Agreement, ownership of each
Mortgage Loan, including each document in the related Mortgage File and Records, is vested in Buyer; provided that, prior to the recordation by the
Custodian as provided for in the Custodial Agreement record title in the name of Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to each Mortgage shall be
retained by Underlying Repurchase Counterparty in trust, for the benefit of Buyer, for the sole purpose of facilitating the servicing and the supervision
of the servicing of the Mortgage Loans.  For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to the Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans, the Purchase Price shall be remitted
directly to the Settlement Agent.

 
f.                                              With respect to each Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan, by no later than the Wet-Ink Delivery Date, Seller shall cause the related Settlement

Agent to deliver to the Custodian the remaining documents in the Mortgage File, as more particularly set forth in the applicable Custodial Agreement.
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4.                                      Repurchase
 

a.                                            Seller shall repurchase the related Purchased Mortgage Loans from Buyer on each related Repurchase Date.  In addition, Seller
may repurchase Purchased Mortgage Loans without penalty or premium on any date.  If Seller intends to make such a repurchase, Seller shall give
one (1) Business Day’s prior written notice to Buyer, designating the Purchased Mortgage Loans to be repurchased.  Such obligation to repurchase



exists without regard to any prior or intervening liquidation or foreclosure with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan (but liquidation or
foreclosure proceeds received by Buyer shall be applied to reduce the Repurchase Price for such Purchased Mortgage Loan on each Price Differential
Payment Date except as otherwise provided herein).  Seller is obligated to repurchase and take physical possession of the Purchased Mortgage Loans
from Buyer or its designee (including the Custodian) at Seller’s expense on the related Repurchase Date.

 
b.                                            Provided that no Default shall have occurred and is continuing, and Buyer has received the related Repurchase Price upon

repurchase of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, Buyer hereby releases its ownership interest hereunder in the Purchased Mortgage Loans (including, the
Repurchase Assets related thereto).  The Purchased Mortgage Loans (including the Repurchase Assets related thereto) shall be delivered to Seller free
and clear of any lien, encumbrance or claim. With respect to payments in full by the related Mortgagor of a Purchased Mortgage Loan, Seller agrees
to promptly remit but in no event later than two (2) Business Days (or cause to be remitted) to Buyer the Repurchase Price with respect to such
Purchased Mortgage Loan.  Buyer agrees to release its ownership interest in Purchased Mortgage Loans which have been prepaid in full after receipt
of evidence of compliance with the immediately preceding sentence.

 
5.                                      Price Differential.
 

a.                                            On each Business Day that a Transaction is outstanding, the Pricing Rate shall be reset and, unless otherwise agreed, the accrued
and unpaid Price Differential shall be settled in cash on each related Price Differential Payment Date.  Two Business Days prior to the Price
Differential Payment Date, Buyer shall give Seller written or electronic notice of the amount of the Price Differential due on such Price Differential
Payment Date.  On the Price Differential Payment Date, Seller shall pay to Buyer the Price Differential for such Price Differential Payment Date
(along with any other amounts to be paid pursuant to Sections 7 hereof and Section 3 of the Pricing Side Letter), by wire transfer in immediately
available funds.

 
b.                                            If Seller fails to pay all or part of the Price Differential by 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the related Price Differential

Payment Date, with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan, Seller shall be obligated to pay to Buyer (in addition to, and together with, the amount
of such Price Differential) interest on the unpaid Repurchase Price at a rate per annum equal to the Post Default Rate until the Price Differential is
received in full by Buyer.
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c.                                             Seller may remit to Buyer funds in an amount up to the outstanding Purchase Price of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, to be held as

unsegregated cash margin and collateral for all Obligations under this Agreement (such amount, to the extent not applied to Obligations under this
Agreement, the “Buydown Amount”).  The Buydown Amount shall be used by Buyer in order to calculate the aggregate Price Differential, which will
accrue on the aggregate Purchase Price then outstanding minus the Buydown Amount, applied to Transactions involving the lowest Pricing Rate.  The
Seller shall be entitled to request a drawdown of the Buydown Amount or remit additional funds to be added to the Buydown Amount no more than
one time per week.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that a Margin Call or an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, the Buyer shall be entitled to use any or all of the Buydown Amount to cure such circumstance or otherwise exercise remedies available to
the Buyer without prior notice to, or consent from, the Seller.  Within two (2) Business Days’ after receipt of written request from Seller, and provided
no Margin Call is outstanding and no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Buyer shall remit any portion of such Buydown Amount back
to Seller.

 
6.                                      Margin Maintenance
 

a.                                            If at any time the outstanding Purchase Price of any Purchased Mortgage Loan subject to a Transaction is greater than the Asset
Value of such Purchased Mortgage Loan subject to a Transaction (a “Margin Deficit”), then Buyer may by notice to Seller require Seller to transfer to
Buyer cash in an amount at least equal to the Margin Deficit (such requirement, a “Margin Call”).

 
b.                                            Notice delivered pursuant to Section 6.a above may be given by any written or electronic means.  Any notice given before

1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on a Business Day shall be met, and the related Margin Call satisfied, no later than 5:00 p.m. (New York City time)
on such Business Day; notice given after 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on a Business Day shall be met, and the related Margin Call satisfied, no
later than 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the following Business Day (the foregoing time requirements for satisfaction of a Margin Call are
referred to as the “Margin Deadlines”).  The failure of Buyer, on any one or more occasions, to exercise its rights hereunder, shall not change or alter
the terms and conditions to which this Agreement is subject or limit the right of Buyer to do so at a later date.  Seller and Buyer each agree that a
failure or delay by Buyer to exercise its rights hereunder shall not limit or waive Buyer’s rights under this Agreement or otherwise existing by law or
in any way create additional rights for Seller.

 
c.                                             In the event that a Margin Deficit exists with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan, Buyer may retain any funds received by it

to which the Seller would otherwise be entitled hereunder, which funds (i) shall be held by Buyer against the related Margin Deficit and (ii) may be
applied by Buyer against the Repurchase Price of any Purchased Mortgage Loan for which the related Margin Deficit remains otherwise unsatisfied. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer retains the right, in its sole discretion, to make a Margin Call in accordance with the provisions of this
Section 6.
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7.                                      Income Payments
 

a.                                            If Income is paid in respect of any Purchased Mortgage Loan during the term of a Transaction, such Income shall be the property
of Buyer.  Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, Seller shall and shall cause Servicer and any Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty to deposit all Income to the account set forth in Section 9, upon receipt thereof, in accordance with Section 12.c hereof.

 
b.                                            Provided no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, on each Price Differential Payment Date, Seller shall remit to Buyer

an amount equal to the Price Differential out of the interest portion of the Income paid in respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans for the preceding
month in accordance with Section 5 of this Agreement.



 
c.                                             Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Section 7, promptly but in no event later than two (2) Business Days after

receipt by Seller or Underlying Repurchase Counterparty of any prepayment of principal in full, with respect to a Purchased Mortgage Loan, Seller
shall remit or cause to be remitted such amount to Buyer and Buyer shall immediately apply any such amount received by Buyer to reduce the amount
of the Repurchase Price due upon termination of the related Transaction.

 
8.                                      Security Interest
 

a.                                            On each Purchase Date, Seller hereby sells, assigns and conveys all rights and interests in the Purchased Mortgage Loans identified
on the related Mortgage Loan Schedule and the Repurchase Assets.  Although the parties intend that all Transactions hereunder be sales and
purchases and not loans, in the event any such Transactions are deemed to be loans, and in any event, Seller hereby pledges to Buyer as security for
the performance by Seller of its Obligations and hereby grants, assigns and pledges to Buyer a perfected security interest in all of Seller’s right, title
and interest in and to the Purchased Mortgage Loans, any Agency Security or right to receive such Agency Security when issued to the extent backed
by any of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, the Records, and all related Servicing Rights, the Program Agreements (to the extent such Program
Agreements and Seller’s right thereunder relate to the Purchased Mortgage Loans), any related Take-out Commitments, any Property relating to the
Purchased Mortgage Loans, all insurance policies and insurance proceeds relating to any Purchased Mortgage Loan or the related Mortgaged
Property, including, but not limited to, any payments or proceeds under any related primary insurance, hazard insurance and FHA Mortgage Insurance
Contracts and VA Loan Guaranty Agreements (if any), Income, the Buydown Amount and any account to which such amount is deposited, Interest
Rate Protection Agreements, accounts (including any interest of Seller in escrow accounts) and any other contract rights, instruments, accounts,
payments, rights to payment (including payments of interest or finance charges), general intangibles and other assets relating to the Purchased
Mortgage Loans (including, without limitation, any other accounts) or any interest in the Purchased Mortgage Loans (excluding any rights and
interests in or under the Underlying Repurchase Documents and the Underlying Repurchase Documents themselves), and any proceeds (including the
related securitization proceeds) and distributions with respect to any of the foregoing and any other property, rights, title or interests as are specified
on a
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Transaction Request and/or Trust Receipt, in all instances, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, now existing or hereafter created (collectively,
the “Agreement Repurchase Assets”).

 
b.                                            The Seller and Guarantors each acknowledge that Seller has the right to service the Purchased Mortgage Loans.  For the avoidance

of doubt, Seller grants, assigns and pledges to Buyer a security interest in the Servicing Rights and proceeds related thereto and in all instances,
whether now owned or hereafter acquired, now existing or hereafter created.  The foregoing provision is intended to constitute a security agreement or
other arrangement or other credit enhancement related to this Agreement and  Transactions hereunder as defined under Sections 101(47)(A)(v) and
741(7)(A)(xi) of the Bankruptcy Code.

 
c.                                             Seller agrees to execute, deliver and/or file such documents and perform such acts as may be reasonably necessary to fully perfect

Buyer’s security interest created hereby.  Furthermore, the Seller hereby authorizes the Buyer to file financing statements relating to the Repurchase
Assets, as the Buyer, at its option, may deem appropriate.  The Seller shall pay the filing costs for any financing statement or statements prepared
pursuant to this Section 8.

 
d.                                            Seller acknowledges and agrees that its rights with respect to the Repurchase Assets (including without limitation its security

interest in the Purchased Mortgage Loans and any other collateral purchased by Seller in an Underlying Repurchase Transaction and in which a
security interest is granted to Buyer pursuant to this Section 8) are and shall continue to be at all times junior and subordinate to the rights of Buyer
under this Agreement. Seller agrees that it will provide notice of any enforcement action or exercise of remedies it takes with respect to the
Repurchase Assets at any time any such Repurchase Assets are owned by or pledged to Buyer under this Agreement.

 
e.                                             Buyer and Seller hereby agree that in order to further secure Seller’s Obligations hereunder, Seller hereby grants to Buyer a

security interest in (i) Seller’s rights (but not its obligations) under the Primary Repurchase Documents including without limitation any rights to
receive payments thereunder or any rights to collateral thereunder whether now owned or hereafter acquired, now existing or hereafter created
(collectively, the “Primary Repurchase Rights”) and (ii) all collateral however defined or described under the Primary Repurchase Documents to the
extent not otherwise included under the definitions of Primary Repurchase Rights (such collateral, “Additional Repurchase Assets”; together with the
Agreement Repurchase Assets, the “Repurchase Assets”).  Seller hereby delivers an irrevocable instruction to the Buyer under the Primary
Repurchase Documents that upon receipt of notice of an Event of Default under this Agreement, the Buyer thereunder is authorized and instructed to
remit to Buyer hereunder directly any amounts otherwise payable to Seller and to deliver to Buyer all collateral otherwise deliverable to Seller.  In
furtherance of the foregoing, Seller hereby instructs, upon repayment of the outstanding purchase price under the Primary Repurchase Agreement and
termination of all obligations of the Seller thereunder or other termination of the Primary Repurchase Documents following repayment of all
obligations thereunder that the Buyer hereunder retain any collateral or repurchase assets (as such terms may be
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defined under the Primary Repurchase Documents) then in its possession or control; provided that this instruction shall only be applicable following
the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default.

 
9.                                      Payment and Transfer
 

Unless otherwise mutually agreed in writing, all transfers of funds to be made by Seller hereunder shall be made in Dollars, in immediately
available funds, without deduction, set-off or counterclaim, to Buyer at the following account maintained by Buyer: Account No. 30872061, for the account
of CSFB Buyer/Excel Repledge-Inbound Account, Citibank, ABA No. 021 000 089 or such other account as Buyer shall specify to Seller in writing.  Seller
acknowledges that it has no rights of withdrawal from the foregoing account.  All Purchased Mortgage Loans transferred by one party hereto to the other
party shall be in the case of a purchase by Buyer in suitable form for transfer or shall be accompanied by duly executed instruments of transfer or assignment



in blank and such other documentation as Buyer may reasonably request.  All Purchased Mortgage Loans shall be evidenced by a Trust Receipt.  Any
Repurchase Price received by Buyer after 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) shall be deemed received on the next succeeding Business Day.

 
10.                               Conditions Precedent
 

a.                                            Initial Transaction.  As conditions precedent to the initial Transaction, Buyer shall have received on or before the day of such
initial Transaction the following, in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and duly executed by Seller, Guarantors and each other party thereto:

 
(1)                                 Program Agreements.  The Program Agreements duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto and being in full force

and effect, free of any modification, breach or waiver.
 
(2)                                 Security Interest.  Evidence that all other actions necessary or, in the opinion of Buyer, desirable to perfect and protect

Buyer’s interest in the Purchased Mortgage Loans and other Repurchase Assets have been taken, including, without limitation, duly authorized and
filed Uniform Commercial Code financing statements on Form UCC-1.

 
(3)                                 Organizational Documents.  A certificate of the corporate secretary of each of Seller and each Guarantor substantially in

the form of Exhibit F hereto, attaching certified copies of Seller’s and Guarantors’ certificate of incorporation, bylaws and corporate resolutions
approving the Program Agreements and transactions thereunder (either specifically or by general resolution) and all documents evidencing other
necessary corporate action or governmental approvals as may be required in connection with the Program Agreements.

 
(4)                                 Good Standing Certificate.  A certified copy of a good standing certificate from the jurisdiction of organization of Seller

and Guarantors, dated as of no earlier than the date ten (10) Business Days prior to the Purchase Date with respect to the initial Transaction
hereunder.
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(5)                                 Incumbency Certificate.  An incumbency certificate of the corporate secretary of each of Seller and each Guarantor,

certifying the names, true signatures and titles of the representatives duly authorized to request transactions hereunder and to execute the Program
Agreements.

 
(6)                                 Opinion of Counsel.  An opinion of Seller’s and Guarantors’ counsel, (i) in form and substance substantially as set forth

in Exhibit E attached hereto and (ii) as to safe harbor matters.
 
(7)                                 Underwriting Guidelines.  A true and correct copy of the Underwriting Guidelines certified by an officer of the Seller.
 
(8)                                 Fees.  Payment of any fees due to Buyer hereunder.
 
(9)                                 Insurance.  Evidence that Seller has added Buyer as an additional loss payee under the Seller’s Fidelity Insurance.
 
(10)                          Underlying Repurchase Documents.  Form of Underlying Repurchase Documents.
 

b.                                            All Transactions.  The obligation of Buyer to enter into each Transaction pursuant to this Agreement is subject to the following
conditions precedent:

 
(1)                                 Due Diligence Review.  Without limiting the generality of Section 34 hereof, Buyer shall have completed, to its

satisfaction, its due diligence review of the related Mortgage Loans and the applicable Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller, Guarantors and
the Servicer.

 
(2)                                 Required Documents.
 

(a)                                 With respect to each Purchased Mortgage Loan which is not a Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan, the Mortgage File has
been delivered to the Custodian in accordance with the applicable Custodial Agreement.

 
(b)                                 With respect to each Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan, the Wet-Ink Documents have been delivered to Buyer or

Custodian, as the case may be, in accordance with the applicable Custodial Agreement.
 

(3)                                 Transaction Documents.  Buyer or its designee shall have received on or before the day of such Transaction (unless
otherwise specified in this Agreement) the following, in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and (if applicable) duly executed:

 
(a)                                 A Transaction Request and Mortgage Loan Schedule delivered by Seller pursuant to Section 3.b hereof.
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(b)                                 The Request for Certification and the related Mortgage Loan Schedule delivered by Seller, and the Trust Receipt

and Custodial Mortgage Loan Schedule delivered by Custodian.
 
(c)                                  Such certificates, opinions of counsel or other documents as Buyer may reasonably request.
 

(4)                                 No Default.  No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
 
(5)                                 Requirements of Law.  Buyer shall not have determined that the introduction of or a change in any Requirement of Law

or in the interpretation or administration of any Requirement of Law applicable to Buyer has made it unlawful, and no Governmental Authority shall



have asserted that it is unlawful, for Buyer to enter into Transactions with a Pricing Rate based on CSCOF.
 
(6)                                 Representations and Warranties.  Both immediately prior to the related Transaction and also after giving effect thereto and

to the intended use thereof, the representations and warranties made by Seller in each Program Agreement shall be true, correct and complete on and
as of such Purchase Date in all material respects with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date (or, if any such representation or
warranty is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific date, as of such specific date).

 
(7)                                 Underlying Electronic Tracking Agreement. To the extent Seller is selling Mortgage Loans with respect to an Underlying

Repurchase Counterparty which are registered on the MERS® System, Seller shall have delivered (i) an Underlying Electronic Tracking Agreement
with the applicable Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller and MERS each as a party, entered into, duly executed and delivered by the parties
thereto and being in full force and effect, free of any modification, breach or waiver, (ii) the MERS Identification Numbers for each Mortgage Loan
registered on the MERS® System, and (iii) the ETA Repledgee Information Notice executed by Seller, MERS, MERSCORP Holdings, Inc. and
Buyer.

 
(8)                                 Material Adverse Change.  None of the following shall have occurred and/or be continuing:
 

(a)                                 Credit Suisse AG, New York Branch’s corporate bond rating as calculated by S&P or Moody’s has been lowered
or downgraded to a rating below investment grade by S&P or Moody’s;

 
(b)                                 there shall have occurred (i) a material change in financial markets, an outbreak or escalation of hostilities or a

material change in national or international political, financial or economic conditions; (ii) a general suspension of trading on major stock
exchanges; or (iii) a disruption in or moratorium on commercial banking activities or securities settlement services;
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(c)                                  an event or events shall have occurred in the good faith determination of Buyer resulting in the effective absence

of a “repo market” or comparable “lending market” for financing debt obligations secured by mortgage loans or securities or an event or
events shall have occurred resulting in Buyer not being able to finance Purchased Mortgage Loans through the “repo market” or “lending
market” with traditional counterparties at rates which would have been reasonable prior to the occurrence of such event or events; or

 
(d)                                 an event or events shall have occurred resulting in the effective absence of a “securities market” for securities

backed by mortgage loans or an event or events shall have occurred resulting in Buyer not being able to sell securities backed by mortgage
loans at prices which would have been reasonable prior to such event or events; or

 
(e)                                  there shall have occurred a material adverse change in the financial condition of Buyer which affects (or can

reasonably be expected to affect) materially and adversely the ability of Buyer to fund its obligations under this Agreement.
 

(9)                                                         Underlying Repurchase Documents.  Seller shall provide a Transaction Request (as defined in the Underlying
Repurchase Documents) or other comparable document, which shall reference the applicable Mortgage Loan Schedule which shall describe the
Purchased Mortgage Loans. All Underlying Repurchase Documents and any Custodial Repledgee Information Notice or ETA Repledgee
Information Notice, applicable to each Purchased Mortgage Loan have been duly executed and delivered by Seller and the Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty and any other applicable party and are in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer in all material respects, in its sole discretion
exercised in good faith.

 
(10)                          Acceptable Underlying Repurchase Transaction.  Such Mortgage Loan is sold to Seller by an Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty pursuant to an Acceptable Underlying Repurchase Transaction.
 
(11)                          Escrow Instruction Letter. Evidence that an Escrow Instruction Letter has been delivered by Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty to the related Settlement Agent.
 

11.                               Program; Costs
 

a.                                            Seller shall reimburse Buyer for any of Buyer’s reasonable out-of-pocket costs, including due diligence review costs and
reasonable attorney’s fees, incurred by Buyer in determining the acceptability to Buyer of any Mortgage Loans.  Seller shall also pay, or reimburse
Buyer if Buyer shall pay, any termination fee, which may be due any Servicer.  Seller shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of Buyer’s counsel in
connection with the Program Agreements.  Legal fees for any subsequent amendments to this Agreement or related documents shall be borne by
Seller.  Seller shall pay ongoing
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custodial fees and expenses as set forth in the Custodial Agreement, and any other ongoing fees and expenses in accordance with the terms of the
Program Agreements.

 
b.                                            If Buyer determines that, due to the introduction of, any change in, or the compliance by Buyer with (i) any eurocurrency reserve

requirement or (ii) the interpretation of any law, regulation or any guideline or request from any central bank or other Governmental Authority
(whether or not having the force of law), there shall be an increase in the cost to Buyer in engaging in the present or any future Transactions, then
Seller agrees to pay to Buyer, from time to time, upon demand by Buyer (with a copy to Custodian) the actual cost of additional amounts as specified
by Buyer to compensate Buyer for such increased costs.

 
c.                                             With respect to any Transaction, Buyer may conclusively rely upon, and shall incur no liability to Seller in acting upon, any

request or other communication that Buyer reasonably believes to have been given or made by a person authorized to enter into a Transaction on
Seller’s behalf, whether or not such person is listed on the certificate delivered pursuant to Section 10.a(5) hereof.



 
d.                                            Notwithstanding the assignment of the Program Agreements with respect to each Purchased Mortgage Loan to Buyer, Seller agrees

and covenants with Buyer to enforce diligently Seller’s rights and remedies set forth in the Program Agreements.
 
e.                                             Any payments made by Seller or any Guarantor to Buyer shall be free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for, any

taxes; provided, however, that if such payer shall be required by law to deduct or withhold any taxes from any sums payable to Buyer, then such payer
shall (A) make such deductions or withholdings and pay such amounts to the relevant authority in accordance with applicable law, (B) pay to Buyer
the sum that would have been payable had such deduction or withholding not been made, and (C) at the time Price Differential is paid, pay to Buyer
all additional amounts as specified by Buyer to preserve the after-tax yield Buyer would have received if such tax had not been imposed, and
otherwise indemnify Buyer for any such taxes imposed.

 
12.                               Servicing
 

a.                                            Seller, on Buyer’s behalf, shall contract with Servicer to, or if Seller is the Servicer, Seller shall, service the Mortgage Loans
consistent with the degree of skill and care that Seller customarily requires with respect to similar Mortgage Loans owned or managed by it and in
accordance with Accepted Servicing Practices.  The Seller and Servicer shall (i) comply with all applicable Federal, State and local laws and
regulations, (ii) maintain all state and federal licenses necessary for it to perform its servicing responsibilities hereunder and (iii) not impair the rights
of Buyer in any Mortgage Loans or any payment thereunder.  Buyer may terminate the servicing of any Mortgage Loan with the then existing
Servicer in accordance with Section 12.e hereof.

 
b.                                            Seller shall and shall cause the Servicer to hold or cause to be held all escrow funds collected by Seller and Servicer with respect to

any Purchased Mortgage
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Loans in trust accounts and shall apply the same for the purposes for which such funds were collected.
 

c.                                             Seller shall and shall cause the Servicer to deposit all collections received by Servicer on the Purchased Mortgage Loans in the
account set forth in Section 9 upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default.

 
d.                                            In the event there is a third party Servicer and upon Buyer’s request, Seller shall provide promptly to Buyer a Servicer Notice

addressed to and agreed to by the Servicer of the related Purchased Mortgage Loans, advising such Servicer of such matters as Buyer may reasonably
request, including, without limitation, recognition by the Servicer of Buyer’s interest in such Purchased Mortgage Loans and the Servicer’s agreement
that upon receipt of notice of an Event of Default from Buyer, it will follow the instructions of Buyer with respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans
and any related Income with respect thereto.

 
e.                                             Upon written notice, Buyer shall have the right to immediately terminate the Servicer’s right to service the Purchased Mortgage

Loans without payment of any penalty or termination fee.  Seller and the Servicer shall cooperate in transferring the servicing of the Purchased
Mortgage Loans to a successor servicer appointed by Buyer in its sole discretion.

 
f.                                              If Seller should discover that, for any reason whatsoever, Seller or any entity responsible to Seller for managing or servicing any

such Purchased Mortgage Loan has failed to perform fully Seller’s obligations under the Program Agreements or any of the obligations of such
entities with respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer.

 
g.                                             For the avoidance of doubt, the Seller retains no economic rights to the servicing of the Purchased Mortgage Loans other than the

Seller’s rights under the Servicing Agreement; provided that the Seller shall and shall cause the Servicer to continue to service the Purchased
Mortgage Loans hereunder as part of its Obligations hereunder.  As such, the Seller expressly acknowledges that the Purchased Mortgage Loans are
sold to Buyer on a “servicing released” basis.

 
13.                               Representations and Warranties

 
a.                                            Each of Seller and each Guarantor represents and warrants to Buyer as of the date hereof and as of each Purchase Date for any

Transaction that:
 

(1)                                 Seller and Guarantors Existence.  Seller has been duly organized and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing
under the laws of the State of California.  IRES has been duly organized and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of
the State of Maryland.  Impac has been duly organized and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the State of
Maryland.

 
27

 
(2)                                 Licenses.  Each of Seller and each Guarantor is duly licensed or is otherwise qualified in each jurisdiction in which it

transacts business for the business which it conducts and is not in default of any applicable federal, state or local laws, rules and regulations unless,
in either instance, the failure to take such action is not reasonably likely (either individually or in the aggregate) to cause a Material Adverse Effect
and is not in default of such state’s applicable laws, rules and regulations.  Each of Seller and each Guarantor has the requisite power and authority
and legal right to originate and purchase Mortgage Loans (as applicable) and to own, sell and grant a lien on all of its right, title and interest in and to
the Mortgage Loans, and to execute and deliver, engage in the transactions contemplated by, and perform and observe the terms and conditions of,
each Program Agreement and any Transaction Request.  Seller is an FHA Approved Mortgagee and VA Approved Lender.

 
(3)                                 Power.  Each of Seller and each Guarantor has all requisite corporate or other power, and has all governmental licenses,

authorizations, consents and approvals necessary to own its assets and carry on its business as now being or as proposed to be conducted, except
where the lack of such licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals would not be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.



 
(4)                                 Due Authorization.  Each of Seller and each Guarantor has all necessary corporate or other power, authority and legal

right to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under each of the Program Agreements, as applicable.  Each Program Agreement has been (or, in
the case of Program Agreements not yet executed, will be) duly authorized, executed and delivered by Seller and Guarantors, all requisite or other
corporate action having been taken, and each is valid, binding and enforceable against Seller and Guarantors in accordance with its terms except as
such enforcement may be affected by bankruptcy, by other insolvency laws, or by general principles of equity.

 
(5)                                 Financial Statements.  The Seller has heretofore furnished to Buyer a copy of (a) its consolidated balance sheet and the

consolidated balance sheets of its consolidated Subsidiaries for the fiscal year of the Seller ended December 31, 2012 and the related consolidated
statements of income and retained earnings and of cash flows for the Seller and its consolidated Subsidiaries for such fiscal year, setting forth in each
case in comparative form the figures for the previous year, with the opinion thereon of Squar, Milner, Peterson, Miranda & Williamson, LLP and
(b) its consolidated balance sheet and the consolidated balance sheets of its consolidated Subsidiaries for the quarterly fiscal period of the Seller
ended June 30, 2013, and the related consolidated statements of income and retained earnings and of cash flows for the Seller and its consolidated
Subsidiaries for such quarterly fiscal periods, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous year.  All such financial
statements are complete and correct and fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition of the Seller and its Subsidiaries
and the consolidated results of their operations as at such dates and for such fiscal periods, all in accordance with GAAP (other than monthly
financial statements solely with respect to footnotes, year-end adjustments and cash flow statements) applied on a consistent basis.  Since
December 31, 2012, there has been no material adverse change in the consolidated business, operations or financial condition of
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the Seller and its consolidated Subsidiaries taken as a whole from that set forth in said financial statements nor is Seller aware of any state of facts
which (with notice or the lapse of time) would or could result in any such material adverse change.  The Seller has, on the date of the statements
delivered pursuant to this Section (the “Statement Date”) no liabilities, direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, known or
unknown, or liabilities for taxes, long-term leases or unusual forward or long-term commitments not disclosed by, or reserved against in, said
balance sheet and related statements, and at the present time there are no material unrealized or anticipated losses from any loans, advances or other
commitments of Seller except as heretofore disclosed to Buyer in writing. Since December 31, 2012, there has been no material adverse change in
the financial condition of each Guarantor from that set forth in said financial statements nor is any Guarantor aware of any state of facts which (with
notice or the lapse of time) would or could result in any such material adverse change.

 
(6)                                 Event of Default.  There exists no Event of Default under Section 15.b hereof, which default gives rise to a right to

accelerate Indebtedness as referenced in Section 15.b hereof, under any mortgage, borrowing agreement or other instrument or agreement pertaining
to indebtedness for borrowed money or to the repurchase of mortgage loans or securities.

 
(7)                                 Solvency.  Each of Seller and Guarantors is solvent and will not be rendered insolvent by any Transaction and, after

giving effect to such Transaction, will not be left with an unreasonably small amount of capital with which to engage in its business.  Neither Seller
nor Guarantors intends to incur, nor does it believe that it has incurred, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature and is not
contemplating the commencement of insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation or consolidation proceedings or the appointment of a receiver, liquidator,
conservator, trustee or similar official in respect of such entity or any of its assets.  The amount of consideration being received by Seller upon the
sale of the Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer constitutes reasonably equivalent value and fair consideration for such Purchased Mortgage Loans. 
Seller is not transferring any Purchased Mortgage Loans with any intent to hinder, delay or defraud any of its creditors.

 
(8)                                 No Conflicts.  The execution, delivery and performance by Seller and each Guarantor of each Program Agreement do not

conflict with any term or provision of the formation documents or by-laws of Seller or Guarantors or any law, rule, regulation, order, judgment, writ,
injunction or decree applicable to Seller or either Guarantor of any court, regulatory body, administrative agency or governmental body having
jurisdiction over Seller or any Guarantor, which conflict would have a Material Adverse Effect and will not result in any violation of any such
mortgage, instrument, agreement or obligation to which Seller or any Guarantor is a party.

 
(9)                                 True and Complete Disclosure.  All information, reports, exhibits, schedules, financial statements or certificates of Seller

or Guarantors, or any of their officers furnished or to be furnished to Buyer in connection with the initial or any ongoing due diligence of Seller or
Guarantors, or any officer thereof, negotiation, preparation, or delivery of the Program Agreements are true and complete and do not

 
29

 
omit to disclose any material facts necessary to make the statements herein or therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made, not
misleading.  All financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP (other than monthly financial statements solely with respect to
footnotes, year-end adjustments and cash flow statements).

 
(10)                          Approvals.  No consent, approval, authorization or order of, registration or filing with, or notice to any governmental

authority or court is required under applicable law in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by Seller or any Guarantor of each
Program Agreement.

 
(11)                          Litigation.  There is no action, proceeding or investigation pending with respect to which the Seller or either Guarantor

has received service of process or, to the best of Seller’s or either Guarantor’s knowledge threatened against it before any court, administrative
agency or other tribunal (A) asserting the invalidity of any Program Agreement, (B) seeking to prevent the consummation of any of the transactions
contemplated any Program Agreement, (C) making a claim individually in an amount greater than $1,000,000 or in an aggregate amount greater than
$3,000,000, (D) which requires filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission in accordance with the 1934 Act or any rules thereunder or (E)
which might materially and adversely affect the validity of the Mortgage Loans or the performance by it of its obligations under, or the validity or
enforceability of any Program Agreement.

 
(12)                          Material Adverse Change.  There has been no material adverse change in the business, operations, financial condition,

properties or prospects of Seller, Guarantors or their Affiliates that are a party to a Program Agreement since the date set forth in the most recent



financial statements supplied to Buyer as determined by Buyer in its sole discretion.
 
(13)                          Ownership.  Upon payment of the Purchase Price and the filing of the financing statement and delivery of the Mortgage

Files to the Custodian and the Custodian’s receipt of the related Request for Certification, Buyer shall become the sole owner of the Purchased
Mortgage Loans and related Repurchase Assets, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances other than Seller’s right to repurchase hereunder.

 
(14)                          Underwriting Guidelines.  The Underwriting Guidelines provided to Buyer are the true and correct Underwriting

Guidelines of the Seller.
 
(15)                          Taxes.  Seller, Guarantors and their Subsidiaries have timely filed all tax returns that are required to be filed by them and

have paid all taxes, except for any such taxes as are being appropriately contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and
with respect to which adequate reserves have been provided.  The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of Seller, Guarantors and their
Subsidiaries in respect of taxes and other governmental charges are, in the opinion of Seller or Guarantors, as applicable, adequate.
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(16)                          Investment Company.  Neither Seller, Guarantors nor any of their Subsidiaries is an “investment company”, or a company

“controlled” by an “investment company,” within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
 
(17)                          Chief Executive Office; Jurisdiction of Organization.  On the Effective Date, Seller’s chief executive office, is, and has

been, located at 19500 Jamboree Road, Irvine, CA 92612.  On the Effective Date, Seller’s jurisdiction of organization is California.  Seller shall
provide Buyer with thirty days advance notice of any change in Seller’s principal office or place of business or jurisdiction.  Seller has no trade
name.  During the preceding five years, Seller has not been known by or done business under any other name, corporate or fictitious, and has not
filed or had filed against it any bankruptcy receivership or similar petitions nor has it made any assignments for the benefit of creditors.

 
(18)                          Location of Books and Records.  The location where Seller keeps its books and records, including all computer tapes and

records relating to the Purchased Mortgage Loans and the related Repurchase Assets is its chief executive office.
 
(19)                          Adjusted Tangible Net Worth.  On the Effective Date, Seller’s Adjusted Tangible Net Worth is not less than the amount

set forth in Section 2.1 of the Pricing Side Letter.
 
(20)                          ERISA.  Each Plan to which Seller, Guarantors or their Subsidiaries make direct contributions, and, to the knowledge of

Seller, each other Plan and each Multiemployer Plan, is in compliance in all material respects with, and has been administered in all material respects
in compliance with, the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and any other Federal or State law.

 
(21)                          Adverse Selection.  Seller has not selected the Purchased Mortgage Loans in a manner so as to adversely affect Buyer’s

interests.
 
(22)                          Agreements.  Neither Seller nor any Subsidiary of Seller is a party to any agreement, instrument, or indenture or subject

to any restriction materially and adversely affecting its business, operations, assets or financial condition, except as disclosed in the financial
statements described in Section 13.a(5) hereof.  Neither Seller nor any Subsidiary of Seller is in default in the performance, observance or fulfillment
of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in any agreement, instrument, or indenture which default could have a material adverse
effect on the business, operations, properties, or financial condition of Seller as a whole.

 
(23)                          Other Indebtedness.  All Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness evidenced by this Agreement) of Seller existing on the

date hereof is listed on Exhibit H hereto (the “Existing Indebtedness”).
 
(24)                          Agency Approvals.  With respect to each Agency Security and to the extent necessary, Seller is an FHA Approved

Mortgagee, a VA Approved Lender and a GNMA Approved Lender. Seller is also approved by Fannie Mae as an approved lender and, to the extent
previously approved, Freddie Mac as an approved seller/servicer, and,
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to the extent necessary, approved by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development pursuant to Sections 203 and 211 of the National Housing
Act.  In each such case, Seller is in good standing, with no event having occurred or Seller having any reason whatsoever to believe or suspect will
occur prior to the issuance of the Agency Security or the consummation of the Take-out Commitment, as the case may be, including, without
limitation, a change in insurance coverage which would either make Seller unable to comply with the eligibility requirements for maintaining all
such applicable approvals or require notification to the relevant Agency or to the Department of Housing and Urban Development, FHA or VA. 
Should Seller for any reason cease to possess all such applicable approvals, or should notification to the relevant Agency or to the Department of
Housing and Urban Development, FHA or VA be required, Seller shall so notify Buyer immediately in writing.

 
(25)                          No Reliance.  Seller and each Guarantor has made its own independent decisions to enter into the Program Agreements

and each Transaction and as to whether such Transaction is appropriate and proper for it based upon its own judgment and upon advice from such
advisors (including without limitation, legal counsel and accountants) as it has deemed necessary.  Neither Seller nor any Guarantor is relying upon
any advice from Buyer as to any aspect of the Transactions, including without limitation, the legal, accounting or tax treatment of such Transactions.

 
(26)                          Plan Assets.  Neither Seller nor Guarantors are an employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3 of Title I of ERISA, or a

plan described in Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code, and the Purchased Mortgage Loans are not “plan assets” within the meaning of 29 CFR §2510.3
101 as amended by Section 3(42) of ERISA, in the Seller’s hands, and transactions by or with Seller or Guarantors are not subject to any state or
local statute regulating investments or fiduciary obligations with respect to governmental plans within the meaning of Section 3(32) of ERISA.

 



(27)                          No Prohibited Persons.  Neither the Seller nor the Guarantors nor any of their Affiliates, officers, directors, partners or
members, is an entity or person (or to the Seller’s or Guarantors’ knowledge, owned or controlled by an entity or person): (i) that is listed in the
Annex to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of Executive Order 13224 issued on September 24, 2001 (“EO13224”); (ii) whose name appears
on the United States Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) most current list of “Specifically Designated National and
Blocked Persons” (which list may be published from time to time in various mediums including, but not limited to, the OFAC website,
http:www.treas.gov/ofac/t11sdn.pdf); (iii) who commits, threatens to commit or supports “terrorism”, as that term is defined in EO13224; or (iv) who
is otherwise affiliated with any entity or person listed above (any and all parties or persons described in clauses (i) through (iv) above are herein
referred to as a “Prohibited Person”).

 
(28)                          Servicing.  Seller (if Seller is Servicer) or Servicer has adequate financial standing, servicing facilities, procedures and

experienced personnel necessary for the sound servicing of mortgage loans of the same types as may from time to time constitute Mortgage Loans
and in accordance with Accepted Servicing Practices.
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b.                                            With respect to (i) every Purchased Mortgage Loan, Seller and each Guarantor jointly and severally represents and warrants to

Buyer as of the applicable Purchase Date for any Transaction and each date thereafter that each representation and warranty set forth on Part I of
Schedule 1 is true and correct in all material respects and (ii) every Underlying Repurchase Transaction, Underlying Repurchase Document and
Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, as applicable, Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as of the applicable Purchase Date for any Transaction
and each date thereafter that each representation and warranty set forth on Part II of Schedule 1 is true and correct in all material respects.

 
c.                                             The representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement shall survive transfer of the Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer

and shall continue for so long as the Purchased Mortgage Loans are subject to this Agreement.  Upon discovery by Seller, Servicer or Buyer of any
breach of any of the representations or warranties set forth in this Agreement, the party discovering such breach shall promptly give notice of such
discovery to the others.  Buyer has the right to require Seller to repurchase within 1 Business Day after receipt of notice from Buyer any Purchased
Mortgage Loan for which a breach of one or more of the representations and warranties referenced in Section 13.b exists and which breach has a
material adverse effect on the value of such Mortgage Loan or the interests of Buyer.

 
14.                               Covenants
 

Seller and each Guarantor covenants with Buyer that, during the term of this facility:
 

a.                                            Litigation.  Seller and each Guarantor, as applicable, will promptly (to the extent not previously notified by Seller or either
Guarantor), and in any event within ten (10) days after service of process on any of the following, give to Buyer notice of all litigation, actions, suits,
arbitrations, investigations (including, without limitation, any of the foregoing which are threatened or pending) or other legal or arbitrable
proceedings affecting Seller, Guarantors or any of their Subsidiaries or affecting any of the Property of any of them before any Governmental
Authority that (i) questions or challenges the validity or enforceability of any of the Program Agreements or any action to be taken in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) makes a claim individually in an amount greater than $1,000,000 or in an aggregate amount greater than
$3,000,000 or (iii) which, individually or in the aggregate, if adversely determined, could be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
Seller and each Guarantor, as applicable, will promptly provide notice of any judgment, which with the passage of time, could cause an Event of
Default hereunder.

 
b.                                            Prohibition of Fundamental Changes.  Seller shall not enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation, or

liquidate, wind up or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation, winding up or dissolution) or sell all or substantially all of its assets (other than the sale
of Mortgage Loans in the ordinary course of business); provided, that Seller may merge or consolidate with (a) any wholly owned subsidiary of
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Seller, or (b) any other Person if Seller is the surviving corporation; and provided further, that if after giving effect thereto, no Default would exist
hereunder.

 
c.                                             Servicing.  Seller shall not cause the Mortgage Loans to be serviced by any Servicer other than a Servicer expressly approved in

writing by Buyer, which approval shall be deemed granted by Buyer with respect to Seller with the execution of this Agreement.
 
d.                                            Insurance.  The Seller or Guarantors shall continue to maintain, or cause to be maintained, for Seller and its Subsidiaries, Fidelity

Insurance in an aggregate amount at least equal to $1,000,000.  The Seller or Guarantors shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, for Seller and its
Subsidiaries, Fidelity Insurance in respect of its officers, employees and agents, with respect to any claims made in connection with all or any portion
of the Repurchase Assets.  The Seller or Guarantors shall notify the Buyer of any material change in the terms of any such Fidelity Insurance.

 
e.                                             No Adverse Claims.  Seller warrants and will defend, and shall cause any Servicer and each Underlying Repurchase Counterparty

to defend, the right, title and interest of Buyer in and to all Purchased Mortgage Loans and the related Repurchase Assets against all adverse claims
and demands.

 
f.                                              Assignment.  Except as permitted herein, neither Seller nor any Servicer shall sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of, or grant

any option with respect to, or pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in or lien on or otherwise encumber (except pursuant to the Program
Agreements), any of the Purchased Mortgage Loans or any interest therein, provided that this Section shall not prevent any transfer of Purchased
Mortgage Loans in accordance with the Program Agreements.  Except as set forth herein, Seller shall not assign any of its rights under any
Underlying Repurchase Documents to any Person.

 
g.                                             Security Interest.  Seller shall do all things necessary to preserve the Purchased Mortgage Loans and the related Repurchase Assets

so that they remain subject to a first priority perfected security interest hereunder.  Without limiting the foregoing, Seller will comply with all rules,
regulations and other laws of any Governmental Authority and cause the Purchased Mortgage Loans, Underlying Repurchase Documents or the



related Repurchase Assets to comply with all applicable rules, regulations and other laws.  Seller will not allow any default for which Seller is
responsible to occur under any Purchased Mortgage Loans, or the related Underlying Repurchase Documents or the related Repurchase Assets or any
Program Agreement and Seller shall fully perform or cause to be performed when due all of its obligations under any Purchased Mortgage Loans or
the related Repurchase Assets and any Program Agreement.

 
h.                                            Records.
 

(1)                                 Seller shall collect and maintain or cause to be collected and maintained all Records relating to the Purchased Mortgage
Loans in accordance with industry custom and practice for assets similar to the Purchased Mortgage Loans.  Seller
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or the Servicer of the Purchased Mortgage Loans will maintain all such Records not in the possession of Custodian in good and complete condition
in accordance with industry practices for assets similar to the Purchased Mortgage Loans and preserve them against loss.

 
(2)                                 For so long as Buyer has an interest in or lien on any Purchased Mortgage Loan, Seller will hold or cause to be held all

related Records in trust for Buyer.  Seller shall notify, or cause to be notified, every other party holding any such Records of the interests and liens in
favor of Buyer granted hereby.

 
(3)                                 Upon reasonable advance notice from Custodian or Buyer, Seller shall (x) make any and all such Records available to

Custodian or Buyer to examine any such Records, either by its own officers or employees, or by agents or contractors, or both, and make copies of
all or any portion thereof, and (y) permit Buyer or its authorized agents to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of Seller with its chief operating
officer and chief financial officer and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of Seller with its independent certified public accountants.

 
i.                                                Books.  Seller shall keep or cause to be kept in reasonable detail books and records of account of its assets and business and shall

clearly reflect therein the transfer of Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer.
 
j.                                               Approvals.  Seller shall maintain all licenses, permits or other approvals necessary for Seller to conduct its business and to perform

its obligations under the Program Agreements, and Seller shall conduct its business strictly in accordance with applicable law.
 
k.                                            Material Change in Business.  Neither Seller nor Guarantors shall make any material change in the nature of its business as carried

on at the date hereof.
 
l.                                                Underwriting Guidelines.  Without the prior written consent of Buyer, Seller shall not amend or otherwise modify the

Underwriting Guidelines with respect to Mortgage Loans offered to Buyer hereunder.  Without limiting the foregoing, in the event that Seller makes
any amendment or modification to the Underwriting Guidelines, Seller shall promptly deliver to Buyer a complete copy of the amended or modified
Underwriting Guidelines.

 
m.                                        Distributions.  Neither Seller nor Guarantors shall pay any dividends greater than Net Income in any given calendar year other than

with respect to quarterly payments to the holders of trust preferred obligations of Impac paid by Impac.  If an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, neither Seller nor Guarantors shall pay any dividends with respect to any capital stock or other equity interests in such entity, whether now
or hereafter outstanding, or make any other distribution in respect thereof, either directly or indirectly, whether in cash or property or in obligations of
Seller or Guarantors.

 
n.                                            Applicable Law.  Seller and each Guarantor shall comply with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders

of any Governmental Authority.
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o.                                            Existence.  Seller and the Guarantors shall preserve and maintain their legal existence and all of their material rights, privileges,

licenses and franchises.
 
p.                                            Chief Executive Office; Jurisdiction of Organization.  Seller shall not move its chief executive office from the address referred to

in Section 13.a(17) or change its jurisdiction of organization from the jurisdiction referred to in Section 13.a(17) unless it shall have provided Buyer
30 days’ prior written notice of such change.

 
q.                                            Taxes.  Seller and each Guarantor shall timely file all tax returns that are required to be filed by them and shall timely pay and

discharge all taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed on it or on its income or profits or on any of its property prior to the date
on which penalties attach thereto, except for any such tax, assessment, charge or levy the payment of which is being contested in good faith and by
proper proceedings and against which adequate reserves are being maintained.

 
r.                                               Transactions with Affiliates.  Seller will not enter into any transaction, including, without limitation, any purchase, sale, lease or

exchange of property or the rendering of any service, with any Affiliate unless such transaction is (a) except for intercompany transactions, otherwise
permitted under the Program Agreements, (b) in the ordinary course of Seller’s business and (c) upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to
Seller than it would obtain in a comparable arm’s length transaction with a Person which is not an Affiliate, or make a payment that is not otherwise
permitted by this Section to any Affiliate.

 
s.                                              Guarantees.  Seller shall not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Guarantees, except (i) to the extent reflected in Seller’s

financial statements or notes thereto; (ii) acting as a co-borrower with joint and several liability with respect to other mortgage warehouse facilities;
and (iii) other Guarantees of Seller not to exceed $100,000.

 



t.                                               Indebtedness.  Seller shall not incur any additional material Indebtedness, other than (i) ordinary and typical daily costs and
expenses for mortgage originators similarly situated as Seller and consistent with such expenses incurred by Seller prior to the date hereof; (ii) sources
for mortgage loan financing (excluding Indebtedness for the acquisition of mortgage servicing rights); (iii) usual and customary accounts payable for
a mortgage company and (iv) such other Indebtedness as Buyer may approve in its reasonable discretion.

 
u.                                            Reserved.
 
v.                                            True and Correct Information.  All information, reports, exhibits, schedules, financial statements or certificates of Seller and each

Guarantor or any of their officers furnished to Buyer hereunder and during Buyer’s diligence of Seller and Guarantors are and will be true and
complete in all material respects and do not omit to disclose any material facts necessary to make the statements herein or therein, in light of the
circumstances in which they are made, not misleading.  All required financial statements, information and reports delivered by Seller to Buyer
pursuant to this
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Agreement shall be prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, or, if applicable, to SEC filings, the appropriate SEC accounting regulations.

 
w.                                          Agency Approvals.  Seller shall maintain its status with Fannie Mae as an approved lender and, to the extent previously approved,

Freddie Mac as an approved seller/servicer, in each case in good standing (“Agency Approvals”).  Seller shall service all Purchased Mortgage Loans
which are Committed Mortgage Loans in accordance with the applicable agency guide.  Should Seller, for any reason, cease to possess all such
applicable Agency Approvals, or should notification to the relevant Agency or to the Department of Housing and Urban Development, FHA or VA be
required, such Seller shall so notify Buyer immediately in writing.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, Seller shall take all necessary action to
maintain all of their applicable Agency Approvals at all times during the term of this Agreement and each outstanding Transaction.

 
x.                                            Take-out Payments.  With respect to each Committed Mortgage Loan, Seller shall arrange that all payments under the related Take-

out Commitment shall be paid directly to Buyer at the account set forth in Section 9 hereof, or to an account approved by Buyer in writing prior to
such payment. With respect to any Agency Take-out Commitment, if applicable, (1) with respect to the wire transfer instructions as set forth in
Freddie Mac Form 987 (Wire Transfer Authorization for a Cash Warehouse Delivery) such wire transfer instructions are identical to Buyer’s wire
instructions or Buyer has approved such wire transfer instructions in writing in its sole discretion, or (2) the Payee Number set forth on Fannie Mae
Form 1068 (Fixed-Rate, Graduated-Payment, or Growing-Equity Mortgage Loan Schedule) or Fannie Mae Form 1069 (Adjustable-Rate Mortgage
Loan Schedule), as applicable, shall be identical to the Payee Number that has been identified by Buyer in writing as Buyer’s Payee Number or Buyer
shall have previously approved the related Payee Number in writing in its sole discretion; with respect to any Take-out Commitment with an Agency,
the applicable agency documents shall list Buyer as sole subscriber, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Buyer, in Buyer’s sole discretion.

 
y.                                            Reserved.
 
z.                                             Plan Assets.  Neither Seller nor Guarantors shall be an employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3 of Title I of ERISA, or a plan

described in Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code and the Seller shall not use “plan assets” within the meaning of 29 CFR §2510.3 101, as amended by
Section 3(42) of ERISA to engage in this Agreement or any Transaction hereunder. Transactions by or with Seller or Guarantors shall not be subject
to any state or local statute regulating investments of or fiduciary obligations with respect to governmental plans within the meaning of Section 3(32)
of ERISA.

 
aa.                                     Sharing of Information.  The Seller shall allow the Buyer to exchange information related to the Seller and the Transaction

hereunder with third party lenders and the Seller shall permit each third party lender to share such information with the Buyer.
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bb.                                     Negative Pledge.  Seller shall not sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of, or grant any option with respect to, or pledge,

hypothecate, or grant a security interest in or lien on or otherwise encumber any of the Underlying Repurchase Documents or any interest therein
(except for Mortgage Loans subject thereto).

 
cc.                                       Reserved.
 
dd.                                     Quality Control.  Seller shall cause each Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to maintain an internal quality control program that

verifies, on a regular basis, the existence and accuracy of all legal documents, credit documents, property appraisals, and underwriting decisions
related to Mortgage Loans and shall provide a report on the results of such quality control program in the Officer’s Compliance Certificate provided
pursuant to Section 17.b(3).  Such program shall be capable of evaluating and monitoring the overall quality of Seller’s loan production and servicing
activities.  Such program shall (i) ensure that the Mortgage Loans are originated and serviced in accordance with prudent mortgage banking practices
and accounting principles; (ii) guard against dishonest, fraudulent, or negligent acts; and (iii) guard against errors and omissions by officers,
employees, or other authorized persons.

 
ee.                                       Financial Covenants.  Seller shall at all times comply with all financial covenants and/or financial ratios set forth in Section 2 of

the Pricing Side Letter.
 
ff.                                         Most Favored Status.  Seller, Guarantors and the Buyer each agree that should Seller or Guarantors or any Affiliate thereof enter

into a repurchase agreement or credit facility with any Person other than the Buyer or an Affiliate of the Buyer which by its terms provides more
favorable terms to the Buyer with respect to any guaranties or financial covenants, including without limitation covenants covering the same or
similar subject matter set forth in Sections 14.m and 14.ee hereof (a “More Favorable Agreement”), the terms of this Agreement shall be deemed
automatically amended to include such more favorable terms contained in such More Favorable Agreement; provided, that in the event that such
More Favorable Agreement is terminated, upon notice by the Seller to the Buyer of such termination, the original terms of this Agreement shall be
deemed to be automatically reinstated.  In the event that all of Seller’s and its Affiliates’ repurchase agreements and credit facilities eliminate the
guaranty of the Guarantors, upon notice by the Seller to the Buyer of such termination which is confirmed by the purchasers and lenders under such



repurchase agreements and credit facilities, this Agreement shall automatically be amended to delete and exclude the Guaranty of the Guarantors;
provided, that in the event that any of Seller’s or its Affiliates’ repurchase agreements or credit facilities thereafter contains a guaranty of the
Guarantors, (i) Seller shall promptly notify Buyer that the original terms of this Agreement with respect to the Guaranty and the Guaranty are
reinstated and (ii) the original terms of this Agreement with respect to the Guaranty and the Guaranty shall be deemed to be automatically reinstated,
provided that notice shall not be a prerequisite to such reinstatement.  The Seller, the Guarantors, and the Buyer further agree to execute and deliver
any new guaranties, agreements or amendments to this Agreement evidencing such provisions, provided that the execution of such amendment shall
not be a precondition to the effectiveness of such amendment, but shall merely be for the convenience of the parties
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hereto.  Promptly upon Seller or Guarantors or any Affiliate thereof entering into a repurchase agreement or other credit facility with any Person other
than the Buyer, the Seller shall deliver to the Buyer a true, correct and complete copy of such repurchase agreement, loan agreement, guaranty or
other financing documentation.

 
gg.                                       No Amendments/Waivers of Underlying Repurchase Documents.  Without the prior written consent of Buyer, Seller shall not, and

shall not agree, consent to or suffer to exist any amendment, modification, supplement, waiver or forbearance with respect to any of the Underlying
Repurchase Documents or any of Seller’s rights thereunder; provided that the Seller may, with prior written notice to Buyer, agree, consent to or
suffer to exist an amendment, modification, supplement, waiver or forebearance with respect to the “Concentration Limits”, “Pricing Rate” or
“Purchase Price Percentage” (each as defined in the Underlying Repurchase Documents) or fees, in each case, in the Underlying Repurchase
Documents.

 
15.                               Events of Default
 

Each of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” hereunder:
 

a.                                            Payment Failure.  Failure of Seller to (i) make any payment of Price Differential or Repurchase Price or any other sum which has
become due, on a Price Differential Payment Date or a Repurchase Date or otherwise, whether by acceleration or otherwise, under the terms of this
Agreement, any other warehouse and security agreement or any other document evidencing or securing Indebtedness of Seller to Buyer or to any
Affiliate of Buyer, or (ii) cure any Margin Deficit when due pursuant to Section 6 hereof.

 
b.                                            Cross Default.  Seller, Guarantors or any of their Affiliates shall be in default under (i) any Primary Repurchase Document, (ii) any

Indebtedness, in the aggregate, in excess of (x) $1,000,000 with respect to Seller, IRES or an Affiliate that is a party to a Program Agreement or
(y) $2,000,000 with respect to Impac, in each case, which default (1) involves the failure to pay a matured obligation, or (2) permits the acceleration
of the maturity of obligations by any other party to or beneficiary with respect to such Indebtedness, or (iii) any other contract or contracts, in the
aggregate in excess of (x) $1,000,000 to which Seller, IRES or such Affiliate that is a party to a Program Agreement is a party or (y) $2,000,000 to
which Impac is a party, in each case which default (1) involves the failure to pay a matured obligation, or (2) permits the acceleration of the maturity
of obligations by any other party to or beneficiary of such contract.

 
c.                                             Assignment.  Assignment or attempted assignment by Seller or any Guarantor of this Agreement or any rights hereunder without

first obtaining the specific written consent of Buyer, or the granting by Seller of any security interest, lien or other encumbrances on any Purchased
Mortgage Loans to any person other than Buyer.

 
d.                                            Insolvency.  An Act of Insolvency shall have occurred with respect to Seller or any Guarantor.
 
e.                                             Material Adverse Change.  A Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred.
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f.                                              Breach of Financial Representation or Covenant or Obligation. A breach by Seller or either Guarantor of any of the

representations, warranties or covenants or obligations set forth in Sections 13.a(1), 13.a(7), 13.a(12), 13.a(19), 13.a(23), 14.b, 14.m, 14.o, 14.s, 14.t,
14.x, 14.z, 14.ee or 14.ff of this Agreement.

 
g.                                             Breach of Non-Financial Representation or Covenant.  A breach by Seller or any Guarantor of any other material representation,

warranty or covenant set forth in this Agreement (and not otherwise specified in Section 15.f above), if such breach is not cured within five
(5) Business Days of Seller’s or Guarantors’ knowledge thereof (other than the representations and warranties set forth in Section 13.b and
Schedule 1, which shall be considered solely for the purpose of determining Asset Value, the existence of a Margin Deficit and the obligation to
repurchase such Mortgage Loan) unless (i) such party shall have made any such representations and warranties with knowledge that they were
materially false or misleading at the time made, (ii) any such representations and warranties have been determined by Buyer in its sole discretion to be
materially false or misleading on a regular basis, or (iii) Buyer, in its sole discretion, determines that such breach of a material representation,
warranty or covenant materially and adversely affects the condition (financial or otherwise) of such party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, then
such breach shall constitute an immediate Event of Default and Seller shall have no cure right hereunder).

 
h.                                            Change of Control.  The occurrence of a Change in Control.
 
i.                                                Failure to Transfer.  Seller fails to transfer the Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer on the applicable Purchase Date (provided

Buyer has tendered the related Purchase Price).
 
j.                                               Judgment.  A final judgment or judgments for the payment of money in excess of $1,000,000 in the aggregate shall be rendered

against the Seller or any Guarantor by one or more courts, administrative tribunals or other bodies having jurisdiction and the same shall not be
satisfied, discharged (or provision shall not be made for such discharge) or bonded, or a stay of execution thereof shall not be procured, within 30
days after the date of entry thereof.

 



k.                                            Government Action.  Any Governmental Authority or any person, agency or entity acting or purporting to act under governmental
authority shall have taken any action to condemn, seize or appropriate, or to assume custody or control of, all or any substantial part of the Property of
Seller or Guarantors, or shall have taken any action to displace the management of Seller or Guarantors or to curtail its authority in the conduct of the
business of Seller or Guarantors, or takes any action in the nature of enforcement to remove, limit or restrict the approval of Seller or Guarantors as an
issuer, buyer or a seller/servicer of Mortgage Loans or securities backed thereby, and such action provided for in this Section 15.k shall not have been
discontinued or stayed within 30 days.

 
l.                                                Inability to Perform.  An officer of Seller or any Guarantor shall admit its inability to, or its intention not to, perform any of

Seller’s Obligations hereunder or any Guarantor’s obligations hereunder or under the Guaranty.
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m.                                        Security Interest.  This Agreement shall for any reason cease to create a valid, first priority security interest in any material portion

of the Purchased Mortgage Loans or other Repurchase Assets purported to be covered hereby.
 
n.                                            Financial Statements.  Seller’s or Guarantors’ audited annual financial statements or the notes thereto or other opinions or

conclusions stated therein shall be qualified or limited by reference to the status of Seller or Guarantors as a “going concern” or a reference of similar
import.

 
o.                                            Guarantor Breach.  A breach by any Guarantor of any material representation, warranty or covenant set forth in the Guaranty or

any other Program Agreement, any “event of default” by any Guarantor under the Guaranty, any repudiation of the Guaranty by any Guarantor, or if
the Guaranty is not enforceable against any Guarantor.

 
p.                                            Underlying Repurchase Documents and Underlying Repurchase Counterparties.  (A) Any material provision of any Underlying

Repurchase Document shall at any time for any reason cease to be valid and binding or in full force and effect; or (B) the Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty shall deny that it has any or further liability or obligation under any material provision of any Underlying Repurchase Document; or
(C) the validity or enforceability of any material provision of any Underlying Repurchase Document shall be contested by any party thereto; unless in
each case of clauses (A) through (C), the related Mortgage Loans subject to the Underlying Repurchase Document are repurchased by Seller within
one (1) Business Day following notice or knowledge thereof.

 
An Event of Default shall be deemed to be continuing unless expressly waived by Buyer in writing.
 

16.                               Remedies Upon Default
 

In the event that an Event of Default shall have occurred:
 

a.                                            Buyer may, at its option (which option shall be deemed to have been exercised immediately upon the occurrence of an Act of
Insolvency of Seller or any Guarantor), declare an Event of Default to have occurred hereunder and, upon the exercise or deemed exercise of such
option, the Repurchase Date for each Transaction hereunder shall, if it has not already occurred, be deemed immediately to occur (except that, in the
event that the Purchase Date for any Transaction has not yet occurred as of the date of such exercise or deemed exercise, such Transaction shall be
deemed immediately canceled).  Buyer shall (except upon the occurrence of an Act of Insolvency) give written notice to Seller and Guarantors of the
exercise of such option as promptly as practicable.

 
b.                                            If Buyer exercises or is deemed to have exercised the option referred to in subparagraph (a) of this Section, (i) Seller’s obligations

in such Transactions to repurchase all Purchased Mortgage Loans, at the Repurchase Price therefor on the Repurchase Date determined in accordance
with subparagraph (a) of this Section, shall thereupon become immediately due and payable, (ii) all Income paid after such exercise or deemed
exercise
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shall be retained by Buyer and applied, in Buyer’s sole discretion, to the aggregate unpaid Repurchase Prices for all outstanding Transactions and any
other amounts owing by Seller hereunder, and (iii) Seller shall immediately deliver to Buyer the Mortgage Files relating to any Purchased Mortgage
Loans subject to such Transactions then in Seller’s possession or control.

 
c.                                             Buyer also shall have the right to obtain physical possession, and to commence an action to obtain physical possession, of all

Records and files of Seller relating to the Purchased Mortgage Loans and all documents relating to the Purchased Mortgage Loans (including, without
limitation, any legal, credit or servicing files with respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans) which are then or may thereafter come in to the
possession of Seller or any third party acting for Seller including the Servicers and any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty.  To obtain physical
possession of any Purchased Mortgage Loans held by Custodian, Buyer shall present to Custodian a Trust Receipt.  Without limiting the rights of
Buyer hereto to pursue all other legal and equitable rights available to Buyer for Seller’s failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement,
Seller acknowledges and agrees that the remedy at law for any failure to perform obligations hereunder would be inadequate and Buyer shall be
entitled to specific performance, injunctive relief, or other equitable remedies in the event of any such failure. The availability of these remedies shall
not prohibit Buyer from pursuing any other remedies for such breach, including the recovery of monetary damages.

 
d.                                            Buyer shall have the right to direct all servicers then servicing any Purchased Mortgage Loans and each Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty to remit all collections thereon to Buyer, and if any such payments are received by Seller, Seller shall not commingle the amounts
received with other funds of Seller and shall promptly pay them over to Buyer.  Buyer shall also have the right to terminate any one or all of the
servicers then servicing any Purchased Mortgage Loans with or without cause.  In addition, Buyer shall have the right to immediately sell the
Purchased Mortgage Loans and liquidate all Repurchase Assets.  Such disposition of Purchased Mortgage Loans may be, at Buyer’s option, on either
a servicing-released or a servicing-retained basis.  Buyer shall not be required to give any warranties as to the Purchased Mortgage Loans with respect
to any such disposition thereof.  Buyer may specifically disclaim or modify any warranties of title or the like relating to the Purchased Mortgage
Loans.  The foregoing procedure for disposition of the Purchased Mortgage Loans and liquidation of the Repurchase Assets shall not be considered to



adversely affect the commercial reasonableness of any sale thereof.  Seller agrees that it would not be commercially unreasonable for Buyer to
dispose of the Purchased Mortgage Loans or the Repurchase Assets or any portion thereof by using Internet sites that provide for the auction of assets
similar to the Purchased Mortgage Loans or the Repurchase Assets, or that have the reasonable capability of doing so, or that match buyers and sellers
of assets.  Buyer shall be entitled to place the Purchased Mortgage Loans in a pool for issuance of mortgage-backed securities at the then -prevailing
price for such securities and to sell such securities for such prevailing price in the open market.  Buyer shall also be entitled to sell any or all of such
Mortgage Loans individually for the prevailing price. Buyer shall also be entitled, in its sole discretion to elect, in lieu of selling all or a portion of
such Purchased Mortgage Loans, to give the Seller credit for such Purchased Mortgage Loans and the Repurchase
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Assets in an amount equal to the Market Value of the Purchased Mortgage Loans against the aggregate unpaid Repurchase Price and any other
amounts owing by the Seller hereunder.

 
e.                                             Upon the happening of one or more Events of Default, Buyer may apply any proceeds from the liquidation of the Purchased

Mortgage Loans and Repurchase Assets to the Repurchase Prices hereunder and all other Obligations in the manner Buyer deems appropriate in its
sole discretion.

 
f.                                              Seller shall be liable to Buyer for (i) the amount of all reasonable legal or other expenses (including, without limitation, all costs

and expenses of Buyer in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement or any other agreement evidencing a Transaction, whether in action, suit
or litigation or bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding affecting creditors’ rights generally, further including, without limitation, the
reasonable fees and expenses of counsel incurred in connection with or as a result of an Event of Default, (ii) damages in an amount equal to the cost
(including all fees, expenses and commissions) of entering into replacement transactions and entering into or terminating hedge transactions in
connection with or as a result of an Event of Default, and (iii) any other loss, damage, cost or expense directly arising or resulting from the occurrence
of an Event of Default in respect of a Transaction.

 
g.                                             To the extent permitted by applicable law, Seller shall be liable to Buyer for interest on any amounts owing by Seller hereunder,

from the date Seller becomes liable for such amounts hereunder until such amounts are (i) paid in full by Seller or (ii) satisfied in full by the exercise
of Buyer’s rights hereunder.  Interest on any sum payable by Seller under this Section 16.g shall accrue at a rate equal to the Post-Default Rate.

 
h.                                            Buyer shall have, in addition to its rights hereunder, any rights otherwise available to it under any other agreement or applicable

law.
 
i.                                                Buyer may exercise one or more of the remedies available to Buyer immediately upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and,

except to the extent provided in subsections (a) and (d) of this Section, at any time thereafter without notice to Seller.  All rights and remedies arising
under this Agreement as amended from time to time hereunder are cumulative and not exclusive of any other rights or remedies which Buyer may
have.

 
j.                                               Buyer may enforce its rights and remedies hereunder without prior judicial process or hearing, and Seller hereby expressly waives

any defenses Seller might otherwise have to require Buyer to enforce its rights by judicial process.  Seller also waives any defense (other than a
defense of payment or performance) Seller might otherwise have arising from the use of nonjudicial process, enforcement and sale of all or any
portion of the Repurchase Assets, or from any other election of remedies.  Seller recognizes that nonjudicial remedies are consistent with the usages
of the trade, are responsive to commercial necessity and are the result of a bargain at arm’s length.

 
43

 
k.                                            Buyer shall have the right to perform reasonable due diligence with respect to Seller and the Mortgage Loans, which review shall

be at the expense of Seller.
 

17.                               Reports
 

a.                                            Default Notices.  Seller and Guarantors shall each furnish to Buyer (i) promptly, copies of any material and adverse notices
(including, without limitation, notices of defaults, breaches, potential defaults or potential breaches) and any material financial information that is not
otherwise required to be provided by Seller or Guarantors hereunder which is given to Seller’s or Guarantors’ lenders and (ii) immediately, notice of
the occurrence of any (A) Event of Default hereunder, (B) default or breach by Seller, Guarantors or any Servicer which is an Affiliate of any
obligation under any Program Agreement or any material contract or agreement of Seller, Guarantors or any Servicer which is an Affiliate or
(C) event or circumstance that such party reasonably expects has resulted in, or will, with the passage of time, result in, a Material Adverse Effect or
an Event of Default or such a default or breach by such party.

 
b.                                            Financial Notices.  Seller and Guarantors shall each furnish to Buyer:
 

(1)                                 as soon as available and in any event within thirty (30) calendar days after the end of each calendar month, the unaudited
consolidated balance sheets of Seller and Guarantors and their consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such period and the related unaudited
consolidated statements of income and retained earnings for the Seller and Guarantors and their consolidated Subsidiaries for such period and the
portion of the fiscal year through the end of such period, accompanied by a certificate of a Responsible Officer of Seller and Guarantors, which
certificate shall state that said consolidated financial statements fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial condition and results
of operations of Seller and Guarantors and its consolidated Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP (other than solely with respect to footnotes, year-
end adjustments) consistently applied, as at the end of, and for, such period;

 
(2)                                 as soon as available and in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year of Seller and Guarantors, the

consolidated balance sheets of Seller and Guarantors and their consolidated Subsidiaries as at the end of such fiscal year and the related consolidated
statements of income and retained earnings and of cash flows for the Seller and Guarantors and their consolidated Subsidiaries for such year, setting
forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous year, accompanied by an opinion thereon of independent certified public



accountants of recognized national standing, which opinion and the scope of audit shall be acceptable to Buyer in its good faith discretion, shall have
no “going concern” qualification and shall state that said consolidated financial statements fairly present in all material respects the consolidated
financial condition and results of operations of Seller and Guarantors and their respective consolidated Subsidiaries as at the end of, and for, such
fiscal year in accordance with GAAP;

 
(3)                                 at the time the Seller and Guarantors furnish each set of financial statements pursuant to Section 17.b(1) or (1) above, an

Officer’s Compliance Certificate
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of a Responsible Officer of Seller and Guarantors in the form attached as Exhibit A to the Pricing Side Letter;

 
(4)                                 as soon as available and in any event within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof;
 

(a)                                 if applicable, copies of any 10-Ks, 10-Qs, registration statements and other “corporate finance” SEC filings
(other than 8-Ks) by Seller and Guarantors, within 5 Business Days after their filing with the SEC; provided, that, Seller and Guarantors
will provide Buyer with a copy of the annual 10-K filed with the SEC by Seller or Guarantors, no later than 90 days after the end of the
year;

 
(b)                                 to the extent allowed by law, copies of relevant portions of all final written Agency, FHA, VA, Governmental

Authority and investor audits, examinations, evaluations, monitoring reviews and reports of its operations (including those prepared on a
contract basis) which provide for or relate to (i) material corrective action required, (ii) material sanctions proposed, imposed or required,
including without limitation notices of defaults, notices of termination of approved status, notices of imposition of supervisory agreements
or interim servicing agreements, and notices of probation, suspension, or non-renewal, or (iii) “report cards,” “grades” or other
classifications of the quality of Seller’s or any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s or Guarantors’ operations;

 
(c)                                  such other information regarding the financial condition, operations, or business of the Seller, Guarantors and

Underlying Repurchase Counterparties as Buyer may reasonably request; and
 
(d)                                 the particulars of any Event of Termination in reasonable detail.
 

c.                                             Notices of Certain Events.  As soon as possible and in any event within five (5) Business Days of knowledge thereof, Seller shall
furnish to Buyer notice of the following events:

 
(1)                                 a change in the insurance coverage required of Seller, any Guarantor or any Servicer which is an Affiliate pursuant to any

Program Agreement, or any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty with a copy of evidence of same attached;
 
(2)                                 any material dispute, litigation, investigation, proceeding or suspension between Seller, Servicer or any Underlying

Repurchase Counterparty or any Servicer which is an Affiliate, on the one hand, and any Governmental Authority or any Person;
 
(3)                                 any material change in accounting policies or financial reporting practices of Seller or any Servicer which is an Affiliate;
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(4)                                 with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan, that the underlying Mortgaged Property has been damaged by waste, fire,

earthquake or earth movement, windstorm, flood, tornado or other casualty, or otherwise damaged, in each case, so as to affect adversely the value of
such Mortgaged Loan;

 
(5)                                 any material issues raised upon examination of Seller, any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or Seller’s or any

Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s facilities by any Governmental Authority;
 
(6)                                 any material change in the Indebtedness of the Seller, including, without limitation, any default, renewal, non-renewal,

termination, increase in available amount or decrease in available amount related thereto;
 
(7)                                 any default related to any Repurchase Asset, including, without limitation, any default under any Underlying Repurchase

Documents, or any lien or security interest (other than security interests created hereby or by the other Program Agreements) on, or claim asserted
against, any of the Purchased Mortgage Loans;

 
(8)                                 any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty for any reason ceases to possess all applicable Agency approvals, or an event

has occurred or Underlying Repurchase Counterparty has a reason to believe or suspect that an event will occur prior to the issuance of the Agency
Security or the consummation of the Take-Out Commitment, that will require notification to an Agency or the Department of Housing and Urban
Development, FHA or VA;

 
(9)                                 any other event, circumstance or condition that has resulted, or is reasonably likely to result, in a Material Adverse Effect

with respect to Seller or any Servicer which is an Affiliate;
 
(10)                          the occurrence of any material employment dispute that has the possibility of resulting in a Material Adverse Effect; and
 
(11)                          any notice Seller receives from an Underlying Repurchase Counterparty in accordance with the terms of the Underlying

Repurchase Documents relating to a material event, circumstance or condition affecting the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or Servicer.
 



d.                                            Portfolio Performance Data.  On the first Reporting Date of each calendar month, Seller will furnish to Buyer electronically, in a
format mutually acceptable to Buyer and Seller, servicing information, including, without limitation, those fields reasonably requested by Buyer from
time to time, on a loan-by-loan basis and in the aggregate, with respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans serviced by Seller or any Servicer for the
month (or any portion thereof) prior to the Reporting Date.  In addition to the foregoing information on each Reporting Date, Seller will furnish to
Buyer such information upon (i) the occurrence and continuation of an Event of Default and (ii) upon any Purchased Mortgage Loan becoming an
Aged Loan.
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e.                                             Monthly Summary Reports.  Within thirty (30) days following the receipt by Buyer of the Officer’s Compliance Certificate, a

Monthly Summary Report.
 
f.                                              Other Reports.  Seller shall deliver to Buyer any other reports or information reasonably requested by Buyer or as otherwise

required pursuant to this Agreement including, without limitation, any reports or information received from any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty.
 

18.                               Repurchase Transactions
 

Buyer may, in its sole election, engage in repurchase transactions with the Purchased Mortgage Loans or otherwise pledge, hypothecate,
assign, transfer or otherwise convey the Purchased Mortgage Loans with a counterparty of Buyer’s choice.  Unless an Event of Default shall have occurred
and be continuing, no such transaction shall relieve Buyer of its obligations to transfer Purchased Mortgage Loans to Seller pursuant to Section 4 hereof, or of
Buyer’s obligation to credit or pay Income to, or apply Income to the obligations of, Seller pursuant to Section 7 hereof.  In the event Buyer engages in a
repurchase transaction with any of the Purchased Mortgage Loans or otherwise pledges or hypothecates any of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, Buyer shall
have the right to assign to Buyer’s counterparty any of the applicable representations or warranties herein and the remedies for breach thereof, as they relate to
the Purchased Mortgage Loans that are subject to such repurchase transaction.

 
19.                               Single Agreement
 

Buyer and Seller acknowledge they have and will enter into each Transaction hereunder, in consideration of and in reliance upon the fact
that, all Transactions hereunder constitute a single business and contractual relationship and have been made in consideration of each other.  Accordingly,
each of Buyer and Seller agrees (i) to perform all of its obligations in respect of each Transaction hereunder, and that a default in the performance of any such
obligations shall constitute a default by it in respect of all Transactions hereunder, (ii) that each of them shall be entitled to set-off claims and apply property
held by them in respect of any Transaction against obligations owing to them in respect of any other Transactions hereunder and (iii) that payments, deliveries
and other transfers made by either of them in respect of any Transaction shall be deemed to have been made in consideration of payments, deliveries and
other transfers in respect of any other Transactions hereunder, and the obligations to make any such payments, deliveries and other transfers may be applied
against each other and netted.

 
20.                               Notices and Other Communications
 

Any and all notices (with the exception of Transaction Requests, which shall be delivered via electronic mail or other electronic medium
agreed to by the Buyer and the Seller), statements, demands or other communications hereunder may be given by a party to the other by mail, email,
facsimile, messenger overnight courier or delivery service or otherwise to the address specified below, or so sent to such party at any other place specified in a
notice of change of address hereafter received by the other.  All notices, demands and requests hereunder may be made orally, to be confirmed promptly in
writing, or by other communication as specified in the preceding sentence.  In all cases, to the extent that the related individual set forth
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in the respective “Attention” line is no longer employed by the respective Person, such notice may be given to the attention of a Responsible Officer of the
respective Person or to the attention of such individual or individuals as subsequently notified in writing by a Responsible Officer of the respective Person.

 
If to Seller or any Guarantor:
 

19500 Jamboree Road
Irvine, CA 92612
Attention: Ron Morrison
Phone: (949) 475-3942
Fax: (949) 706-6208
E-mail: Ron.Morrison@impaccompanies.com
 

with a copy to:
 

19500 Jamboree Road
Irvine, CA 92612
Attention: Todd Taylor
(949) 475-6509
E-mail: Todd.Taylor@impaccompanies.com
 

If to Buyer:
 
For Transaction Requests:
 

CSFBMC LLC
c/o Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC



One Madison Avenue, 2nd floor
New York, New York  10010
Attention: Christopher Bergs, Resi Mortgage Warehouse Ops
Phone:  212-538-5087
E-mail: christopher.bergs@credit-suisse.com

 
with a copy to:
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC
c/o Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC
Eleven Madison Avenue, 4th Floor
New York, NY  10010
Attention:  Bruce Kaiserman
E-mail: bruce.kaiserman@credit-suisse.com
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For all other Notices:
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC
c/o Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC
Eleven Madison Avenue, 4th Floor
Attention:  Margaret Dellafera
New York, New York  10010
Phone Number: 212-325-6471
Fax Number:  212-743-4810
E-mail: margaret.dellafera@credit-suisse.com

 
with a copy to:
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC
c/o Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC
One Madison Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, NY  10010
Attention: Legal Department—RMBS Warehouse Lending
Fax Number: (212) 322-2376

 
21.                               Entire Agreement; Severability
 

This Agreement shall supersede any existing agreements between the parties containing general terms and conditions for repurchase
transactions.  Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or agreement herein and shall be
enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.

 
22.                               Non assignability
 

The Program Agreements are not assignable by Seller or either Guarantor.  Buyer may from time to time assign all or a portion of its rights
and obligations under this Agreement and the Program Agreements; provided, however that Buyer shall maintain as agent of Seller, for review by Seller upon
written request, a register of assignees and a copy of an executed assignment and acceptance by Buyer and assignee (“Assignment and Acceptance”),
specifying the percentage or portion of such rights and obligations assigned.  Upon such assignment, (a) such assignee shall be a party hereto and to each
Program Agreement to the extent of the percentage or portion set forth in the Assignment and Acceptance, and shall succeed to the applicable rights and
obligations of Buyer hereunder, and (b) Buyer shall, to the extent that such rights and obligations have been so assigned by it to either (i) an Affiliate of Buyer
which assumes the obligations of Buyer or (ii) another Person approved by Seller (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) which assumes the
obligations of Buyer, be released from its obligations hereunder and under the Program Agreements.  Unless otherwise stated in the Assignment and
Acceptance, Seller shall continue to take directions solely from Buyer unless otherwise notified by Buyer in writing.  Buyer may distribute to any prospective
assignee any document or other information delivered to Buyer by Seller.
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23.                               Set-off
 

In addition to any rights and remedies of the Buyer hereunder and by law, the Buyer shall have the right, without prior notice to the
Seller, Impac or IRES, any such notice being expressly waived by the Seller, Impac and IRES to the extent permitted by applicable law to set-off and
appropriate and apply against any Obligation from Seller, Impac or IRES thereof to Buyer or any of its Affiliates any and all deposits (general or special, time
or demand, provisional or final), in any currency, and any other obligation (including to return excess margin), credits, indebtedness or claims, in any
currency, in each case whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, at any time held or owing by or due from the Buyer or any
Affiliate thereof to or for the credit or the account of the Seller, Impac or IRES.  The Buyer agrees promptly to notify the Seller, Impac or IRES after any such
set off and application made by the Buyer; provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set off and application.

 
24.                               Binding Effect; Governing Law; Jurisdiction
 

a.                                            This Agreement shall be binding and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted
assigns.  Seller acknowledges that the obligations of Buyer hereunder or otherwise are not the subject of any guaranty by, or recourse to, any direct or



indirect parent or other Affiliate of Buyer.  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND GOVERNED BY,
THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES THEREOF.

 
b.                                            SELLER AND EACH GUARANTOR HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY.  SELLER AND EACH GUARANTOR HEREBY

IRREVOCABLY CONSENT TO THE EXCLUSIVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF ANY COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, OR IN
THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE
PROGRAM AGREEMENTS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING.  SELLER AND EACH GUARANTOR HEREBY SUBMIT TO, AND WAIVE
ANY OBJECTION THEY MAY HAVE TO, EXCLUSIVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION AND VENUE IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK AND THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, WITH RESPECT TO ANY
DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE PROGRAM AGREEMENTS.

 
25.                               No Waivers, Etc.
 

No express or implied waiver of any Event of Default by either party shall constitute a waiver of any other Event of Default and no exercise
of any remedy hereunder by any party shall constitute a waiver of its right to exercise any other remedy hereunder.  No modification or waiver of any
provision of this Agreement and no consent by any party to a departure herefrom shall be effective unless and until such shall be in writing and duly executed
by both of the parties hereto.  Without limitation on any of the foregoing, the failure to give a
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notice pursuant to Section 6.a, 16.a or otherwise, will not constitute a waiver of any right to do so at a later date.

 
26.                               Intent
 

a.                                            The parties recognize that each Transaction is a “repurchase agreement” as that term is defined in Section 101 of Title 11 of the
United States Code, as amended, a “securities contract” as that term is defined in Section 741 of Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended, and a
“master netting agreement” as that term is defined in Section 101(38A)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code, that all payments hereunder are deemed “margin
payments” or “settlement payments” as defined in Title 11 of the United States Code, and that the pledge of the Repurchase Assets constitutes “a
security agreement or other arrangement or other credit enhancement” that is “related to” the Agreement and Transactions hereunder within the
meaning of Sections 101(38A)(A), 101(47)(A)(v) and 741(7)(A)(xi) of the Bankruptcy Code.  Seller and Buyer further recognize and intend that this
Agreement is an agreement to provide financial accommodations and is not subject to assumption pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 365(a).

 
b.                                      Buyer’s right to liquidate the Purchased Mortgage Loans delivered to it in connection with the Transactions hereunder or to

accelerate or terminate this Agreement or otherwise exercise any other remedies pursuant to Section 16 hereof is a contractual right to liquidate,
accelerate or terminate such Transaction as described in Bankruptcy Code Sections 555, 559 and 561; any payments or transfers of property made
with respect to this Agreement or any Transaction to satisfy a Margin Deficit shall be considered a “margin payment” as such term is defined in
Bankruptcy Code Section 741(5).

 
c.                                             The parties agree and acknowledge that if a party hereto is an “insured depository institution,” as such term is defined in the

Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended (“FDIA”), then each Transaction hereunder is a “qualified financial contract,” as that term is defined in
FDIA and any rules, orders or policy statements thereunder (except insofar as the type of assets subject to such Transaction would render such
definition inapplicable).

 
d.                                            It is understood that this Agreement constitutes a “netting contract” as defined in and subject to Title IV of the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 (“FDICIA”) and each payment entitlement and payment obligation under any Transaction hereunder
shall constitute a “covered contractual payment entitlement” or “covered contractual payment obligation”, respectively, as defined in and subject to
FDICIA (except insofar as one or both of the parties is not a “financial institution” as that term is defined in FDICIA).

 
e.                                             This Agreement is intended to be a “repurchase agreement” and a “securities contract,” within the meaning of Section 555 and

Section 559 under the Bankruptcy Code.
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f.                                              Each party agrees that this Agreement is intended to create mutuality of obligations among the parties, and as such, the Agreement

constitutes a contract which (i) is between all of the parties and (ii) places each party in the same right and capacity.
 

27.                               Disclosure Relating to Certain Federal Protections
 

The parties acknowledge that they have been advised that:
 

a.                                            in the case of Transactions in which one of the parties is a broker or dealer registered with the SEC under Section 15 of the 1934
Act, the Securities Investor Protection Corporation has taken the position that the provisions of the SIPA do not protect the other party with respect to
any Transaction hereunder;

 
b.                                            in the case of Transactions in which one of the parties is a government securities broker or a government securities dealer

registered with the SEC under Section 15C of the 1934 Act, SIPA will not provide protection to the other party with respect to any Transaction
hereunder; and

 
c.                                             in the case of Transactions in which one of the parties is a financial institution, funds held by the financial institution pursuant to a

Transaction hereunder are not a deposit and therefore are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National Credit Union
Share Insurance Fund, as applicable.

 



28.                               Power of Attorney
 

Seller hereby authorizes Buyer to file such financing statement or statements relating to the Repurchase Assets without Seller’s signature
thereon as Buyer, at its option, may deem appropriate.  Seller hereby appoints Buyer as Seller’s agent and attorney-in-fact and exercise all rights and remedies
of Seller thereunder and to act as attorney-in-fact for Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to execute any such financing statement or statements in Seller’s
name and to perform all other acts which Buyer deems appropriate to perfect and continue its ownership interest in and/or the security interest granted hereby,
if applicable, and to protect, preserve and realize upon the Repurchase Assets, including, but not limited to, the right to endorse notes, complete blanks in
documents, transfer servicing, and sign assignments on behalf of Seller as its agent and attorney-in-fact.  This agency and power of attorney is coupled with
an interest and is irrevocable without Buyer’s consent.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the power of attorney hereby granted may be exercised only during the
occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default hereunder. Seller shall pay the filing costs for any financing statement or statements prepared pursuant to
this Section 28.  In addition the foregoing, the Seller agrees to execute a Power of Attorney, in the form of Exhibit D hereto, to be delivered on the date
hereof.

 
29.                               Buyer May Act Through Affiliates
 

Buyer may, from time to time, designate one or more Affiliates for the purpose of performing any action hereunder.
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30.                               Indemnification; Obligations
 

a.                                            Seller agrees to hold Buyer and each of its respective Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and
advisors (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless from and indemnify each Indemnified Party (and will reimburse each Indemnified Party as the same
is incurred) against all third party liabilities, losses, damages, judgments, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees and
expenses of counsel) of any kind which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against any Indemnified Party relating to or arising out of this
Agreement, any Transaction Request, any Program Agreement, any Underlying Repurchase Document or any transaction contemplated hereby or
thereby resulting from anything other than the Indemnified Party’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.  Seller also agrees to reimburse each
Indemnified Party for all reasonable expenses in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement and the exercise of any right or remedy provided
for herein, any Transaction Request and any Program Agreement, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel. 
Seller’s agreements in this Section 30 shall survive the payment in full of the Repurchase Price and the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 
Seller hereby acknowledges that its obligations hereunder are recourse obligations of Seller and are not limited to recoveries each Indemnified Party
may have with respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans.  Seller also agrees not to assert any claim against Buyer or any of its Affiliates, or any of
their respective officers, directors, employees, attorneys and agents, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages
arising out of or otherwise relating to the facility established hereunder, the actual or proposed use of the proceeds of the Transactions, this Agreement
or any of the transactions contemplated thereby.  THE FOREGOING INDEMNITY AND AGREEMENT NOT TO ASSERT CLAIMS EXPRESSLY
APPLIES, WITHOUT LIMITATION, TO THE NEGLIGENCE (BUT NOT GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT) OF THE
INDEMNIFIED PARTIES.

 
b.                                            Without limitation to the provisions of Section 4, if any payment of the Repurchase Price of any Transaction is made by Seller

other than on the then scheduled Repurchase Date thereto as a result of an acceleration of the Repurchase Date pursuant to Section 16 or for any other
reason, Seller shall, upon demand by Buyer, pay to Buyer an amount sufficient to compensate Buyer for any losses, costs or expenses that it may
reasonably incur as of a result of such payment.

 
c.                                             Without limiting the provisions of Section 30.a hereof, if Seller fails to pay when due any costs, expenses or other amounts payable

by it under this Agreement, including, without limitation, fees and expenses of counsel and indemnities, such amount may be paid on behalf of Seller
by Buyer, in its sole discretion.

 
31.                               Counterparts
 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts
shall together constitute one and the same instrument.
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32.                               Confidentiality
 

a.                                            This Agreement and its terms, provisions, supplements and amendments, and notices hereunder, are proprietary to Buyer and shall
be held by Seller and each Guarantor in strict confidence and shall not be disclosed to any third party without the written consent of Buyer except for
(i) disclosure to Seller’s or Guarantors’ direct and indirect Affiliates and Subsidiaries, attorneys or accountants, but only to the extent such disclosure
is necessary and such parties agree to hold all information in strict confidence, or (ii) disclosure required by law, rule, regulation or order of a court or
other regulatory body.

 
b.                                            Buyer agrees to keep confidential all non-public information provided to it by Seller, either Guarantor or an Affiliate thereof

pursuant to this Agreement or any other Program Agreement that is designated by such Person as confidential and such information shall not be
disclosed to any third party without the written consent of Seller except for (i) disclosure to any participant or assignee (each, a “Transferee”) of
Buyer or prospective Transferee which, in each case, executes a Confidentiality Agreement, (ii) disclosure to Buyer’s direct and indirect Affiliates and
Subsidiaries, employees, directors, agents, attorneys, accountants or other professional advisors, but only to the extent such disclosure is necessary
and such parties agree to hold all information in strict confidence, (iii) disclosure required by law, rule, regulation or order of a court or other
regulatory body, (iv) disclosure in connection with the enforcement of any of the provisions of this Agreement, (v) to the extent to such Confidential
Information is in the public domain other than due to a breach of this Section 32 or (vi) such other circumstances as are reasonably within the
discretion of a public company in order to meet its corporate obligations; provided that in the case of (vi) Buyer shall take reasonable actions to
provide Seller with prior written consent.



 
c.                                             Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary contained herein or in any other Program Agreement, the parties hereto

may disclose to any and all Persons, without limitation of any kind, the federal, state and local tax treatment of the Transactions, any fact relevant to
understanding the federal, state and local tax treatment of the Transactions, and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses)
relating to such federal, state and local tax treatment and that may be relevant to understanding such tax treatment; provided that Seller may not
disclose the name of or identifying information with respect to Buyer or any pricing terms (including, without limitation, the Pricing Rate, Non-
Utilization Fee, Purchase Price Percentage and Purchase Price) or other nonpublic business or financial information (including any sublimits and
financial covenants) that is unrelated to the federal, state and local tax treatment of the Transactions and is not relevant to understanding the federal,
state and local tax treatment of the Transactions, without the prior written consent of the Buyer.

 
d.                                            Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Seller shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal

laws, including, without limitation, all privacy and data protection law, rules and regulations that are applicable to the Purchased Mortgage Loans
and/or any applicable terms of this Agreement (the “Confidential Information”).  The Seller understands that the Confidential Information
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may contain “nonpublic personal information”, as that term is defined in Section 509(4) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (the “Act”), and the Seller
agrees to maintain such nonpublic personal information that it receives hereunder in accordance with the Act and other applicable federal and state
privacy laws.  The Seller shall implement such physical and other security measures as shall be necessary to (i) ensure the security and confidentiality
of the “nonpublic personal information” of the “customers” and “consumers” (as those terms are defined in the Act) of Buyer or any Affiliate of
Buyer which the Seller holds, (ii) protect against any threats or hazards to the security and integrity of such nonpublic personal information, and
(iii) protect against any unauthorized access to or use of such nonpublic personal information. The Seller represents and warrants that it has
implemented appropriate measures to meet the objectives of Section 501(b) of the Act and of the applicable standards adopted pursuant thereto, as
now or hereafter in effect.  Upon request, the Seller will provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to allow Buyer to confirm that the providing party
has satisfied its obligations as required under this Section.  Without limitation, this may include Buyer’s review of audits, summaries of test results,
and other equivalent evaluations of the Seller.  The Seller shall notify Buyer immediately following discovery of any breach or compromise of the
security, confidentiality, or integrity of nonpublic personal information of the customers and consumers of Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer provided
directly to the Seller by Buyer or such Affiliate.  The Seller shall provide such notice to Buyer by personal delivery, by facsimile with confirmation of
receipt, or by overnight courier with confirmation of receipt to the applicable requesting individual.

 
e.                                             Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws,

including, without limitation, all privacy and data protection law, rules and regulations that are applicable to the Purchased Mortgage Loans and/or
any applicable terms of this Agreement (the “Seller Confidential Information”).  Buyer understands that the Seller Confidential Information may
contain “nonpublic personal information”, as that term is defined in Section 509(4) of the Act, and Buyer agrees to maintain such nonpublic personal
information that it receives hereunder in accordance with the Act and other applicable federal and state privacy laws.  Buyer shall implement such
physical and other security measures as shall be necessary to (i) ensure the security and confidentiality of the “nonpublic personal information” of the
“customers”, “consumers” (as those terms are defined in the Act) of Seller, a Guarantor or any Affiliate of Seller or Guarantors which Buyer holds,
(ii) protect against any threats or hazards to the security and integrity of such nonpublic personal information, and (iii) protect against any
unauthorized access to or use of such nonpublic personal information.  Buyer represents and warrants that it has implemented appropriate measures to
meet the objectives of Section 501(b) of the Act and of the applicable standards adopted pursuant thereto, as now or hereafter in effect.  Buyer shall
notify Seller timely following discovery of any breach or compromise of the security, confidentiality, or integrity of nonpublic personal information of
the customers, and consumers of Seller, a Guarantor or any Affiliate of Seller or Guarantors provided directly to the Buyer by Seller or such Affiliate. 
The Buyer shall provide such notice to Seller by personal delivery, by facsimile with confirmation of receipt, or by overnight courier with
confirmation of receipt to the applicable requesting individual.
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33.                               Recording of Communications
 

Buyer, Seller and Guarantors shall have the right (but not the obligation) from time to time to make or cause to be made tape recordings of
communications between its employees and those of the other party with respect to Transactions.  Buyer, Seller and Guarantors consent to the admissibility of
such tape recordings in any court, arbitration, or other proceedings.  The parties agree that a duly authenticated transcript of such a tape recording shall be
deemed to be a writing conclusively evidencing the parties’ agreement if the Persons reflected in the transcript had authority to bind the relevant party.

 
34.                               Periodic Due Diligence Review
 

Seller acknowledges that Buyer has the right to perform continuing due diligence reviews with respect to the Seller and the Mortgage
Loans, for purposes of verifying compliance with the representations, warranties and specifications made hereunder, for the purpose of performing quality
control review of the Mortgage Loans or otherwise, and Seller agrees that upon reasonable (but no less than five (5) Business Days’) prior notice unless an
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, in which case no notice is required, to Seller, Seller agrees to permit or shall cause Underlying
Repurchase Counterparty to permit Buyer or its authorized representatives will be permitted during normal business hours to examine, inspect, and make
copies and extracts of, the Mortgage Files and any and all documents, data, records, agreements, instruments or information relating to such Mortgage Loans
(including, without limitation, quality control review) in the possession or under the control of Seller, Underlying Repurchase Counterparty and/or the
Custodian.  Seller also shall make available or cause Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to make available to Buyer a knowledgeable financial or
accounting officer for the purpose of answering questions respecting the Mortgage Files and the Mortgage Loans.  Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Seller acknowledges that Buyer may purchase Mortgage Loans from Seller based solely upon the information provided by Seller to Buyer in the
Mortgage Loan Schedule and the representations, warranties and covenants contained herein, and that Buyer, at its option, has the right at any time to conduct
a partial or complete due diligence review on some or all of the Mortgage Loans purchased in a Transaction, including, without limitation, ordering Broker’s
price opinions, new credit reports and new appraisals on the related Mortgaged Properties and otherwise re-generating the information used to originate such
Mortgage Loan.  Buyer may underwrite such Mortgage Loans itself or engage a mutually agreed upon third party underwriter to perform such underwriting. 
Seller agrees to cooperate or cause Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to cooperate with Buyer and any third party underwriter in connection with such
underwriting, including, but not limited to, providing Buyer and any third party underwriter with access to any and all documents, records, agreements,



instruments or information relating to such Mortgage Loans in the possession, or under the control, of Seller.  Seller further agrees that Seller shall pay all out-
of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with Buyer’s activities pursuant to this Section 34.

 
35.                               Approval of Underlying Repurchase Counterparties and Servicers
 

a.              Seller shall provide Buyer with (a) a written list of proposed Underlying Repurchase Counterparties and (b) any reasonably requested
information with respect to such proposed Underlying Repurchase Counterparties, in each case,
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prior to Buyer’s purchase of any Mortgage Loan subject to the respective Underlying Repurchase Documents.  Buyer in its sole and
absolute discretion exercised in good faith may reject any proposed Underlying Repurchase Counterparty by providing written notice in
accordance with Section 20 hereof to Seller within ten (10) Business Days after Seller provides such written list of proposed Underlying
Repurchase Counterparties.  If Buyer does not approve an Underlying Repurchase Counterparty by providing a written notice to Seller
within ten (10) Business Days after Seller provides the written list of proposed Underlying Repurchase Counterparties, then such
Underlying Repurchase Counterparties shall be deemed accepted by Buyer for the purposes of this Agreement.  After an Underlying
Repurchase Counterparty is approved by Buyer as an Underlying Repurchase Counterparty for the purposes of this Agreement, Buyer may
in its sole and absolute discretion reject any previously approved Underlying Repurchase Counterparty by providing to Seller at least thirty
(30) days’ prior written notice in accordance with Section 20 hereof; provided that upon a Default or Event of Default only one (1) Business
Day’s prior written notice shall be required.  Upon delivery of such written notice, Buyer shall no longer enter into new Transactions
hereunder with respect to Mortgage Loans owned by such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty and the Buyer shall repurchase any
Mortgage Loans subject to Transactions hereunder owned by such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty within the timeframe set forth in
such notice.  Following any such rejection of a previously approved Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, Seller shall not sell to Buyer
hereunder any Mortgage Loans purchased by Seller from such previously approved Underlying Repurchase Counterparty and any such
Mortgage Loans may be assigned a Market Value of zero in Buyer’s good faith discretion.
 
b.                                      Seller shall provide Buyer with (a) a written list of proposed Servicers and (b) any reasonably requested information with respect
to such proposed Servicers, in each case, prior to any Servicer being engaged with respect to a prospective Purchased Mortgage Loan. 
Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion exercised in good faith may reject any proposed Servicer by providing written notice in accordance
with Section 20 hereof to Seller within ten (10) Business Days after Seller provides such written list of proposed Servicers.  If Buyer does
not approve a Servicer by providing a written notice to Seller within ten (10) Business Days after Seller provides the written list of proposed
Servicers, then such Servicers shall be deemed accepted by Buyer for the purposes of this Agreement.  After a Servicer is approved by
Buyer as a Servicer for the purposes of this Agreement, Buyer may in its sole good faith discretion reject any previously approved Servicer
by providing to Seller at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice in accordance with Section 20 hereof; provided that upon a Default or
Event of Default only one (1) Business Day’s prior written notice shall be required.  Upon delivery of such written notice, Seller shall not
engage such Servicer to service any additional Mortgage Loans and any such Mortgage Loans serviced by such Servicer shall be transferred
to an approved Servicer.
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c.               Buyer, with or without cause, may instruct Seller to remove and discharge (i) MERS and MERSCORP Holdings, Inc., as Electronic
Agent (as defined in the Underlying Electronic Tracking Agreement) from the performance of their duties under the Underlying Electronic
Tracking Agreement with respect to some or all of the Purchased Mortgage Loans or (ii) the Custodian from the performance of its duties
under the Underlying Custodial Agreement with respect to some or all of the Purchased Mortgage Loans.  If Buyer delivers such instruction
to Seller, Seller shall promptly exercise its rights to terminate MERS, MERSCORP Holdings, Inc. or the Custodian, as applicable, in
accordance with the related Underlying Repurchase Document.
 

36.                               Authorizations
 

Any of the persons whose signatures and titles appear on Schedule 2 are authorized, acting singly, to act for Seller or Buyer to the extent set
forth therein, as the case may be, under this Agreement.

 
37.                               Acknowledgement Of Anti-Predatory Lending Policies
 

Buyer has in place internal policies and procedures that expressly prohibit its purchase of any High Cost Mortgage Loan.
 

38.                               Documents Mutually Drafted
 

The Seller and the Buyer agree that this Agreement and each other Program Agreement prepared in connection with the Transactions set
forth herein have been mutually drafted and negotiated by each party, and consequently such documents shall not be construed against either party as the
drafter thereof.

 
39.                               General Interpretive Principles
 

For purposes of this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires:
 

a.                                            the terms defined in this Agreement have the meanings assigned to them in this Agreement and include the plural as well as the
singular, and the use of any gender herein shall be deemed to include the other gender;

 
b.                                            accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in accordance with GAAP;
 



c.                                             references herein to “Articles”, “Sections”, “Subsections”, “Paragraphs”, and other subdivisions without reference to a document
are to designated Articles, Sections, Subsections, Paragraphs and other subdivisions of this Agreement;

 
d.                                           a reference to a Subsection without further reference to a Section is a reference to such Subsection as contained in the same

Section in which the reference appears, and this rule shall also apply to Paragraphs and other subdivisions;
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e.                                             the words “herein”, “hereof”, “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any

particular provision;
 
f.                                              the term “include” or “including” shall mean without limitation by reason of enumeration;
 
g.                                             all times specified herein or in any other Program Agreement (unless expressly specified otherwise) are local times in New York,

New York unless otherwise stated; and
 
h.                                            all references herein or in any Program Agreement to “good faith” means good faith as defined in Section 1-201(19) of the UCC as

in effect in the State of New York.
 

40.                               Conflicts
 

In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any other Program Agreement, the documents shall control in the
following order of priority:  first, the terms of the Pricing Side Letter shall prevail, then the terms of this Agreement shall prevail, and then the terms of the
other Program Agreements shall prevail.

 
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
 

 
Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, as Buyer

 

  
By: /s/ Adam Loskove

 

 

Name: Adam Loskove
 

 

Title: Vice President
 

  
  
Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc., as Seller

 

  
By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor

 

 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

 

Title: EVP/CFO
 

  
  
Integrated Real Estate Service Corp., as Guarantor

 

  
By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor

 

 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

 

Title: EVP/CFO
 

  
  
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., as Guarantor

 

  
By: /s/ William S. Ashmore

 

 

Name: William S. Ashmore
 

 

Title: President
 

 
Signature Page to the Master Repurchase Agreement

 

 
SCHEDULE 1

 
PART I

 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO PURCHASED MORTGAGE LOANS

 



(a)                                 Payments Current.  All payments required to be made up to the Purchase Date for the Mortgage Loan under the terms of the
Mortgage Note have been made and credited.  No payment required under the Mortgage Loan is delinquent nor has any payment under the Mortgage Loan
been delinquent at any time since the origination of the Mortgage Loan.  The first Monthly Payment shall be made, or shall have been made, with respect to
the Mortgage Loan on its Due Date or within the grace period, all in accordance with the terms of the related Mortgage Note.

 
(b)                                 No Outstanding Charges.  All taxes, governmental assessments, insurance premiums, water, sewer and municipal charges,

leasehold payments or ground rents which previously became due and owing have been paid, or an escrow of funds has been established in an amount
sufficient to pay for every such item which remains unpaid and which has been assessed but is not yet due and payable.  Neither Seller nor the Qualified
Originator from which Seller acquired the Mortgage Loan has advanced funds, or induced, solicited or knowingly received any advance of funds by a party
other than the Mortgagor, directly or indirectly, for the payment of any amount required under the Mortgage Loan, except for interest accruing from the date
of the Mortgage Note or date of disbursement of the proceeds of the Mortgage Loan, whichever is earlier, to the day which precedes by one month the Due
Date of the first installment of principal and/or interest thereunder.

 
(c)                                  Original Terms Unmodified.  The terms of the Mortgage Note and Mortgage have not been impaired, waived, altered or modified

in any respect, from the date of origination; except by a written instrument which has been recorded, if necessary to protect the interests of Buyer, and which
has been delivered to the Custodian and the terms of which are reflected in the Custodial Mortgage Loan Schedule.  The substance of any such waiver,
alteration or modification has been approved by the title insurer, to the extent required, and its terms are reflected on the Custodial Mortgage Loan Schedule. 
No Mortgagor in respect of the Mortgage Loan has been released, in whole or in part, except in connection with an assumption agreement approved by the
title insurer, to the extent required by such policy, and which assumption agreement is part of the Mortgage File delivered to the Custodian and the terms of
which are reflected in the Custodial Mortgage Loan Schedule.

 
(d)                                 No Defenses.  The Mortgage Loan is not subject to any right of rescission, set-off, counterclaim or defense, including, without

limitation, the defense of usury, nor will the operation of any of the terms of the Mortgage Note or the Mortgage, or the exercise of any right thereunder,
render either the Mortgage Note or the Mortgage unenforceable, in whole or in part and no such right of rescission, set-off, counterclaim or defense has been
asserted with respect thereto, and no Mortgagor in respect of the Mortgage Loan was a debtor in any state or Federal bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding at
the time the Mortgage Loan was originated.  Unless otherwise permitted by the Underwriting Guidelines, Mortgagor (i) did not have a prior
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bankruptcy and (ii) did not previously own property that was the subject of a foreclosure during the time the Mortgagor was the owner of record.  Seller has
no knowledge nor has it received any notice that any Mortgagor in respect of the Mortgage Loan is a debtor in any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency
proceeding.  Seller has no knowledge of any circumstances or condition with respect to the Mortgage, the Mortgaged Property, the Mortgagor or the
Mortgagor’s credit standing that could reasonably be expected to cause investors to regard the Mortgage Loan as an unacceptable investment, cause the
Mortgage Loan to become delinquent or materially adversely affect the value or marketability of the Mortgage Loan.

 
(e)                                  Hazard Insurance.  The Mortgaged Property is insured by a fire and extended perils insurance policy, issued by a Qualified Insurer,

and such other hazards as are customary in the area where the Mortgaged Property is located, and to the extent required by Seller as of the date of origination
consistent with the Underwriting Guidelines, against earthquake and other risks insured against by Persons operating like properties in the locality of the
Mortgaged Property, in an amount not less than the greatest of (i) 100% of the replacement cost of all improvements to the Mortgaged Property, (ii) the
outstanding principal balance of the Mortgage Loan, or (iii) the amount necessary to avoid the operation of any co-insurance provisions with respect to the
Mortgaged Property, and consistent with the amount that would have been required as of the date of origination in accordance with the Underwriting
Guidelines.  If any portion of the Mortgaged Property is in an area identified by any federal Governmental Authority as having special flood hazards, and
flood insurance is available, a flood insurance policy meeting the current guidelines of the Federal Emergency Management Agency is in effect with a
generally acceptable insurance carrier, in an amount representing coverage not less than the least of (1) the outstanding principal balance of the Mortgage
Loan (2) the full insurable value of the Mortgaged Property, and (3) the maximum amount of insurance available under the National Flood Insurance Act of
1968, as amended by the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1974.  All such insurance policies (collectively, the “hazard insurance policy”) contain a standard
mortgagee clause naming Seller, its successors and assigns (including, without limitation, subsequent owners of the Mortgage Loan), as mortgagee, and may
not be reduced, terminated or canceled without 30 days’ prior written notice to the mortgagee.  No such notice has been received by Seller.  All premiums on
such insurance policy have been paid.  The related Mortgage obligates the Mortgagor to maintain all such insurance and, at such Mortgagor’s failure to do so,
authorizes the mortgagee to maintain such insurance at the Mortgagor’s cost and expense and to seek reimbursement therefor from such Mortgagor.  Where
required by state law or regulation, the Mortgagor has been given an opportunity to choose the carrier of the required hazard insurance, provided the policy is
not a “master” or “blanket” hazard insurance policy covering a condominium, or any hazard insurance policy covering the common facilities of a planned unit
development.  The hazard insurance policy is the valid and binding obligation of the insurer and is in full force and effect.  Seller has not engaged in, and has
no knowledge of the Mortgagor’s having engaged in, any act or omission which would impair the coverage of any such policy, the benefits of the
endorsement provided for herein, or the validity and binding effect of either including, without limitation, no unlawful fee, commission, kickback or other
unlawful compensation or value of any kind has been or will be received, retained or realized by any attorney, firm or other Person, and no such unlawful
items have been received, retained or realized by Seller.
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(f)                                   Environmental Compliance.  There does not exist on the Mortgaged Property any hazardous substances, hazardous wastes or solid

wastes, as such terms are defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act of 1976, or other applicable federal, state or local environmental laws including, without limitation, asbestos, in each case in excess of the permitted
limits and allowances set forth in such environmental laws to the extent such laws are applicable to the Mortgaged Property.  There is no pending action or
proceeding directly involving the Mortgaged Property in which compliance with any environmental law, rule or regulation is an issue; there is no violation of
any applicable environmental law (including, without limitation, asbestos), rule or regulation with respect to the Mortgaged Property; and nothing further
remains to be done to satisfy in full all requirements of each such law, rule or regulation constituting a prerequisite to use and enjoyment of said property.

 
(g)                                  Compliance with Applicable Laws.  Any and all requirements of any federal, state or local law including, without limitation,

usury, truth-in-lending, real estate settlement procedures, consumer credit protection, equal credit opportunity or disclosure laws applicable to the Mortgage
Loan have been complied with, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not involve the violation of any such laws or regulations, and



Seller shall maintain or shall cause its agent to maintain in its possession, available for the inspection of Buyer, and shall deliver to Buyer, upon demand,
evidence of compliance with all such requirements.

 
(h)                                 No Satisfaction of Mortgage.  The Mortgage has not been satisfied, canceled, subordinated or rescinded, in whole or in part, and

the Mortgaged Property has not been released from the lien of the Mortgage, in whole or in part, nor has any instrument been executed that would affect any
such release, cancellation, subordination or rescission.  Seller has not waived the performance by the Mortgagor of any action, if the Mortgagor’s failure to
perform such action would cause the Mortgage Loan to be in default, nor has Seller waived any default resulting from any action or inaction by the
Mortgagor.

 
(i)                                     Location and Type of Mortgaged Property.  The Mortgaged Property is located in an Acceptable State as identified in the

Custodial Mortgage Loan Schedule and consists of a single parcel of real property with a detached single family residence erected thereon, or a two- to four-
family dwelling, or an individual condominium unit in a low-rise condominium project, or an individual unit in a planned unit development or a de minimis
planned unit development; provided, however, that any condominium unit or planned unit development shall conform with the applicable Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac requirements regarding such dwellings or shall conform to underwriting guidelines acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion and that no
residence or dwelling is a mobile home.  No portion of the Mortgaged Property is used for commercial purposes; provided, that, the Mortgaged Property may
be a mixed use property if such Mortgaged Property conforms to underwriting guidelines acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion.

 
(j)                                    Valid First Lien.  The Mortgage is a valid, subsisting, enforceable and perfected with respect to each first lien Mortgage Loan, first

priority lien and first priority security interest on the real property included in the Mortgaged Property, including all buildings on the Mortgaged Property and
all installations and mechanical, electrical, plumbing, heating and
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air conditioning systems located in or annexed to such buildings, and all additions, alterations and replacements made at any time with respect to the
foregoing.  The lien of the Mortgage is subject only to:

 
a.                                      the lien of current real property taxes and assessments not yet due and payable;
 
b.                                      covenants, conditions and restrictions, rights of way, easements and other matters of the public record as of the date of recording acceptable

to prudent mortgage lending institutions generally and specifically referred to in Buyer’s title insurance policy delivered to the originator of the Mortgage
Loan and (a) referred to or otherwise considered in the appraisal made for the originator of the Mortgage Loan or (b) which do not adversely affect the
Appraised Value of the Mortgaged Property set forth in such appraisal;

 
c.                                       other matters to which like properties are commonly subject which do not materially interfere with the benefits of the security intended to

be provided by the Mortgage or the use, enjoyment, value or marketability of the related Mortgaged Property.
 

Any security agreement, chattel mortgage or equivalent document related to and delivered in connection with the Mortgage Loan establishes and creates a
valid, subsisting and enforceable first lien and first priority security interest on the property described therein and Seller has full right to pledge and assign the
same to Buyer.  The Mortgaged Property was not, as of the date of origination of the Mortgage Loan, subject to a mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt
or other security instrument creating a lien subordinate to the lien of the Mortgage.
 

(k)                                 Validity of Mortgage Documents.  The Mortgage Note and the Mortgage and any other agreement executed and delivered by a
Mortgagor or guarantor, if applicable, in connection with a Mortgage Loan are genuine, and each is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the maker
thereof enforceable in accordance with its terms.  All parties to the Mortgage Note, the Mortgage and any other such related agreement had legal capacity to
enter into the Mortgage Loan and to execute and deliver the Mortgage Note, the Mortgage and any such agreement, and the Mortgage Note, the Mortgage and
any other such related agreement have been duly and properly executed by such related parties.  No fraud, error, omission, misrepresentation, negligence or
similar occurrence with respect to a Mortgage Loan has taken place on the part of any Person, including, without limitation, the Mortgagor, any appraiser, any
builder or developer, or any other party involved in the origination of the Mortgage Loan.  Seller has reviewed all of the documents constituting the Mortgage
File and has made such inquiries as it deems necessary to make and confirm the accuracy of the representations set forth herein.  To the best of Seller’s
knowledge, except as disclosed to Buyer in writing, all tax identifications and property descriptions are legally sufficient; and tax segregation, where required,
has been completed.

 
(l)                                     Full Disbursement of Proceeds.  There is no further requirement for future advances under the Mortgage Loan, and any and all

requirements as to completion of any on-site or off-site improvement and as to disbursements of any escrow funds therefor have been complied with.  All
costs, fees and expenses incurred in making or closing the Mortgage Loan and the recording of the Mortgage were paid, and the Mortgagor is not entitled to
any refund of any amounts paid or due under the Mortgage Note or Mortgage.  All broker fees have been
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properly assessed to the Mortgagor and no claims will arise as to broker fees that are double charged and for which the Mortgagor would be entitled to
reimbursement.

 
(m)                             Ownership.  Seller has full right to sell the Mortgage Loan to Buyer free and clear of any encumbrance, equity, participation

interest, lien, pledge, charge, claim or security interest, and has full right and authority subject to no interest or participation of, or agreement with, any other
party, to sell each Mortgage Loan pursuant to this Agreement and following the sale of each Mortgage Loan, Buyer will own such Mortgage Loan free and
clear of any encumbrance, equity, participation interest, lien, pledge, charge, claim or security interest except any such security interest created pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement.

 
(n)                                 Doing Business.  All parties which have had any interest in the Mortgage Loan, whether as mortgagee, assignee, pledgee or

otherwise, are (or, during the period in which they held and disposed of such interest, were) (i) in compliance with any and all applicable licensing
requirements of the laws of the state wherein the Mortgaged Property is located, and (ii) either (A) organized under the laws of such state, (B) qualified to do



business in such state, (C) a federal savings and loan association, a savings bank or a national bank having a principal office in such state, or (D) not doing
business in such state.

 
(o)                                 Title Insurance.  The Mortgage Loan is covered by either (i) an attorney’s opinion of title and abstract of title, the form and

substance of which is acceptable to prudent mortgage lending institutions making mortgage loans in the area wherein the Mortgaged Property is located or
(ii) an ALTA lender’s title insurance policy or other generally acceptable form of policy or insurance acceptable to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and each such
title insurance policy is issued by a title insurer acceptable to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and qualified to do business in the jurisdiction where the Mortgaged
Property is located, insuring Seller, its successors and assigns, as to the first priority lien of the Mortgage, as applicable, in the original principal amount of the
Mortgage Loan, with respect to a Mortgage Loan (or to the extent a Mortgage Note provides for negative amortization, the maximum amount of negative
amortization in accordance with the Mortgage), subject only to the exceptions contained in clauses (a), (b) and (c) of paragraph (i) of this Schedule 1, and in
the case of adjustable rate Mortgage Loans, against any loss by reason of the invalidity or unenforceability of the lien resulting from the provisions of the
Mortgage providing for adjustment to the Mortgage Interest Rate and Monthly Payment.  Where required by state law or regulation, the Mortgagor has been
given the opportunity to choose the carrier of the required mortgage title insurance.  Additionally, such lender’s title insurance policy affirmatively insures
ingress and egress and against encroachments by or upon the Mortgaged Property or any interest therein.  The title policy does not contain any special
exceptions (other than the standard exclusions) for zoning and uses and has been marked to delete the standard survey exception or to replace the standard
survey exception with a specific survey reading. Seller, its successors and assigns, are the sole insureds of such lender’s title insurance policy, and such
lender’s title insurance policy is valid and remains in full force and effect and will be in force and effect upon the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.  No claims have been made under such lender’s title insurance policy, and no prior holder or servicer of the related
Mortgage, including Seller, has done, by act or omission, anything which would impair the coverage of such lender’s title insurance policy, including without
limitation, no unlawful fee, commission, kickback or other unlawful compensation or value of any kind has been or will be received, retained or realized by
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any attorney, firm or other Person, and no such unlawful items have been received, retained or realized by Seller.

 
(p)                                 No Defaults.  There is no default, breach, violation or event of acceleration existing under the Mortgage or the Mortgage Note and

no event has occurred which, with the passage of time or with notice and the expiration of any grace or cure period, would constitute a default, breach,
violation or event of acceleration, and neither Seller nor its predecessors have waived any default, breach, violation or event of acceleration.

 
(q)                                 No Mechanics’ Liens.  There are no mechanics’ or similar liens or claims which have been filed for work, labor or material (and

no rights are outstanding that under the law could give rise to such liens) affecting the Mortgaged Property which are or may be liens prior to, or equal or
coordinate with, the lien of the Mortgage.

 
(r)                                    Location of Improvements; No Encroachments.  All improvements which were considered in determining the Appraised Value of

the Mortgaged Property lie wholly within the boundaries and building restriction lines of the Mortgaged Property, and no improvements on adjoining
properties encroach upon the Mortgaged Property.  No improvement located on or being part of the Mortgaged Property is in violation of any applicable
zoning and building law, ordinance or regulation.  All seller and/or builder cash concessions have been subtracted from the Appraised Value of the Mortgaged
Property for purposes of determining the LTV.

 
(s)                                   Origination; Payment Terms.  The Mortgage Loan was originated by or in conjunction with a mortgagee approved by the Secretary

of Housing and Urban Development pursuant to Sections 203 and 211 of the National Housing Act, a savings and loan association, a savings bank, a
commercial bank, credit union, insurance company or similar banking institution which is supervised and examined by a federal or state authority.  Principal
and/or interest payments on the Mortgage Loan commenced no more than 60 days after funds were disbursed in connection with the Mortgage Loan.  No
Mortgage Loan has a balloon payment feature.  To the extent required by the Underwriting Guidelines, the Mortgagor contributed at least five percent (5%)
(or three and one-half percent (3.5%) for FHA Loans) of the purchase price for the Mortgaged Property from their own funds.  Interest on the Mortgage Loan
is calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.  With respect to adjustable rate Mortgage Loans, the Mortgage Interest Rate
is adjusted on each Interest Rate Adjustment Date to equal the Index plus the Gross Margin (rounded up or down to the nearest .125%), subject to the
Mortgage Interest Rate Cap.  The Mortgage Note is payable on the first day of each month in equal monthly installments of principal and/or interest (subject
to an “interest only” period in the case of Interest Only Loans), which installments of interest (a) with respect to adjustable rate Mortgage Loans are subject to
change on the Interest Rate Adjustment Date due to adjustments to the Mortgage Interest Rate on each Interest Rate Adjustment Date and (b) with respect to
Interest Only Loans are subject to change on the Interest Only Adjustment Date due to adjustments to the Mortgage Interest Rate on each Interest Only
Adjustment Date, in both cases with interest calculated and payable in arrears, sufficient to amortize the Mortgage Loan fully by the stated maturity date, over
an original term of not more than 30 years from commencement of amortization.
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(t)                                    Customary Provisions.  The Mortgage Note has a stated maturity.  The Mortgage contains customary and enforceable provisions

such as to render the rights and remedies of the holder thereof adequate for the realization against the Mortgaged Property of the benefits of the security
provided thereby, including, (i) in the case of a Mortgage designated as a deed of trust, by trustee’s sale, and (ii) otherwise by judicial foreclosure.  Upon
default by a Mortgagor on a Mortgage Loan and foreclosure on, or trustee’s sale of, the Mortgaged Property pursuant to the proper procedures, the holder of
the Mortgage Loan will be able to deliver good and merchantable title to the Mortgaged Property.  There is no homestead or other exemption or other right
available to the Mortgagor or any other person, or restriction on the Seller or any other person, including without limitation, any federal, state or local, law,
ordinance, decree, regulation, guidance, attorney general action, or other pronouncement, whether temporary or permanent in nature, that would interfere
with, restrict or delay, either (y) the ability of the Seller, Buyer or any servicer or any successor servicer to sell the related Mortgaged Property at a trustee’s
sale or otherwise, or (z) the ability of the Seller, Buyer or any servicer or any successor servicer to foreclose on the related Mortgage.  The Mortgage Note and
Mortgage are on forms acceptable to Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae.

 
(u)                                 Occupancy of the Mortgaged Property.  As of the Purchase Date the Mortgaged Property is lawfully occupied under applicable

law.  All inspections, licenses and certificates required to be made or issued with respect to all occupied portions of the Mortgaged Property and, with respect
to the use and occupancy of the same, including but not limited to certificates of occupancy and fire underwriting certificates, have been made or obtained
from the appropriate authorities.  Seller has not received notification from any Governmental Authority that the Mortgaged Property is in material non-
compliance with such laws or regulations, is being used, operated or occupied unlawfully or has failed to have or obtain such inspection, licenses or



certificates, as the case may be.  Seller has not received notice of any violation or failure to conform with any such law, ordinance, regulation, standard,
license or certificate.  With respect to any Mortgage Loan originated with an “owner-occupied” Mortgaged Property, the Mortgagor represented at the time of
origination of the Mortgage Loan that the Mortgagor would occupy the Mortgaged Property as the Mortgagor’s primary residence.

 
(v)                                 No Additional Collateral.  The Mortgage Note is not and has not been secured by any collateral except the lien of the

corresponding Mortgage and the security interest of any applicable security agreement or chattel mortgage referred to in clause (i) above.
 
(w)                               Deeds of Trust.  In the event the Mortgage constitutes a deed of trust, a trustee, authorized and duly qualified under applicable law

to serve as such, has been properly designated and currently so serves and is named in the Mortgage, and no fees or expenses are or will become payable by
the Custodian or Buyer to the trustee under the deed of trust, except in connection with a trustee’s sale after default by the Mortgagor.

 
(x)                                 Transfer of Mortgage Loans.  Except with respect to Mortgage Loans intended for purchase by GNMA and for Mortgage Loans

registered with MERS, the Assignment of Mortgage is in recordable form and is acceptable for recording under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the
Mortgaged Property is located.

 
Schedule 1-7

 
(y)                                 Due-On-Sale.  Except with respect to Mortgage Loans intended for purchase by GNMA, the Mortgage contains an enforceable

provision for the acceleration of the payment of the unpaid principal balance of the Mortgage Loan in the event that the Mortgaged Property is sold or
transferred without the prior written consent of the mortgagee thereunder.

 
(z)                                  No Buydown Provisions; No Graduated Payments or Contingent Interests.  Except with respect to Agency Mortgage Loans, the

Mortgage Loan does not contain provisions pursuant to which Monthly Payments are paid or partially paid with funds deposited in any separate account
established by Seller, the Mortgagor, or anyone on behalf of the Mortgagor, or paid by any source other than the Mortgagor nor does it contain any other
similar provisions which may constitute a “buydown” provision.  The Mortgage Loan is not a graduated payment mortgage loan and the Mortgage Loan does
not have a shared appreciation or other contingent interest feature.

 
(aa)                          Consolidation of Future Advances.  Any future advances made to the Mortgagor prior to the Purchase Date have been consolidated

with the outstanding principal amount secured by the Mortgage, and the secured principal amount, as consolidated, bears a single interest rate and single
repayment term.  The lien of the Mortgage securing the consolidated principal amount is expressly insured as having first lien priority by a title insurance
policy, an endorsement to the policy insuring the mortgagee’s consolidated interest or by other title evidence acceptable to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  The
consolidated principal amount does not exceed the original principal amount of the Mortgage Loan.

 
(bb)                          No Condemnation Proceeding.  There have not been any condemnation proceedings with respect to the Mortgaged Property and

Seller has no knowledge of any such proceedings.
 
(cc)                            Collection Practices; Escrow Deposits; Interest Rate Adjustments.  The origination and collection practices used by the originator,

each servicer of the Mortgage Loan and Seller with respect to the Mortgage Loan have been in all respects in compliance with Accepted Servicing Practices,
applicable laws and regulations, and have been in all respects legal and proper.  With respect to escrow deposits and Escrow Payments, all such payments are
in the possession of, or under the control of, Seller and there exist no deficiencies in connection therewith for which customary arrangements for repayment
thereof have not been made.  All Escrow Payments have been collected in full compliance with state and federal law.  An escrow of funds is not prohibited by
applicable law and has been established in an amount sufficient to pay for every item that remains unpaid and has been assessed but is not yet due and
payable.  No escrow deposits or Escrow Payments or other charges or payments due Seller have been capitalized under the Mortgage or the Mortgage Note. 
All Mortgage Interest Rate adjustments have been made in strict compliance with state and federal law and the terms of the related Mortgage Note.  Any
interest required to be paid pursuant to state, federal and local law has been properly paid and credited.

 
(dd)                          Conversion to Fixed Interest Rate.  Except as allowed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or otherwise as expressly approved in

writing by Buyer, with respect to adjustable rate Mortgage Loans, the Mortgage Loan is not convertible to a fixed interest rate Mortgage Loan.
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(ee)                            Other Insurance Policies.  No action, inaction or event has occurred and no state of facts exists or has existed that has resulted or

will result in the exclusion from, denial of, or defense to coverage under any applicable special hazard insurance policy, PMI Policy or bankruptcy bond,
irrespective of the cause of such failure of coverage.  In connection with the placement of any such insurance, no commission, fee, or other compensation has
been or will be received by Seller or by any officer, director, or employee of Seller or any designee of Seller or any corporation in which Seller or any officer,
director, or employee had a financial interest at the time of placement of such insurance.

 
(ff)                              Servicemembers Civil Relief Act.  The Mortgagor has not notified Seller, and Seller has no knowledge, of any relief requested or

allowed to the Mortgagor under the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act of 2003.
 
(gg)                            Appraisal.  Except as otherwise permitted by the terms of any relevant Agency program, the Mortgage File contains an appraisal

of the related Mortgaged Property signed prior to the funding of the Mortgage Loan by a qualified appraiser, duly appointed by Seller, who had no interest,
direct or indirect in the Mortgaged Property or in any loan made on the security thereof, and whose compensation is not affected by the approval or
disapproval of the Mortgage Loan, and the appraisal and appraiser both satisfy the requirements of Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and Title XI of the Federal
Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 as amended and the regulations promulgated thereunder, all as in effect on the date the
Mortgage Loan was originated. As of the origination date, no required appraisal is more than one hundred and twenty (120) days old.

 
(hh)                          Disclosure Materials.  The Mortgagor has executed a statement to the effect that the Mortgagor has received all disclosure

materials required by applicable law with respect to the making of adjustable rate mortgage loans, and Seller maintains such statement in the Mortgage File.
 
(ii)                                  Construction or Rehabilitation of Mortgaged Property.  No Mortgage Loan was made in connection with the construction or

rehabilitation of a Mortgaged Property or facilitating the trade-in or exchange of a Mortgaged Property.



 
(jj)                                No Defense to Insurance Coverage.  No action has been taken or failed to be taken, no event has occurred and no state of facts

exists or has existed on or prior to the Purchase Date (whether or not known to Seller on or prior to such date) which has resulted or will result in an exclusion
from, denial of, or defense to coverage under any private mortgage insurance (including, without limitation, any exclusions, denials or defenses which would
limit or reduce the availability of the timely payment of the full amount of the loss otherwise due thereunder to the insured) whether arising out of actions,
representations, errors, omissions, negligence, or fraud of Seller, the related Mortgagor or any party involved in the application for such coverage, including
the appraisal, plans and specifications and other exhibits or documents submitted therewith to the insurer under such insurance policy, or for any other reason
under such coverage, but not including the failure of such insurer to pay by reason of such insurer’s breach of such insurance policy or such insurer’s financial
inability to pay.
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(kk)                          Capitalization of Interest.  The Mortgage Note does not by its terms provide for the capitalization or forbearance of interest.
 
(ll)                                  No Equity Participation.  No document relating to the Mortgage Loan provides for any contingent or additional interest in the form

of participation in the cash flow of the Mortgaged Property or a sharing in the appreciation of the value of the Mortgaged Property.  The indebtedness
evidenced by the Mortgage Note is not convertible to an ownership interest in the Mortgaged Property or the Mortgagor and Seller has not financed nor does
it own directly or indirectly, any equity of any form in the Mortgaged Property or the Mortgagor.

 
(mm)                  Proceeds of Mortgage Loan.  The proceeds of the Mortgage Loan have not been and shall not be used to satisfy, in whole or in

part, any debt owed or owing by the Mortgagor to Seller or any Affiliate or correspondent of Seller, except in connection with a refinanced Mortgage Loan;
provided, however, that other than with respect to FHA Loans and VA Loans originated in accordance with their respective guidelines, no such refinanced
Mortgage Loan shall have been originated pursuant to a streamlined mortgage loan refinancing program.

 
(nn)                          Origination Date.  The Purchase Date is no more than thirty (30) days following the origination date.
 
(oo)                          No Exception.  The Custodian has not noted any material exceptions on a Custodial Mortgage Loan Schedule with respect to the

Mortgage Loan which would materially adversely affect the Mortgage Loan or Buyer’s interest in the Mortgage Loan.
 
(pp)                          Mortgage Submitted for Recordation.  The Mortgage either has been or will promptly be submitted for recordation in the

appropriate governmental recording office of the jurisdiction where the Mortgaged Property is located.
 
(qq)                          Documents Genuine.  Such Purchased Mortgage Loan and all accompanying collateral documents are complete and authentic and

all signatures thereon are genuine.  Such Purchased Mortgage Loan is a “closed” loan fully funded by Seller and held in Seller’s name.
 
(rr)                                Bona Fide Loan.  Such Purchased Mortgage Loan arose from a bona fide loan, complying with all applicable State and Federal

laws and regulations, to persons having legal capacity to contract and is not subject to any defense, set-off or counterclaim.
 
(ss)                              Other Encumbrances.  To the best of Seller’s knowledge, any property subject to any security interest given in connection with

such Purchased Mortgage Loan is not subject to any other encumbrances other than a stated first mortgage, if applicable, and encumbrances which may be
allowed under the Underwriting Guidelines.

 
(tt)                                Description.  Each Purchased Mortgage Loan conforms to the description thereof as set forth on the related Custodial Mortgage

Loan Schedule delivered to the Custodian and Buyer.
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(uu)                          Located in U.S.  No collateral (including, without limitation, the related real property and the dwellings thereon and otherwise)

relating to a Purchased Mortgage Loan is located in any jurisdiction other than in one of the fifty (50) states of the United States of America or the District of
Columbia.

 
(vv)                          Underwriting Guidelines.  Each Purchased Mortgage Loan has been originated in accordance with the Underwriting Guidelines

(including all supplements or amendments thereto) previously provided to Buyer.
 
(ww)                      Aging.  Such Purchased Mortgage Loan has not been subject to a Transaction hereunder for more than the applicable Aging Limit.
 
(xx)                          Reserved.
 
(yy)                          Primary Mortgage Guaranty Insurance.  Each Mortgage Loan is insured as to payment defaults by a policy of primary mortgage

guaranty insurance in the amount required where applicable, and by an insurer approved, by the applicable Take-out Investor, if applicable, and all provisions
of such primary mortgage guaranty insurance have been and are being complied with, such policy is in full force and effect, and all premiums due thereunder
have been paid.  Each Mortgage Loan which is represented to Buyer to have, or to be eligible for, FHA insurance is insured, or eligible to be insured, pursuant
to the National Housing Act.  Each Mortgage Loan which is represented by Seller to be guaranteed, or to be eligible for guaranty, by the VA is guaranteed, or
eligible to be guaranteed, under the provisions of Chapter 37 of Title 38 of the United States Code.  As to each FHA insurance certificate or each VA guaranty
certificate, Seller has complied with applicable provisions of the insurance for guaranty contract and federal statutes and regulations, all premiums or other
charges due in connection with such insurance or guarantee have been paid, there has been no act or omission which would or may invalidate any such
insurance or guaranty, and the insurance or guaranty is, or when issued, will be, in full force and effect with respect to each Mortgage Loan.  There are no
defenses, counterclaims, or rights of setoff affecting the Mortgage Loans or affecting the validity or enforceability of any private mortgage insurance or FHA
insurance applicable to the Mortgage Loans or any VA guaranty with respect to the Mortgage Loans.

 
(zz)                            Tax Service.  The Mortgage Loan is covered by a life of loan, transferrable real estate tax service contract that may be assigned to

Buyer.



 
(aaa)                   Predatory Lending Regulations; High Cost Loans.  No Mortgage Loan is classified as High Cost Mortgage Loans.
 
(bbb)                   Credit Score and Reporting.  As of the Purchase Date, the Mortgagor’s credit score as listed on the Mortgage Loan Schedule is no

more than ninety (90) days old.  Full, complete and accurate information with respect to the Mortgagor’s credit file was furnished to Equifax, Experian and
Trans Union Credit Information in accordance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act and its implementing regulations.

 
(ccc)                      Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans.  With respect to each Mortgage Loan that is a Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan, the Settlement Agent has been

instructed in writing by Seller to hold the related Mortgage Loan Documents as agent and bailee for Buyer or Buyer agent and to
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promptly forward such Mortgage Loan Documents in accordance with the provisions of the Custodial Agreement and the Escrow Instruction Letter.

 
(ddd)                   FHA Mortgage Insurance; VA Loan Guaranty.  With respect to the FHA Loans, the FHA Mortgage Insurance Contract is in full

force and effect and there exists no impairment to full recovery without indemnity to the Department of Housing and Urban Development or the FHA under
FHA Mortgage Insurance.  With respect to the VA Loans, the VA Loan Guaranty Agreement is in full force and effect to the maximum extent stated therein. 
All necessary steps have been taken to keep such guaranty or insurance valid, binding and enforceable and each of such is the binding, valid and enforceable
obligation of the FHA and the VA, respectively, to the full extent thereof, without surcharge, set-off or defense.  Each FHA Loan and VA Loan was originated
in accordance with the criteria of an Agency for purchase of such Mortgage Loans.

 
Schedule 1-12

 
SCHEDULE 1

 
PART 2

 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO UNDERLYING REPURCHASE TRANSACTIONS

 
(a)                                 Validity of Underlying Repurchase Documents. The Underlying Repurchase Documents and any other agreement executed and

delivered by the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or guarantor thereto, as applicable, in connection with an Underlying Repurchase Transaction are
genuine, and each is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the maker thereof enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be
affected by bankruptcy, by other insolvency laws or by general principles of equity.  Seller and the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty had legal capacity to
enter into the Underlying Repurchase Transaction and the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty had the legal capacity to execute and deliver the Underlying
Repurchase Documents and any such agreement, and the Underlying Repurchase Documents and any such other related agreement to which Seller or the
Underlying Repurchase Counterparty are parties have been duly and properly executed by Seller and the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, as applicable. 
The Transaction and the Underlying Repurchase Documents are in full force and effect, and the enforceability of the Underlying Repurchase Documents has
not been contested by the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty.

 
(b)                                 Original Terms Unmodified.  Except to the extent approved in writing by Buyer, the terms of the Underlying Repurchase

Documents have not been impaired, altered or modified in any material respect.
 
(c)                                  No Defenses.  The Underlying Repurchase Transaction is not subject to any right of rescission, set-off, counterclaim or defense

nor will the operation of any of the terms of any Underlying Repurchase Documents, or the exercise of any right thereunder, render any Underlying
Repurchase Document unenforceable in whole or in part and no such right of rescission, set-off, counterclaim or defense has been asserted with respect
thereto.

 
(d)                                 No Bankruptcy.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is not subject to an Act of Insolvency.  The Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty has not threatened and, to Seller’s knowledge, is not contemplating either the filing of a petition by it under any state or federal bankruptcy or
insolvency laws or the liquidation of all or a major portion of the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s assets or any of the Mortgage Loans.

 
(e)                                  Compliance with Applicable Laws; Consents.  Any and all requirements of any federal, state or local law including, without

limitation, usury, consumer credit protection, or disclosure laws applicable to the Underlying Repurchase Transaction have been complied with in all material
respects, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not involve the violation of any such laws or regulations, and Seller shall maintain in
its possession, available for the inspection by Buyer, and shall deliver to Buyer, upon demand, evidence of
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compliance with all such requirements.  All consents of and all filings with any federal or state Governmental Authority necessary in connection with the
execution, delivery or performance of the Underlying Repurchase Transaction have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect.

 
(f)                                   Delivery of Underlying Repurchase Documents.  True and correct fully executed copies of the Underlying Repurchase Documents

have been delivered to Buyer.
 
(g)                                  Organization.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty has been duly organized and is validly existing and in good standing

under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty has requisite power and authority to (i) own its properties,
(ii) transact the business in which it is now engaged, (iii) execute and deliver the Underlying Repurchase Documents and (iv) consummate the transactions
contemplated thereby.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in the jurisdictions where it is
required to be so qualified in connection with the ownership, maintenance, management and operation of its business.  The Underlying Repurchase



Counterparty possesses all material rights, licenses, permits and authorizations, governmental or otherwise, necessary to entitle it to own its properties and to
transact the businesses in which it is now engaged.

 
(h)                                 No Conflicts.  The execution, delivery and performance of the Underlying Repurchase Documents by the Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty do not conflict with or constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien (other than pursuant to the Underlying
Repurchase Documents) under, any material mortgage, deed of trust, Agreement, partnership agreement, or other agreement or instrument to which the
Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is a party or to which any of its property is subject, nor will such action result in any violation of the provisions of any
statute of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty, and any qualification of or with any governmental
authority required for the execution, delivery, and performance by the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty of the Underlying Repurchase Documents has
been obtained and is in full force and effect.

 
(i)                                     Compliance.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable legal

requirements.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is not in default or violation of any order, writ, injunction, decree or demand of any Governmental
Authority, the violation of which might adversely affect the condition (financial or otherwise) or business of the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty.

 
(j)                                    Underlying Repurchase Transaction Not Assigned.  No Underlying Repurchase Transaction Document is assigned to any third

party.  No Underlying Repurchase Counterparty has sold, assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of, or granted any option with respect to, or pledged,
hypothecated or granted a security interest in or lien on or otherwise encumbered (except pursuant to the Underlying Repurchase Documents), any of the
Purchased Mortgage Loans or any interest therein. The Underlying Repurchase Documents permit Seller to sell, assign, pledge, transfer or rehypothecate the
Mortgage Loans and all other collateral purchased by Seller pursuant to the Underlying Repurchase Documents.
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(k)                                 Solvency.  The transfer of the Mortgage Loans subject to the Underlying Repurchase Documents is not undertaken with the intent

to hinder, delay or defraud any of the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s creditors.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is not insolvent within the
meaning of 11 U.S.C. Section 101(32) and the transfer and pledge of the Mortgage Loans pursuant to the Underlying Repurchase Documents (i) will not
cause the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty to become insolvent, (ii) will not result in any property remaining with the Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty to be unreasonably small capital, and (iii) will not result in debts that would be beyond the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s ability to pay
as same mature.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty receives reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the transfer and pledge of the Mortgage
Loans in accordance with the Underlying Repurchase Documents.

 
(l)                                     Ownership.  Underlying Repurchase Counterparty has sold the Underlying Mortgage Loan on a servicing-released basis to the

Seller under the Underlying Repurchase Transaction. Underlying Repurchase Counterparty has good, indefeasible and marketable title to the Mortgage
Loans, and has full right to transfer, pledge and assign the Mortgage Loans to Seller free and clear of any encumbrance, equity, participation interest, lien,
pledge, charge, claim or security interest, and has full right and authority subject to no interest or participation of, or agreement with, any other party, to
assign, transfer and pledge the Mortgage Loans pursuant to the Underlying Repurchase Documents, and following the transfer and pledge of the Mortgage
Loans, Seller will hold such Mortgage Loans free and clear of any encumbrance, equity, participation interest, lien, pledge, charge, claim or security interest
except any such security interest created other than those created under this Agreement.

 
(m)                             Agency Approvals.  In the event the applicable Underlying Repurchase Counterparty becomes an FHA Approved Mortgagee, a

VA Approved Lender and a GNMA Approved Lender, such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty shall remain an FHA Approved Mortgagee, a VA
Approved Lender and a GNMA Approved Lender, as applicable.  In the event the applicable Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is also approved by Fannie
Mae as an approved lender and Freddie Mac as an approved seller/servicer, and, to the extent necessary, approved by the Secretary of Housing and Urban
Development pursuant to Sections 203 and 211 of the National Housing Act, such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty shall remain so approved.  In each
such case, the applicable Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is in good standing, with no event having occurred or such Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty having any reason whatsoever to believe or suspect will occur prior to the issuance of the Agency Security or the consummation of the Take-out
Commitment, as the case may be, including, without limitation, a change in insurance coverage which would either make such Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty unable to comply with the eligibility requirements for maintaining all such applicable approvals or require notification to the relevant Agency or
to the Department of Housing and Urban Development, FHA or VA.

 
(n)                                 No Plan Assets.  The related Underlying Repurchase Counterparty is not an “employee benefit plan,” as defined in Section 3(3) of

ERISA, subject to Title I of ERISA, and none of the assets of the Mortgagor constitutes or will constitute “plan assets” of one or more such plans within the
meaning of 29 C.F.R. Section 2510.3-101.

 
(o)                                 No Prohibited Persons.  Neither the related Underlying Repurchase
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Counterparty nor any of its affiliates, officers, directors, partners or members, is an entity or person (or to Seller’s knowledge after due inquiry, owned or
controlled by an entity or person): (i) that is listed in the Annex to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of Executive Order 13224 issued on
September 24, 2001 (“EO13224”); (ii) whose name appears on the United States Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) most
current list of “Specifically Designated National and Blocked Persons” (which list may be published from time to time in various mediums including, but not
limited to, the OFAC website, http:www.treas.gov/ofac/t11sdn.pdf); (iii) who commits, threatens to commit or supports “terrorism”, as that term is defined in
EO13224; or (iv) who is otherwise affiliated with any entity or person listed above.

 
(p)                                 Mortgage Loans Assignable; Buyer’s Security Interest.  The Underlying Mortgage Loan Documents and Underlying Repurchase

Documents have been delivered to Buyer and the UCC-1 Financing Statement naming the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty as debtor and Seller as
secured party and identifying the Mortgage Loans as collateral has been filed in the applicable filing office.

 
(q)                                 Underlying Repurchase Counterparty Diligence.  Seller has delivered to Buyer all information regarding the applicable Underlying

Repurchase Counterparty as Buyer has requested and such information is satisfactory to Buyer in all material respects.
 



(r)                                    Underlying Repurchase Documents. The Underlying Repurchase Documents are “repurchase agreements” within the meaning of
Section 559 of the Bankruptcy Code.

 
(s)                                   True and Complete Disclosure.  All information, reports, exhibits, schedules, financial statements or certificates of each

Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or any of its officers furnished or to be furnished to Buyer in connection with the initial or any ongoing due diligence of
any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or officer thereof, negotiation, preparation, or delivery of the Program Agreements are true and complete and do not
omit to disclose any material facts necessary to make the statements herein or therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made, not misleading. 
All financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP (other than monthly financial statements solely with respect to footnotes, year-end
adjustments and cash flow statements).

 
(t)                                    Material Adverse Change.  There has been no material adverse change in the business, operations, financial condition, properties

or prospects of any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty since the date set forth in the most recent financial statements supplied to Buyer as determined by
Buyer in its sole good faith discretion and there is no other condition which, in Buyer’s sole good faith discretion, constitutes a material impairment of any
Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s ability to perform its obligations under the Underlying Repurchase Documents.

 
(u)                                 Insurance.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty maintains, for itself and its Subsidiaries, Fidelity Insurance in an aggregate

amount at least equal to $300,000.  Each Underlying Repurchase Counterparty maintains, for itself and its Subsidiaries, Fidelity Insurance in respect of its
officers, employees and agents, with respect to any claims made in connection
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with all or any portion of the Mortgage Loans it originates.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty will notify the Buyer of any material change in the
terms of any such Fidelity Insurance.

 
(v)                                 Government Action.  No Governmental Authority or any person, agency or entity acting or purporting to act under governmental

authority has taken any action, which has not been discontinued or stayed within thirty (30) days: (i) to condemn, seize or appropriate, or to assume custody
or control of, all or any substantial part of the Property of the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or any Affiliate thereof, (ii) to displace the management of
the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty or any Affiliate thereof, (iii) to curtail its authority in the conduct of the business of the Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty or any Affiliate thereof, or (iv) in the nature of enforcement, to remove, limit or restrict the approval of such Underlying Repurchase
Counterparty or Affiliate as an issuer, buyer or a seller/servicer of Mortgage Loans or securities backed thereby.

 
(w)                               Financial Statements.  The Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s audited annual financial statements or the notes thereto or other

opinions or conclusions stated therein are not qualified or limited by reference to the status of such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty as a “going concern”
or a reference of similar import.

 
(x)                                 Reserved.
 
(y)                                 Litigation.  There is no action, proceeding or investigation pending with respect to which the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty

has received service of process or, to the best of such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty’s knowledge threatened against it before any court, administrative
agency or other tribunal (A) asserting the invalidity of any Underlying Repurchase Document, (B) seeking to prevent the consummation of any of the
transactions contemplated any Underlying Repurchase Document, (C) making a claim individually in an amount greater than $1,000,000 or in an aggregate
amount greater than $5,000,000, (D) which requires filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission in accordance with the 1934 Act or any
rules thereunder or (E) which might materially and adversely affect the validity of the Mortgage Loans or the performance by it of its obligations under, or the
validity or enforceability of any Underlying Repurchase Document.

 
Schedule 1-17

 
SCHEDULE 2

 
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

 
SELLER AUTHORIZATIONS
 
Any of the persons whose signatures and titles appear below are authorized, acting singly, to act for Seller under this Agreement:
 
Authorized Representatives for execution of Program Agreements and amendments
 

Name
 

Title
 

Signature
     
     
 
Authorized Representatives for execution of Transaction Requests and day-to-day operational functions
 

Name
 

Title
 

Signature
     
     
 

Signature Page to the Master Repurchase Agreement
 

 
BUYER AUTHORIZATIONS



 
Any of the persons whose signatures and titles appear below, including any other authorized officers, are authorized, acting singly, to act for Buyer under this
Agreement:
 

Name
 

Title
 

Signature
Bruce Kaiserman

 

 

 

 

Margaret Dellafera
 

 

 

 

Adam Loskove
 

 

 

 

 
Signature Page to the Master Repurchase Agreement

 

 
EXHIBIT A

 
RESERVED
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EXHIBIT B

 
RESERVED

 
B-1

 
EXHIBIT C

 
RESERVED
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EXHIBIT D

 
FORM OF POWER OF ATTORNEY

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.  (“Seller”) hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (“Buyer”) and any officer or agent thereof, with full power of substitution, as its true and lawful attorney-
in-fact with full irrevocable power and authority in the place and stead of Seller and in the name of Seller or in its own name, from time to time in Buyer’s
discretion:

 
(a)                                 in the name of Seller, or in its own name, or otherwise, to take possession of and endorse and collect any checks, drafts, notes,

acceptances or other instruments for the payment of moneys due with respect to any assets purchased by Buyer under the Master Repurchase Agreement
(Repledge Facility) (as amended, restated or modified) dated September 18, 2013 (the “Assets”) and to file any claim or to take any other action or
proceeding in any court of law or equity or otherwise deemed appropriate by Buyer for the purpose of collecting any and all such moneys due with respect to
any other assets whenever payable;

 
(b)                                 to pay or discharge taxes and liens levied or placed on or threatened against the Assets;
 
(c)                                  (i) to direct any party liable for any payment under any Assets, including without limitation, any Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty under any Underlying Repurchase Document, to make payment of any and all moneys due or to become due thereunder directly to Buyer or as
Buyer shall direct; (ii) to ask or demand for, collect, receive payment of and receipt for, any and all moneys, claims and other amounts due or to become due
at any time in respect of or arising out of any Assets including without limitation, from any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty under any Underlying
Repurchase Document; (iii) to sign and endorse any invoices, assignments, verifications, notices and other documents in connection with any Assets
including without limitation, with respect to any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty under any Underlying Repurchase Document; (iv) to commence and
prosecute any suits, actions or proceedings at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction to collect the Assets or any proceeds thereof and to
enforce any other right in respect of any Assets including without limitation, any Underlying Repurchase Document; (v) to defend any suit, action or
proceeding brought against Seller with respect to any Assets, (vi) to settle, compromise or adjust any suit, action or proceeding described in clause (vii) above
and, in connection therewith, to give such discharges or releases as Buyer may deem appropriate; and (viii) generally, to sell, transfer, pledge and make any
agreement with respect to or otherwise deal with any Assets as fully and completely as though Buyer were the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and to
do, at Buyer’s option and Seller’s expense, at any time, and from time to time, all acts and things which Buyer deems necessary to protect, preserve or realize
upon the Assets and Buyer’s Liens thereon and to effect the intent of this Agreement, all as fully and effectively as Seller might do, including without
limitation, in each case, with respect to any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty and any Underlying Repurchase Document;

 
(d)                                 for the purpose of carrying out the transfer of servicing with respect to the Assets including without limitation, directing any

Underlying Repurchase Counterparty under
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any Underlying Repurchase Document, from Seller or any third party to a successor servicer appointed by Buyer in its sole discretion and to take any and all
appropriate action and to execute any and all documents and instruments which may be necessary or desirable to accomplish such transfer of servicing, and,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Seller hereby gives Buyer the power and right, on behalf of Seller, without assent by Seller, to, in the name of
Seller or its own name, or otherwise, prepare and send or cause to be sent “good bye” letters to all mortgagors under the Assets, transferring the servicing of
the Assets to a successor servicer appointed by Buyer in its sole discretion;

 
(e)                                  for the purpose of delivering any notices of sale including without limitation, on behalf of any Underlying Repurchase

Counterparty under any Underlying Repurchase Document, to mortgagors or other third parties, including without limitation, those required by law.
 
(f)                                   For the purpose of acting as attorney-in-fact for any Underlying Repurchase Counterparty pursuant to any power of attorney

granted to Seller by such Underlying Repurchase Counterparty.
 

Seller hereby ratifies Seller hereby ratifies all that said attorneys shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  This power of attorney is a
power coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable.

 
Any capitalized term used but not defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Agreement.
 
Seller also authorizes Buyer, from time to time, to execute, in connection with any sale, any endorsements, assignments or other instruments of

conveyance or transfer with respect to the Assets.
 
The powers conferred on Buyer hereunder are solely to protect Buyer’s interests in the Assets and shall not impose any duty upon it to exercise any

such powers.  Buyer shall be accountable only for amounts that it actually receives as a result of the exercise of such powers, and neither it nor any of its
officers, directors, employees or agents shall be responsible to Seller for any act or failure to act hereunder, except for its or their own gross negligence or
willful misconduct.

 
TO INDUCE ANY THIRD PARTY TO ACT HEREUNDER, SELLER HEREBY AGREES THAT ANY THIRD PARTY RECEIVING A DULY

EXECUTED COPY OR FACSIMILE OF THIS INSTRUMENT MAY ACT HEREUNDER, AND THAT REVOCATION OR TERMINATION HEREOF
SHALL BE INEFFECTIVE AS TO SUCH THIRD PARTY UNLESS AND UNTIL ACTUAL NOTICE OR KNOWLEDGE OF SUCH REVOCATION OR
TERMINATION SHALL HAVE BEEN RECEIVED BY SUCH THIRD PARTY, AND BUYER ON ITS OWN BEHALF AND ON BEHALF OF BUYER’S
ASSIGNS, HEREBY AGREES TO INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS ANY SUCH THIRD PARTY FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL
CLAIMS THAT MAY ARISE AGAINST SUCH THIRD PARTY BY REASON OF SUCH THIRD PARTY HAVING RELIED ON THE PROVISIONS OF
THIS INSTRUMENT.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF Seller has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed and Seller’s seal to be affixed this              day of

                        , 201      .
 

 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.
  
   
 

By:
 

  

Name:
  

Title:
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STATE OF )

 

 

) ss.:
COUNTY OF )

 

 
On the              day of                         , 201     before me, a Notary Public in and for said State, personally appeared

                                                                , known to me to be                                                                            of Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc., the institution
that executed the within instrument and also known to me to be the person who executed it on behalf of said corporation, and acknowledged to me that such
corporation executed the within instrument.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand affixed my office seal the day and year in this certificate first above written.
 

  
Notary Public

 

 
My Commission expires
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EXHIBIT E

 
FORM OF OPINION OF SELLER’S COUNSEL

 
                 ,     

 
Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC
Eleven Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10010
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

We have acted as counsel to Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. (“Seller”), Integrated Real Estate Service Corp. (“IRES”) and Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc. (a “Guarantor”, together with IRES, the “Guarantors”) in connection with the sale and repurchase by Seller of certain loans (the “Mortgage
Loans”) purchased from time to time (each such date, a “Purchase Date”) by Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (“Buyer”) pursuant to a
Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility), dated as of September 18, 2013, among Seller, Guarantors and Buyer (the “Master Repurchase
Agreement”) and Guarantors’ guarantee of Seller’s obligations under the Master Repurchase Agreement pursuant to the Guaranty dated as of September 18,
2013 (the “Guaranty”).  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Master Repurchase Agreement.

 
We have acted as counsel to Seller and Guarantors in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of the Master Repurchase Agreement

and the Guaranty.
 
In connection with rendering this opinion, we have examined such documents as we have deemed necessary or advisable, including the following

documents:
 
a.                                      The Program Agreements;
 
b.                                      The organizational documents of Seller and the Guarantors;
 
c.                                       The certified Consents of the Officer of Seller and each Guarantor relating to the transactions provided for in the Program Agreements;
 
d.                                      A copy of a UCC-1 financing statement describing the Repurchase Assets naming Seller as debtor and Buyer as secured party, which will

be filed under the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of                        with the office of the [Secretary of the State] of                    (the “Filing
Office”) on or about                      , 20     (the “Financing Statement”);

 
e.                                       The reports attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Search Reports”), which set forth the results of an examination conducted by [Federal

Research Corporation] of all currently indexed UCC-1 financing statements naming Seller as debtor that are on file in the Filing Office;
 
f.                                        [Good standing certificates, as of a recent date, for Seller and each Guarantor from each of the States listed on Schedule 1 attached hereto;]

and
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g.                                       The certificates, letters and opinions required to be furnished by Seller, Guarantors and others in connection with the execution of the

Program Agreements, and the additional certificates, letter and documents delivered by or on behalf of such parties concurrently herewith.
 
For purposes of the opinions expressed below, we have assumed the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the genuineness of all

signatures, the legal capacity of natural persons and the conformity to the originals of all documents.
 
Based solely upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion that:
 
1.                                      Seller is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of [[          ]], and has the corporate

power and authority to own its properties and transact the business in which it is engaged.  Seller is duly qualified as a foreign [[          ]] to transact business
in, and is in good standing under, the laws of each state in which a mortgaged property is located or is otherwise exempt under applicable law from such
qualification.  The principal place of business of Seller is located at                       .

 
2.                                      IRES is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of                 , and has the corporate

power and authority to own its properties and transact the business in which it is engaged.  IRES is duly qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business
in, and is in good standing under, the laws of each state in which a mortgaged property is located or is otherwise exempt under applicable law from such
qualification.  The principal place of business of IRES is located at               .  Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. is a corporation, duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of                 , and has the corporate power and authority to own its properties and transact the
business in which it is engaged.  Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. is duly qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business in, and is in good standing
under, the laws of each state in which a mortgaged property is located or is otherwise exempt under applicable law from such qualification.  The principal
place of business of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. is located at               .

 
3.                                      Seller has the power to engage in the transactions contemplated by the Program Agreements, and has all requisite power, authority and legal

right to execute and deliver the Program Agreements, to transfer and deliver the Purchased Mortgage Loans, to pledge the Repurchase Assets and to perform



and observe the terms and conditions of the Program Agreements.  Each Guarantor has the power, authority and legal right to issue and deliver the Guaranty
and to perform and observe the terms and conditions thereof.

 
4.                                      The Program Agreements have been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by each of Seller and each Guarantor, as

applicable, and are valid, legal and binding agreements, enforceable against Seller and each Guarantor in accordance with their respective terms, subject to
the effect of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally,
none of which will materially interfere with the realization of the benefits provided thereunder or with Buyer’s ownership of the Mortgage Loans.
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5.                                      No consent, approval, authorization or order of, or notice, filing or registration with, any court or governmental agency or body is required

for the execution, delivery and performance by either Seller or Guarantors of, or compliance by such entity with, the Program Agreements, or the transfer of
the Purchased Mortgage Loans or the pledge of the Repurchase Assets or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Program Agreements.

 
6.                                      Neither the transfer or delivery of the Mortgage Loans, nor the consummation of any other of the transactions contemplated in the Program

Agreements, nor the fulfillment of the terms of the Program Agreements will result in a breach of or constitutes or will constitute a default under (a) the
charter or by-laws of either of Seller or Guarantors, or the terms of any material indenture or other agreement or instrument to which either Seller or
Guarantors is a party or by which it is bound or to which it is subject, (b) any contractual or legal restriction contained in any indenture, mortgage, deed of
trust, agreement, instrument or other similar document to which Seller is a party or by which it is bound or to which it is subject, or (c) any statute or order,
rule, regulation, writ, injunction or decree of any court, governmental authority or regulatory body to which either Seller or Guarantors or any of its properties
is subject or by which it is bound.

 
7.                                      There are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations pending or, to the best of our knowledge, threatened against either Seller or

Guarantors that, in our judgment, either in any one instance or in the aggregate, may result in any material adverse change in the business, operations,
financial condition, properties or assets of either Seller or Guarantors or in any material impairment of the right or ability of either Seller or Guarantors to
carry on its business substantially as now conducted or in any material liability on the part of either Seller or Guarantors that would draw into question the
validity of the Program Agreements, or of any action taken or to be taken in connection with the transactions contemplated thereby, or that would be likely to
impair materially the ability of either Seller or Guarantors to perform under the terms of, the Program Agreements.

 
8.                                      The Master Repurchase Agreement is effective to create, in favor of the Buyer, a valid “security interest” as defined in Section 1-201(37) of

the Uniform Commercial Code in all of the right, title and interest of the Seller in, to and under the Repurchase Assets, except that (a) such security interests
will continue in Repurchase Assets after its sale, exchange or other disposition only to the extent provided in Section 9-315 of the Uniform Commercial Code,
(b) the security interests in Repurchase Assets in which the Seller acquires rights after the commencement of a case under the Bankruptcy Code in respect of
the Seller may be limited by Section 552 of the Bankruptcy Code.

 
9.                                      When the Mortgage Notes are delivered to the Custodian, endorsed in blank by a duly authorized officer of Seller, the security interest

referred to in Section [8] above in the Mortgage Notes will constitute a fully perfected first-priority security interest in all right, title and interest of Seller
therein.

 
10.                               (a)                                 Upon the filing of Financing Statements with the Filing Office, the security interests referred to in Section [8] above will constitute

a fully perfected security interest under the Uniform Commercial Code in all right, title and interest of Seller in, to and under such
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Repurchase Assets, to the extent that a security interest therein can be perfected by filing under the Uniform Commercial Code.
 

(b)                                 The UCC Search Report sets forth the proper filing offices and the proper debtors necessary to identify those Persons who have on
file in the jurisdictions listed on Schedule 1 financing statements covering the Repurchase Assets as of the dates and times specified on Schedule 2.  The UCC
Search Report identifies no Person who has filed in any Filing Office a financing statement describing the Repurchase Assets prior to the effective dates of
the UCC Search Report.

 
11.                               Neither Seller nor any Guarantor is an “investment company”, or a company “controlled” by an “investment company,” within the meaning

of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
 

 

Very truly yours,
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EXHIBIT F

 
CERTIFICATE OF AN OFFICER OF THE SELLER [OR GUARANTOR]

 
The undersigned,                          of [Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.] [Integrated Real Estate Service Corp.] [Impac Mortgage

Holdings, Inc.], a [STATE] [corporation] (the “[Seller] [Guarantor]”), hereby certifies on behalf of [Seller] [Guarantor] as follows:
 
1.                                      Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a copy of the formation documents of the [Seller] [Guarantor], as certified by the Secretary of State

of the State of [STATE].



 
2.                                      Neither any amendment to the formation documents of the [Seller] [Guarantor] nor any other charter document with respect to the

[Seller] [Guarantor] has been filed, recorded or executed since                    , 201    , and no authorization for the filing, recording or execution of any such
amendment or other charter document is outstanding.

 
3.                                      Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true, correct and complete copy of the By-laws of the [Seller] [Guarantor] as in effect as of the

date hereof and at all times since                 , 201    .
 
4.                                      Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true, correct and complete copy of resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of the [Seller]

[Guarantor] by unanimous written consent on                        , 201_ (the “Resolutions”). The Resolutions have not been further amended, modified or
rescinded and are in full force and effect in the form adopted, and they are the only resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of the [Seller] [Guarantor]
or by any committee of or designated by such Board of Directors relating to the execution and delivery of, and performance of the transactions contemplated
by the Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility) dated as of September 18, 2013 (the “Repurchase Agreement”), among the Seller, the Guarantors
and Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (the “Buyer”).

 
5.                                      The Repurchase Agreement and the [Guarantee] are substantially in the form approved by the Resolutions or pursuant to authority

duly granted by the Resolutions.
 
6.                                      The undersigned, as officers of the [Seller] [Guarantor] or as attorney-in-fact, are authorized to and have signed manually the

Repurchase Agreement, the [Guarantee] or any other document delivered in connection with the transactions contemplated thereby, were duly elected or
appointed, were qualified and acting as such officer or attorney-in-fact at the respective times of the signing and delivery thereof, and were duly authorized to
sign such document on behalf of the [Seller] [Guarantor], and the signature of each such person appearing on any such document is the genuine signature of
each such person.
 

Name
 

Title
 

Signature
     
     
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto executed this Certificate as of the            day of                                     , 201  .
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[Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.] [Integrated Real Estate Service Corp.] [Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.], as [Seller] [Guarantor]
  
   
By:

  

Name:
 

 

Title:
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Exhibit C to Officer’s Certificate of the Seller [or Guarantor]

 
CORPORATE RESOLUTIONS OF SELLER [OR GUARANTOR]

 
Action of the Board of Directors
Without a Meeting Pursuant to

Section        of        
 

The undersigned, being the directors of [                                            ], a [national] banking [association] [corporation] (the “Seller”), do hereby consent to the
taking of the following action without a meeting and do hereby adopt the following resolutions by written consent pursuant to Section                          of
                             of the State of                     :
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the Seller to transfer from time to time to Buyer Mortgage Loans against the transfer of funds by
Buyer, with a simultaneous agreement by Buyer to transfer to Seller such Mortgage Loans at a date certain or on demand, against the transfer of funds by
Seller pursuant to the terms of the Repurchase Agreement (as defined below).

 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it
 
RESOLVED, that the execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of the Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility) (the

“Repurchase Agreement”) to be entered into by the Seller,  Integrated Real Estate Service Corp. (“IRES”), Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (a “Guarantor”,
together with IRES, the “Guarantors”) and Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, as Buyer, substantially in the form of the draft dated
September 18, 2013, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby authorized and approved and that the [President] or any [Vice President] (collectively, the
“Authorized Officers”) of the Seller be and each of them hereby is authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Repurchase Agreement to the Buyer
with such changes as the officer executing the same shall approve, his execution and delivery thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval;

 
RESOLVED, that the Authorized Officers hereby are, and each hereby is, authorized to execute and deliver all such aforementioned

agreements on behalf of the Seller and to do or cause to be done, in the name and on behalf of the Seller, any and all such acts and things, and to execute,
deliver and file in the name and on behalf of the Seller, any and all such agreements, applications, certificates, instructions, receipts and other documents and
instruments, as such Authorized Officer may deem necessary, advisable or appropriate in order to carry out the purposes of the foregoing resolutions.

 



RESOLVED, that the proper officers, agents and counsel of the Seller are, and each of such officers, agents and counsel is, hereby
authorized for and in the name and on behalf of the Seller to take all such further actions and to execute and deliver all such other agreements, instruments
and documents, and to make all governmental filings, in the name and on behalf of
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the Seller and such officers are authorized to pay such fees, taxes and expenses, as advisable in order to fully carry out the intent and accomplish the purposes
of the resolutions heretofore adopted hereby.
 
Dated as of:                         , 201  
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EXHIBIT G

 
SELLER’S AND GUARANTORS’ TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

 
Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.
 
Integrated Real Estate Service Corp.
 
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.
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EXHIBIT H

 
EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS

 
None

 
H-1

 
EXHIBIT I

 
FORM OF ESCROW INSTRUCTION LETTER TO BE PROVIDED BY SELLER BEFORE CLOSING

 
The escrow instruction letter (the “Escrow Instruction Letter”) shall also include the following instruction to the Settlement Agent (the “Escrow Agent”):
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (the “Buyer”), has agreed to provide funds (“Escrow Funds”) on behalf of Excel
Mortgage Servicing, Inc. to [UNDERLYING REPURCHASE COUNTERPARTY] to finance certain mortgage loans (the “Mortgage Loans”) for which you
are acting as Escrow Agent.

 
You hereby agree that (a) you shall receive such Escrow Funds from Buyer to be disbursed in connection with this Escrow Instruction

Letter, (b) you will hold such Escrow Funds in trust, without deduction, set-off or counterclaim for the sole and exclusive benefit of Buyer until such Escrow
Funds are fully disbursed on behalf of Buyer in accordance with the instructions set forth herein, and (c) you will disburse such Escrow Funds on the date
specified for closing (the “Closing Date”) only after you have followed the Escrow Instruction Letter’s requirements with respect to the Mortgage Loans.  In
the event that the Escrow Funds cannot be disbursed on the Closing Date in accordance with the Escrow Instruction Letter, you agree to promptly remit the
Escrow Funds to the Buyer by re-routing via wire transfer the Escrow Funds in immediately available funds, without deduction, set-off or counterclaim, back
to the account specified in Buyer’s incoming wire transfer.

 
You further agree that, upon disbursement of the Escrow Funds, you will hold all Mortgage Loan Documents specified in the Escrow

Instruction Letter in escrow as agent and bailee for Buyer, and will forward or cause to be forwarded the Mortgage Loan Documents and original Escrow
Instruction Letter in connection with such Mortgage Loans by overnight courier to the Custodian within five (5) Business Days following the date of
origination.

 
You agree that all fees, charges and expenses regarding your services to be performed pursuant to the Escrow Instruction Letter are to be

paid by Seller or its borrowers, and Buyer shall have no liability with respect thereto.
 
You represent, warrant and covenant that you are not an affiliate of or otherwise controlled by Seller, and that you are acting as an

independent contractor and not as an agent of Seller.
 
The provisions of this Escrow Instruction Letter may not be modified, amended or altered, except by written instrument, executed by the

parties hereto and Buyer.  You understand that Buyer shall act in reliance upon the provisions set forth in this Escrow Instruction Letter, and that Buyer is an
intended third party beneficiary hereof.

 



Whether or not an Escrow Instruction Letter executed by you is received by the Custodian, your acceptance of the Escrow Funds shall be
deemed to constitute your acceptance of the Escrow Instruction Letter.
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EXHIBIT J

 
FORM OF SERVICER NOTICE

 
[Date]

 
[                                ], as Servicer
[ADDRESS]
Attention:
 

Re:                             Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility), dated as of September 18, 2013 (the “Repurchase Agreement”), by and among
Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. (the “Seller”), Integrated Real Estate Service Corp. (“IRES”) and Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.
(a “Guarantor”, together with IRES, the “Guarantors”) and Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (the “Buyer”).

 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

[                    ] (the “Servicer”) is servicing certain mortgage loans originated by [UNDERLYING REPURCHASE COUNTERPARTY] (“URC”) and
purchased by Seller, which mortgage loans are serviced pursuant to that certain [Servicing Agreement], dated as of [               ,         ], between the Servicer
and URC, as amended from time to time.  Pursuant to the Repurchase Agreement between Buyer and Seller, the Servicer is hereby notified that Seller has
sold and pledged to Buyer certain mortgage loans which are serviced by Servicer which are subject to a security interest in favor of Buyer. Capitalized Terms
used but not defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Repurchase Agreement.

 
Section 1.  Servicing Rights.  In addition, Servicer hereby acknowledges that the Buyer has purchased the Purchased Mortgage Loans on a servicing released
basis and Buyer shall have the same rights and remedies with respect to the Servicing Rights as it has with respect to the Repurchase Assets under the
Repurchase Agreement.
 
Section 2.                                          Act as Servicer.
 

(a)  Upon receipt of a Notice of Event of Default from Buyer (“Notice of Event of Default”) in which Buyer shall identify the mortgage loans which
are then pledged to Buyer under the Repurchase Agreement (the “Mortgage Loans”), the Servicer shall segregate all amounts collected on account of such
Mortgage Loans, hold them in trust for the sole and exclusive benefit of Buyer, and remit such collections, net of any servicing fees and advances then due
and owing pursuant to the written agreement between Servicer and Seller, in accordance with Buyer’s written instructions.  Following such Notice of Event of
Default, Servicer shall follow the instructions of Buyer with respect to the Mortgage Loans, including, without limitation, any instructions to transfer
servicing, and shall deliver to Buyer any information with respect to the Mortgage Loans reasonably requested by Buyer.
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(b)                                 Servicer further acknowledges that notwithstanding any prior owner of the Repurchase Assets, or any other agreement between such prior

owner and the Servicer, Buyer’s rights are superior to any other claim by any party and Servicer shall follow the directions of Buyer and no other party,
including, without limitation, the URC and the Seller.

 
(c)                                  Notwithstanding any contrary information which may be delivered to the Servicer by Seller, the Servicer may conclusively rely on any

information or Notice of Event of Default delivered by Buyer, and Seller shall indemnify and hold the Servicer harmless for any and all claims asserted
against it for any actions taken in good faith by the Servicer in connection with the delivery of such information or Notice of Event of Default.

 
Section 3.                                          Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all such
counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.
 
Section 4.                                          Entire Agreement; Severability.  This Agreement shall supersede any existing agreements between the parties containing general terms
and conditions for repurchase transactions.  Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or
agreement herein and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.
 
Section 5.                                          Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver of Trial by Jury.  (a) THIS SERVICER NOTICE AND PLEDGE SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, AND GOVERNED BY, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICT OF
LAWS PRINCIPLES THEREOF.
 

(b)                                 SELLER AND SERVICER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY COURT OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK, OR IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THE PROGRAM AGREEMENTS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING.  SERVICER HEREBY SUBMITS TO, AND WAIVES ANY
OBJECTION THEY MAY HAVE TO, EXCLUSIVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION AND VENUE IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
AND THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, WITH RESPECT TO ANY DISPUTES ARISING
OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE PROGRAM AGREEMENTS.
 

(c)                                  SELLER AND SERVICER HEREBY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as

of the day and year first above written.
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, as Buyer
 
   
By:

  

 

Name:
 

 

Title:
 

   
  
Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc., as Seller

 

  
  
By:

  

 

Name:
 

 

 

Title:
 

 

  
  
[UNDERLYING REPURCHASE COUNTERPARTY]

 

  
  
By:

  

 

Name:
 

 

 

Title:
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Exhibit 10.1(a)
 

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON MORTGAGE CAPITAL LLC
c/o Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC

Eleven Madison Avenue, 4th Floor
New York, NY 10010

 
September 18, 2013
 
Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.
Integrated Real Estate Service Corp.
19500 Jamboree Road
Irvine, CA 92612
Attention: Ron Morrison
Phone: (949) 475-3942
Fax: (949) 706-6208
Ron.Morrison@impaccompanies.com
 
with a copy to:
 
19500 Jamboree Road
Irvine, CA 92612
Attention: Todd Taylor
(949) 475-6509
Todd.Taylor@impaccompanies.com
 

Re:  Pricing Side Letter
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

Reference is hereby made to, and this side letter (the “Pricing Side Letter”) is hereby incorporated by reference into, the Master Repurchase
Agreement (Repledge Facility), dated as of September 18, 2013 (as amended, supplemented and otherwise modified from time to time, the “Agreement”),
among Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (the “Buyer”), Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. (the “Seller”) and Integrated Real Estate Service
Corp. (“IRES” and a “Guarantor”) and Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (“Impac”, a “Guarantor” and together with IRES, the “Guarantors”).  Any capitalized
term used but not defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Agreement.

 
Section 1. Definitions.  The following terms shall have the meanings set forth below.
 

1.1       “Adjusted Tangible Net Worth” means, for any Person, Net Worth of such Person plus Subordinated Debt (provided that Subordinated
Debt shall not be taken into account to the extent that it would cause Adjusted Tangible Net Worth to be comprised of greater than 25% Subordinated Debt),
minus (a) Restricted Cash (other than any portion of Restricted Cash that has a corresponding offsetting current liability); (b) 25% of investment securities;
(c) 50% of
 

 
all mortgage loans held for investment; (d) 50% of real estate owned property; (e) 25% of the MSR Valuation of any Unencumbered Mortgage Servicing
Rights; (f) the difference, if any, of (x) the value of the mortgage servicing rights owned by Seller as set forth in the Seller’s most recent balance sheet as
determined by the Seller as of such date in accordance with GAAP and (y) the MSR Valuation, (g) 100% of the Encumbered Mortgage Servicing Rights
Equity, (h) 100% of corporate or servicing advances and (i) all intangible assets, including goodwill, patents, tradenames, trademarks, copyrights, franchises,
any organizational expenses, deferred taxes and expenses, prepaid expenses, prepaid assets, receivables from shareholders, Affiliates or employees, and any
other asset as shown as an intangible asset on the balance sheet of such Person on a consolidated basis as determined at a particular date in accordance with
GAAP (other than any portion of such assets that has a corresponding offsetting current liability).
 

1.2       “Aged Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which has been subject to a Transaction hereunder for a period of greater than 30 days but not
greater than 60 days.

 
1.3       “Aging Limit” means, (i) with respect to Purchased Mortgage Loans other than Aged Loans, 30 days and (ii) with respect to Purchased

Mortgage Loans that are Aged Loans, 60 days.
 
1.4       “Asset Value” means with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loans as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the product of

(a) the Purchase Price Percentage for the Purchased Mortgage Loan and (b) the lesser of (i) the Market Value of the Purchased Mortgage Loan or (ii) the
unpaid principal balance of such Purchased Mortgage Loan. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Seller acknowledges that (a) in the event that a
Purchased Mortgage Loan is not subject to a Take-out Commitment, Buyer may deem the Asset Value for such Mortgage Loan to be no greater than par,
(b) the Asset Value of a Purchased Mortgage Loan may not exceed the asset value of the Mortgage Loan as determined by Seller pursuant to the Underlying
Repurchase Transaction and (c) the Asset Value of a Purchased Mortgage Loan may be reduced to zero by Buyer if any of the following events occur:

 
(i)                              a breach of a representation, warranty or covenant made by Seller in the Agreement with respect to such Purchased Mortgage Loan

or the related Underlying Repurchase Transaction has occurred and is continuing;
 

(ii)                           such Purchased Mortgage Loan is a Non-Performing Mortgage Loan;
 

(iii)                        such Purchased Mortgage Loan has been released from the possession of the Custodian under the Custodial Agreement (other than
to a Take-out Investor pursuant to a Bailee Letter) for a period in excess of ten (10) calendar days;

 



(iv)                       such Purchased Mortgage Loan has been released from the possession of the Custodian under the Custodial Agreement to a Take-
out Investor pursuant to a Bailee Letter for a period in excess of thirty (30) calendar days;

 
(v)                          such Purchased Mortgage Loan has been subject to a Transaction hereunder for a period of greater than the respective Aging Limit;
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(vi)                       such Purchased Mortgage Loan is a Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan for which the Mortgage File has not been delivered to the Custodian on

or prior to the Wet-Ink Delivery Date;
 

(vii)                    (A) any material provision of the Underlying Repurchase Document related to such Purchased Mortgage Loan shall at any time for
any reason cease to be valid and binding or in full force and effect; or (B) the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty related to such Purchased
Mortgage Loan shall deny that it has any or further liability or obligation under any material provision of any related Underlying Repurchase
Document; or (C) the validity or enforceability of any material provision of any Underlying Repurchase Document related to such Purchased
Mortgage Loan shall be contested by any party thereto; or (D) any representation or warranty set forth on Schedule 1 Part 2 shall be untrue in any
material respect with respect to any Underlying Repurchase Document related to such Purchased Mortgage Loan;

 
(viii)                 the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty for such Purchased Mortgage Loan has been disapproved by Buyer as contemplated under

Section 37 of the Agreement;
 

(ix)                       without limiting the generality of clause (viii) above, Seller or the Underlying Repurchase Counterparty fails to perform or observe
any material covenant, term, obligation or agreement contained in any Underlying Repurchase Document or defaults in the performance or
observance of any of its obligations under any Underlying Repurchase Document and such default has not been cured prior to, or continues after, the
expiration of the grace period applicable thereto under such Underlying Repurchase Document, and Seller either (A) fails to waive such occurrence
in writing in a manner acceptable to Buyer or (B) enforces the Underlying Repurchase Documents; and

 
(x)                          when the Purchase Price for such Purchased Mortgage Loan is added to other Purchased Mortgage Loans, the aggregate Purchase

Price of all Purchased Mortgage Loans of any type of Mortgage Loan set forth below exceeds the applicable percentage listed opposite such type of
Mortgage Loan as set forth below:

 

Type of Mortgage
Loan

 

Percentage of the
Maximum Repledge

Facility Purchase Price
(unless otherwise

noted)
Conforming Mortgage Loans

 

100%
FHA Loans and VA Loans

 

100%
Aged Loans

 

10%
Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans

 

30%
Jumbo Mortgage Loans

 

25%
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Conforming High LTV Loans (Conforming Tier 1 High LTV Loans and

Conforming Tier 2 High LTV Loans, combined)
 

25%

Conforming Tier 1 High LTV Loans
 

25%
Conforming Tier 2 High LTV Loans

 

6.25%
 

1.5       “Conforming High LTV Loan” means collectively the Conforming Tier 1 High LTV Loan and the Conforming Tier 2 High LTV Loan.
 
1.6       “Conforming Tier 1 High LTV Loan” means a Conforming Mortgage Loan with an LTV of 105% or higher but not to exceed 125%.
 
1.7       “Conforming Tier 2 High LTV Loan” means a Conforming Mortgage Loan with an LTV higher than 125% but not to exceed 150%.
 
1.8       “Encumbered Mortgage Servicing Rights Equity” means that portion of the MSR Valuation of the Encumbered Mortgage Servicing

Rights that exceeds the Indebtedness encumbering such mortgage servicing rights.
 
1.9       “Market Value” means, with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan as of any date of determination, the whole-loan servicing

released fair market value of such Purchased Mortgage Loan on such date as determined by Buyer (or an Affiliate thereof) in its sole good faith discretion.
 
1.10                        “Maximum Available Purchase Price” means the lesser of (a) the excess, if any, of (i) the Maximum Combined Aggregate

Purchase Price over (ii) the Primary Seller Facility Aggregate Purchase Price and (b) the Maximum Repledge Facility Purchase Price.
 
1.11                        “Maximum Combined Aggregate Purchase Price” means ONE HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($100,000,000).
 
1.12                        “Maximum Repledge Facility Purchase Price” means FORTY MILLION DOLLARS ($40,000,000).
 
1.13                        “Officer’s Compliance Certificate” means the certificate attached hereto as Exhibit A.
 
1.14                        “Post Default Rate” means an annual rate of interest equal to the greater of (a) the Pricing Rate plus an additional 3% or (b) the

Mortgage Interest Rate.
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1.15                        “Pricing Rate” means (a) CSCOF plus the applicable percentage listed opposite the type of Mortgage Loan as set forth below:

 

Type of
Mortgage Loan

 

Percentage for
Mortgage Loans
other than Wet-
Ink Mortgage
Loans or Aged

Loans
 

Percentage for
Wet-Ink

Mortgage
Loans(increases
calculated based

upon original
Pricing Rate)

 

Percentage for
Aged Loans
(increases

calculated based
upon original
Pricing Rate)

Conforming Mortgage Loan
 

3.25%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
FHA Loan and VA Loan

 

3.25%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
Jumbo Mortgage Loans

 

3.25%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
Conforming High LTV Loans

 

3.50%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
 

increased by an additional 0.25%
 
(b) the rate determined in the sole discretion of Buyer with respect to Transactions the subject of which are Exception Mortgage Loans and

any other Transactions so identified by the Buyer in agreeing to enter into a Transaction with respect to such Exception Mortgage Loan.
 
The Pricing Rate shall change in accordance with CSCOF, as provided in Section 5(a).  Where a Purchased Mortgage Loan may qualify for

two or more Pricing Rates hereunder, unless otherwise expressly agreed to by the Buyer in writing, such Purchased Mortgage Loan shall be assigned the
higher Pricing Rate, as applicable.

 
1.16                        “Primary Seller Facility” means that certain Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2012, among Seller,

Guarantors and Buyer, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
 
1.17                        “Primary Seller Facility Aggregate Purchase Price” means as of any date of determination, the aggregate “Purchase Price” of

“Purchased Mortgage Loans” subject to outstanding “Transactions”, all as defined in, and calculated under the Seller Facility.
 
1.18                        “Primary Seller Purchased Mortgage Loans” means the “Purchased Mortgage Loans” under the Primary Seller Facility.
 
1.19                        “Purchase Price Percentage” means, (a) the applicable percentage listed opposite the type of Mortgage Loan as set forth below:
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Type of
Mortgage Loan

 

Percentage for
Mortgage Loans
other than Aged

Loans
 

Percentage for
Aged Loans
(reductions

calculated based
upon original

Purchase Price
Percentage)

Conforming Mortgage Loan
 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
FHA Loan and VA Loan

 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
Conforming High LTV Loans

 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
Jumbo Mortgage Loans

 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans

 

Percentage based on type of Mortgage Loan
 

n/a
 

(b)                                 with respect to Transactions the subject of which are Exception Mortgage Loans, a percentage to be determined by Buyer in its
sole discretion, provided that in the absence of an Exception Notice, the applicable Purchase Price Percentage for such Purchased Mortgage Loan shall be
reduced by 10% every ten (10) Business Day period, such reduction to occur at the outset of each such ten (10) Business Day period, commencing on the date
that such Mortgage Loan becomes an Exception Mortgage Loan; and

 
(c)                                  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in the event that the related Purchase Price Percentage for any

Purchased Mortgage Loan as set forth in the related Underlying Repurchase Document (and as defined in such Underlying Repurchase Document) is less than
the Purchase Price Percentage as set forth herein, the Purchase Price Percentage as set forth in the Underlying Repurchase Document shall apply to such
Purchased Mortgage Loan.

 
Where a Purchased Mortgage Loan may qualify for two or more Purchase Price Percentages hereunder, unless otherwise expressly agreed

to by the Buyer in writing, such Purchased Mortgage Loan shall be assigned the lower Purchase Price Percentage, as applicable.
 
1.20                        “Restricted Cash” means for any Person, any amount of cash of such Person that is contractually required to be set aside,

segregated or otherwise reserved.
 
1.21                        “Termination Date” means the earlier of (a) September 17, 2014, and (b) the date determined by Buyer (or otherwise deemed to

occur) in accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the Agreement.
 
1.22                        “Test Period” means the prior calendar quarter.
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1.23                        “Wet-Ink Delivery Date” means, with respect to each Wet-Ink Mortgage Loan, the seventh (7 ) calendar day following the

applicable Purchase Date.
 

Section 2. Financial Covenants.

th



 
2.1       Adjusted Tangible Net Worth. Seller shall maintain an Adjusted Tangible Net Worth of at least $20,000,000.
 
2.2       Indebtedness to Adjusted Tangible Net Worth Ratio. Seller’s ratio of Indebtedness (on and off balance sheet) to Adjusted Tangible Net

Worth shall not exceed 12:1.
 
2.3       Maintenance of Liquidity.  The Seller shall ensure that at all times, it has cash (other than Restricted Cash) and Cash Equivalents in an

amount not less than $7,500,000.
 
2.4       Maintenance of Profitability.  Seller shall not permit, for any Test Period, Net Income for such Test Period, before income taxes for

such Test Period and distributions made during such Test Period, to be less than $1.00.
 
2.5       Additional Warehouse Line.  Seller shall maintain at least one additional warehouse or repurchase facility with counterparties other

than Affiliates in a combined amount at least equal to the Maximum Aggregate Purchase Price.
 

Section 3. Fees.  The Seller agrees to pay as and when billed by the Buyer all of the reasonable fees, disbursements and expenses of counsel to the
Buyer in connection with the development, preparation and execution of this Pricing Side Letter or any other documents prepared in connection herewith in
accordance with Section 11 of the Agreement and receipt of payment thereof shall be a condition precedent to the Buyer entering into any Transaction
pursuant hereto.

 
Section 4. Severability.  Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or agreement

herein and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.
 
Section 5. GOVERNING LAW.  THIS PRICING SIDE LETTER SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF

THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND THE OBLIGATIONS, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE
DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SUCH LAWS.

 
Section 6. Counterparts.  This Pricing Side Letter may be executed in one or more counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate

counterparts, each of which, when so executed, shall constitute one and the same agreement.
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Pricing Side Letter to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
 

 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, as
 

Buyer
  
  
 

By: /s/ Adam Loskove
  

Name: Adam Loskove
  

Title: Vice President
   
   
 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc., as Seller
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
  

Name: Todd R. Taylor
  

Title: EVP/CFO
   
   
 

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ William Ashmore
  

Name: William Ashmore
  

Title: President
   
   
 

Integrated Real Estate Service Corp., as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
  

Name: Todd R. Taylor
  

Title: EVP/CFO
 

Signature Page to the Pricing Side Letter
 

 



EXHIBIT A
 

OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
 

I,                                       , do hereby certify that I am the [duly elected, qualified and authorized] [CFO/TREASURER/FINANCIAL
OFFICER] of Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. (“Seller”), I,                                       , do hereby certify that I am the [duly elected, qualified and authorized]
[CFO/TREASURER/FINANCIAL OFFICER] of Integrated Real Estate Service Corp. (“IRES” and a “Guarantor”) and I,                                       , do hereby
certify that I am the [duly elected, qualified and authorized] [CFO/TREASURER/FINANCIAL OFFICER] of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc (“Impac”, a
“Guarantor” and together with IRES, the “Guarantors”). This Certificate is delivered to you in connection with (i) Section 17 of the Master Repurchase
Agreement dated as of September 21, 2012, among Seller, Guarantors and Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (as amended from time to time,
the “Primary Agreement”), as the same may have been amended from time to time and (ii) Section 17 of the Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of
September 18, 2013, among Seller, Guarantors and Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC (as amended from time to time, the “Repledge
Agreement”; together with the Primary Agreement, each an “Applicable Agreement” and, collectively, the “Agreements”), as the same may have been
amended from time to time.  I hereby certify that, as of the date of the financial statements attached hereto and as of the date hereof, Seller and each
Guarantor are and have been in compliance with all the terms of each Applicable Agreement and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, I certify
that:

 
Adjusted Tangible Net Worth.  Seller has maintained an Adjusted Tangible Net Worth of at least $20,000,000.  A detailed summary of the
calculation of Seller’s actual Adjusted Tangible Net Worth is provided in Schedule 1 hereto.
 
Indebtedness to Adjusted Tangible Net Worth Ratio.  Seller’s ratio of Indebtedness (on and off balance sheet) to Adjusted Tangible Net
Worth has not exceeded 12:1 for the calendar month ending [DATE].  A calculation of Seller’s actual Indebtedness to Adjusted Tangible
Net Worth is provided in Schedule 1 hereto.
 
Maintenance of Profitability.  Seller has not permitted, for any Test Period, Net Income for such Test Period, before income taxes for such
Test Period and distributions made during such Test Period, to be less than $1.00.
 
Maintenance of Liquidity.  The Seller has ensured that, at all times, it has had cash (other than Restricted Cash) and Cash Equivalents in an
amount not less than $7,500,000.
 
Additional Warehouse Line.  The Seller has maintained at least one additional warehouse or repurchase facility in a combined amount at
least equal to the Maximum Aggregate Purchase Price.
 
Insurance.  Seller, or its Affiliates, have maintained, for Seller and its Subsidiaries, insurance coverage with respect to employee dishonesty,
forgery or
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alteration, theft, disappearance and destruction, robbery and safe burglary, property (other than money and securities) and computer fraud or
an aggregate amount of at least $                          .  The actual amount of such coverage is $                          .

 
Financial Statements.  The financial statements attached hereto are accurate and complete, accurately reflect the financial condition of
Seller, and do not omit any material fact as of the date(s) thereof.
 
Documentation.  Seller has performed the documentation procedures required by its operational guidelines with respect to endorsements
and assignments, including the recordation of assignments, or has verified that such documentation procedures have been performed by a
prior holder of such Mortgage Loan.
 
Compliance.  Seller has observed or performed in all material respects all of its covenants and other agreements, and satisfied every
condition, contained in each Applicable Agreement and the other Program Agreements executed in connection with each Applicable
Agreement to be observed, performed and satisfied by it.  [If a covenant or other agreement or condition has not been complied with, Seller
shall describe such lack of compliance and provide the date of any related waiver thereof.]
 
Regulatory Action.  Seller is not currently under investigation or, to best of Seller’s knowledge, no investigation by any federal, state or
local government agency is threatened.  Seller has not been the subject of any government investigation which has resulted in the voluntary
or involuntary suspension of a license, a cease and desist order, or such other action as could adversely impact Seller’s business.  [If so,
Seller shall describe the situation in reasonable detail and describe the action that Seller has taken or proposes to take in connection
therewith.]
 
No Default.  No Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing.  [If any Default or Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, Seller shall describe the same in reasonable detail and describe the action Seller has taken or proposes to take with respect
thereto, and if such Default or Event of Default has been expressly waived by Buyer in writing, Seller shall describe the Default or Event of
Default and provide the date of the related waiver.]
 
Distributions.  On and after the date of the Agreements, Seller nor Guarantors have paid any dividends greater than Net Income in any given
calendar year other than with respect to quarterly payments to the holders of trust preferred obligations of Impac paid by Impac.
 
Indebtedness.  All Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness evidenced by the Agreements) of Seller existing on the date hereof is listed on
Schedule 2 hereto.
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Originations.  Attached hereto as Schedule 3 is a true and correct summary of all Mortgage Loans originated by Seller for the calendar
month ending [DATE] and for the year to date ending [DATE].
 
DE Compare Ratio.  With respect to the Primary Agreement, Seller’s DE Compare Ratio has not (i) on and after the date Seller’s DE
Compare Ratio was at least 100%, increased by more than 25% or (ii) exceeded 150%, for the calendar month ending [DATE].
 
Hedging.  With respect to the Primary Agreement, attached hereto as Schedule 4 is a true and correct summary of all Interest Rate
Protection Agreements entered into or maintained by Seller during the calendar month ending on [DATE].
 
Repurchases and Early Payment Default Requests.  Attached hereto as Schedule 5 is a true and correct summary of the portfolio
performance including representation breaches, missing document breaches, repurchases due to fraud, early payment default requests, and
Mortgage Loans subject to other warehouse lines in excess of 60 days summarized on the basis of (a) pending repurchase demands
(including weighted average duration of outstanding request), (b) satisfied repurchase demands and (c) total repurchase demands.
 
Quality Control.  Attached hereto as Schedule 6 is a true and correct copy of the internal quality control maintained by Seller.
 
Underlying Repurchase Counterparties.  With respect to the Repledge Agreement, attached hereto as Schedule 7 is a list of all Underlying
Repurchase Counterparties that sold Mortgage Loans to Seller pursuant to Underlying Repurchase Transactions under the Repledge
Agreement.
 
Secondary Market Sales.  With respect to the Primary Agreement, attached hereto as Schedule 8 is a true and correct summary of all the
mortgage loans sold by Seller during the calendar month ending [DATE].
 
Geographic Production Breakdown.  With respect to the Primary Agreement, attached hereto as Schedule 9 is a true and correct summary of
all the geographic locations of the Mortgage Loans originated by Seller during the calendar month ending [DATE].
 
MSR Valuation. With respect to the Primary Agreement, a detailed summary of the market value analysis for Seller’s MSR Valuation as
determined (i) internally for each monthly fiscal period and (ii) by a Third Party Evaluator for each quarterly fiscal period, as applicable, is
provided in Schedule 10 hereto.
 
Litigation Summary.  With respect to the Primary Agreement, attached hereto as Schedule 11 is a true and correct summary of all actions,
notices, proceedings and investigations pending with respect to which Seller has received service of process or other form of notice or, to
the best of Seller’s knowledge, threatened
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against it, before any court, administrative or governmental agency or other regulatory body or tribunal as of the calendar month ending
[DATE].
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this            day of                 ,                 .

 
 

[[Name], as Seller]
  
  
 

By:
 

  

Name:
  

Title:
   
   
 

[[Name], as Guarantor]
   
 

By:
 

 

Name:
 

 

Title:
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SCHEDULE 1 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
CALCULATIONS OF FINANCIAL COVENANTS

As of the calendar month ended [DATE] or quarter ended [DATE]
 
I.

 

Adjusted Tangible Net Worth
 

 

     
1.

 

Net Worth (book)
 

$
 

 

Plus:
 

 

2.
 

Subordinated Debt (maturity > CSFB line maturity)
 

$



     
I.(a)

 

Total of items 1-2
 

$
     
 

 

Less:
 

 

3.
 

Restricted Cash
 

$
4.

 

25% of investment securities
 

$
5.

 

50% of all mortgage loans held for investment
 

$
6.

 

50% of real estate owned property
 

$
7.

 

25% of the MSR Valuation of any Unencumbered Mortgage
Servicing Rights

 

$

8.
 

100% of the MSR Valuation of any Encumbered Mortgage
Servicing Rights

 

$

9.
 

100% of the Encumbered Mortgage Servicing Rights Equity
 

$
10.

 

100% of corporate or servicing advances
 

$
11.

 

Goodwill
 

$
12.

 

Patents
 

$
13.

 

Tradenames
 

$
14.

 

Trademarks
 

$
15.

 

Copyrights
 

$
16.

 

Franchises
 

$
17.

 

Organizational expenses
 

$
18.

 

Deferred taxes and expenses
 

 

19.
 

Prepaid expenses
 

 

20.
 

Prepaid assets
 

 

21.
 

Receivables from shareholders, Affiliates or employees
 

 

22.
 

Any other intangible assets
 

$
 

 

 

 

$
I.(b)

 

Total of items 3-22
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I.(c)

 

Actual Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (a minus b)
 

$
     
 

 

Adjusted Tangible Net Worth
 

$20,000,000
 

 

Covenant
 

Yes / No
 

 

Compliance?
 

 

     
II.

 

Leverage Ratio
 

 

     
 

 

Total Debt divided by Adjusted
Tangible Net Worth — Actual

 

xx.x
 

 

Total Indebtedness (on and off balance sheet) - Actual
 

 

 

 

[Please insert calculations]
 

 

     
 

 

Leverage Covenant
 

12:1
 

 

Compliance?
 

Yes / No
     
III.

 

Test Period Net Income - Actual
 

 

     
 

 

Net Income/Loss
 

$
 

 

Test Period Profitability
 

>= $1.00
 

 

Compliance?
 

Yes/No
     
IV.

 

Liquidity
 

 

 

 

Total cash (other than Restricted Cash)
 

$
 

 

Total unrestricted Cash Equivalents
 

$
 

 

Total
 

$
 

 

Liquidity Covenant
 

$7,500,000
 

 

Compliance?
 

Yes / No
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SCHEDULE 2 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
INDEBTEDNESS as of                              

 

LENDER
 

TOTAL
FACILITY

SIZE
 

FACILITY
TYPE (i.e.

EFP,
Repurchase,

etc)
 

$ AMOUNT
COMMITTED

 

OUTSTANDING
INDEBTEDNESS

 

EXPIRATION
DATE
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SCHEDULE 3 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
OVERALL MORTGAGE LOAN ORIGINATIONS

 
MORTGAGE

 
RETAIL

 
WHOLESALE

 
CORRESPONDENT

 

LOAN TYPE
 

Units
 

Total $
 

Units
 

Total $
 

Units
 

Total $
 

Conforming Mortgage Loans (other than
Conforming High LTV loans)

             

FHA Loans
             

VA Loans
             

FHA 203(k) Loans
             

Conforming High LTV Loans
             

Other (please specify)
             

Other (please specify)
             

Other (please specify)
             

Total
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SCHEDULE 4 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
INTEREST RATE PROTECTION AGREEMENTS
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SCHEDULE 5 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
REPURCHASES AND EARLY PAYMENT DEFAULT REQUESTS

 
Outstanding/Pending Repurchases & Indemnifications

 

Loan #
 

Repo or
Indem

 
Investor

 

Notice
Date

 

Origination
Date

 
Breach/Defect

 

Original
Loan

Amount
($)

 

Estimated
Loss

Amount
($)

 

                
                
                

 
Satisfied/Resolved Repurchases

 

Loan #
 

Repo or
Indem

 
Investor

 

Origination
Date

 
Date Resolved

 

Original
Loan

Amount ($)
 

Amount
Paid ($)
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SCHEDULE 6 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
QUALITY CONTROL RESULTS
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SCHEDULE 7 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
UNDERLYING REPURCHASE COUNTERPARTIES
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SCHEDULE 8 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
Secondary Market Sales

 

Investor Name
 

Aggregate
original principal

balance of
mortgage loans

sold in prior
calendar month

($)
 

Percentage
(measured by

original principal
balance) of

mortgage loans
sold in prior

calendar month
 

Aggregate
original principal

balance of
mortgage loans

sold year-to-date
($)

 

Percentage
(measured by

original principal
balance) of

mortgage loans
sold year-to-date
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SCHEDULE 9 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
Geographic Production Breakdown

 
Current Month Geographic Concentration Top
10 States

 

Current Month
Total $

 

Current Month %
of Total

 

      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      

Totals
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SCHEDULE 10 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
MSR Valuation
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SCHEDULE 11 TO OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
Litigation Summary

 

Case
Caption

 

Filing
Date

 

Court /
Regulator

 

Case
No.

 

Nature
of

Claims
 

Damages
/

Penalties
Alleged

 

Plaintiff’s
Counsel

 

Customer’s
counsel

 
Status

 

Customer’s
Reserve
Amount
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Exhibit 10.2
 

AMENDMENT NO. 3
TO MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT

 
Amendment No. 3, dated as of September 18, 2013 (this “Amendment”), among CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON MORTGAGE

CAPITAL LLC (the “Buyer”), EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING, INC. (the “Seller”), INTEGRATED REAL ESTATE SERVICE CORP. and IMPAC
MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. (the “Guarantors”).

 
RECITALS

 
The Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors are parties to that certain Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2012 (the

“Existing Master Repurchase Agreement”; and as further amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of February 21, 2013, Amendment No. 2, dated as of
May 2, 2013, and this Amendment, the “Master Repurchase Agreement”), and the related Pricing Side Letter, dated as of September 21, 2012.  The
Guarantors are parties to that certain Guaranty (the “Guaranty”), dated as of September 21, 2012, as the same may be further amended from time to time. 
Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement.

 
The Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, that the Existing Master

Repurchase Agreement be amended to reflect certain agreed upon revisions to the terms of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement.  As a condition
precedent to amending the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement, the Buyer has required the Guarantors to ratify and affirm the Guaranty on the date
hereof.

 
Accordingly, the Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors hereby agree, in consideration of the mutual promises and mutual obligations set forth

herein, that the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 
SECTION 1.                            Amendments to the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement.
 
1.1                               Definitions.  Section 2 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by:
 
(a)                                 Adding the following definitions in their proper alphabetical order:
 
“Additional Repurchase Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.d. hereof.
 
“Agreement Repurchase Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.a hereof.
 
“Repledge Agreement” means that certain Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility), dated as of September 18, 2013, among

Buyer, Guarantors and Seller, as amended from time to time.
 
“Repledge Repurchase Documents” means “Program Agreements” as defined in the Repledge Agreement.

 

 
“Repledge Repurchase Rights” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.d. hereof.
 
“USDA Loan” means a first lien Mortgage Loan originated in accordance with the criteria established by and guaranteed by the United

States Department of Agriculture.
 
(b)                                 (i)  Deleting the definition of “Non-Utilization Fee” in its entirety, and (ii) deleting the definitions of “Mortgage Loan” and

“Obligations” in their entirety and replacing them with the following:
 

“Mortgage Loan” means any first lien closed Conforming Mortgage Loan, Conforming High LTV Loan, Jumbo Mortgage Loan,
FHA Loan, USDA Loan, VA Loan or FHA 203(k) Loan which is a fixed or floating-rate, one-to-four-family residential mortgage or home
equity loan evidenced by a promissory note and secured by a first lien mortgage, which satisfies the requirements set forth in the
Underwriting Guidelines and Section 13.b hereof; provided, however, that, except with respect to Conforming High LTV Loans and as
expressly approved in writing by Buyer, Mortgage Loans shall not include any “high-LTV” loans (i.e., a mortgage loan having a loan-to-
value ratio in excess of (a) with respect to FHA Loans or VA Loans, 97% (other than VA High LTV Loans), (b) with respect to Conforming
Mortgage Loans (other than Conforming High LTV Loans), up to but not including 105% (provided that Conforming Mortgage Loans,
other than Conforming High LTV Loans, with an LTV of 80% or higher must be covered by primary mortgage insurance) or (c) such lower
percentage set forth in the Underwriting Guidelines) or any High Cost Mortgage Loans and; provided, further, that the related Purchase
Date is no more than thirty (30) days (or if the applicable Purchased Mortgage Loan was subject to a transaction under the Repledge
Repurchase Documents then ninety (90) days) following the origination date.

 
“Obligations” means (a) all of Seller’s indebtedness, obligations to pay the Repurchase Price on the Repurchase Date, the Price

Differential on each Price Differential Payment Date, and other obligations and liabilities, to Buyer or Custodian arising under the Program
Agreements, whether now existing or hereafter arising; (b) any and all sums paid by Buyer or on behalf of Buyer in order to preserve any
Purchased Mortgage Loan or its interest therein; (c) in the event of any proceeding for the collection or enforcement of any of Seller’s
indebtedness, obligations or liabilities referred to in clause (a), the reasonable expenses of retaking, holding, collecting, preparing for sale,
selling or otherwise disposing of or realizing on any Purchased Mortgage Loan, or of any exercise by Buyer of its rights under the Program
Agreements, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and disbursements and court costs; and (d) all of Seller’s indemnity obligations to
Buyer or Custodian or both pursuant to the Program Agreements; and (e) all of Seller’s and each Guarantor’s obligations under the
Repledge Repurchase Agreement and other Repledge Repurchase Documents.
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1.2                               Program; Initiation of Transactions.  Section 3a. of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the

last sentence at the end of such section and replacing it with the following:
 

“The aggregate Purchase Price of Purchased Mortgage Loans subject to outstanding Transactions shall not exceed the Maximum
Available Purchase Price.”

 
1.3                               Security Interest.  (a) Subparagraph a. of Section 8 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting

the parenthetical at the end such subparagraph and replacing it with the following:
 
“(collectively, the “Agreement Repurchase Assets”).”
 
(b)                                 Section 8 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following subparagraph d. at the end of

such section:
 
“d.                                Buyer and Seller hereby agree that in order to further secure Seller’s Obligations hereunder, Seller hereby grants to Buyer a
security interest in (i) Seller’s rights (but not its obligations) under the Repledge Repurchase Documents including without limitation any
rights to receive payments thereunder or any rights to collateral thereunder whether now owned or hereafter acquired, now existing or
hereafter created (collectively, the “Repledge Repurchase Rights”) and (ii) all collateral however defined or described under the Repledge
Repurchase Documents to the extent not otherwise included under the definitions of Repledge Repurchase Rights (such collateral,
“Additional Repurchase Assets”; together with the Agreement Repurchase Assets, the “Repurchase Assets”).  Seller hereby delivers an
irrevocable instruction to the Buyer under the Repledge Repurchase Documents that upon receipt of notice of an Event of Default under this
Agreement, the Buyer thereunder is authorized and instructed to remit to Buyer hereunder directly any amounts otherwise payable to Seller
and to deliver to Buyer all collateral otherwise deliverable to Seller.  In furtherance of the foregoing, upon repayment of the outstanding
purchase price under the Repledge Repurchase Agreement and termination of all obligations of the Buyer thereunder or other termination of
the Repledge Repurchase Documents following repayment of all obligations thereunder that the Repledge Repurchase Document deliver to
Buyer hereunder any collateral (as such term may be defined under the Repledge Repurchase Documents) then in its possession or control.”
 
1.4                               Events of Default.  Subparagraph b. of Section 15 of the Existing Master Repurchase Agreement is hereby amended by deleting

such subparagraph and replacing it with the following:
 

“b.                                Cross Default.  Seller, Guarantors or any of their Affiliates shall be in default under (i) any Repledge Repurchase
Document, (ii) any Indebtedness, in the aggregate, in excess of (x) $1,000,000 with respect to Seller, IRES or an Affiliate that is a party to a
Program Agreement or (y) $2,000,000 with respect to
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Impac, in each case, which default (1) involves the failure to pay a matured obligation, or (2) permits the acceleration of the maturity of
obligations by any other party to or beneficiary with respect to such Indebtedness, or (iii) any other contract or contracts, in the aggregate in
excess of (x) $1,000,000 to which Seller, IRES or such Affiliate that is a party to a Program Agreement is a party or (y) $2,000,000 to
which Impac is a party, in each case which default (1) involves the failure to pay a matured obligation, or (2) permits the acceleration of the
maturity of obligations by any other party to or beneficiary of such contract.”

 
1.5                               Schedule 1.  Subparagraph (nn) of Schedule 1 of the Existing Master Repurchase  Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such

subparagraph and replacing it with the following:
 

“(nn)                    Origination Date.  The Purchase Date is no more than thirty (30) days (or if the applicable Purchased Mortgage Loan was
subject to a transaction under the Repledge Repurchase Documents then ninety (90) days) following the origination date.”

 
SECTION 2.                            Conditions Precedent.  This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof (the “Amendment Effective Date”),

subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:
 
2.1                               Delivered Documents.  On the Amendment Effective Date, the Buyer shall have received the following documents, each of which

shall be satisfactory to the Buyer in form and substance:
 
(a)                                 this Amendment, executed and delivered by the Guarantors, the Buyer and the Seller;
 
(b)                                 Amendment No. 5 to the Pricing Side Letter, executed and delivered by the Guarantors, the Buyer and the Seller;
 
(c)                                  Uniform Commercial Code amendments on form UCC-3 to amend the filings to incorporate the changes to Section 8.d. of the

Master Repurchase Agreement; and
 
(d)                                 such other documents as the Buyer or counsel to the Buyer may reasonably request.
 
SECTION 3.                            Representations and Warranties.  The Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer that it is in compliance with all

the terms and provisions set forth in the Master Repurchase Agreement on its part to be observed or performed, and that no Event of Default has occurred or
is continuing, and hereby confirms and reaffirms the representations and warranties contained in Section 13 of the Master Repurchase Agreement.

 
SECTION 4.                            Limited Effect.  Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, the Existing Master Repurchase

Agreement shall continue to be, and shall remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and the execution of this Amendment.
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SECTION 5.                            Severability. Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision

or agreement herein and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.
 
SECTION 6.                            Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts,

each of which shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
SECTION 7.                            GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CHOICE OF LAW PROVISIONS
THEREOF.

 
SECTION 8.                            Reaffirmation of Guaranty.  The Guarantors hereby ratify and affirm all of the terms, covenants, conditions and

obligations of the Guaranty and acknowledge and agree that the term “Obligations” as used in the Guaranty shall apply to all of the Obligations of Seller to
Buyer under the Master Repurchase Agreement, as amended hereby.

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Master Repurchase Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above

written.
 
 
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, as Buyer
  
   
 

By: /s/ Adam Loskove
 

Name: Adam Loskove
 

Title: Vice President
   
   
 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc., as Seller
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

Title: EVP/CFO
   
   
 

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc, as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ William Ashmore
 

Name: William Ashmore
 

Title: President
   
   
 

Integrated Real Estate Service Corp., as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

Title: EVP/CFO
 

Signature Page to Amendment No. 3 to Master Repurchase Agreement
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AMENDMENT NO. 5
TO PRICING SIDE LETTER

 
Amendment No. 5, dated as of September 17, 2013 (this “Amendment”), among CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON MORTGAGE

CAPITAL LLC (the “Buyer”), EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING, INC. (the “Seller”), INTEGRATED REAL ESTATE SERVICE CORP. and IMPAC
MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. (the “Guarantors”).

 
RECITALS

 
The Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors are parties to that certain Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2012 and the

related Pricing Side Letter, dated as of September 21, 2012, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of November 19, 2012, Amendment No. 2, dated as
of February 21, 2013, Amendment No. 3, dated as of May 2, 2013 and Amendment No. 4 dated as of June 7, 2013 (the “Existing Pricing Side Letter”; and as
further amended by this Amendment, the “Pricing Side Letter”).  The Guarantors are parties to that certain Guaranty (the “Guaranty”), dated as of
September 21, 2012, as the same may be further amended from time to time.  Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
given to them in the Existing Pricing Side Letter.

 
The Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, that the Existing Pricing Side

Letter be amended to reflect certain agreed upon revisions to the terms of the Existing Pricing Side Letter.  As a condition precedent to amending the Existing
Pricing Side Letter, the Buyer has required the Guarantors to ratify and affirm the Guaranty on the date hereof.

 
Accordingly, the Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors hereby agree, in consideration of the mutual promises and mutual obligations set forth

herein, that the Existing Pricing Side Letter is hereby amended as follows:
 
SECTION 1.                            Amendments to the Existing Pricing Side Letter.
 
1.1                               Definitions.  Section 1 of the Existing Pricing Side Letter is hereby amended by deleting the definition of “Termination Date” and

replacing it with the following:
 
“Termination Date” means the earlier of (a) September 27, 2013, and (b) the date determined by Buyer (or otherwise deemed to occur) in

accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the Agreement.
 
SECTION 2.                            Conditions Precedent.  This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof (the “Amendment Effective Date”),

subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:
 
2.1                               Delivered Documents.  On the Amendment Effective Date, the Buyer shall have received the following documents, each of which

shall be satisfactory to the Buyer in form and substance:
 

 
(a)                                 this Amendment, executed and delivered by the Guarantors, the Buyer and the Seller; and
 
(b)                                 such other documents as the Buyer or counsel to the Buyer may reasonably request.
 
SECTION 3.                            Representations and Warranties.  The Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer that it is in compliance with all

the terms and provisions set forth in the Master Repurchase Agreement on its part to be observed or performed, and that no Event of Default has occurred or
is continuing, and hereby confirms and reaffirms the representations and warranties contained in Section 13 of the Master Repurchase Agreement.

 
SECTION 4.                            Limited Effect.  Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, the Existing Pricing Side Letter shall

continue to be, and shall remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and the execution of this Amendment.
 
SECTION 5.                            Severability. Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision

or agreement herein and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.
 
SECTION 6.                            Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts,

each of which shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
SECTION 7.                            GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CHOICE OF LAW PROVISIONS
THEREOF.

 
SECTION 8.                            Reaffirmation of Guaranty.  The Guarantors hereby ratify and affirm all of the terms, covenants, conditions and

obligations of the Guaranty and acknowledge and agree that the term “Obligations” as used in the Guaranty shall apply to all of the Obligations of Seller to
Buyer under the Pricing Side Letter, as amended hereby.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as

of the day and year first above written.
 



 
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, as Buyer
  
   
 

By: /s/ Adam Loskove
 

Name: Adam Loskove
 

Title: Vice President
   
   
 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc., as Seller
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

Title: EVP/CFO
   
   
 

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ William Ashmore
 

Name: William Ashmore
 

Title: President
   
   
 

Integrated Real Estate Service Corp., as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

Title: EVP/CFO
 

Signature Page to Amendment No. 5 to Pricing Side Letter
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AMENDMENT NO. 6
TO PRICING SIDE LETTER

 
Amendment No. 6, dated as of September 18, 2013 (this “Amendment”), among CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON MORTGAGE

CAPITAL LLC (the “Buyer”), EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING, INC. (the “Seller”), INTEGRATED REAL ESTATE SERVICE CORP. and IMPAC
MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. (the “Guarantors”).

 
RECITALS

 
The Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors are parties to that certain Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2012 and the

related Pricing Side Letter, dated as of September 21, 2012, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of November 19, 2012, Amendment No. 2, dated as
of February 21, 2013, Amendment No. 3, dated as of May 2, 2013, Amendment No. 4 dated as of June 7, 2013 and Amendment No. 5 dated as of
September 17, 2013 (the “Existing Pricing Side Letter”; and as further amended by this Amendment, the “Pricing Side Letter”).  The Guarantors are parties to
that certain Guaranty (the “Guaranty”), dated as of September 21, 2012, as the same may be further amended from time to time.  Capitalized terms used but
not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Existing Pricing Side Letter.

 
The Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, that the Existing Pricing Side

Letter be amended to reflect certain agreed upon revisions to the terms of the Existing Pricing Side Letter.  As a condition precedent to amending the Existing
Pricing Side Letter, the Buyer has required the Guarantors to ratify and affirm the Guaranty on the date hereof.

 
Accordingly, the Buyer, the Seller and the Guarantors hereby agree, in consideration of the mutual promises and mutual obligations set forth

herein, that the Existing Pricing Side Letter is hereby amended as follows:
 
SECTION 1.                            Amendments to the Existing Pricing Side Letter.
 
1.1                               Definitions.  Section 1 of the Existing Pricing Side Letter is hereby amended by:
 
(a)                                 Deleting the definition of “Non-Utilization Fee” and replacing it with the following:
 

“Non-Utilization Fee” means, for each calendar quarter, an amount equal to the product of (a) 1.00% per annum calculated on a
360 day year and (b) the excess of, if any (i) 50% of Maximum Combined Aggregate Purchase Price over (ii) the sum of (x) the average
daily Purchase Price of the Purchased Mortgage Loans hereunder plus (y) the average daily Repledge Seller Facility Aggregate Purchase
Price, in each case, during such calendar quarter.
 

 
(b)                                 Deleting the definition of “Pricing Rate” and replacing it with the following:
 
“Pricing Rate” means (a) CSCOF plus the applicable percentage listed opposite the type of Mortgage Loan as set forth below:
 

Type of
Mortgage Loan

 

Percentage for
Mortgage Loans
other than Wet-
Ink Mortgage
Loans or Aged

Loans
 

Percentage for
Wet-Ink

Mortgage
Loans(increases
calculated based

upon original
Pricing Rate)

 

Percentage for
Aged Loans
(increases

calculated based
upon original
Pricing Rate)

 

Conforming Mortgage Loan
(other than Conforming

High LTV Loans)
 

3.50%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

FHA Loan and VA Loan
 

3.50%
 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

USDA Loan
 

3.50%
 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

FHA 203(k) Loans
 

3.50%
 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

Jumbo Mortgage Loans
 

3.50%
 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

Conforming High LTV
Loans

 

3.75%
 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

VA High LTV Loans
 

3.75%
 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

increased by an additional
0.25%

 

 
(c)                                  Deleting the definition of “Purchase Price Percentage” and replacing it with the following:
 

“Purchase Price Percentage” means, (a) the applicable percentage listed opposite the type of Mortgage Loan as set forth below:
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Type of
Mortgage Loan

 

Percentage for
Mortgage Loans
other than Aged

Loans

 

Percentage for
Aged Loans
(reductions

calculated based
upon original

 



Purchase Price
Percentage)

Conforming Mortgage Loan (other than Conforming
High LTV Loans)

 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
 

FHA Loan and VA Loan
 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
 

USDA Loan
 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
 

FHA 203(k) Loans
 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
 

Jumbo Mortgage Loans
 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
 

Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans

 

Percentage based on
type of Mortgage

Loan
 

n/a

 

Conforming High LTV Loans
 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
 

VA High LTV Loans
 

95%
 

reduced by an additional 5%
 

 
(d)                                 Deleting the definition of “Termination Date” and replacing it with the following:
 
“Termination Date” means the earlier of (a) September 17, 2014, and (b) the date determined by Buyer (or otherwise deemed to occur) in

accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the Agreement.
 
(e)                                  Adding the following definitions in their proper alphabetical order:
 
“Combined Purchased Mortgage Loans” means, collectively, the “Purchased Mortgage Loans” under the Agreement and the Repledge

Seller Purchased Mortgage Loans.
 
“Combined Purchase Price Concentration” means with respect to any type of Mortgage Loan (as such type is identified in the schedule set

forth in clause (x) of the definition of Asset Value), the sum of (a) the outstanding Purchase Price of a particular type of Purchased Mortgage Loans
under the Agreement, and (b) the outstanding
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Purchase Price of the same type of “Purchased Mortgage Loans” as defined in, and under, the Repledge Seller Facility.

 
“Maximum Available Purchase Price” means the excess, if any, of (i) the Maximum Combined Aggregate Purchase Price over (ii) the

Repledge Seller Facility Aggregate Purchase Price.
 
“Maximum Combined Aggregate Purchase Price” means ONE HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($100,000,000).
 
“Repledge Seller Facility” means that certain Master Repurchase Agreement (Repledge Facility), dated as of September 18, 2013, among

Seller, Guarantors and Buyer, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
 
“Repledge Seller Facility Aggregate Purchase Price” means as of any date of determination, the aggregate “Purchase Price” of “Purchased

Mortgage Loans” subject to outstanding “Transactions”, all as defined in, and calculated under the Repledge Seller Facility.
 
“Repledge Seller Purchased Mortgage Loans” means the “Purchased Mortgage Loans” under the Repledge Seller Facility.
 
(f)                                   Deleting clause (viii) of the definition of “Asset Value” in its entirety and replacing it with the following:
 
(viii)                        when the Purchase Price for such Purchased Mortgage Loan is added to other Combined Purchased Mortgage Loans, the

aggregate Purchase Price of all Combined Purchased Mortgage Loans of any type of Mortgage Loan set forth below exceeds the applicable
percentage listed opposite such type of Mortgage Loan as set forth below:

 

Type of Mortgage
Loan

 

Percentage of the Maximum
Combined Aggregate Purchase
Price (unless otherwise noted)

 

Conforming Mortgage Loans
 

100%
 

FHA Loans and VA Loans
 

100%
 

Jumbo Mortgage Loans
 

100%
 

FHA 203(k) Loans
 

10%
 

Aged Loans
 

10%
 

Wet-Ink Mortgage Loans
 

30%
 

Conforming High LTV Loans (Conforming Tier 1
 

25%
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High LTV Loans, Conforming Tier 2 High LTV Loans

and Conforming Tier 3 High LTV Loans,
combined)

 

  

USDA Loans
 

5%
 

Conforming Tier 2 High LTV Loans
 

2.5%
 

Conforming Tier 3 High LTV Loans
 

2.5%
 

VA High LTV Loans
 

2.5%
 

 



SECTION 2.                            Conditions Precedent.  This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof (the “Amendment Effective Date”),
subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:

 
2.1                               Delivered Documents.  On the Amendment Effective Date, the Buyer shall have received the following documents, each of which

shall be satisfactory to the Buyer in form and substance:
 
(a)                                 this Amendment, executed and delivered by the Guarantors, the Buyer and the Seller; and
 
(b)                                 such other documents as the Buyer or counsel to the Buyer may reasonably request.
 
SECTION 3.                            Representations and Warranties.  The Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Buyer that it is in compliance with all

the terms and provisions set forth in the Master Repurchase Agreement on its part to be observed or performed, and that no Event of Default has occurred or
is continuing, and hereby confirms and reaffirms the representations and warranties contained in Section 13 of the Master Repurchase Agreement.

 
SECTION 4.                            Limited Effect.  Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, the Existing Pricing Side Letter shall

continue to be, and shall remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and the execution of this Amendment.
 
SECTION 5.                            Severability. Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision

or agreement herein and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.
 
SECTION 6.                            Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts,

each of which shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
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SECTION 7.                            GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CHOICE OF LAW PROVISIONS
THEREOF.

 
SECTION 8.                            Reaffirmation of Guaranty.  The Guarantors hereby ratify and affirm all of the terms, covenants, conditions and

obligations of the Guaranty and acknowledge and agree that the term “Obligations” as used in the Guaranty shall apply to all of the Obligations of Seller to
Buyer under the Pricing Side Letter, as amended hereby.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as

of the day and year first above written.
 
 
 

Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, as Buyer
   
   
 

By: /s/ Adam Loskove
 

Name: Adam Loskove
 

Title: Vice President
   
   
 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc., as Seller
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

Title: EVP/CFO
   
   
 

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ William Ashmore
 

Name: William Ashmore
 

Title: President
   
   
 

Integrated Real Estate Service Corp., as a Guarantor
  
   
 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
 

Name: Todd R. Taylor
 

Title: EVP/CFO



 
Signature Page to Amendment No. 6 to Pricing Side Letter
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September 26, 2013
 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. AmeriHome Mortgage Corporation
19500 Jamboree Road 19500 Jamboree Road
Irvine, CA 92162 Irvine, CA 92162
  
Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation

 

19500 Jamboree Road
 

Irvine, CA 92162
 

 
Re:  Seventh Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement and Pricing Letter (“Seventh Amendment”).

 
This Seventh Amendment is made this 26th day of September, 2013 (the “Amendment Effective Date”), to that certain Master Repurchase

Agreement, dated August 31, 2011, as amended (the “Repurchase Agreement”) and the Pricing Letter, dated August 31, 2011, as amended (the “Pricing
Letter”), in each case by and among Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. and AmeriHome Mortgage Corporation (each a “Seller” and, collectively, “Sellers”), and
EverBank (“Buyer”).  The Repurchase Agreement, the Pricing Letter and all amendments are sometimes hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Agreement.”

 
WHEREAS, Sellers and Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation (“Guarantor”) requested that Buyer amend the Agreement; and
 
WHEREAS, Sellers, Guarantor and Buyer have agreed to amend the Agreement as set forth herein.
 
NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby

agree to amend the Agreement as follows:
 
SECTION 1.                            Amendments.
 
(a)                                 The following definition contained in Section 1 of the Pricing Letter is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
 

“Maximum Purchase Amount” shall mean $50,000,000.
 
(b)                                 The following Certain Financial Condition Covenant contained in Section 3 of the Pricing Letter is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety as follows:
 

(v)                                 Maintenance of Profitability. Excel shall not permit, for any trailing twelve (12) month basis calculated on a quarterly basis, its Net
Income for such fiscal quarter to be less than $1.00.

 

 
SECTION 2.                            Defined Terms.  Any terms capitalized but not otherwise defined herein should have the respective meanings set forth in the

Agreement.
 
SECTION 3.                            Limited Effect.  Except as amended hereby, the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. 

Reference to this Seventh Amendment need not be made in the Agreement or any other instrument or document executed in connection therewith, or in any
certificate, letter or communication issued or made pursuant to, or with respect to, the Agreement, any reference in any of such items to the Agreement being
sufficient to refer to the Agreement as amended hereby.

 
SECTION 4.                            Representations.  In order to induce Buyer to execute and deliver this Seventh Amendment, each Seller hereby represents to Buyer

that as of the date hereof, except as otherwise expressly waived by Buyer in writing, such Seller is in full compliance with all of the terms and conditions of
the Agreement including without limitation, all of the representations and warranties and all of the affirmative and negative covenants, and no Default or
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the Agreement.

 
SECTION 5.                            Governing Law. This Seventh Amendment and any claim, controversy or dispute arising under or related to or in connection with

this Seventh Amendment, the relationship of the parties, and/or the interpretation and enforcement of the rights and duties of the parties will be governed by
the laws of the State of New York without regard to any conflicts of law principles other than Sections 5-1401 and 5-1402 of the New York General
Obligations Law which shall govern.

 
SECTION 6.                            Counterparts.  This Seventh Amendment may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an

original but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same agreement.  This Seventh Amendment, to the extent signed and delivered by facsimile
or other electronic means, shall be treated in all manner and respects as an original agreement and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as
if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in person.  No signatory to this Seventh Amendment shall raise the use of a facsimile machine or other
electronic means to deliver a signature or the fact that any signature or agreement was transmitted or communicated through the use of a facsimile machine or
other electronic means as a defense to the formation or enforceability of a contract and each such Person forever waives any such defense.

 
SECTION 7.                            Guarantor.  Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that nothing contained herein, and Guarantor’s signature hereon, shall not be

deemed an acknowledgement, a course of conduct, a waiver or an amendment of the provisions of the Facility Guaranty, which continue in full force and
effect and do not require any Guarantor’s consent to the actions taken hereunder.

 
[Signature Page Follows]

 

 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Sellers, Guarantor and Buyer have caused this Seventh Amendment to be executed and delivered as of the Amendment Effective
Date.

 
EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING,

 

EVERBANK, as Buyer
INC., as a Seller

   

    
     
By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor

 

By: /s/ Paul Chmielinski
Its: Todd R. Taylor

 

Its: Paul Chmielinski
Title: EVP/CFO

 

Title: V.P.
     
     
AMERIHOME MORTGAGE

 

INTEGRATED REAL ESTATE
CORPORATION, as a Seller

 

SERVICE CORPORATION, as Guarantor
     
     
By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor

 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
Its: Todd R. Taylor

 

Its: Todd R. Taylor
Title: EVP/CFO

 

Title: EVP/CFO
 

 
EXHIBIT A

 
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
[PLEASE REVIEW CAREFULLY]

 
SELLER: EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING INC.

AMERIHOME MORTGAGE CORPORATION
GUARANTORS: INTEGRATED REAL ESTATE SERVICE CORPORATION
BUYER: EVERBANK
TODAY’S DATE:         /        /201  
REPORTING PERIOD ENDED:          month(s) ended         /        /20  

 
This certificate is delivered to Buyer under the Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of August 31, 2011, between Seller and Buyer (as

amended from time to time, the “Agreement”), all the defined terms of which have the same meanings when used herein.
 
I hereby certify that: (a) I am, and at all times mentioned herein have been, the duly elected, qualified, and acting officer of Seller

designated below; (b) to the best of my knowledge, the Financial Statements of Seller from the period shown about (the “Reporting Period”) and which
accompany this certificate were prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly the financial condition of the Financial Reporting Party as of the end of
the Reporting Period and the results of its operations for Reporting Period; (c) a review of the Agreement and of the activities of Seller during the Reporting
Period has been made under my supervision with a view to determining Seller’s compliance with the covenants, requirements, terms, and conditions of the
Agreement, and such review has not disclosed the existence during or at the end of the Reporting Period (and I have no knowledge of the existence as of the
date hereof) of any Default or Event of Default, except as disclosed herein (which specifies the nature of existence of each Default or Event of  Default, if
any, and what action Seller has taken, is taking, and proposes to take with respect to each); (d) all information set forth on the attachment to this Compliance
Certificate is true, correct, and complete, and the calculations set forth therein evidence that Seller is in compliance with the requirements of the Agreement at
the end of the Reporting Period (or if Seller is not in compliance, showing the extent of non-compliance and specifying the period of non-compliance and
what actions Seller proposes to take with respect thereto); and (e) Seller was, as of the end of the Reporting Period, in compliance and good standing with
applicable Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac, and HUD net worth requirements.

 
 

 

By:
 

  

Name:
  

Title:
 

 
SELLER: EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING INC.

AMERIHOME MORTGAGE CORPORATION
REPORTING PERIOD ENDED:         /        /20   
 
All financial calculations set forth herein are as of the end of the Reporting Period.
 
1.              ADJUSTED TANGIBLE NET WORTH
 
The Adjusted Tangible Net Worth of Seller is:

 

GAAP Net Worth: $
Minus: Intangible Assets (excluding capitalized Servicing Rights) $
Minus: Due from Shareholders or Related Parties $
Minus: Capitalized Servicing Rights $
Minus: Assets pledged to secure liabilities not included in Indebtedness: $
Minus: Any other HUD non-acceptable assets: $



Minus: Investments in Affiliates: $
Plus: Lesser of (a) most recent MSR Appraised Value, and (b) capitalized Servicing Rights (per above): $
Plus: Subordinated Debt: $
ADJUSTED TANGIBLE NET WORTH: $
SELLER REQUIRED MINIMUM $17,000,000
GUARANTOR REQUIRED MINIMUM $17,000,000
In compliance? o Yes o No
 
2.              INDEBTEDNESS OF SELLER
 
   

INDEBTEDNESS: $
 
3.              LEVERAGE: ADJUSTED INDEBTEDNESS TO ADJUSTED TANGIBLE NET WORTH
 
   

Indebtedness (from 2, above) $
Minus: Subordinated Debt (from 1, above) $
ADJUSTED INDEBTEDNESS $
 

 
Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (from 1, above) $
RATIO OF ADJUSTED INDEBTEDNESS /ADJUSTED TANGIBLE NET WORTH: :1
Maximum permitted 15:1
In compliance? o Yes o No

 
4.              OPERATING CASH FLOW TO DEBT SERVICE
 
EBITDA (trailing six months) $
Plus: any non-cash expenses (trailing six months) $
Less: any non-cash income (trailing six months) $
OPERATING CASH FLOW (trailing six months) $
Debt Service (trailing six months) $
RATIO OF OCF TO DS (trailing six months) :1
Minimum required for trailing six months (through Termination Date) 1.00:1.00
In compliance? o Yes o No
 
5.              LIQUIDITY
 
Cash $
Less: Restricted Cash $
Plus: Cash Equivalents $
LIQUIDITY $
Minimum required $ 7,000,000
In compliance? o Yes o No
 
6.              PROFITABILITY RATIO
 
Net Income (prior three (3) fiscal quarters) $
Net Income (fiscal quarter just ended) $
Total Net Income (prior four (4) fiscal quarters) $
Minimum required (trailing 12 months calculated quarterly) $1.00 or more
In compliance? o Yes o No
 

 
7.              FACILITIES (Please list all credit facilities including off balance sheet facilities)
 
Institution

 
Total Commitment

 
Outstanding

 

EverBank Warehouse Lending
 

$
  

$
  

  

$
  

$
  

  

$
  

$
  

  

$
  

$
  

  

$
  

$
  

  

$
  

$
  

  

$
  

$
  

  

$
  

$
  

TOTALS
 

$
  

$
  

 
8.             REPURCHASES / INDEMNIFICATIONS (R&I)
 

Repurchases
 

UPB
 

# of Loans
 

Actual or
Estimated

Loss
 

How were
they

recorded
on the

financials?
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



Beginning Open R&I’s $ $
New R&I’s received this month

 

$
    

$
    

R&I’s rescinded this month
 

$
    

$
  

n/a
 

R&I’s settled this month
 

$
    

$
    

Ending Open R&I’s
 

$
    

$
    

 

*                 If you have a detailed schedule of loans subject to repurchases that includes the investor requesting, reason for repurchases, origination date,
loan characteristics such as LTV, lien position, occupancy etc., and valuation method if you have estimated your loss exposure, please attach it
with this table.

 

 
9.              LOAN LOSS RESERVE
 
  

Current Month
 

Year-to-Date
 

Beginning loan loss reserve
 

$
  

$
  

Additional loss provision
 

$
  

$
  

Actual charge off
 

$
  

$
  

Ending Loan Loss Reserve
 

$
  

$
  

 
10.       LITIGATION
 
  

Current Month
 

Year-to-Date
 

Pending litigations (Unit)
     

Expected losses on litigation
 

$
  

$
  

 
11.       THIRD PARTY REPORTS
 

All reports received from third parties (such as the SEC, Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac) subsequent to the last reporting period are attached
hereto. These reports include the following (if none, write “None”):  [              ]
 

12.       DEFAULTS OR EVENTS OF DEFAULT
 

Disclose nature and period of existence and action being taken in connection therewith; if none, write “None”:  [              ]
 

13.       OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED (Please attach if applicable)
 

a.                                      Indemnification & Repurchase Report for the prior year and current YTD.
 
b.                                      Hedge Reports (including: position summary report, MBS & whole loan trade detail, loan level detail report with weighted average take out

price).
 
c.                                       Summary of year-to-date production, broken out by product type.

 



Exhibit 10.5
 

Agreement of Amendment
 

dated as of
 

September 30, 2013
 

In accordance with Section 11.02 of the Master Repurchase Agreement (the “MR Agreement”) dated as of March 30, 2011, between Excel Mortgage
Servicing, Inc. a California corporation as the Seller and Alliance Bank of Arizona, a division of Western Alliance Bank as the Buyer, the following
amendments to the MR Agreement shall take effect upon execution of this Agreement of Amendment by both the Seller and the Buyer (the “Amendment”).

 
Section 1.  Amendments.
 

(a)                              Schedule 4, FINANCIAL COVENANTS, item 3.  Liquidity Percentage. is hereby amended by deleting the “item 3” in its entirety.
 
(b)                              Schedule 4, FINANCIAL COVENANTS, item 4.  Minimum Liquidity. is hereby amended by deleting the “item 4” in its entirety and

inserting the following in lieu thereof:
 
“4.  Minimum Liquidity.  The liquidity referenced in Section 7.14 of this Agreement is $7,500,000.00. Liquidity is defined as Cash or Cash

Equivalents that is not restricted or pledged to another creditor.”
 

Section 2.  Waiver/No Default.
 

The Buyer hereby waives, concurrent with the effectiveness of the MR Agreement as of May 30, 2011, 2013, compliance with the Financial
Covenants, Schedule 4, Section 3 (Liquidity Percentage) for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2013.  On the effective date of this Amendment, no Default or
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the MR Agreement and each of the representations and warranties of Seller made in the MR
Agreement shall be true and correct.

 
Section 3.  Limited Effect.
 

Except as expressly amended, waived and modified by this Amendment, the MR Agreement shall continue to be, and shall remain, in full force and
effect in accordance with its terms.  The execution of this Amendment by the Buyer shall not operate as a waiver of any of its rights, powers or privileges
under the MR Agreement or any related document.

 
Section 4.  Counterparts.
 

This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto on any number of separate counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of
which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Delivery of an executed counterpart signature page to this Amendment in Portable
Document Format (PDF) or by facsimile transmission shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed original counterpart thereof.

 
Section 5.  GOVERNING LAW.
 

THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE INTERNAL
LAWS OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA.

 
1

 
SELLER BUYER
Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. ALLIANCE BANK OF ARIZONA, A DIVISION OF WESTERN

ALLIANCE BANK
  
By: /s/ Todd Taylor

 

By: /s/ Albert Thuma
Name: Todd Taylor

 

Name: Albert Thuma
Title: Executive Vice President, CFO

 

Title: Vice President
Date: 9/30/13

 

Date: 9/30/13
     
SELLER

 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.
 

  
By: /s/ William Ashmore

  

Name: William Ashmore
  

Title: President, COO
  

Date: 9/30/13
  

 
2

 
QUARTERLY COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 
SELLER: Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.
BUYER: Alliance Bank of Arizona, A Division of Western Alliance Bank



TODAY’S DATE:      /     /201
REPORTING PERIOD ENDED:        month(s) ended      /     /201
 
This certificate is delivered to the Buyer under the Master Repurchase Agreement dated effective as of March 30, 2011 between the Seller and Alliance Bank
of Arizona, A Division of Western Alliance Bank (the “Agreement”), all the defined terms of which have the same meanings when used herein.
 
I hereby certify that: (a) I am, and at all times mentioned herein have been, the duly elected, qualified, and acting officer of Seller designated below; (b) to the
best of my knowledge, the Financial Statements of Seller from the period shown about (the “Reporting Period”) and which accompany this certificate were
prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly the financial condition of Seller as of the end of the Reporting Period and the results of its operations
for the Reporting Period; (c) all of the representations and warranties made by the Seller in Article V of the Agreement are true and correct in all material
respects on the date of this certificate as if made on this date; (d) a review of the Agreement and of the activities of Seller during the Reporting Period has
been made under my supervision with a view to determining Seller’s compliance with the covenants, requirements, terms, and conditions of the Agreement,
and such review has not disclosed the existence during or at the end of the Reporting Period (and I have no knowledge of the existence as of the date hereof)
of any Default or Event of Default, except as disclosed herein (which specifies the nature and period of existence of each Default or Event of Default, if any,
and what action Seller has taken, is taking, and proposes to take with respect to each); and (e) the calculations described herein evidence that the Seller is in
compliance with the requirements of the Agreement at the end of the Reporting Period (or if Seller is not in compliance, showing the extent of non-
compliance and specifying the period of non-compliance and what actions Seller proposes to take with respect thereto).
 
Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.

 

By:
  

Name:
  

Title:
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SELLER: Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.
REPORTING PERIOD ENDED:      /     /201
 
All financial calculations set forth herein are as of the end of the Reporting Period.
 
I.                                        TANGIBLE NET WORTH
 
The Tangible Net Worth of Seller is:

 

Total Assets: $
Minus: Amounts Due from Affiliates $
Minus: 25% of Capitalized Mortgage Servicing Rights $
Minus: Total Liabilities: $
TANGIBLE NET WORTH: $
REQUIRED MINIMUM $20,000,000
In compliance? oYes oNo
 
II.                                   LEVERAGE RATIO
 
Total Liabilities: $
Minus: Subordinated Debt ($                                 )
ADJUSTED TOTAL LIABILITIES

 

Tangible Net Worth
 

Plus: Subordinated Debt:
 

ADJUSTED TANGIBLE NET WORTH $
ADJ. TOTAL LIABILTIES / ADJ. TANGIBLE NET WORTH :     :1
MAXIMUM PERMITTED 15:1
In compliance? oYes oNo
 

 
III.                              MINIMUM LIQUIDITY
 
Unencumbered Cash and Cash Equivalents $
MINIMUM REQUIRED $7,000,000
In compliance? oYes oNo
 
IV.                               MINIMUM PROFITABILITY
 
Quarter End Net Profit $
Year-to-Date Net Profit $
MINIMUM REQUIRED $250,000 per quarter
In compliance? oYes oNo
 
V.                                    OTHER REQUESTED INFORMATION
 
Total Liabilities under all warehouse and repurchase facilities: $
Early Purchase Facilities: $
 



Total dollar value of funded loan volume (Month or Quarter) $
Total number of loan units volume (Month or Quarter) $
 
VI.                               DEFAULTS OR EVENTS OF DEFAULT
 
Disclose nature and period of existence and action being taken in connection therewith; if none, write “None”:
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June 18, 2013
 

Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc.
 

AmeriHome Mortgage Corporation
19500 Jamboree Road

 

19500 Jamboree Road
Irvine, CA 92162

 

Irvine, CA 92162
   
Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation

 

 

19500 Jamboree Road
 

 

Irvine, CA 92162
 

 

 
Re:  Sixth Amendment to Master Repurchase Agreement and Pricing Letter (“Sixth Amendment”).

 
This Sixth Amendment is made this 18th day of June, 2013 (the “Amendment Effective Date”), to that certain Master Repurchase

Agreement, dated August 31, 2011, as amended (the “Repurchase Agreement”) and the Pricing Letter, dated August 31, 2011, as amended (the “Pricing
Letter”), in each case by and among Excel Mortgage Servicing, Inc. and AmeriHome Mortgage Corporation (each a “Seller” and, collectively, “Sellers”), and
EverBank (“Buyer”).  The Repurchase Agreement, the Pricing Letter and all amendments are sometimes hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Agreement.”

 
WHEREAS, Sellers and Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation (“Guarantor”) requested that Buyer amend the Agreement; and
 
WHEREAS, Sellers, Guarantor and Buyer have agreed to amend the Agreement as set forth herein.
 
NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby

agree to amend the Agreement as follows:
 
SECTION 1.                            Amendments.
 
(a)                                 The following Certain Financial Condition Covenants contained in Section 3 of the Pricing Letter are hereby amended and restated in their
entirety as follows:
 

(i)                                     Maintenance of Adjusted Tangible Net Worth. Excel shall maintain an Adjusted Tangible Net Worth of not less than
twenty million dollars ($20,000,000.00).

 
(iv)                              Maintenance of Liquidity.  Excel shall ensure that it has cash and Cash Equivalents (excluding Restricted Cash or cash

pledged to Persons other than Buyer), in an amount not less than seven million dollars ($7,000,000.00).
 

 
SECTION 2.                            Defined Terms.  Any terms capitalized but not otherwise defined herein should have the respective meanings set forth in the

Agreement.
 
SECTION 3.                            Limited Effect.  Except as amended hereby, the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. 

Reference to this Sixth Amendment need not be made in the Agreement or any other instrument or document executed in connection therewith, or in any
certificate, letter or communication issued or made pursuant to, or with respect to, the Agreement, any reference in any of such items to the Agreement being
sufficient to refer to the Agreement as amended hereby.

 
SECTION 4.                            Representations.  In order to induce Buyer to execute and deliver this Sixth Amendment, each Seller hereby represents to Buyer

that as of the date hereof, except as otherwise expressly waived by Buyer in writing, such Seller is in full compliance with all of the terms and conditions of
the Agreement including without limitation, all of the representations and warranties and all of the affirmative and negative covenants, and no Default or
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the Agreement.

 
SECTION 5.                            Governing Law. This Sixth Amendment and any claim, controversy or dispute arising under or related to or in connection with

this Sixth Amendment, the relationship of the parties, and/or the interpretation and enforcement of the rights and duties of the parties will be governed by the
laws of the State of New York without regard to any conflicts of law principles other than Sections 5-1401 and 5-1402 of the New York General Obligations
Law which shall govern.

 
SECTION 6.                            Counterparts.  This Sixth Amendment may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original

but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same agreement.  This Sixth Amendment, to the extent signed and delivered by facsimile or other
electronic means, shall be treated in all manner and respects as an original agreement and shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as if it
were the original signed version thereof delivered in person.  No signatory to this Sixth Amendment shall raise the use of a facsimile machine or other
electronic means to deliver a signature or the fact that any signature or agreement was transmitted or communicated through the use of a facsimile machine or
other electronic means as a defense to the formation or enforceability of a contract and each such Person forever waives any such defense.

 
SECTION 7.                            Guarantor.  Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that nothing contained herein, and Guarantor’s signature hereon, shall not be

deemed an acknowledgement, a course of conduct, a waiver or an amendment of the provisions of the Facility Guaranty, which continue in full force and
effect and do not require any Guarantor’s consent to the actions taken hereunder.

 
[Signature Page Follows]

 

 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Sellers, Guarantor and Buyer have caused this Sixth Amendment to be executed and delivered as of the Amendment Effective
Date.
 
EXCEL MORTGAGE SERVICING,

 

EVERBANK, as Buyer
INC., as a Seller

  

   
     
By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor

 

By: /s/ Sean R. Delaney
Its:       Todd R. Taylor

 

Its:    Sean R. Delaney
Title:          EVP/CFO

 

Title:      VP
   
   
AMERIHOME MORTGAGE

 

INTEGRATED REAL ESTATE
CORPORATION, as a Seller

 

SERVICE CORPORATION, as Guarantor
   
     
By: /s/Todd R. Taylor

 

By: /s/ Todd R. Taylor
Its:   Todd R. Taylor

 

Its:    Todd R. Taylor
Title:        EVP/CFO

 

Title:      EVP/CFO
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CERTIFICATION
 

I, Joseph R. Tomkinson, certify that:
 
1.                                      I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.;
 
2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a.                                      designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b.                                      designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c.                                       evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
 
d.                                      disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a.                                      all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b.                                      any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 

/s/ JOSEPH R. TOMKINSON
 

Joseph R. Tomkinson
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

November 12, 2013
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CERTIFICATION
 

I, Todd R. Taylor, certify that:
 
1.                                      I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.;
 
2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a.                                      designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b.                                      designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c.                                       evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
 
d.                                      disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a.                                      all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b.                                      any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 

/s/ TODD R. TAYLOR
 

Todd R. Taylor
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

November 12, 2013
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the report of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2013 as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned, in the capacities and on the dates indicated below,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

 
(1)                                 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)                                 The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 

/s/ JOSEPH R. TOMKINSON
 

Joseph R. Tomkinson
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

November 12, 2013
 

  
/s/ TODD R. TAYLOR

 

Todd R. Taylor
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

November 12, 2013
 

 


